ARAB-ISRAELI DIPLOMACY DIPLOMACY UNDER CARTER THE U.S., ISRAEL AND THE PALESTINIANS JØRGEN JENSEHAUGEN

I.B. TAURIS

Jørgen Jensehaugen is Associate Professor of Modern History at the Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences. He holds a PhD in History from the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), and has previously worked as a researcher at the Peace Research Institute Oslo (PRIO). He has published extensively on the Arab–Israeli conflict, including in the journals *The International History Review* and *British Journal of Middle Eastern Studies*. 'Jorgen Jensehaugen has provided an original piece of work, both in his use of US archival material and his examination of the way the Carter administration dealt with the Palestinian issue and the matter of Palestinian participation in negotiations. Indeed, this work fills a void, enlightening us on the inner workings of Carter's team regarding the conflict, while also highlighting the Palestinian aspect of the negotiations at that time (as distinct from the relatively large literature on Egyptian–Israeli relations of the same period). The volume provides new material and insights regarding deliberations within the Carter administration prior to the Camp David talks. Moreover the author brings a wealth of supporting information and detail, analysing the factors involved in the decisions taken, and the individuals behind them. Truly a valuable contribution to our understanding of the history of American policy regarding the Palestinian issue.'

Galia Golan, Darwin Professor Emerita, Hebrew University of Jerusalem; author of *Israeli Peace Negotiations since 1967* (2014)

'This is a well-researched and expertly told account of the Carter administration's diplomatic efforts in the Arab–Israeli conflict. Jensehaugen has written one of the most compelling narratives of Jimmy Carter's pursuit of, and ultimate failure to achieve, comprehensive Arab–Israeli peace.'

> Asaf Siniver, Associate Professor of International Security, University of Birmingham

ARAB–ISRAELI DIPLOMACY UNDER CARTER

The US, Israel and the Palestinians

Jørgen Jensehaugen

I.B.TAURIS LONDON • NEW YORK • OXFORD • NEW DELHI • SYDNEY

I.B. TAURIS

Bloomsbury Publishing Plc 50 Bedford Square, London, WC1B 3DP, UK 1385 Broadway, New York, NY 10018, USA

BLOOMSBURY, I.B. TAURIS and the I.B. Tauris logo are trademarks of Bloomsbury Publishing Plc

> First published in Great Britain 2018 Paperback edition first published 2020

Copyright © Jørgen Jensehaugen, 2018

Jørgen Jensehaugen has asserted his right under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act, 1988, to be identified as Author of this work.

For legal purposes the Acknowledgements on p. xi constitute an extension of this copyright page.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or any information storage or retrieval system, without prior permission in writing from the publishers.

Bloomsbury Publishing Plc does not have any control over, or responsibility for, any third-party websites referred to or in this book. All internet addresses given in this book were correct at the time of going to press. The author and publisher regret any inconvenience caused if addresses have changed or sites have ceased to exist, but can accept no responsibility for any such changes.

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

A catalog record for this book is available from the Library of Congress.

ISBN: HB: 978-1-7883-1052-9 PB: 978-0-7556-1683-1 ePDF: 978-1-8386-0801-9 cBook: 978-1-8386-0800-2

Series: Library of Modern Middle East Studies, volume 212

Typeset in Garamond Three by OKS Prepress Services, Chennai, India

To find out more about our authors and books visit www.bloomsbury.com and sign up for our newsletters. To Amanda

CONTENTS

| Ack | Acknowledgements | |
|-----|--|--------|
| 1. | President Carter and the Palestinians Carter's rising star in Palestine | 1 7 |
| 2. | US Presidents and the Palestinians | 10 |
| | The first Arab–Israeli war | 11 |
| | The rise of pan-Arabism | 13 |
| | The six-day war: Shifting fronts | 16 |
| | Fatah takes charge | 18 |
| | 1970: Exiled from exile | 20 |
| | The 1973 Arab–Israeli war | 23 |
| | Step by step | 27 |
| | Sinai II | 29 |
| | Failing to see the Palestinians | 31 |
| 3. | The Comprehensive Approach | 35 |
| | Coming into office | 36 |
| | Developing the comprehensive approach | 37 |
| | Theory to practice: Visiting the Middle East | 38 |
| | The Clinton speech and tidings from Moscow | 40 |
| | Theory to practice: State visits | 41 |
| | To talk or not to talk? | 45 |
| | Talking around the dilemma: Palestinian back channels | 47 |
| | Begin the game-changer | 50 |

| | The Begin visit | 54 |
|----|--|-----|
| | Second Vance tour | 57 |
| | Problems with the PLO | 58 |
| | Peace treaty drafts | 61 |
| 4. | Clinging to Comprehensive Peace | 66 |
| | Including the PLO through Syria and the Soviet Union | 68 |
| | Multi-bilateral negotiations: Israel sets the tone | 73 |
| | The US–Soviet joint communiqué | 76 |
| | Duelling with Dayan | 78 |
| | Who can accept the working paper? | 80 |
| | Selling the working paper | 82 |
| | Could Egypt go it alone? | 83 |
| | Jimmy gets personal | 85 |
| 5. | The Jerusalem Bombshell | 89 |
| | Going to Jerusalem | 91 |
| | Visiting Israel | 93 |
| | Taking the talks to Cairo | 97 |
| | Consequences of a separate peace | 99 |
| | Home rule for the Palestinians | 102 |
| | The Aswan statement | 106 |
| 6. | The Torturous Road to Camp David | 111 |
| | Missing an opportunity to pressure Begin | 115 |
| | Begin and Carter clash | 119 |
| | Carter's face-off with the Israel lobby | 123 |
| | London talks | 125 |
| | The invitation to Camp David | 128 |
| 7. | Camp David and the Egyptian–Israeli Peace Treaty | 132 |
| | Study papers – still a comprehensive strategy | 132 |
| | Camp David Phase I: Openings and trilateral meetings | 134 |
| | Camp David Phase II: The US draft | 136 |
| | Camp David Phase III: Changing the framework, | |
| | weakening the ties | 137 |
| | Camp David Phase IV: Endgame | 141 |
| | Evaluating the framework | 143 |
| | Difficult rounds ahead | 146 |

| | Contents | IX |
|-----|---|-----|
| | Settlement expansion without consequence | 148 |
| | Another go with the PLO? | 151 |
| | There goes the deadline | 153 |
| | Begin in Washington | 155 |
| | Arab reactions | 160 |
| 8. | Where do we Go Now, but Nowhere? | 162 |
| | Finding some Palestinians, any Palestinians | 163 |
| | Starting the Palestinian autonomy talks | 165 |
| | From bad to worse in the Middle East and beyond | 169 |
| | Begin the builder | 170 |
| | Things fall apart | 172 |
| | A last try | 173 |
| 9. | A Failed Ambition | 177 |
| | The Carter legacy | 178 |
| | Changing conditions | 180 |
| | Building a house of cards | 182 |
| | On shaky ground | 185 |
| | Sadat's initiatives | 187 |
| | The cards fall down | 189 |
| | Camp David | 191 |
| | Whither the pressure | 194 |
| Not | Notes | |
| Bib | Bibliography | |
| | Index | |

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Forty years ago Carter, Begin and Sadat gathered at Camp David. Absent, as always, were the Palestinians. This Palestinian absence from the various Arab–Israeli peace processes has long intrigued me, and I remember the immediate sense of a lost opportunity the first time I read that President Carter had wanted to include the Palestinians in his peace-making. What had happened to that effort? That question drove me to conduct this research. Now, several years later, I am the proud author of this book.

It is hard to remember all the people who have assisted me along the way. For help in the final stages I would very much like to thank my editor Sophie Rudland, who believed in the project from our first conversation at MESA, and Nils A. Nadeau who has lifted the precision of the text several notches.

For earlier stages of the work I am highly indebted to Hilde Henriksen Waage and Ann Lesch, who both critically commented on every single sentence of the various drafts with a level of knowledge that I can only hope to strive for. Galia Golan and Asaf Siniver, thank you for the highly engaging and inspiring discussion in Trondheim. It really helped me to believe in this work and to strengthen several of my arguments.

Thank you to all the individuals that have commented on various pieces of text along the way, Sarah Salameh, Marte Heian-Engdal, Mari Salberg, Helge Jensehaugen, Hans Otto Frøland, Véronique Pouillard, Tor Egil Førland, Tore Tingvold Petersen, Helge Pharo, Kenneth Weisbrode, Geir Almlid, Ingrid Lundestad, Ole Magnus Theisen and the anonymous reviewers. I am also very grateful to the various institutions which have hosted me in one way or the other during this research and writing process: PRIO, NTNU, UiO, HiL and the Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences. To all the archivists in Atlanta, London, Washington and Maryland – without your help I would be fumbling in the dark. Thank you especially to Sarah J. Chilton, Ceri McCarron and William B. Quandt who have been so kind as to send me archive material digitally.

Thanks also to my parents who seem to have a knack for raising historians with an interest in the Middle East.

Most importantly, Sarah, Amanda and Oliver, you mean much more to me than any of this. If I ever give the opposite impression, I deeply apologise. I love you.

CHAPTER 1

PRESIDENT CARTER AND THE Palestinians

On 16 March 1977, US President Jimmy Carter publicly declared: 'There has to be a homeland provided for the Palestinian refugees who have suffered for many, many years.'1 The statement, however, was off-script. Carter was responding to a question from a journalist and caught everybody off guard, including his own advisors. While this focus on the Palestinian issue was a cornerstone of President Carter's Middle East policy, it was almost revolutionary in a US context. For decades the Palestinians had either been ignored, treated as a humanitarian issue or viewed as terrorists. Under President Carter the Palestinians suddenly found themselves playing a central political role in the Middle East peace process. Carter made solving the Palestinian issue one of three cornerstones in solving the larger Arab-Israeli conflict; the other two were mutual recognition and the establishment of permanent borders.² Still, slightly more than two years after coming to power, Carter helped Egypt and Israel sign a bilateral peace agreement, which pushed the Palestinian issue to the sidelines in all but name. Israel and Egypt continued conducting Palestinian autonomy negotiations for the remainder of Carter's term, but nothing came of them. Almost two decades later, however, the autonomy model would resurface in the Oslo negotiations.

Carter's presidential legacy in the Middle East, then, had little to do with the Palestinians. By failing to deliver on the Palestinian issue while securing an Egyptian–Israeli peace, Carter had reverted to the traditional US approach to the Arab–Israeli conflict. What had happened to the comprehensive peace and the call for a Palestinian homeland? Why were the Palestinians excluded from the negotiations, when Carter had insisted on their inclusion?

To answer these questions, we must start at the beginning. Jimmy Carter was an unlikely candidate to be the first US president to make the Palestinian question the centrepiece of US policy towards the Arab– Israeli conflict. He was a born-again Christian from the deep South – a peanut farmer who eventually became the governor of his home state of Georgia, and who had practically no foreign policy experience. As governor, he had visited Israel only once, arranged by the Israeli government, but he had never visited an Arab country and never met an Arab leader. Prior to becoming president he had never met any Palestinians, and he did not meet any while he was president either.³

The Palestinian issue was not the only area where he lacked political experience. In fact, Carter made it very clear that he was an outsider in Washington. This was important, because in the mid-1970s, Washington was tainted by Watergate and the Vietnam war. In one election commercial. Carter stated 'There is one major and fundamental issue. And that is the issue between the insiders and the outsiders. I have been accused of being an outsider and I plead guilty.^{'4} He took great care to distance himself from what many considered the dishonesty that plagued US politics, and key-words in his campaign included 'good', 'honest' and 'decent'.⁵ Carter's position as a political outsider helps explain both why he won the election and how he was able to think outside the box of traditional US foreign policy. He was not enmeshed in the Vietnam and Watergate imbroglios, and his mindset was not stuck on the idea that the Palestinians were either refugees or terrorists. As such, Carter brought a fresh perspective to Washington. Despite his lack of relevant experience, foreign policy played an unusually significant part in his election campaign.⁶ Carter came to power with a desire to change US foreign policy, insisting that he was the man for the job.

Unsurprisingly, Washington insiders disagreed. Secretary of State Henry Kissinger was dumbfounded by Carter's lack of foreign policy experience, complaining: 'I don't know how you can have a President who knows nothing about foreign policy and a Secretary of State also.'⁷ This quote says more about Kissinger than it does about Carter. While Carter's choice for Secretary of State, Cyrus Vance, would play a central role in the Carter administration, Carter was going to make his own foreign policy. He would be a hands-on president if ever there was one.⁸

In a thinly veiled attack on his predecessors, Presidents Gerald Ford and Richard Nixon. Carter insisted: 'The President is the one who makes foreign policy. I make the foreign policy. There have been Presidents in the past, maybe not too distant past, that let their Secretaries of State make foreign policy. I don't.'9 As Carter's national security advisor, Zbigniew Brzezinski, pointed out, 'Carter wanted to be his own Secretary of State [...] he would therefore be in control over foreign policy in the White House.'10 Giving his insistence on such a pronounced role in foreign policy, Carter's lack of experience could have been costly, but he was unusually smart and he appointed a competent and generally unified foreign policy team.¹¹ Carter also decided to invest the bulk of his time in foreign policy issues. Carter has often been described as a naive moralist, but his Palestinian policy, as well as much of his other foreign policy, was actually based on a strategic and pragmatic evaluation of the global situation which he derived from the ideals of liberal internationalism.¹²

Until Carter started his presidency, the inclusion of the Palestinians in the peace process had been merly academic and had not led to a change in US policy towards the Palestinians. Many explanations have been put forth regarding Carter's decision to focus on the Palestinians, including his Christian faith, his focus on human rights in general and his experiences in the segregated South.¹³ While each of these explanations shed light upon part of the picture, particularly on an emotional level, they miss a central point: solving the Palestinian issue was considered a strategic necessity by Carter, his closest foreign-policy advisors, and both the CIA and the State Department. He entered the White House with a clear intention of taking the United States in a new direction, away from the 'malaise' which had descended upon the nation during Nixon's presidency and persisted during Ford's. Carter came to power with an approach based on 'preventive diplomacy', global interdependence and the pursuit of human rights.¹⁴

In addition to the post-Vietnam and post-Watergate political atmosphere, Carter had also inherited the aftermath of the international oil shock, a consequence of the Arab oil embargo which followed the 1973 Arab–Israeli war. Carter therefore thought it vital to secure stability in the Middle East, and reduce the potential for a new oil embargo.¹⁵ In terms of this peace-making, Carter had a radically different approach from the preceding presidents. Where Nixon and Ford, under Kissinger's guidance, had tried to solve parts of the conflict while always isolating the Soviet Union, Carter aimed to solve the whole conflict with the assistance of the Cold War rival, not in competition with it. This approach had been promoted by, amongst others, a 1975 Brookings Institution report titled *Toward Peace in the Middle East*, written by a study group which included Carter's national security advisor, Zbigniew Brzezinski, and Middle East advisor, William B. Quandt.¹⁶ The report is often cited as having provided the 'blueprint' for the Carter administration's approach to the Arab–Israeli conflict.¹⁷

While that may be an overstatement, the report was clearly influential, particularly because so many of its authors subsequently gained prominent positions within the Carter administration. The report was seen by many Americans as so radical and anti-Israeli that both Brzezinski and Quandt were targeted by pro-Israeli groups in the United States for being co-authors of the report. Appeals were even made exclude them from the Carter administration.¹⁸ This pressure on the report's signatories was a forewarning of the domestic tension which such a comprehensive approach would create in the United States. It was also particularly hard for Carter to sell domestically because it contradicted two of the most essential aspects of the well-established tradition of US Middle East policy: the exclusion of the Palestinians and the Soviet Union from the diplomatic process. Despite the evident controversy, Carter ultimately failed to grasp the importance of grounding his Middle East policy domestically. This oversight would weaken his ability to counteract domestic pressure.¹⁹

The British journalist and Middle East expert Patrick Seale neatly summed up Carter's incoming position:

the Bible and Brookings, the fear of another war and another energy crisis, a sense that Kissinger had left the peacemaking job half done, pity for the Palestinians under Israeli occupation – promoted the Middle East to the top of Carter's foreign policy priorities.²⁰ Carter's comprehensive approach was, for better or worse, far more ambitious than Kissinger's step-by-step approach, which had preceded it. If it were to succeed, it would solve the Arab–Israeli conflict in its entirety. Rather than merely calm some areas and address some aspects of the conflict, the comprehensive approach sought to remove the possible reasons for the conflict to reassert itself.

As this book will show, Carter clearly sought such a comprehensive approach, but he was equally clearly unprepared for the resistance to it he would face. Carter was the first US president to talk of a Palestinian 'homeland'. This was a radical stance for a US president to take. While the term 'homeland' was imprecise and non-binding, it recalled the language used by Lord Balfour when he made his promise to the Jews in 1917 - adeclaration which became the frame of reference for the Zionist movement when it established Israel. The use of 'homeland' in relation to the Palestinians therefore made Carter highly unpopular in Israel, and amongst Israel's supporters in the United States. Carter's initial stance was generally supported by the Arab states and the Palestinians, though the latter wanted him to take a step further and support their demand for a Palestinian state under PLO (Palestine Liberation Organization) leadership. Such a step was unacceptable in the United States, however, and anathema to Israel.²¹ It was not a step, therefore, that Carter would take - while he sympathised with much of the Arab position, he found himself bound by domestic political structures and policies which strongly favoured the Israeli position. If Carter ventured within those bounds, he never directly crossed them.

During the whole presidency, then, the Carter administration manoeuvred between the Israeli criticism of going too far in supporting the Palestinians, and the Palestinian criticism of not going far enough. This bind was made even more difficult by the context in which the negotiations took place. The Arab states were divided; the United States did not talk directly to the PLO; and Israel's supporters in the United States applied persistent domestic pressure upon Carter. In practice, that is, many of the steps Carter took were seen as being far beyond the maximum of what Israel could give, yet below the minimum of what the Arab states and the Palestinians were demanding.²²

As the Carter administration pushed forward with its approach to peace during the early months of 1977, it became clear that this initiative was a very tall order. Some would insist that it was impossible from the start. The Carter team, however, dove straight in. Secretary of State Cyrus Vance went on several tours of the Middle East, and Carter hosted most of the Middle East leaders in Washington. While the Carter administration refused to meet directly with the PLO, Carter went further than previous US administrations in lowering the bar for what would be needed to initiate such contact. Several back-channels were used to communicate with the PLO, and the PLO sent signals that it was heading in a more moderate direction and closing in on the type of formulation regarding UNSC Resolution 242, implying a recognition of Israel, which was demanded by the US administration to open any direct contact with the PLO was sending contradictory signals, implying that it was heading in what the United States considered to be the wrong direction, away from moderation.²³

Meanwhile the Arab states were at odds, not only with Israel but also amongst themselves. Egypt was leaning towards a willingness to participate in a peace process through which it could make large concessions. Jordan had a similar stance, but, being the weak link in the Arab chain, it depended on Syria to move forward. Jordan also had a domestic problem, in that over half its population was of Palestinian origin. Making peace without Palestinian consent was therefore extremely difficult. Syria, for its part, was against entering any openended peace process. The PLO, then, was mired amongst these various Arab stances and, to complicate things further, was struggling with internal divisions of its own.²⁴ When Carter tried to induce the PLO to make concessions so that it could be included in the peace process, he was not addressing a unified movement, and those groups within the PLO which opposed the moderate leadership's position could always use violence to spoil that leadership's ability to negotiate.

Just months after Carter came to power, Israel also underwent a political change which had, to that point, been considered inconceivable: the age of Labour ended with the Likud victory in the national elections in May 1977. Israel's new prime minister, Menachem Begin, was ideologically more hawkish and much more decisive than Yitzhak Rabin had been, though he did share Rabin's adamant opposition to the comprehensive approach.²⁵ Israel, under both Rabin and Begin, did not want the Soviet Union on board; it did not want to negotiate with all the Arab states at once; and, most importantly, it found any engagement with the PLO to be unacceptable. Also, particularly after Begin came to

power, it moved to take the West Bank and the Gaza Strip completely off the negotiating table.²⁶ Carter would not fully grasp the ideological depth of Begin's commitment to keeping the West Bank and Gaza for Israel.²⁷ What he treated as an Israeli bargaining position was in fact an Israeli red line. Had he realised this, he might have acted differently, but it is unlikely that he could have changed Begin's mind on the Palestinian territories.

In the end, of all the Arab leaders, Carter managed to please only Egyptian President Anwar Sadat. Sadat was a rather difficult leader to understand, with a decision-making style which might best be described as erratic and 'enigmatic'.²⁸ In terms of foreign policy, it would eventually become clear that Sadat primarily sought two things: a close alliance with the United States, and the return of the Sinai, which had been occupied by Israel since 1967.²⁹ These goals were achieved upon the signing of the Egyptian–Israeli peace treaty. Beyond them, it was hard to sav exactly how much he cared about the Palestinian issue, if at all. After the Egyptian–Israeli peace treaty was signed, Sadat essentially stopped working towards any Palestinian gains; by then, as well, he had been ostracised within the Arab world. He became furious with the PLO and the other Arab leaders and lost all interest in struggling for gains on their behalf. This does not mean that he did not initially seek to be the Arab leader who had also secured a broader peace and real gains for the Palestinians, but these were never his primary goals.

Carter's rising star in Palestine

While Jimmy Carter is often recalled as an unpopular president, he has, in recent years, earned a positive reputation with regard to the Palestinian issue. He may have failed to provide the Palestinians with a viable solution when he was president from 1977 to 1981, but he returned to the issue in 2006 with his controversial book titled *Palestine: Peace Not Apartheid.*³⁰ That same year, he suggested that the international community recognise Hamas.³¹ Clearly, then, Carter had never given up on Palestine. Recent literature on the Arab–Israeli conflict has also placed his efforts in a positive light. In Nathan Thrall's 2017 book *The Only Language They Understand: Forcing Compromise in Israel and Palestine*, Carter is depicted as the role model for how a US president can pressure Israel to make concessions. While Thrall strongly exaggerates the extent to which Carter pressured Begin, he is undeniably right in his assertion that Carter was central in making Israel withdraw from the Sinai in the interests of peace with Egypt.³²

Carter has also gained academic attention of late simply because his administration's archives have been declassified over the past few years, making his presidency much more accessible to the research community. Much of this literature paints a picture of Carter entering office as an idealist and leaving as a realist who was scarred by the harsh realities of the world. The most poignant expression of this view is found in the title of Yael S. Aronoff's article 'In Like a Lamb, Out Like a Lion'.³³ It is difficult to disagree with this general assessment, and it largely rings true for his work on the Arab–Israeli conflict as well. He came in with an innovative approach aimed at a grand peace, and he left office largely content with a more limited arrangement which secured traditional US interests in the region.

The main problem with this view, however, is that while it is easy to criticise the comprehensive approach as naive, it was not disconnected from US interests. Quite the opposite, in fact. The central premise of the comprehensive approach was that only such a grand peace could create a stable Middle East and reduce Cold War tensions. The Egyptian–Israeli peace treaty, while immensely significant, did neither of those things, as the amount of conflict in the wider Arab–Israeli arena since 1979 amply demonstrates.

In general, the literature on President Carter's Middle East peacemaking is dominated by works covering the period from Anwar Sadat's visit to Jerusalem on 19 November 1977 to the signing of the Egyptian–Israeli peace treaty on 26 March 1979.³⁴ And no wonder: the period before this did not produce any results, wheras the Camp David summit is one of the most famous modern peace conferences, and the peace between Egypt and Israel was a tremendous diplomatic accomplishment. Still, this focus on the period starting with Sadat's Jerusalem visit largely disregards the depth of commitment the Carter administration had towards a comprehensive peace, and thus misses out on his historical role as the first US president to focus on the Palestinian issue.

This book is the first full account of the impact of the Palestinian issue upon the Carter administration's policies. Its in-depth research was made possible by the aforementioned declassification of the Carter archives, which include all the papers which went through the White House during Carter's time in office. Because Carter was so deeply involved in the day-to-day running of US foreign policy, this means that the Carter archive houses most of the relevant documents. Some important papers, however, did not pass through the White House, so other US government sources have been used to complement the White House papers, including documents from the State Department and the CIA. To further complement these US archives, material from the British Foreign Office and some recently available Israeli sources have been used, as have a variety of interviews with decision-makers.

From the perspective of the 1970s, it was truly remarkable how present the Palestinians were in the Carter White House's deliberations. From today's perspective, it is odd to find that it took 30 years for an American president to understand that the Palestinians were central to their own conflict, but, as we will see, the Carter administration brought about a unique moment in US Middle East policy. Carter broke with a decades-old frame of reference in US policy towards the Middle East, through which the Palestinians had been ignored.³⁵ After Carter, they would once again be moved to the sidelines, though events in Lebanon, then later in the occupied Palestinian territories, would make it impossible to ignore them completely.

CHAPTER 2

US PRESIDENTS AND THE Palestinians

Eleven minutes after Prime Minister David Ben-Gurion declared Israeli statehood on 14 May 1948, US President Harry S. Truman extended a *de facto* recognition of Israel. This set the tone for US–Israeli relations and earned Truman the nickname 'Israel's midwife'. While Truman's policy towards the Zionist movement varied over time, his vital support at the key moment created an almost mythological link between him and Israel, to the extent that 'the history of Truman and Israel' has become a genre of its own.¹ Compared to later US presidents, however, Truman was lukewarm towards Israel. As time passed the United States would increasingly support Israel, with close cooperation on all fronts.

In contrast, the Palestinians were largely invisible to US decisionmakers. While this did not start with President Truman, it also certainly did not end with him. The United States had supported the UN's 1947 partition plan, which nominally paved the way for a Palestinian state, but no such thing was established in 1948 or in the decades that followed. The Palestinians were the clear losers of the 1947–49 war, and as a result they disappeared from the US political horizon. For decades they would be ignored by US presidents. How did events in the Middle East allow the Palestinians to disappear from the political limelight? What had shaped the US view of the Arab–Israeli conflict, and why was there such a lack of understanding of its Palestinian aspects?

President Truman and the United Nations had together inherited the Palestine issue from Britain, when the British government decided to withdraw from Palestine in 1947.² On 28 April 1947, the UN arranged a special session to discuss the question of Palestine, and established the United Nations Special Committee on Palestine (UNSCOP).³ UNSCOP's subsequent partition plan, which called for the division of Palestine into a Jewish state and an Arab state, with Jerusalem as a *corpus separatum*, won through on 29 November 1947, as the UN General Assembly passed Resolution 181, with 33 votes in favour, 13 against, ten abstentions and one absent vote.⁴ With the narrowest of margins, then, the world body decided to divide Palestine. None of the parties directly involved had voted for the resolution. The US government, though, had not only voted for partition but worked hard to get other states to vote for it, too. This was not done in the spirit of equal support for Palestinians and Zionists but out of great sympathy for the latter.⁵

Not everything Truman did pleased the Zionist movement, however – far from it. In 1947, the Truman administration initiated a Middle East arms embargo, which encompassed Israel. The United States would not sell advanced weaponry to Israel until 1962, during the Kennedy administration.⁶ Arms sales to Israel would then gradually increase for each presidency thereafter.⁷

The first Arab-Israeli war

Although the UN had formally provided what the solution to the question of Palestine should look like – a division of Palestine under which 56 per cent would be a Jewish state, 43 per cent would be an Arab state, and the Jerusalem area would have international status – there was no plan for *how* to divide the land. Since neither the UN nor the superpowers were willing to provide military forces to implement partition, the stage was set for the parties to fight for, or against, partition.⁸

By December 1947, a civil war was raging in Palestine between Zionist forces and the Palestinians.⁹ During this period, as well, the first wave of Palestinian refugees left Palestine, largely to avoid the war.¹⁰ The armed Palestinian groups had some initial success, but, in April 1948, the Haganah (the predecessor of the Israeli Defense Forces, or IDF) launched the Plan D offensive. Plan D was decisive in turning the tide of the war, and a profound contribution to the creation of the Palestinian refugee problem, since part and parcel of Plan D was to clear the interior of threats, which in practice often meant rooting out Palestinians.¹¹

On 14 May 1948, Israel declared its independence as the last British forces left Palestine. The next day the Arab armies invaded. Despite the many controversies surrounding the establishment of Israel, the newborn state was recognised *de facto* by the United States and full *de jure* by the Soviet Union within the timespan of three days.¹²

Starting on 15 May 1948, Israel began to fight a war against Syria, Lebanon (Trans)Jordan, Iraq and Egypt. The war was divided into rounds of fighting separated by several cease-fires, the last of which was established on 6 January 1949. Armistice negotiations followed throughout the first half of 1949. After the armistices were signed, Israel was in possession of 77 per cent of Palestine, including the western half of Jerusalem.¹³

While the war was a success for Israel, where it is known as the War of Independence, it was a disaster for the Palestinians, who know it as *al-Nakba* (the Catastrophe). From 1947 to 1949, more than 700,000 Palestinians had fled from the area which became the state of Israel. They settled in refugee camps in the surrounding Arab states, in Gaza and in the West Bank.¹⁴

The formal UN approach to the refugee question was then founded in UN General Assembly Resolution 194(III), which stated: 'the refugees wishing to return to their homes and live at peace with their neighbours should be permitted to do so at the earliest practicable date'.¹⁵ This position had the support of the Arab states and the Palestinians. Israel, for its part, claimed that it had no responsibility for the refugees, because they were the result of a war started by the Arabs.¹⁶ This then becomes one of the deepest, most controversial issues between the parties.

After the 1948 War, the Palestinian population was divided between those who had remained in Israel, those who had fled outside of Palestine, and those who were in Gaza, under Egyptian military control, or the West Bank, which was annexed by Jordan. A large portion of those who lived in Gaza and the West Bank were refugees. Thus, while Israel emerged as a strong state with which many Americans identified, the Palestinian state never came to be at all, and the Palestinians were grouped under the generic term 'Arab refugees', disappearing from view as a national entity. In the words of Kathleen Christison: The Palestinian people themselves were nameless [...] without identity or status except as a mass of camp dwellers. As far as the United States was concerned, the Palestinians did not exist politically [...] an entire generation of policymakers came of age not knowing, and not thinking it necessary to learn, the Palestinians' story.¹⁷

For American policy-makers, Jordan and Egypt would represent the Arab claims on the West Bank and Gaza, respectively. The humanitarian understanding of the Palestinians as a mass of 'Arab refugees' would colour the US outlook during the Eisenhower, Kennedy and Johnson administrations.¹⁸ US policy towards the Palestinians would therefore centre upon the non-political humanitarian approach of relief, rather than the political repatriation approach. To the extent that repatriation was an issue at all, that is, it would not be connected to support for the establishment of a Palestinian state.¹⁹ Instead, the US approach towards the Palestinian refugees would be based on the fear that they would become communists due to their predicament.²⁰ Aid, channelled through UNRWA, was the tool used to avoid such a scenario.²¹ Humanitarian aid, after all, was easier and less politically costly than a political solution based on repatriation. For consecutive US administrations, then, the Palestinians were 'a problem, not a people'.²²

The rise of pan-Arabism

The defeat suffered by the Arab armies in the war in Palestine sent political shock-waves through the Arab world. The obvious question was this: How was it possible for a united Arab world to suffer such a staggering defeat at the hands of small, new-born state? The answer was that Arab unity had been a bluff. The Arab leaders were increasingly seen as corrupt and inept, and the years following the 1948 war would see great upheaval in the region. In 1951, King Abdullah of Jordan was assassinated. In Syria, a series of coups took place between the 1940s and the 1960s. Most importantly, in Egypt, the Free Officers carried out a coup in July 1952.²³ For US policy-makers this meant that the Arab states were unstable, and they grew concerned that they might tilt towards the Soviet sphere of influence. From this perspective, as well, the regional developments seemed to confirm this analysis.

The Egyptian Free Officers gradually became more radical, increasingly allied with the Soviet Union and increasingly anti-Israel. This was the result of a complex dynamic, but several important events took place during the 1950s which pushed Egypt in this direction. For one, the border with Israel was never stable, but Gamal Abdel Nasser who gradually took control of Egypt - tried to control the Palestinians who sought to infiltrate into Israel. However, in 1955, after an Israeli incursion into Gaza, during which 37 Egyptian soldiers were killed, Nasser decided to sponsor Palestinian Fedayeen attacks on Israel. Also in 1955, Nasser completed the famous Czech arms deal after he was denied US arms. This was interpreted by the United States as Egypt's turn to communism.²⁴ Within a dichotomist Cold War world view, this meant that the United States increasingly supported Israel as a Western bastion in the region, whereas the Palestinians were associated with the Soviet Union. Nevertheless, President Eisenhower refused to sell advanced weaponry to Israel.²⁵

The pivotal moment for Nasser was the 1956 Suez War in which Israel, Britain and France colluded to attack Egypt. One of the goals was to topple Nasser. Although the war was a military success for the aggressors, they then found themselves politically humiliated by the United States, the Soviet Union and the United Nations, as the IDF was pressured to withdraw from the Sinai.²⁶ Rather than topple his regime, the Suez war made Nasser into the great Arab hero, and boosted pan-Arabism as a political project. President Eisenhower's decision to act against Israel did not mean that he sided with the Palestinians, however. They remained far removed from the political scene, as far as the United States was concerned. Despite the fact that the Fedaveen attacks were one of the reasons Israel had for starting the war, the United States continued to perceive the Palestinians only as 'Arab refugees'.²⁷ For Eisenhower, it was the Cold War that mattered, and all political decisions were based on the US rivalry with the Soviet Union. Eisenhower was therefore confused when he discovered that the Arab states disliked Zionism more than they disliked communism.²⁸

Eisenhower's pressure on Israel in the Suez war was the exception to the rule in US-Israeli relations and, after his administration, the US relationship with Israel only grew closer. Under President John F. Kennedy (1961-63), the United States shifted towards the role of staunch ally of Israel. Kennedy coined the term 'special relationship', and in 1963 agreed to sell Hawk anti-aircraft missiles to Israel, a reversal of the long-standing US policy of refusing to sell the Israelis high-tech weapons.²⁹ Kennedy was also the last US president to actively seek a solution to the Palestinian refugee problem, through what was called the Johnson plan.³⁰ This initiative was named after Dr Joseph Johnson, not his namesake and Kennedy's successor, President Lyndon B. Johnson. When President Kennedy died, President Johnson informed Israel: 'You have lost a great friend, but you have found a better one.'³¹

While President Johnson would lump the radical Palestinian movements into what he saw as the rise of global communism, the rise of the Palestinian national movement was not a product of the Cold War, but the result of regional developments. It was within the context of pan-Arabism that the Palestine Liberation Organisation (PLO) was established in 1964, since the liberation of Palestine was a central tenant of Arab nationalism.³² To have any credibility among the Arab people, it was very important for Nasser to express support for the Palestinian cause. At the same time, however, he tried to retain control of the Palestinians by creating the PLO, while ensuring that it was not a politically independent body. The PLO therefore arose under supervision of the Arab League and Egypt and was placed under the leadership of Ahmed Shukayri, a Palestinian whom Nasser thought he could contain. Although the organisation had its own army, the Palestine Liberation Army (PLA), it was largely controlled by the Arab states.³³ The fact that the Arab states established the PLO made it possible for the United States to initially ignore this new movement, seeing it largely as an Egyptian puppet.³⁴ In March 1965 US Secretary of State Dean Rusk declared, 'We do not recognize it [the PLO] as the sole or even as the official representative of the Palestinian people. It is the {US government's] view that it has no official status whatever.³⁵ Ironically, the view of the Palestinians held by both the Arab states and the United States in this period echoed Marx's general verdict upon the colonised: 'They cannot represent themselves; they must be represented.'³⁶

Initially, in any case, the pan-Arab expression of support for the Palestinians was mirrored by the Palestinian support for pan-Arabism. Many Palestinians saw in pan-Arabism the structure for their liberation.³⁷ Meanwhile a younger generation of Palestinians started creating its own political structures, along two main lines of thought. The first, mainly represented by Yassir Arafat's Fatah (the Arabic reverse

16

acronym for Palestinian National Liberation Movement), considered the Palestinian cause to be a nationalist struggle which was independent of the larger pan-Arab ideology. The second, mainly represented by George Habash's Arab Nationalist Movement (ANM), sought to encapsulate the Palestinian revolution within that larger pan-Arab movement.³⁸ Up until the 1967 war the movements which privileged the pan-Arab cause would dominate. After the war, this would all change.

The six-day war: Shifting fronts

The run-up to the 1967 war was a complicated affair. In short, Israel seized on an opportunity created when President Nasser took a miscalculated gamble, based on Soviet misinformation, that Israel was planning an attack. After enduring prolonged Arab–Israeli tension and recurrent cross-border clashes, particularly on the Syrian front, Nasser knew he had to challenge Israel to save the image of the pan-Arab project. Unfortunately, his challenge would spiral out of control. Nasser removed the UN troops separating the Egyptian and Israeli forces, sent his troops into the Sinai, and closed the straits of Tiran. Israel considered this a *casus belli*. Since Egypt had a defence pact with both Jordan and Syria, Nasser was making a grand challenge on behalf of three of Israel's neighbours – a daring act of brinkmanship which demanded that Israel fold or call his bluff. Well aware that it would win the war, and with a 'yellow light' from US President Johnson, Israel chose the latter.³⁹

On the early morning of 5 June 1967, Israel launched a surprise strike against Egyptian airfields. Catching all the Arab armies unaware, Israel decimated the Arab air forces within hours. Then, in the six days from 5 to 10 June 1967, Israel captured the Sinai and the Gaza strip from Egypt, the Golan Heights from Syria, and the West Bank, including East Jerusalem, from Jordan.⁴⁰

The war clearly demonstrated the increased US support for Israel. President Eisenhower had refused to sell advanced weaponry to Israel, and in 1956 he had forced Israel out of the Sinai after the Suez war. In the run-up to the 1967 war, on the other hand, consecutive US presidents, John F. Kennedy and Lyndon B. Johnson, made large arms sales to Israel, including advanced weaponry.⁴¹ Then, in 1967, Johnson gave Israel the green light to start the war and allowed Israel to hold the occupied territories following the war. In this way, Johnson firmly

cemented the pro-Israeli tilt of US politics. For him, Israel was an ally, the Arab states were the enemies and the Palestinians were practically non-existent. 42

Nonetheless, intense diplomatic activity followed the fighting. In November 1967, after long rounds of haggling over words, the UN Security Council adopted Resolution 242. It called for the following:

Withdrawal of Israel armed forces from territories occupied in the recent conflict [...] acknowledgement of the sovereignty, territorial integrity and political independence of every State in the area and their right to live in peace within secure and recognized boundaries [...] *Affirms further* the necessity [...] For achieving a just settlement of the refugee problem.⁴³

This resolution became the foundation for all later attempts at solving the Arab–Israeli conflict, and it is therefore necessary to give a critical and detailed account of its contents. The document primarily describes the 'land-for-peace' formula through which Israel would withdraw from the occupied territories and the Arab states would grant Israel peace and recognition.⁴⁴

Beyond the fundamental premise of 'land for peace', however, UNSC Resolution 242 introduces several problematic issues. For one, it only refers to the 'recent conflict', making the June 1967 lines its point of reference, rather than the 1947 partition plan lines. Secondly, it refers to 'territories' in the indefinite form, omitting defining words such as 'the' or 'all', and thus allowing Israel to argue that some of the territories could be retained. Thirdly, the resolution only talks about states, and therefore excludes the Palestinians as an actor. And fourthly, the only reference to the Palestinians is hidden in the phrase 'the refugee problem'. All these issues made UNSC Resolution 242 unacceptable to the Palestinians.⁴⁵ As we will see, this would become a massive hindrance for Jimmy Carter when he became president, because acceptance of the resolution became a precondition for participation in the peace process.

The 1967 war drastically shifted the map, both politically and geographically. All of Israel's neighbouring Arab states were humiliated once again, and pan-Arabism suffered a serious defeat, from which it would never recover.⁴⁶ The Arabic name for the 1967 war made this

clear: *an-naksa* (the setback). To handle the setback, the Arab states convened an Arab League summit in Khartoum. Here they spelled out their official policy towards Israel. The stance has become famous as the 'three no's of Khartoum': no recognition of Israel, no negotiation with Israel and no peace with Israel. On the face of it, the Khartoum meeting delivered a completely rejectionist stance. Some analysts, such as Israeli historian Avi Shlaim, have instead argued that Khartoum was actually a victory for the *moderate* Arab states, and that the three no's should be read as 'no formal peace *treaty*, but not a rejection of a state of peace; no *direct* negotiations, but not a refusal to talk through third parties; and no *de jure* recognition of Israel, but acceptance of its existence as a state.'⁴⁷ Understandably, Israel heard only 'no', not the unstated 'but'.⁴⁸

An unintended consequence of the 1967 war was that the region became more deeply embedded in the cold war, since states like Syria and Egypt increasingly received Soviet weaponry.⁴⁹ This again entrenched US support for Israel, and the Americans sold arms to the Israelis on a much larger scale after the war. In 1969, weaponry totalling \$160 million was sold to Israel; in 1971, the total reached \$643 million.⁵⁰ The most significant development in the Arab–Israeli conflict at this time, however, went largely unnoticed by the United States.

Fatah takes charge

For the Palestinians, the 1967 war revealed that Palestine could not be retaken by the Arab armies – pan-Arabism, then, would not be the answer to their woes. The Palestinians had to take matters into their own hands.⁵¹ To all appearances, the 1967 war was the second major catastrophe in less than 20 years. Up to 300,000 Palestinians had fled from the West Bank and Gaza, which Israel had occupied. Most of these people fled to Jordan.⁵² Paradoxically, though, for some of the Palestinian guerrilla movements, the Arab defeat in the 1967 war presented an opportunity. As stated in one Fatah publication, the war ensured 'the return of the cause to its true nature – a Palestinian–Israeli conflict'.⁵³ Or, as Fatah leader Yassir Arafat stated to one of his comrades: 'This is not the end. It's the beginning.'⁵⁴ The United States did not notice this shift. For US Presidents Johnson, Nixon and Ford the conflict was still seen as one between Israel and the Arab states, and it was framed

within the broader cold war. Within this structure there was no room for Palestinian nationalism.

Fatah's rise to prominence amongst the Palestinian guerrilla movements was aided by the fact that George Habash's Arab Nationalist Movement (ANM) fragmented in the wake of the 1967 defeat and its associated political implications. Habash went on to create the Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine (PFLP).⁵⁵ Central to both Fatah and the PFLP was the idea of creating a revolutionary base from which they could launch the liberation of Palestine.⁵⁶ The stage was thus set for decades of Israeli-Palestinian clashes. The Palestinian Fedaveen launched a variety of attacks on Israel from bases in Jordan. In March 1968, after a landmine placed in Israel by Fedayeen exploded, killing two Israelis, the Israeli Defense Forces (IDF) decided to attack the Jordanian town of Karameh, where a large number of Fedaveen were gathered. While most of the Palestinian guerrilla groups withdrew upon learning of the impending Israeli attack. Fatah decided to stand its ground and make Karameh an example of resistance.⁵⁷

Despite its military superiority, the IDF met staunch resistance from Fatah troops, but also, and primarily, from the Jordanian army. Although the Israeli army won the battle, and most of the losses inflicted upon the IDF were by the Jordanian army, Fatah successfully used the battle for propaganda purposes. Fatah turned a military defeat into a political victory. After Karameh, Fatah's recruiting offices were flooded with new recruits.⁵⁸ Arms started flowing in from China, and Fatah went from having 2,000 men under arms in 1968, to having 14,000 men in 1970.⁵⁹

Another effect of Karameh was that Fatah was able to weaken the PFLP and strengthen its own political role, since the PFLP had withdrawn from Karameh before the battle. A wise military decision would prove politically costly to the PFLP, and Fatah's role in the PLO would grow rapidly. In December 1967, Shukayri resigned, and in February 1969 Fatah leader Yassir Arafat became PLO chairman. With the Fatah takeover, armed struggle became a central component of the PLO. Furthermore, the PLO was no longer entangled in pan-Arabism. The goal was the liberation of Palestine for the Palestinian people, by the Palestinian people, not as part of a larger Arab project.⁶⁰ They could finally represent themselves.

Beyond its military strategy, Fatah was both building a state in exile and promoting its cause globally. In October 1968, Fatah sent an open letter to the UN General Assembly, claiming to be a legitimate national resistance movement fighting for self-determination, in line with the UN Charter.⁶¹ Also in 1968, US diplomats in the region started hearing the argument that the Palestinians had to participate in peace talks and that it would be impossible to reach peace unless the Palestinians were included.⁶² Still, it would be a decade more before these observations from the field reached the White House. The Soviet Union, despite being sceptical of Fatah, held high-level meetings with Arafat in 1968 and pledged political and economic support to the guerrilla movement.⁶³ This did nothing to impress on the United States the gravity of the national claims of the Palestinians. Instead, it reinforced an image of the PLO as Soviet puppets.

Not only did the United States not engage with the Palestinians but also Henry Kissinger. President Richard Nixon's national security advisor, tried to keep the United States from engaging in the Middle East in general.⁶⁴ This would become impossible when the War of Attrition broke out along the Egyptian-Israeli front in June 1968, forcing the US administration's hand. During the summer of 1970, then, the United States became engaged in active diplomacy to finally end the Israeli-Egyptian fighting.⁶⁵ On 22 July 1970, Egyptian President Nasser accepted the US cease-fire, and a week later Israel reluctantly followed suit.⁶⁶ For the PLO, the Egyptian acceptance of the cease-fire with Israel was a rude awakening. It proved that Nasser could no longer be trusted to hold the front against Israel, and that none of the involved parties was willing to include the Palestinians in negotiations.⁶⁷ For the United States, the Palestinians were still largely invisible, except as mere refugees without a national political role. This image would only change in the early 1970s.

1970: Exiled from exile

By 1970, the PLO had built a state within a state in Jordan. The organisation was running civil institutions, and had a markedly military presence. Armed Fedayeen controlled the streets and set up checkpoints. The Jordanian kingdom was caught in an unfortunate circle. The more control the Palestinian guerrillas gained, the more attacks they launched

against Israel from Jordan, and the more reprisals were launched from Israel into Jordan. These Israeli attacks then meant that public support for the Palestinian cause gained some ground, especially among Jordanian leftist groups.⁶⁸ Meanwhile King Hussein was under great pressure from the Jordanian army to intervene against the Palestinian guerrillas which were challenging his regime.⁶⁹ Despite the obvious fact that this was a regional conflict spurred by the aspirations of the Palestinian nationalist movement, the US administration considered it a cold war confrontation driven by the Soviet Union.⁷⁰

Although the PLO as a political body had decided not to overthrow the Jordanian monarchy, the radical PFLP thought otherwise.⁷¹ The PFLP massively abused their power, and between 6 and 9 September 1970, the group successfully hijacked four planes and failed to hijack a fifth. Three of the hijacked aircraft were flown to Jordan, where the passengers were taken hostage and the empty planes were blown up.⁷² The hijackings were much more than King Hussein could tolerate. Along with an attack on the king's motorcade on 1 September, the hijackings provided the *casus belli* for a war against the Palestinian guerrillas in Jordan.⁷³

King Hussein demanded that the PLO lay down their arms, stating: 'The situation can't go on [...] There must be peace or war.'⁷⁴ The PLO refused to concede. Instead, it made Arafat commander in chief and called for a general strike to topple the Jordanian government. The die was cast. On 17 September 1970, the Jordanian civil war began.⁷⁵

King Hussein was worried that the Syrian army would intervene on behalf of the Palestinian guerrillas and therefore mobilised US aid, a request which prompted US National Security Advisor Henry Kissinger to ask Israel to support King Hussein. Israel responded by mobilising on its border with Jordan. The threat of an Israeli attack ensured that the Syrian tanks would withdraw after Jordanian aerial bombardment. King Hussein's army could then crush the isolated Palestinian guerrilla movement.⁷⁶ The Jordanian civil war was short but bloody. Totally defeated, the PLO was forced into exile, and the only thing that saved it was Egyptian President Nasser, who brokered a deal between the PLO and King Hussein. After ten days of fighting, King Hussein signed the Cairo Agreement. The day after the agreement was signed, Nasser died of a heart attack. He was succeeded by Anwar al-Sadat, a very different president.⁷⁷ As a result of the Jordanian civil war, the United States started to view Israel as a strategic asset in the region, given that it had been the Israeli forces which had ensured that Syria did not seriously intervene.⁷⁸ This represented a decisive escalation in US support for Israel, and US aid to Israel skyrocketed as well. In the years 1968–70, the aid budget had been \$25 million, \$85 million and \$30 million, respectively, whereas in the years 1971–73 it was \$545 million, \$300 million and \$307.5 million, respectively. The United States also signed its first long-term arms deal with Israel in 1971.⁷⁹

The Palestinians, on the other hand, got no such boost. They had lost yet another war. To the extent that they were noticed politically, it was primarily as a nuisance. The White House and State Department realised that the Palestinians were a spoiler group which could disrupt a peace process.⁸⁰ For the first time, though, some prominent individuals in the United States voiced an understanding of the centrality of the Palestinian issue. In October 1970, Joseph Sisco, assistant secretary of state for Near East affairs, stated: 'The Palestinians will have to be active participants in a peace settlement and this settlement will have to take account of their aspirations.'⁸¹ Despite Sisco's prominent position, however, this opinion was still fringe in US political circles.

After September 1970, the PLO moved its leadership to Lebanon.⁸² This was not a stable transition and the PLO presence in Lebanon would once again drop the Palestinians into the midst of another local conflict with regional ramifications. The amount of attacks across the Israeli-Lebanese border quickly increased. From the late 1960s into the early years of the 1970s, the Palestinian struggle had been deeply mired in global terrorism, or in the nomenclature of the movements themselves, 'external operations.' In July 1968, the PFLP had hijacked an El Al plane, and, in August 1969, the PFLP had hijacked a US airplane. Such hijackings then became a PFLP trademark, the most famous of which were the 1970 PFLP hijackings which triggered the Jordanian civil war. Other instances of high-profile Palestinian terrorist attacks included the 1972 Munich Olympics massacre, perpetrated by the Black September Organisation (BSO), as well as airplane hijackings in February and May 1972 and an attack on Ben-Gurion Airport in May 1972. In the early months of 1972, the BSO also committed its last major attack, killing two US ambassadors and a Belgian diplomat in Khartoum. Between 1972 and 1974, both Fatah and the PFLP took steps to distance
themselves from this type of action. In March 1972, PFLP leader George Habbash declared that the PFLP would no longer take part in external operations.⁸³ Violent incursions into Israel, however, did not stop. In May 1974, for instance, Palestinians militants killed 25 Israelis in a high school in northern Israel.⁸⁴

Paradoxically, it was Palestinian terror that made the United States finally acknowledge the Palestinians as something more than refugees. As has been noted, Palestinian terrorism became a 'form of mass communication'.⁸⁵ The famous US news anchor Walter Cronkite stated in September 1970, following the PFLP hijackings, 'Palestinian guerrillas, in a bold and coordinated action, created this newest crisis [...] in doing so they accomplished what they set out to do: they thrust back into the world's attention a problem diplomats have tended to shunt aside in hesitant steps towards Middle East peace.'⁸⁶

The downside of being noticed through terrorism was obviously that the Nixon administration started to see 'Palestinian' as a synonym for terrorism.⁸⁷ The leap taken was therefore from unknown humanitarian question (refugees) to prominent terrorists; while being noticed as an active actor in the conflict represented a step forward, being stereotyped as terrorists was a step back. The next thing the Palestinian national movement had to do was to reject terror in order to be recognised as a legitimate political actor.

In February 1974, the Fatah leadership officially declared that the phase of external operations had ended, and the phase of international diplomacy should begin.⁸⁸ This was the start of a process of PLO moderation, but it was not the start of the US acceptance of the movement, which was still a long way off.

The 1973 Arab-Israeli war

The period between the Jordanian civil war and the 1973 Arab–Israeli war was one in which the Middle East seemed less volatile – a region where it was unnecessary for the United States to spend political energy which could be directed elsewhere. It was a period of 'standstill diplomacy'.⁸⁹ It was also the lull before the storm.

In 1971, Egyptian President Anwar Sadat offered to negotiate a peace treaty with Israel. The Israelis and the United States gave him a cold response. Sadat was humiliated.⁹⁰ He tried again, in the early months of

1973, when Henry Kissinger held a series of meetings with Egyptian Presidential Adviser for National Security Affairs, Hafiz Ismail. They explored the possibilities for a negotiated settlement with Israel. Ismail pointed out that Egypt could lead, but would not go it alone; peace needed to include Jordan and Syria. Ismail also noted that any settlement must be tied to achieving Palestinian rights.⁹¹ Kissinger dismissed the offer, then added insult to injury by saying that Egypt was the defeated party and must act accordingly.⁹² Sadat had gone out on a limb for peace, but after being ignored and rejected by both Golda Meir and Henry Kissinger, he decided to go to war.⁹³

On 6 October 1973, the Syrian and Egyptian armies caught Israel off guard. While Egyptian forces broke through the 'impregnable' Bar-Lev line along the Suez Canal, the Syrian forces attacked Israel on the Golan Heights.⁹⁴ The war was both a tightly coordinated Syrian–Egyptian attack against Israel on two fronts, and an expression of two divergent approaches to the conflict. For the Syrian regime it was a war aimed at regaining territories lost in the 1967 war; for Egypt, it was a way to force Israel and the United States to take the nation seriously seriously in future negotiations.⁹⁵

The Egyptian offensive halted once it had captured a bridgehead in the Sinai, leaving Syria to absorb the full Israeli counteroffensive. The Syrians were quickly defeated. On 10 October 1973, in the midst of the war, Sadat offered a cease-fire proposal, formulated as the first step in a complete peace process, through which Israel would withdraw to the 1967 lines, with a final peace conference including all parties, even the Palestinians. From a US and Israeli perspective Sadat was asking too much. Israel, however, was also asking too much. While the United States wanted a cease-fire, Israel wanted the United States to give it enough arms to conclude a full military victory. As the tide of the war turned, Israeli forces once again inflicted devastating losses on the Arab armies. When Israel defeated the Egyptian forces in the Sinai, Israel had far less need for a cease-fire at all.⁹⁶

Meanwhile, the war was having large global ramifications. The United States airlifted huge amounts of weapons to Israel, while the Soviet Union provided an airlift to Syria. The sums involved were staggering, with US aid during and following the war totalling \$2.2 billion.⁹⁷ This activity once again increased cold war tensions. Moreover, the Arab states initiated an oil embargo which targeted both

Israel and Israel's allies, triggering a global oil crisis.⁹⁸ With both Syria and Egypt militarily defeated, the UN Security Council adopted Resolution 338, calling for immediate negotiations for a peaceful solution.⁹⁹ The war was brought to an end, but peace negotiations were still a long way off. Under Kissinger's leadership, the ensuing years would be spent negotiating separate and partial agreements instead. The Palestinians would not be part of these, and, in fact, their exclusion would thereby be formalised.

The 1973 war posed a political conundrum for the PLO leadership. After the war, when Sadat asked the PLO if it would participate in a peace conference, the reply was vague. The PLO leadership would not reject a conference in principle, but they were worried that it would be based on UNSC Resolution 242, which failed to address the Palestinian question.¹⁰⁰ This was a foreshadowing of a looming problem which would have a large impact on Carter's peace-making. While the United States demanded that all peace processes be based on UNSC Resolution 242, that condition was inherently unacceptable to the PLO.

Though they were unwilling to accept UNSC Resolution 242, Yassir Arafat and the moderate PLO leadership had signalled a willingness to accept the two-state principle since the 1973 war. These signals did not take the shape of clear-cut declarations but of 'trial balloons that showed a real desire to compromise'.¹⁰¹ The PLO had also tried to reach out to the United States through the security apparatuses. The most known of these contacts took place in March, July and November 1973, as well as in March 1974, during which the CIA held exploratory talks with the PLO. None of these meetings led to any political initiative, however.¹⁰²

While the CIA–PLO talks never fully developed into political conversations, the channel was stronger than is commonly known. In fact, CIA agent Robert Ames had developed contacts with the high-ranking PLO official Ali Hassan Salameh as early as late 1969. According to Kai Bird's biography of Robert Ames, Ali Hassan Salameh even held security talks with the CIA in New York in 1974, and then again met the CIA in the United States in early 1977. Until Ali Hassan Salameh was murdered by the Israeli Mossad on 22 January 1979, Ames regularly met with him in Beirut.¹⁰³ During the decade following Ames's first established contact with Salameh, the PLO took a series of moderating steps, but the United States never responded by upgrading the talks to a political level.

The first large step the PLO took towards a policy of political compromise came at the 12th Palestinian National Conference (PNC) in 1974. The Democratic Front for the Liberation of Palestine (DFLP) took the lead, together with Fatah, in writing the Ten-Point Programme adopted there, which insisted on Palestinian national rights as a necessary precondition for a peaceful solution. The PLO program stood by armed struggle as a method of obtaining liberation and rejected peace based on UNSC Resolution 242, because the resolution treated the Palestinians strictly as a refugee problem. The programme did allow participation in a peace process if UNSC Resolution 242 were amended to recognise Palestinian national aspirations. The most profound change expressed in the programme was its allowance for a political solution not founded on the liberation of the whole of Palestine. It was therefore the first official document implying acceptance of a two-state solution.¹⁰⁴

Serving in the US National Security Council at the time, William Ouandt argued that the Ten-Point Programme was the PLO's way of saving, 'in heavily qualified language ... that it was prepared to settle for a Palestinian state consisting only of the West Bank and Gaza'.¹⁰⁵ This political shift was crowned by a symbolic victory when Yassir Arafat was invited to speak before the UN General Assembly on 13 November 1974. In one of his most famous statements, he laid out the two paths available to the PLO: 'I have come bearing an olive branch and a freedom fighter's gun. Do not let the olive branch fall from my hand.¹⁰⁶ This was the most vocal expression of the PLO's increasing moderation. It did nothing for the Americans. Kissinger exclaimed: 'Our reading of it is that it called for a state which really did not include the existence of Israel and therefore was dealing with a successor state, and we do not consider this a particularly moderate position.'107 Nor did the US perspective change following Arafat's statements to US senators in the early months of 1975 that he supported a Palestinian state in the West Bank and Gaza only.¹⁰⁸

The UN, however, gave Arafat another victory when the General Assembly passed Resolution 3236, which reaffirmed the 'inalienable rights of the Palestinian people in Palestine, including [...] the right to self-determination [...] national independence and sovereignty [and] the inalienable right of the Palestinians to return to their homes and property'.¹⁰⁹ UNGA Resolution 3237 then granted the PLO official observer status in the General Assembly.¹¹⁰

Within the PLO, this shift was highly contentious, as various factions within the Palestinian movement wanted different things. For some groups, such as the PFLP, the acceptance of a Palestinian mini-state on the West Bank and Gaza was anathema. They were also willing to resort to violence to thwart the PLO moderates in their search for a diplomatic solution.¹¹¹

Step by step

On 25 October 1973, the war between Israel and Egypt and Syria had finally come to an end. Kissinger saw a political opportunity to break the stalemate which had existed prior to the war. Creating fruitful diplomacy out of war was no simple task, however, and Kissinger's solution was a step-by-step formula for negotiations – one excluding both the Soviet Union and the Palestinians.¹¹² The parcelling-out of issues related to the conflict strongly strengthened Israel's hand, of course; the historian Salim Yaqub goes so far as to argue that the whole point of the step-by-step structure was 'to be a mechanism for Israel's indefinite occupation of Arab land'.¹¹³

To initiate this particular peace process, Kissinger created a mediation umbrella, to signal that it aimed to include all the parties. The chosen forum was a Geneva conference co-chaired by the United States and the Soviet Union; the substantial negotiations, however, would be bilateral, under the sole supervision of the United States. The Geneva conference nonetheless proved difficult to convene. The question of who would attend, for example, was a thorny issue. Israel would not accept PLO participation at any cost, and the United States accepted this premise. Syrian President Hafez al-Asad refused to attend, leaving only Jordan, Egypt and Israel to appear in Geneva on 21 December 1973. The impact of the conference was largely symbolic. The parties spoke, but not to each other – for each of the participants, instead, the audience was domestic. For the United States, as well, the conference was a showcase intended to provide multilateral cover to a bilateral process, and, towards this end, it succeeded.¹¹⁴

After the Geneva conference, the next step was the Israeli-Egyptian disengagement negotiations, for which Kissinger initiated his famous shuttle diplomacy, travelling between Egypt and Israel, to carry their respective ideas and responses back and forth. On 18 January 1974, the

first Egyptian–Israeli disengagement treaty was signed.¹¹⁵ Kissinger's focus then shifted to Syria, where he found a demanding negotiator in President Hafez al-Asad. After extensive shuttling, an agreement was reached there too, and the Syrian–Israeli disengagement treaty was signed on 31 May.¹¹⁶ Upon the completion of these agreements, the Arab oil embargo ended.¹¹⁷

Although a peaceful solution was also necessary on the Jordanian front, this would prove difficult, if not impossible, within Kissinger's disengagement framework. The step-by-step format of negotiation was only workable on less complicated fronts, such as the Golan and Sinai. It could not address the more fundamental issues of Jerusalem, Palestinian refugees or the West Bank, a territory with both ideological and security implications for Israel. Kissinger had also, purposely and under pressure from Israel, isolated the Palestinians by excluding the PLO from negotiations. This made the Jordanian front even more complicated, because the Arab states insisted that the West Bank was Palestinian territory, and that it was for the PLO to negotiate the status of the West Bank, not Jordan. Including the PLO in negotiations was out of the question for both the United States and Israel, which showed, perhaps more than anything else, how out of sync with regional developments the US policy was. Ignoring the Palestinians meant that there were certain things that simply could not be done, and it would clearly have been pertinent to consider whether movement was possible without a change in the parameters of the negotiations. Instead, all focus shifted towards a second disengagement on the Egyptian front.

To Kissinger's disappointment, the Israelis were so unwilling to make further concessions that even a second limited Egyptian–Israeli deal seemed impossible. In unusually outspoken fashion, Kissinger told Israeli Prime Minister Rabin: 'I see pressure building up to force you back to the 1967 borders – compared to that, ten kilometers is trivial. I'm not angry at you, and I'm not asking you to change your position. It's tragic to see people dooming themselves to a course of unbelievable peril.'¹¹⁸ Kissinger then suspended the talks.

In the midst of this suspension of negotiations, the first round of the Lebanese civil war erupted.¹¹⁹ The PLO was central to this outbreak, having sided with the leftist forces under the leadership of Druze leader Kamal Jumblatt. The PLO had also taken control of large areas of Beirut and southern Lebanon, their main base since the 1970 Jordanian civil

war. The PLO posed a major challenge to the pro-Western Lebanese regime. Fighting erupted as a local political struggle over fishing rights spun out of control, pitting Christian militias against the Palestinians. Once this spark was lit in a highly volatile country, it started a civil war that would last for 15 years. This was not only a domestic issue, as the PLO also used Lebanon as a base from which to launch attacks on Israel.¹²⁰ The US policy of ignoring the Palestinians did not stop the organisation from having a massive influence on regional developments. As with international terrorism previously, the PLO's role in the Lebanese civil war helped put it on the map, but it did not help its image. This despite the fact that the PLO helped to facilitate the evacuation of US personnel from Beirut in June 1976. While both President Ford and Secretary of State Kissinger thanked the PLO for this assistance, it had no effect on the US political position on the movement writ large.¹²¹

While Arab–Israeli talks were suspended in 1975, the US administration re-evaluated its diplomatic strategy, and Kissinger met with a large number of foreign policy specialists. Two main alternatives came to dominate this re-evaluation phase. One strand of foreign policy thinkers argued for a continued step-by-step approach, excluding the Palestinians, and another argued for a comprehensive approach, including the Palestinians. Dominant among the latter voices was the Brookings Institution study group which recommended a comprehensive approach to US Middle East diplomacy, including the Palestinian issue. This group's work would form part of the intellectual underpinning of the Carter presidency's Middle East diplomacy.¹²²

This re-evaluation period should have been a golden opportunity to review and revise US–PLO policy. It was not to be. President Ford and Secretary of State Kissinger decided that what was needed was more of the same. When Kissinger was asked directly about including the Palestinians in the next round of negotiations, he responded: 'Do you want to start a revolution in the United States?'¹²³ Instead, it was back to step-by-step negotiations, without the Palestinians.¹²⁴

Sinai II

Kissinger promptly initiated a new round of disengagement negotiations between Israel and Egypt, but Israel largely remained intransigent. In late June 1975, however, Israel finally signalled a willingness to make some minor concessions. Sadat followed up by granting further concessions of his own. The United States paid with increased aid and, on 4 September 1975, the second Israeli–Egyptian disengagement agreement (Sinai II) was signed.¹²⁵

With Sinai II, many of the US promises previously given orally to Israel were put into writing. The agreements were secret, but some authorised leaks were provided to the Israeli press.¹²⁶ In all, there were three secret agreements between the United States and Israel, and one between the United States and Egypt. The latter was simply a vague promise of intent to bring about an agreement on the Syrian front, as well as a promise to provide US assistance to Egypt.¹²⁷ Many of the US agreements with Israel contained clauses which limited the US diplomatic room for manoeuvre in upcoming negotiations. In one memorandum, the United States committed to

not recognize or negotiate with the Palestine Liberation Organization so long as the Palestine Liberation Organization does not recognize Israel's right to exist and does not accept [UN] Security Council Resolutions 242 and 338. The United States Government will consult fully and seek to concert its position and strategy at the Geneva peace conference with the Government of Israel.¹²⁸

Rather than work to include the Palestinians in future negotiations, Kissinger did the opposite. He blocked future US presidents from talking to the PLO. To quote US journalist Edward Sheehan: '[I]n excluding the PLO from the start, Kissinger excluded from the process of peacemaking the very essence of the Arab–Israeli quarrel.'¹²⁹

The United States also promised to veto any UN Security Council resolution aimed at changing UNSC Resolutions 242 and 338.¹³⁰ Since an important fault of UNSC Resolution 242 was that the Palestinians were not treated as a political party in the conflict, this was yet another mechanism for excluding the Palestinians. The US administration could not negotiate with the PLO unless Israel accepted it first. This self-imposed limitation had been long in the making. In early December 1973, Kissinger had accepted the Israeli demand that there would be no PLO participation in the Geneva conference.¹³¹ Two weeks later Kissinger

had given the Israelis a secret 'Memorandum of Understanding', promising them that 'no other parties would be invited to future meetings at Geneva 'without the agreement of the initial participants'.¹³² This was, in effect, a US guaranteed Israeli veto against PLO participation.¹³³ In the words of Janice Gross Stein: 'what Kissinger kept off the agenda was far more important than what he put on'.¹³⁴

When Jimmy Carter came to power in 1977, he inherited this 'diplomatic straitjacket' from Kissinger.¹³⁵ Reflecting on this some years later, Herman Eilts, Carter's ambassador to Egypt, stated: 'From that point on our greatest vulnerability in pursuing an effective mediatory role in the peace process was our inability to have dialogue, real dialogue with the PLO.'¹³⁶ While this analysis is accurate, it is also true that Carter failed to ever seriously challenge the limitations Kissinger imposed.

Failing to see the Palestinians

Not only was the US policy of limiting its own room for manoeuvre a hindrance on future US policy-makers, it was also largely out of sync with developments in the Middle East. For several years, at this point, the PLO had become *the* representative of the Palestinian people and had gained legitimacy as the only actor which could negotiate the Palestinian territories of the West Bank and Gaza. In 1973, in an Arab League meeting in Algeria, all the Arab states, bar Jordan, agreed that the PLO was the Palestinians' sole legitimate representative. Because Jordan objected, however, no resolution to this effect was passed.¹³⁷ The PLO had to wait another year before this would become an official Arab League policy; on 28 October 1974, in Rabat, the Arab League finally did declare that the PLO was 'the sole legitimate representative of the Palestinian people'.¹³⁸

Despite their centrality to the conflict, then, and their increasing regional and international recognition and influence, the Palestinians failed to be acknowledged as a legitimate actor by the United States in the period preceding President Carter. This is true both at the political leadership level, and in US public opinion.¹³⁹ There were many good reasons for this, the most basic of which being that the Palestinians did not have a state to represent them. The PLO was, at the best of times, a para-state, or a state apparatus in exile, whether in Jordan or Lebanon.

Another reason was that Israel was adamantly against including the Palestinians in any political solution. Israel had an increasingly special relationship with the United States, and thus the US understanding of the conflict was very often shaped through an Israeli lens. The friendly US–Israeli relationship was evident under Harry S. Truman, became warmer under John F. Kennedy and then steadily became closer, until Israel was seen as a strategically vital ally under Richard Nixon.¹⁴⁰ This increasingly special relationship, of course, was always paired with a blindness about, and unwillingness to engage with, the Palestinians and their claims.¹⁴¹

While Kennedy, like Eisenhower before him, had made some attempts to befriend the Arab states, to avoid a Soviet monopoly in the region, he never grasped the fact that the Palestinians were a people with national aspirations. Like US presidents before him, he saw them as a humanitarian problem, not a political issue.¹⁴² That perception remained intact until it was replaced by the understanding that Palestinians were terrorists.

This brings us to the third reason for excluding the PLO from negotiations, which was that the PLO became synonymous with terrorism. Most famously the PFLP had carried out its hijackings in 1970, and the Black September Organisation committed the Munich massacre in 1972, killing 11 Israeli athletes at the Olympic games.¹⁴³ This history stained the PLO long after the main member organisations had ceased to support international terrorism.¹⁴⁴ It certainly had not helped that presidential candidate Robert F. Kennedy was assassinated by Palestinian born Sirhan Sirhan in June 1968.¹⁴⁵ The image of the Palestinian factions, such as the Abu Nidal group, and compounded by the fact that the PLO's main allies were the communist countries and the radical Arab states.¹⁴⁶

A fourth reason was that Jordan, an important US ally in the region, wanted to regain control over the West Bank and Jerusalem, and thus insisted on being the legitimate partner in negotiating on behalf of the Palestinians. For US policy-makers, in turn, Jordan was considered important precisely because it stood in the way of Palestinian nationalism.¹⁴⁷ Starting in 1970, this assumption was sometimes challenged. For instance, a report from the US consulate in Jerusalem stated that the conflict could only be solved if the Palestinians were

included.¹⁴⁸ In another report the same year, Assistant Secretary of State Joseph Sisco argued, 'perhaps it is time to shift our attention from the two-power and four-power exercises to direct action vis-à-vis the principal actors – Israel, the Palestinians and the UAR [Egypt]'¹⁴⁹ Such a view did not last for long. In November 1970 the Palestinians were described as a 'refugee and a Jordanian problem'.¹⁵⁰ By the end of December 1970, the so-called Palestine Option was laid aside. US policy was that Jordan was responsible for negotiating on behalf of the Palestinians.¹⁵¹

A last reason was the US domestic imbalance between the pro-Israeli interest groups, known as the Israel lobby, and the Arab-American interest groups. While the former were firmly established, well-funded and tightly organised, the latter were only slowly beginning to make their marks in the 1970s. In fact, the imbalance was so strong that even the various rising progressive and leftist movements in the United States found it difficult to side with the Palestinians. This greatly benefitted Israel vis-à-vis the Palestinians.¹⁵²

Despite all these reasons, the Palestinians could not be ignored. In early 1973, the US Bureau of Intelligence and Research wrote a report on the Palestinian Fedayeen, concluding that the PLO was the 'only agency that can speak for the Palestinians en masse'.¹⁵³ Again, in February 1974, members of Kissinger's National Security Council recommended that Kissinger should work towards a rapprochement between Jordan's King Hussein and the PLO. According to Harold Saunders, one of Kissinger's top aides, a good way of doing so would be to approach the PLO directly and convince the movement to accept the fact that King Hussein could negotiate on its behalf. Kissinger disagreed with Saunders. For him it was King Hussein who would negotiate with Israel over the future of the West Bank - a negotiation in which the PLO had no place.¹⁵⁴ President Nixon, however, used the phrase 'the legitimate interests of the Palestinians' in his overview of what needed to be addressed in a peace process.¹⁵⁵ The statement had no political consequence, and the Palestinians continued to be ignored.

Towards the end of his foreign policy reign there were indications that Secretary of State Henry Kissinger was considering a more comprehensive approach to Arab–Israeli peace-making. Essentially, though, the comprehensiveness would continue to be limited by the fact that the Palestinians were not to be included in any meaningful way.¹⁵⁶ 34

There was one major exception to this rule. On 12 November 1975, Harold Saunders of the US National Security Council, in a statement before the US House of Representatives subcommittee of international relations, recognised

that the final resolution of the problems arising from the partition of Palestine, the establishment of the state of Israel, and Arab opposition to those events will not be possible until agreement is reached defining a just and permanent status for the Arab peoples who consider themselves Palestinians.¹⁵⁷

This statement brought about such negative reactions from Israel and pro-Israel groups in the United States that Kissinger quickly backtracked, calling the statement 'a somewhat academic exercise'.¹⁵⁸ He said this despite the fact that both Kissinger and President Ford had accepted the wording of Saunders's statement.¹⁵⁹ Internally, Kissinger had also admitted: 'We can't refuse forever to talk to the PLO. [...] We could co-exist with the PLO. It is indeed historically inevitable.¹⁶⁰ Thus, while one can debate whether Kissinger might have been ready to include the Palestinians in a peace process, neither the US public, its pro-Israeli interest groups nor Israel itself was ready. And, in the end, Kissinger was not willing to challenge any of them. This was a foretelling of what would come in the Carter years. Including the Palestinians in the political process would be no easy task.

CHAPTER 3

THE COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH

On 20 January 1977, Jimmy Carter was sworn in as the 39th president of the United States of America. Carter came into office with fresh ideas, and a desire to break free of the political deadlocks in the Arab–Israeli conflict. In an American context, Carter's Middle East approach was therefore radical. It went far in actually recognising Palestinian aspirations, and it attempted to abandon the cold war mould by including the Soviet Union in the peace-making enterprise. The goal was to obtain a comprehensive peace which would solve all the outstanding issues between the involved parties: Syria, Lebanon, Jordan, Egypt, Israel and the Palestinians. The chosen format for negotiating such a settlement would be a reconvened Geneva conference. This time, the conference would not be for show, but represent *the* format for Arab–Israeli negotiations.

Carter was fully dedicated to the concept of achieving a comprehensive peace, as both his public and private statements made abundantly clear. The Middle East policy of the first half-year of his presidency was clearly geared towards that end. While preparing for a Geneva peace conference, Secretary of State Cyrus Vance went on two Middle East tours, and President Carter personally met with the region's heads of state. However, by October 1977, this approach was already falling apart, due to Israeli intransigence and an inability to solve the question of how the Palestinians could be represented at Geneva. This was made all the more difficult by the disinclination of the Arab states to agree amongst themselves as to what political positions to take.

Coming into office

President Carter and his political team were not alone in advocating for a comprehensive approach. It had the support of both the State Department and the CIA. A lengthy State Department transition document titled 'Arab–Israeli Dispute' mapped out the situation in the Middle East for the incoming administration. Its authors argued that the United States needed to choose between a comprehensive solution and a partial solution, as an interim step, and if the former were indeed chosen, the Carter administration would have to make 'a commitment to put our full influence into the scales in an effort to achieve a settlement'.¹ A lengthy CIA report also supported a comprehensive approach and noted that Palestinian participation was the key ingredient.²

The State Department was more cautious than the CIA on the Palestinian question. It recognised that the Palestinian issue was central to the conflict but also acknowledged that the Palestinians would probably not be able to meet the US demand that the PLO first had to accept UNSC Resolutions 242 and 338 and recognise Israel's right to exist.³ Nor would this likely be enough, since Israel 'would not accept the PLO as an independent party to the negotiations even under these circumstances'.⁴ In light of this obstacle, the State Department recommended instead that Egypt, Syria and Saudi Arabia represent the Palestinians, and 'press the PLO not to hinder the process unduly'.⁵

The Palestinian dilemma facing Carter was clear from the outset. On the one hand, he wanted a comprehensive peace, which included the Palestinians; on the other, he was limited by a US policy which greatly restricted all official contact with the PLO as long as the organisation did not accept the US demands. Kissinger had made that promise to Israel, we will recall, during the finalisation of the Sinai II agreement.⁶ Carter and his team employed a very strict interpretation of the PLO clause in Sinai II, interpreting the phrase 'will not recognize or negotiate' to mean that they could have no direct political contact with the organisation, despite the fact that the text did not mention less formal contact.⁷ This strict interpretation unccesarily restricted the administration's room for manoeuvre.

Carter's Palestinian dilemma was made even starker by Israel's insistence that it would not negotiate with the PLO even if the PLO *did* meet those US demands. It seems obvious, in hindsight, that something

had to give. Carter could either reduce the demands on the PLO in order to negotiate with it, then pressure Israel to accept this arrangement, or he could come to terms with the fact that the PLO would continue to be excluded. Instead, Carter wanted to both convince the PLO to accept the US demands and convince Israel to accept this condition. Furthermore, rather than try to break with the largely irreconcilable stances of getting the PLO involved in the peace process without talking to it, Carter tried to achieve the former within the confines of the latter. In the months ahead, then, his administration would attempt to activate a large range of indirect lines of communication with the PLO.

Developing the comprehensive approach

The commitment to a comprehensive approach represented a major strategic decision which was made at the very top level and discussed within the Policy Review Committee (PRC). The PRC was chaired by the State Department and responsible for broader foreign policy issues. Its meetings were attended by the most important people in the administration, including Secretary of State Cyrus Vance, National Security Advisor Zbigniew Brzezinski, Secretary of Defense Harold Brown and Vice President Walter Mondale.⁸ Along with Middle East specialists such as William B. Quandt (NSC), Harold H. Saunders and Alfred L. Atherton (both State Department), this team developed and worked to implement Carter's comprehensive approach. It was clear at all times that Arab–Israeli peace-making was a high priority for the administration.

One of the primary questions was to decide on a suitable forum for negotiations, and the group decided to reconvene the 1973 Geneva conference but expand its mandate. Other fundamental questions involved deciding on who would participate, and who would host the conference. It was in his answers to those two questions where Carter departed the furthest from previous US presidents. The inclusion of the Palestinians was obviously the most radical aspect of the Carter approach. While the Palestinians had always been seen as part of the problem in the Arab–Israeli conflict, they had rarely been seen as an independent political actor which might be central to finding its solution. Carter's other central innovation was his inclusion of the Soviet Union. While Henry Kissinger had used the Soviet Union as co-chair for the 1973 Geneva conference, it did not have an active role.⁹ In fact, Kissinger's peace-making tried hard to exclude the Soviet Union and make it an irrelevant regional actor. Carter and most of his top advisors, on the other hand, agreed that active Soviet participation was desirable.¹⁰

Brzezinski differed on this point. Fearing Soviet and Palestinian intransigence, he argued that the United States should work on getting the involved Middle Eastern states to agree on certain premises before going to Geneva.¹¹ This tension in the Carter administration over whether to include the Soviet Union and the Palestinians in this preparatory stage highlighted another dilemma of the comprehensive approach. While this approach demanded Soviet and Palestinian participation, some were sceptical about bringing them in at an early stage. It also highlighted one of the most famous tensions within the Carter administration, namely the Vance– Brzezinski divide – of the two, Brzezinski was far more sceptical of the Soviet Union.

The PRC's initial discussions revealed inherent contradictions within the comprehensive approach. How comprehensive was a peace which depended on the old structures of exclusion in order to create a new structure of inclusion? Was it even possible to ask the Soviet Union for support while keeping it out of the talks? Was it possible to include the Palestinians without talking directly to the PLO? These contradictions were never adequately addressed and gradually became the cause of large problems for the US administration.

Theory to practice: Visiting the Middle East

The Carter administration decided to try to tackle these dilemmas as the talks developed. Officials therefore proceeded to consult with the relevant Middle Eastern governments. The two first rounds of consultations began with a Middle East tour by Secretary of State Cyrus Vance, followed by state visits from the Middle East to Washington.

On 14 February 1977, less than a month into the Carter presidency, Vance left on an eight-day Middle East tour to meet with the leaders of Israel, Egypt, Jordan, Saudi Arabia, Syria and Iran and seek common ground upon which a second Geneva conference could be based.¹² This early top-level engagement indicated to all that Carter was putting his weight behind Middle East diplomacy.

Vance identified four main issues of concern which needed to be addressed in order to have fruitful negotiations: the nature of the peace, boundaries. Palestinian issues, and procedure. There were some overarching areas of agreement. The various states all agreed that the United States should help develop an overall settlement, and that a Geneva conference was a good idea. Beyond that, however, the Middle East states were at odds. Israel wanted peace to entail both diplomatic relations and trade, whereas the Arab states saw peace merely as an end to the state of war, without any normalisation. Israel wanted defensible borders and no withdrawal from Jerusalem, whereas the Arab states demanded borders based on the June 1967 lines. President Sadat and King Hussein of Jordan were willing to accept minor border modifications.¹³ On the Palestinian issue, though, there was no agreement whatsoever. Israel was adamantly against the creation of a Palestinian state, whereas the Arab states insisted on some form of Palestinian entity. Israel refused to negotiate with the PLO, and the Arab states insisted that the PLO had to participate in the talks.¹⁴

With this feedback from the region, Carter realised that getting Israel to accept PLO participation, in one form or another, would determine whether it would be possible to hold a Geneva conference.¹⁵ For that very reason, Vance had prodded the Israelis as to whether they could talk to the PLO if the PLO were to recognise UNSC Resolution 242. Israel's Foreign Minister Yigal Allon responded: 'Without its covenant and refraining from terrorism and recognizing the right of Israel to exist and recognizing 242 – the PLO ceases to be the PLO. [...] [W]hen this tiger becomes a horse let me know and I will think about riding it.'¹⁶ There was simply little hope of moving Israel, without first getting the PLO to budge, but even if the PLO budged, there was no guarantee that Israel would reciprocate.

On the question of what form the Arab delegation at Geneva would take, Syria opted for a unified Arab delegation, whereas Egypt preferred bilateral delegations.¹⁷ Syria preferred a unified delegation because it would enable Syrian President Hafez al-Asad to hold Egyptian power in check, and it would ensure that Syria had a role in negotiating the Palestinian issue.¹⁸ Israel shared the Egyptian preference for bilateral delegations.¹⁹ The questions of what format the Arab delegation could

have, and the issue of Palestinian representation, would prove to be thorny in the coming months, and Carter's struggle to secure agreement on the format of talks did not bode well for the difficult questions of substance.

These major difficulties aside, Vance returned to the United States to emphasise that his trip had allowed him to build 'trust and confidence' among the region's leaders and underline the 'depth of Presidential commitment to finding a peaceful solution'.²⁰ The Syrian president also stated publicly that he viewed Vance's visit as an indication of Carter's dedication to finding a solution to the conflict.²¹ This was an unusually positive comment from Asad.

The Clinton speech and tidings from Moscow

On 16 March 1977, Jimmy Carter gave a speech in Clinton, Massachusetts. The speech itself contained few and uncontroversial references to the Middle East. In the question-and-answers session afterwards, however, Carter mapped out his Middle East policy by dividing the prerequisites for peace into three categories. The first two were old news: normalisation and recognition of Israel by the neighbouring Arab states, and an agreement on the delineation of permanent borders. The third, and most noteworthy, was new: a solution to the Palestine problem. 'There has to be a homeland provided for the Palestinian refugees who have suffered for many, many years', Carter insisted.²²

This reference to a Palestinian 'homeland', which was heard as an echo of the British Balfour declaration 60 years earlier, caused a stir, both domestically and internationally.²³ The American Israeli Public Affairs Committee (AIPAC), the main body of the so-called Israel lobby, launched a campaign at Congress and the White House opposing Carter's position.²⁴ The PLO, on the other hand, welcomed the 'homeland' statement.²⁵ PLO leader Yassir Arafat was 'ecstatic'.²⁶ Clearly, it was hard to please everybody in a diplomatic process which took the form of a zero-sum game. This was a recurring pattern. The more Carter exerted himself to include the Palestinians, and please the Arab states, the less amiable his relationship became with Israel and its domestic supporters in the United States. At times, this dynamic would prompt Carter to backtrack. In the early months of 1977, though, Carter soldiered on. After Carter had publicly made his position on the Palestinian question clear, the Soviet Union answered in kind. On 21 March 1977, Soviet General Secretary Leonid Brezhnev held a speech indicating that the Soviet Union shared much of Washington's view regarding Middle East peace negotiations.²⁷ He stated that the Soviet Union

[w]elcomes Geneva [...] Withdrawal of Israeli troops to the 1967 borders [...] Demilitarized zones on both sides of borders [...] UN forces or observers for a specified period of time. Guarantees by UNSC and by four powers [...] relations of peace begin when withdrawal is completed. All sides undertake to respect each other's sovereignty, territorial integrity and political independence and to resolve disputes by peaceful means. [...] The inalienable rights of the Palestinian Arab people should be ensured, including the right to self-determination and the creation of its own state.²⁸

This was something with which the US administration could work. Selfdetermination and statehood were steps further than 'homeland', but apart from that the two superpowers agreed to a remarkable extent. The insistence on Palestinian statehood was also counterbalanced by the fact that Brezhnev did not mention the PLO. Brezhnev's statement was so aligned with the Carter administration's thinking that Brzezinski commented: 'Perhaps he [Brezhnev] also has read the Brookings Report.'²⁹

Within the timespan of one week, the two most controversial aspects of the Carter approach were out in the open. First Carter had publicly supported a Palestinian homeland, and then the Soviet Union had declared that it wanted to participate in working towards Middle East peace in cooperation with the United States. Carter had issued a challenge to Israel and its supporters in the United States, and Brezhnev's speech made it evident that the Soviet Union was more or less in line with Carter. But what about the political leaders in the Middle East? What were their views about a possible new Geneva conference? Many outstanding questions remained after Vance's tour. It was time to upgrade the talks.

Theory to practice: State visits

Shortly after Vance finished his Middle East tour, the Middle East heads of state started visiting Washington to clarify the outstanding issues. This formal upgrade brought the talks from the secretary of state to the presidential level. It was indicative of the gravity with which the Carter administration viewed the Arab–Israeli peace process.

The first visit to Washington was by Israeli Prime Minister Yitzhak Rabin. Rabin's labour party had trouble domestically, and Israel, a tough negotiator at the best of times, had a leadership with little political will or ability to make concessions.³⁰ It did not help that Israel was at odds with the US administration's views on most issues, or that the personal chemistry between Rabin and Carter was terrible.³¹ Vance and Carter agreed that the 'major problem is with Israel', and Carter later wondered whether it had been a mistake to invite the Israeli prime minister as the first of the Middle East heads of state to visit Washington.³²

Rabin made it clear that Israel would not accept a separate Palestinian state on the West Bank or any form of PLO participation, even as part of the Jordanian delegation.³³ The Americans rejected the Israeli position, and Carter informed Rabin that he considered the Israeli settlements illegal, and that he viewed the Israeli stance as becoming increasingly rigid.³⁴ Carter told the prime minister:

We see a possibility that Palestinian leaders can be absorbed in an Arab delegation. And we don't know any Palestinian leaders other than the PLO. We hope that you could accept such an arrangement. It would be a blow to US support for Israel if you refused to participate in the Geneva talks over the technicality of the PLO being in the negotiations.³⁵

This was an unusual position for a US president. Not only was Carter pushing for PLO participation – at one time an almost unimaginable stance – but he was also threatening Rabin with the potential consequences of a 'blow to US support for Israel'. Despite such pressure from Carter, Rabin rejected talking to the PLO, even if the PLO accepted UNSC Resolution 242. The tension with Israel had become apparant, and the administration had to engage with the US Jewish community to assure them that the US stance on Israel was not changing.³⁶ This would be a recurring theme in the months and years to follow. Each time Carter pressured Israel, he would also appeal to his domestic audience, to reassure it that the good US–Israeli relationship was

unchanged. While this made sense domestically, it took the force out of his pressure on Israel.

Despite the rejectionist position taken by Israel, Carter proceeded with his further state visits as planned. President Anwar Sadat of Egypt was the first Arab leader to visit Washington, arriving on 4 April 1977.³⁷ By that time, Carter had clarified his comprehensive approach around three central points. The first point was that peace had to be comprehensive, and ensure normalised relations between the states. The second point was that territorial sovereignty and security arrangements should be treated as distinct – certain security arrangements, such as surveillance systems, could be in place within a territory for a transitional period without being considered an infringement of territorial sovereignty. The third point was that the Palestinians should have a homeland.³⁸ These were revisions of the three points Carter had made in Clinton, and they would be reiterated time and again as the cornerstones of the comprehensive approach.³⁹

A primary goal of Carter's meeting with Sadat was to see if the Arab states could get the PLO to accept UNSC Resolution 242, which would mean that the United States would allow the PLO to be a partner in negotiations. If it proved impossible to get the PLO to make that commitment, then the United States needed Egypt to provide an alternative for Palestinian representation at Geneva.⁴⁰ Sadat claimed that he wanted individual Arab national delegations at Geneva and agreed that the PLO should recognise resolutions 242 and 338, but lamented that he would be unable to push the PLO to commit to such a recognition. The United States therefore shifted its focus towards encouraging a PLO-Jordanian dialogue.⁴¹ The Carter team was both interested in getting the Palestinians on board and pragmatic about finding a way to do so. The problem was that Israel, as Rabin made clear, was neither for including the Palestinians nor pragmatic about the situation. So while Carter and Sadat were saying 'yes, if', the Israelis were saying 'no, even if'.

After President Sadat came Jordanian King Hussein, who was walking a diplomatic tightrope. While he wanted to retain the ties between Jordan and the West Bank, he had to hold the Arab line of supporting the PLO, based on the 1974 Rabat summit's declaration that the PLO was the sole legitimate representative of the Palestinian people. For King Hussein, the optimal solution would be a unified Arab delegation, whilst the worst case scenario was an independent PLO delegation.⁴² The Jordanians were flexible on most issues but preferred a Palestinian federal link to Jordan.⁴³ The tension between King Hussein and the PLO was obvious. On the positive side King Hussein acknowledged that minor border modifications would be possible.⁴⁴ While King Hussein was as moderate as Sadat, as the king of Jordan he did not carry the political weight which would allow him to break with the more radical Arab regimes, and particularly Syria.

Carter's next Middle East meeting was therefore far more politically significant: On 9 May, he travelled to Geneva to meet Syrian President Hafez al-Asad. It was crucial to have Asad on board if the process were to have any chance of success, particularly since Asad was considered to be the Arab statesman who was closest to the Palestinians.⁴⁵ Carter's focus was therefore to impress upon Asad the need for Syria to convince the PLO to accept UNSC Resolution 242; the need to explore security arrangements: and the importance to Israel of a full peace, including normalisation.⁴⁶ This was a tall order. Syria was against normalisation, and was, in general, the most intransigent of the three Arab states whose territory was occupied by Israel (the other two were Egypt and Jordan). Syria insisted that the 'Palestinian problem' was the heart of the matter, that the Arab states should have a unified delegation and that the PLO had to be invited to Geneva.⁴⁷ Syria drove the hardest bargain of the Arab states but remained vital to the potential success of the comprehensive approach. To convey the sincerity of his peace-making, Carter reiterated the 'homeland' statement in a press conference with Asad present.⁴⁸ The Clinton question-and-answer session in March was clearly not a one-off occasion.

Towards the end of May, Crown Prince Fahd of Saudi Arabia paid a state visit to Washington. While Saudi Arabia did not play a direct part in the conflict, the US administration wanted Saudi Arabia to use its influence over the Arab states and the PLO to promote positions which could be acceptable to the United States and Israel in upcoming talks.⁴⁹ Although the meeting was cordial, the dialogue between the heads of state highlighted one of the most fundamental problems of the peace process: even if Saudi Arabia managed to get the PLO to accept UNSC Resolution 242, Israel would probably not be willing to recognise the PLO.⁵⁰ More fundamentally, all the talks with the Arab heads of state illustrated an inherent flaw in the comprehensive approach: all the talks

focused on the Palestinians, but the Palestinians themselves were not talked to.

To talk or not to talk?

Carter and Vance had met with all the parties in the conflict except the Palestinians. This was problematic, considering that the issue of Palestinian participation in negotiations was one of the biggest obstacles on the way to Geneva. Vance was crystal clear on the importance of solving this problem: 'Unless some means could be found to approach this explosive problem [of Palestinian representation] rationally, there could be no negotiation, no peace, and in the long run, no security for Israel or stability in the Middle East.'⁵¹

There were at least three main issues blocking a direct dialogue between the Carter administration and the PLO. The first was the US policy of not recognising or negotiating with the PLO until the organisation recognised Israel and accepted UNSC Resolution 242.⁵² The second was Israel's absolute refusal to talk to the PLO, even if the above admissions were made.⁵³ The third was Arab disunity – while the Arab states had technically agreed that the PLO was the sole representative of the Palestinians, it was largely treated as a means of fronting the regional interests of the various states.

With regard to this last issue, the administration concluded that the Arab states first had to answer the question of Palestinian representation for themselves.⁵⁴ The State Department argued in vain that it was unlikely that the Arab states could find such a solution.⁵⁵ The administration's stance, that the issue of Palestinian representation was one the Arab states had to solve, was symptomatic of its dealings with the Palestinians. Despite an internal consensus that the Palestinian issue played a major role in the peace process, the main responsibility for moving that issue forward was pushed to others, such as the Arab states and the Soviet Union, as well as a variety of individuals.

Realising the depth and apparent intractability of the Palestinian representation issue, Vance suggested that the Palestinians could be convinced to forego attendance in Geneva in return for an understanding that they would participate later.⁵⁶ The comprehensive approach, though, was already slipping – the Carter administration proved

unwilling to put its political weight behind solving the very issue that it had identified as the main roadblock in the peace process.

For Carter the question of PLO participation formally rested on the status of UNSC Resolution 242. However, since the resolution referred only to states, and the Palestinians were merely referred to as refugees, Vance informed Carter that there was no way the PLO could accept UNSC Resolution 242 unless it were adapted to grant the Palestinians recognition as a legitimate actor with legitimate claims.⁵⁷ Because Israel would not accept the emendation of the resolution, the PLO was being asked to accept a resolution which failed to recognise its legitimacy. Again, the administration's greatest dilemma was evident. Whilst a strict 242-as-precondition approach was unacceptable to the PLO, Israel would have it no other way, and Israel was allowed to set the bar.

In March 1977, the PLO held its 13th Palestine National Council (PNC) meeting. The PNC was the setting in which the PLO, as a political body, could alter its stance to respond to the US demands. As such, the PLO disappointed. The PNC made a commitment to a twostate solution but masked the commitment in rejectionist language. The declaration from the PNC rejected both UNSC Resolution 242 and any recognition of Israel. It did, however, refer to an 'independent national state on their national soil'.⁵⁸ The keywords here were 'on' and 'state', as they implied the potential acceptance for the existence of two states.⁵⁹ The PNC also sent a letter to the UN Security Council supporting a UN report that specifically referred to a two-state solution and recognised Israel.⁶⁰ The latter move was subtle and a long way from explicitly accepting UNSC Resolution 242, so, while the 1977 PNC went slightly further than the 1974 PNC, it was not far enough for the United States. The United States was looking for the major step, and would not accept subtle steps in that *direction*.

Even as the PLO made these moves, it became increasingly obvious that even if it were to recognise UNSC Resolution 242 with a modifying statement, Geneva would be hard to convene, because Israel would still need to recognise the PLO. But the US administration was simply unwilling to pressure Israel on this point until after the Israeli election in May. Israeli Prime Minister Rabin was losing ground domestically, making him the only relevant Middle East head of state who was not in a position to make nationally binding commitments.⁶¹ On 8 April 1977 Rabin resigned. He was replaced by Shimon Peres, who went on to lose the May election to Likud leader Menachem Begin.⁶² This turn of events would come as a shock to the Carter administration.

Talking around the dilemma: Palestinian back channels

The politics of taking indirectly to the Palestinians was not only handled at the uppermost political levels; since Carter had taken office, there had been various back-channel attempts at getting the PLO to make the concessions needed to allow the political contacts to be direct and official. On 2 February 1977, for example, PLO Chairman Yassir Arafat had informed the United States of his interest in opening a dialogue with the US government.⁶³ Due to the United States policy against talking to the PLO, this channel was never established. While direct communication between the US administration and the PLO was considered to be impossible, signals continued to be sent between the two parties, as a weak substitute for direct diplomacy. One such signal had been Carter's Clinton speech, where he called for a Palestinian homeland. This had been warmly received by Arafat. The US State Department had also received signals from various sources that the PLO wanted to 'convey an image of moderation.'⁶⁴ While these were positive signs, they were open to interpretation by both parties. What, for example, did 'homeland' mean? For the Carter administration, finding a way to circumvent the political binds and ensure that the flow of information was steady and reliable, were not easy tasks.

Several back channels were therefore explored. One was to use Palestinian-American intellectuals such as Columbia Professor Edward Said, or Ibrahim Abu-Lughud, professor in political science at Northwestern University and a member of the Palestine National Council, as intermediaries between Arafat and the US administration.⁶⁵ This type of back channel functioned for a while, and ultimately worked best through Harvard fellow Walid Khalidi, another prominent Palestinian intellectual.⁶⁶

Another back channel to the PLO was the 'Quaker channel', through which certain Quakers met with Arafat and then conveyed messages to the US administration. For example, on 3 June 1977, William B. Quandt met two unnamed Quakers who had held a long meeting with the PLO leader. The main message from Arafat was that he wanted direct contact with the US government, rather than contact via the other Arab states.⁶⁷ Other messages were passed via Landrum Bolling, also a Quaker, who met with the PLO on various occasions.⁶⁸ These channels were helpful in facilitating communication of the parties' respective views, but they lacked the necessary political weight to break the US–PLO impasse.

And this impasse needed to be broken. Secretary of State Cyrus Vance understood that it was unlikely that the Arab states would accept that representation at Geneva by individual Palestinians would suffice.⁶⁹ In fact, the US administration concluded that it was impossible for any Arab state to conclude a negotiated peace treaty which excluded the PLO.⁷⁰ This left the whole process hamstrung by a massive contradiction: the PLO had to participate, but it was impossible to accept their participation.

The Soviet Union agreed that the PLO had to participate, but it also seemed to accept both a unified Arab delegation model and a model in which the PLO participated in a Jordanian delegation.⁷¹ As early as February 1977, the Soviet Union had indicated that it wanted the PLO to take a more moderate stance.⁷² The Soviet Union, furthermore, was one of the most important channels of communication for the PLO. Through the Soviet ambassador to the United States, the Americans were told that the PLO wanted to participate at Geneva as a separate delegation and that it did not want formal ties to Jordan.⁷³ Since the Soviet Union had such close contacts with the PLO, the US Policy Review Committee decided that the US administration should approach the Soviet Union and get it to persuade the PLO to accept UNSC Resolution 242, with the possible reservation that there be some formula to include the Palestinians other than as refugees.⁷⁴ UNSC Resolution 242, after all, was *the* major hurdle which needed to be overcome in order for the United States to be able to talk to the PLO.

By early June, the Soviet track seemed to have a positive, but still very uncommitted effect. Following Soviet officials' talks with Arafat, it was reported that 'they have the impression the PLO is prepared to recognize Israel's right to exist if Israel will recognize the right of the Palestinians to an independent state, though it [the PLO] is not now prepared to take this position officially'.⁷⁵ This political reliance on the USSR was highly unorthodox US policy, to put it mildly – this was, after all, the cold war. The bold step of including the USSR was

indicative of Carter's level of commitment to convening a Geneva conference, but it also showed how encumbered the United States was by its policy of not talking to the PLO.

As with the academic and Quaker back channels, and the talks with the Arab states, the contacts with the Soviet Union ultimately failed to facilitate direct contact between the PLO and the United States. With no real movement on the PLO front, the US administration's focus shifted towards trying to secure an agreement between the PLO and Jordan so that certain PLO members could be part of the Jordanian delegation.⁷⁶ Sadat, unsuccessfully, promoted the needed dialogue, and Vance hoped that Asad would attempt the same.⁷⁷ But inter-Arab disputes got in the way. Asad carefully avoided openly supporting Sadat because he preferred that the PLO should be included in a single unified Arab delegation.⁷⁸

The situation was gridlocked and good solutions were few and far between. At one point the Policy Review Committee (PRC) discussed the possibility of 'direct contact with the PLO' after the Israeli election.⁷⁹ This possibility was, as always, framed according to whether the PLO could be convinced to endorse UNSC Resolution 242.⁸⁰ This direct contact with the PLO never took place, but the fact that the idea was even aired demonstrated that the question of Palestinian representation was moving in that direction. With regard to the Soviet role, the two superpowers agreed to meet every month at the ambassadorial level to exchange views on peace negotiations.⁸¹

In the meantime, as we will see, the Israeli election brought Menachem Begin and the Likud party to power. Begin would flaunt harsh anti-Palestinian rhetoric. In turn, the PLO reacted to the election by proclaiming that 'the Likud victory destroyed any illusions about arriving at a quick settlement through American mediation'.⁸² This was part of the explanation for why, by late June, the signals from the PLO were shifting. At that time, the US administration was handed a paper in which the PLO outlined its position. The positive signals from the preceding months were supplanted by older PLO rhetoric of one state in all of historic Palestine and full right of return for the Palestinian refugees. This was far outside the realm of what the United States or Israel could accept. The US administration's reaction to the letter was curt: 'it provides further evidence that it is not possible at this time to incorporate the PLO as an organization into the negotiating process'.⁸³ But how bleak was the PLO outlook in reality? How much of this shift, that is, was a reaction to the hardening Israeli position after the May election? These questions were very hard for the US administration to assess, given that the two parties were not talking directly, and things were getting lost in the indirect correspondence. For example, between June and July 1977, the PLO asked the United States, via Saudi Arabia, if the United States could provide a draft formulation for how the PLO could position itself vis-à-vis UNSC Resolution 242. The PLO then waited a month without a response from the United States.⁸⁴

In early July, the US administration started seeing the option of a unified Arab delegation, including PLO representatives, as the most promising alternative.⁸⁵ This was less radical than working for a separate PLO delegation, but it still went some distance in striving to get the Palestinians on board. Would it be enough? Could it be acceptable to Israel, the Palestinians and the Arab states?

Begin the game-changer

On 17 May 1977, as mentioned above, the Israeli elections brought to power Menachem Begin's right-wing Likud party. This triumph ended almost 30 years of Labour dominance in Israel and has even been described as the 'greatest upheaval in Israel's political history'.⁸⁶ Neither the Israeli political elite nor the US administration was prepared for Begin's premiership – William B. Quandt claims that the administration 'hadn't even considered the notion that he could win the election.⁸⁷ Carter had no idea what he was up against. The British prime minister, James Callaghan – who, unlike Carter, had met Begin – called Carter a few days after the Israeli election and warned him that Begin 'is extremely hard line. It was the most confrontable conversation I had [...] in the Middle East.⁸⁸ Carter would soon experience exactly what Callaghan was describing.

It is hard to underestimate the effect Begin's electoral victory had on Israeli politics, and thus on the US-led Arab–Israeli peace process. Menachem Begin had, since his youth, been a zealous supporter of Vladimir Zeev Jabotinsky, the founding father of revisionist Zionism.⁸⁹ Revisionist Zionism was the most right-wing strand of modern Zionism. The Revisionist party was established in 1925, and its ideological hallmark was 'territorial and political maximalism [...]

uncompromising in their insistence that within this enlarged territory there must be a Jewish majority and an independent Jewish state^{',90} The totality of this vision was considered extreme by the mainstream Zionist movement at the time, and the British mandate considered the revisionists 'an irrelevant lunatic fringe'.⁹¹ Even within this 'fringe', as well, Begin was a hardliner. In fact, according to Ilan Peleg, Begin's zealousness led him to radicalise Revisionism.⁹²

Menachem Begin became the political heir of Jabotinsky himself. He secured this heritage first through the underground militant group, Irgun Zvei Leumi, in which he was a senior commander for six years. The Irgun, as the group was commonly known, became notorious for such actions as the King David Hotel bombing in 1946 and the Deir Yassin massacre in 1948. When the Irgun was disbanded after Israel was established, Begin was central to forming the Herut party in 1948.⁹³ Begin would remain leader of Herut for its entire lifespan. When Herut then became the dominant group within the new Likud party, founded in 1973, Menachem Begin became both the absolute leader and the central ideologue of the party.⁹⁴

The core of the Revisionist ideology was the notion of the territory of *Eretz Israel*. While the phrase literally means 'the land of Israel', the term does not match with the State of Israel. During the first half of the twentieth century, for example, the Revisionist movement claimed that Jordan was part of *Eretz Israel* and fought against territorial division at every opportunity. For one thing, the Revisionists rejected the 1947 UN Partition Plan because it divided the Jewish homeland.⁹⁵ Then, in 1949, Begin called for a vote of no-confidence against the Israeli government for having signed an armistice with Jordan, since such an agreement meant that Israel did not claim the East Bank.⁹⁶

Starting in the mid-1950s, Begin gradually ceased claiming that Jordan was part of *Eretz Israel*. Ideologically, however, this was his final concession. He considered the West Bank and Gaza to be integral parts of *Eretz Israel*.⁹⁷ In 1967, after Israel occupied the West Bank and Gaza, Begin insisted that 'the national sovereignty of the renewed State of the Jews effectively applies to every area of the Land of Israel liberated from illegal alien control'.⁹⁸ This was his unvarnished opinion, and it would form the core of the platform on which he was elected in 1977. The Likud party manifesto of that year stated: 'The right of the Jewish people to the Land of Israel is eternal [...] Judea and Samaria [the West Bank]

shall therefore not be relinquished to foreign rule; between the sea and the Jordan, there will be Jewish sovereignty alone.⁹⁹ A natural extension of this view, from Begin's perspective, was that Israelis could settle anywhere in the West Bank, including Palestinian-populated areas.¹⁰⁰ This meant that not only would he follow Labour's lead in the settlement enterprise, and even accelerate it, but he would also support the building of settlements in areas where Israel had not built them previously. The Carter administration failed to grasp exactly how firmly Begin believed in his position on the West Bank and Gaza as integral parts of *Eretz Israel*. The next months and years would gradually make them realise that Begin's stance was not a starting position but a final red line.

The change of Israeli leadership meant that Carter needed to reengage with Israel in order to find out where Begin stood before the next round of US policy development.¹⁰¹ On 10 June, in light of the Israeli election, the Policy Review Committee (PRC) discussed the way forward for US Middle East diplomacy. The picture it painted was dark. While the Arab states and the Palestinians demanded total withdrawal to the 1967 lines. and the United States preferred it too, though with 'minor, mutually agreed modifications', the Israeli position recognised 'limited withdrawals', at most, and no withdrawal from the West Bank.¹⁰² This left no room for optimism. The PRC concluded that even if the upcoming Carter-Begin meeting went well, they would be left with a 'strong disagreement on territory and borders, a large gap $\{\ldots\}$ on the nature of peace, and [...] Palestinian representation issue will almost certainly be unresolved'.¹⁰³ To ensure that Begin understood Carter's stance, the State Department issued a statement spelling out that the United States considered UNSC Resolution 242 to imply withdrawal on all fronts, including the West Bank.¹⁰⁴ As we will see, Carter would not be able to hold this position when he confronted Begin.

Begin was sworn in as Israeli prime minister on 20 June 1977, and the new Israeli government promptly issued firm statements of where it stood. Foreign Minister Moshe Dayan publicly stated that Israel had the right to build settlements in the West Bank, and that there would be neither a Palestinian state in the West Bank nor a surrender of the West Bank to Jordan. Dayan added that the PLO would not be present at Geneva, and that it was, in fact, in no way entitled to be there.¹⁰⁵ Dayan was not even the hardliner in the government – that was Begin. He enhanced this image when he pronounced to the Zionist General Council:

Israel can not under any circumstances withdraw to the line of June 4, 1967 [...], we will not agree under any circumstances that in Judea and Samaria and Gaza a state should come into being called Palestinian. [...] And with regard to the Palestinian State, we have to realize that we are faced with the most cruel enemy of the Jewish people since the days of the Nazis.¹⁰⁶

Was there any flexibility behind this hard-line nationalist rhetoric? The US administration planned a new round of touring in the Middle East after a visit by Begin to Washington, in which Vance would map out the standpoints of the various Arab states in relation to Begin's position.¹⁰⁷ Although the endgame was different, the method of the Carter approach was looking more and more like Kissinger's shuttle diplomacy, with Secretary of State Vance working on a million mileage peace plan.

The complexity of working in the Middle East was obvious, and it was tiring. It was a Rubik's-cube diplomacy – each political shift by one party set in motion a series of shifts by the other parties. The PLO was also drifting, and the Arab leaders had become increasingly pessimistic after Begin won the Israeli election.¹⁰⁸ A serious amount of diplomatic ground therefore needed to be covered.

The US administration which had started on the diplomatic offensive, then, soon changed gears into a defensive mode. Instead of aiming to stand its ground in the face of Begin's position, the administration shifted towards damage control ahead of the Begin visit.¹⁰⁹ The PRC saw the best possible outcome of Begin's visit as Carter's success in getting Begin to (1) agree to a temporary restraint on West Bank settlements and (2) commit to examining prospects for peace which did not involve the complete rejection of West Bank withdrawal. If Carter were to fail in these goals, the administration simply hoped to get Begin to 'put the best possible face' on his refusal to comply with the US demands.¹¹⁰ This was not a very ambitious position, demonstrating the trepidation which Begin had induced in the Americans. Alfred Atherton and Harold Saunders reported that Begin would 'press his hawkish positions hard' and that he was 'convinced that he can persuade US leaders to "come around" to his view.'¹¹¹ The newly elected

Menachem Begin had no intention of allowing the United States to dictate Israeli policy, and the Carter team had no strategy for how to make him concede.

Begin's hard-line position prompted a US approach which would would come to form a pattern in its subsequent negotiations with Israel. Rather than use its leverage over Israel, the US administration attempted to compensate for the hardened Israeli stance by asking the Arab leaders for more concessions. This alternative was considered easier than making Israel concede. In the scenario outlined prior to Begin's visit, that is, even the best outcome would still mean that PLO representation was off the table. It fell to Vance to ensure that the Arab states understood and accepted this.¹¹² One of the most important premises of the comprehensive approach, then, was falling apart. The fact that the Carter administration was buckling to Israeli pressure by taking the PLO issue out of the process before it even met with Begin demonstrated that the US administration and its Arab–Israeli diplomacy were becoming hostage to Israeli politics.

At one point, the administration did consider revisiting its policy regarding the PLO if the Israeli government refused to budge. A 'public showdown' with Israel was also contemplated.¹¹³ Both ideas were short lived, though; threats against Israel were viewed as too difficult because of certain US domestic constraints.¹¹⁴ Right away, for example, various US senators criticised Carter for favouring the Arab states.¹¹⁵ Carter felt the heat, and only ten days after Begin officially formed his government, Carter held a press conference where he denied that his administration was 'selling Israel down the river'.¹¹⁶ This illustrated the classic US diplomatic dilemma: pressuring Israel might be good foreign policy, but it was a nightmare for domestic policy. Begin was well aware of this and was playing hardball. Brzezinski was worried about whether the administration could stand firm against Begin 'in the face of domestic pressure'.¹¹⁷ He would be right. The US administration would be unwilling to blame Begin if progress were to stop due to Israeli intransigence.¹¹⁸

The Begin visit

When Begin arrived in Washington on 19 July 1977, he carried with him a proposal that essentially broke the back of the Geneva conference,

though he tried to package the proposal in a pro-Geneva guise.¹¹⁹ Begin stipulated that Geneva should be convened, with the Soviet Union as cochair. So far this was in line with the Carter approach. However, according to Begin, only Israel, Syria, Egypt, Jordan, and perhaps Lebanon, would be allowed to participate. He explained that there could be no preconditions for Geneva, then added that Jerusalem would remain Israel's undivided capital, that the PLO could not participate and that there could be no 'so-called Palestinian state' in 'Judea, Samaria [and] the Gaza Strip'. He also insisted that Israel would remain on the Golan Heights, though there could be some withdrawal on that front.¹²⁰ Begin's position was obviously a non-starter for the Arab state and the PLO.¹²¹ So, although Begin claimed to support a Geneva process, he rejected almost all the fundamental elements of the comprehensive approach.

Despite the difficulties the two leaders had regarding the Palestinian issue, Carter made a point of appearing positive when he met the press. He even stated that the Geneva conference was likely to take place in October.¹²² Carter's expressed positive attitude was due to the administration's desire to avoid making the meeting with Begin confrontational, and Vance recommended that it would be useful to create 'psychological momentum'.¹²³ It was difficult, if not impossible, to both stay on track and avoid confronting Begin, since Begin's position was far outside the realm of what would be needed to create a comprehensive peace. In fact, not only had Carter not confronted Begin, but he had also made concessions. Carter had promised Begin not to publicly use the phrase '1967 lines with minor modifications', and in return Begin was asked to show restraint on the settlement issue.¹²⁴ The key word here was 'restraint', rather than a more forceful and less ambiguous term. As Carter would learn the hard way, Begin had a keen legalistic mind and took advantage of any room for interpretation.

What, then, did the attempt at 'psychological momentum' gain the administration? Rumour had it that Begin found Carter as soft as a 'cream puff'.¹²⁵ Returning to Israel, Begin took advantage of Carter's perceived weakness, and began to challenge the US administration. First, Begin moved to legalise three settlements on the West Bank, in breach of Carter's plea.¹²⁶ Then, speaking to the Knesset, Begin reiterated his views yet again: no participation of the PLO; no Palestinian state; and the continued building of settlements.¹²⁷ Both the State Department

and Carter promptly criticised the 'legalisation' of the settlements, called the move 'illegal' and termed the settlements 'obstacles to peace'.¹²⁸ If such critical statements represented the extent of the penalty Begin would pay to the US government for his hard-line stance and expansionist actions, of course, he would press ahead unabated.

For one thing, Begin would keep challenging Carter over the settlement issue. Begin and Dayan argued that settlement construction was neither illegal nor an obstacle to peace, stating that their compromise was to limit construction to 'six to eight locations'.¹²⁹ This was certainly not the restraint Carter had in mind. When Vance completed his second Middle East trip in August, the Begin government approved a further three new settlements on the West Bank.¹³⁰ Again Carter called them illegal and obstacles to peace, but there was little political force behind the condemnations. Strong words alone did nothing to change Begin's ideological position.

Begin thus kept winning the challenges. After Carter condemned the Israeli settlement activity, he publicly softened his stance by assuring the US public that he would take this matter no further and that the United States would not use any other method of pressuring Israel over the issue.¹³¹ Begin could absorb the criticism without any particular cost, because he saw how Carter would subsequently cave in domestically. This result reflected not only the fact that Israel had strong political supporters in the United States, and particularly in the Senate, but also the lack of organised pro-Arab groups there.¹³²

Vance was well aware that Begin's proposals were highly contentious, and he asked the Arab heads of state to limit their public debate over the statements until he had a chance to talk to them in person.¹³³ This was a recurring US tendency, as mentioned previously – when the Israeli position hardened, the US administration pressured the Arab states. On the central Palestinian question, though, the Arab states were not prepared to concede, instead continuing to insist that the PLO had to be included in the talks. Sadat demanded that the United States speak directly to the PLO, and that a PLO–Jordanian link had to be agreed upon before a Geneva conference. This demand was incompatible with Begin's position that peace had to be 'based on the territorial status quo in Judea and Samaria'.¹³⁴

The difference between the parties' positions became even clearer when a message from Arafat reached the White House on the same day as the Begin visit. Arafat stressed the PLO's 'willingness to live in peace with Israel, with Israel and Palestine enjoying mutually acceptable and secure borders'.¹³⁵ Arafat 'indicated that he was prepared to make an "even more blunt statement in secret" to you [Carter]' if, in return, the United states would make a 'commitment to the establishment of an independent Palestinian "state unit entity."¹³⁶ Carter would never make that statement, however; the vague 'homeland' was as far as he would go.

This message from the PLO, coupled with Israeli intransigence, left the United States in a bad place – since Begin would not accept the PLO, and the Arab states demanded PLO participation, something had to give. There was little indication, despite its efforts and best intentions, that the Carter administration would find a formula which was acceptable to all the parties.

Second Vance tour

Despite all indications to the contrary, the Carter administration continued to work under the assumption that it would be possible to convene a Geneva conference by the end of the year. Vance therefore prepared for his second Middle East tour by outlining a five-point plan as the basis for the Geneva discussions: that the purpose of the negotiations was to reach peace agreements; that the conference had to be based on UNSC Resolutions 242 and 338; that the aim was completely normal relations between the parties; that Israel should withdraw on all fronts; and that the Geneva conference should include a directive about 'a Palestine entity'.¹³⁷ Israel was quick to react. Simcha Dinitz, Israeli ambassador to the United States, informed Vance that Israel did not agree to Israeli withdrawal on all fronts or to any reference to a Palestinian entity.¹³⁸

The Arab states were not happy either. They supported the goal of peace treaties based on UNSC Resolutions 242 and 338 but had a variety of reservations about Vance's other points. For instance, Syria did not want 'normal peaceful relations' to be binding, as this should be a question of sovereignty. The Saudis felt that normal peaceful relations should be developed over time, rather than come into effect once the treaties were signed. While this would not satisfy Israel, Vance considered the Arab stance on normalised relations to be a positive extension of their previous rigid goal of simply an end to the state of war. Regarding the question of which areas Israel must withdraw from, the Arab states could only accept minor border modifications on the West Bank, and none on the Sinai and Golan fronts, where they demanded full Israeli withdrawal. As for the question of a 'Palestinian entity', as well, the Arab states found the concept of an 'unarmed' Palestinian entity 'unnatural' and unacceptable to the Palestinians.¹³⁹ In other words, they wanted a state with full sovereignty.

Regarding Palestinian representation, Vance concluded that, on the Arab side, the 'concept of a unified Arab delegation with Palestinian participation' was the only practical formula, but Israel rejected even this compromise solution.¹⁴⁰ Vance reported, upon the conclusion of his trip, that he found the Arab leaders to have moved in a good direction, while the Israelis remained 'remarkably unyielding'.¹⁴¹

Problems with the PLO

While Vance was confronted by the Israeli stonewalling, movement was made towards getting the PLO to accept UNSC Resolution 242, assuming a change of its reference to the Palestinians simply as refugees. While he was in Saudi Arabia, Vance was told to expect 'an imminent change' from the PLO. Exactly what type of change could be expected was unclear, but, in his optimism, Vance passed this information on to the media.¹⁴²

After messages were relayed through both Saudi Arabia and Egypt, Arafat finally drafted his statement: 'Had resolution 242 dealt with the Palestinian question as a cause of a people that has its national rights and aspirations to establish its state in its homeland and not as a problem of refugees, the PLO would have accepted it.'¹⁴³ Vance found the new formula to show a constructive 'evolution in the PLO thinking', but it was not enough to satisfy the US demands.¹⁴⁴ The administration informed the PLO that the phrasing the United States could accept was as follows:

The PLO accepts UN Security Council Resolution 242, with the reservation that it considers that the Resolution does not make adequate reference to the question of the Palestinians since it fails to make any reference to a homeland for the Palestinian people. It is recognized that the language of Resolution 242 relates to the right of all states in the Middle East to live in peace.¹⁴⁵
The difference between the PLO statement and the US statement was that the PLO positioned change in UNSC Resolution 242 *before* a hypothetical PLO recognition of it, whereas the United States placed PLO recognition of the resolution as a precondition for a change to it. There were obvious political differences between these two statements, but they were remarkably minor, given how far apart the United States and the PLO had been over the previous decade.

Both Vance and Carter made it clear that if the PLO accepted the US formula, the United States was prepared to initiate direct contact with the organisation.¹⁴⁶ This was a conspicuous development in a US political context. Although the United States and the PLO did not communicate directly, they were actually negotiating semantics through intermediaries. The fact that the Carter administration managed to get that close to opening talks with the PLO has been greatly undercommunicated in the existing academic literature.¹⁴⁷

However, even the promise of direct contact with the PLO had its limitations since Kissinger had granted Israel a veto clause in 1973 through which no new parties could be added to a Geneva conference unless all the parties to the original Geneva conference agreed.¹⁴⁸ Vance acknowledged that Israel retained that veto power.¹⁴⁹ So, unless Israel acquiesced, the PLO could not participate in any Geneva conference. Kissinger's ghost was haunting Carter's peace process.

Despite the Israeli veto, the US promise of direct contact with the PLO, if the organisation were to agree to the US formula, was a large step in the direction of facilitating a US–PLO dialogue. It was also further than any US administration had gone before. Still, one could well question how far the Carter administration would have gone even if the PLO did everything the United States demanded. In a meeting with Israeli Ambassador Dinitz, US Under Secretary Philip Habib stressed that even if the PLO were to accept UNSC Resolution 242, the purpose of direct talks between the United States and the PLO would simply be to determine whethere there was anything for them to talk about. On a positive note, such dialogue would make it easier to convene Geneva, because it might produce an arrangement of representation which Israel could accept. In other words, a dialogue with the PLO.¹⁵⁰

This was not the type of reward the PLO wanted, but it was a 'take it or leave it' offer from Carter. If the PLO demanded more from the administration in return for accepting UNSC Resolution 242 (with reservations), it would 'risk seriously overplaying its hand and may end up with nothing and find itself on the outside looking in while negotiating process goes forward', Vance warned.¹⁵¹ As Vance saw it, the US administration had done enough because it had made the 'homeland' statement and promised direct contact if the PLO committed to the US formula.¹⁵²

The US self-constraint regarding contact with the PLO meant that the administration could not hold meetings to directly discuss the various finesses of the 242 formulation with the PLO itself. Everything had to happen through intermediaries which was bound to create difficulties. For example, with regard to the new 242 formulation, PLO leader Yassir Arafat complained that he had received different messages from Egypt and Saudi Arabia as to what the United States demanded.¹⁵³ This alone does not explain why the two parties were unable to agree on a formula, but it was undeniably a hindrance. The PLO's inability to adopt the US formulation frustrated Vance, who became resigned, for a time, to the idea that there was no point investing more time and energy into the PLO.¹⁵⁴

After having made various positive overtures in early August 1977, then, the PLO demanded a hardening of Arab attitudes in late August.¹⁵⁵ As usual, it was hard for the Carter administration to develop a clear understanding of what the PLO actually stood for. Just prior to making these negative statements, the PLO had sought to gain US assurances in return for possible PLO support for the US formulation regarding 242.¹⁵⁶ One explanation for the shift in August was that the negative statements came from the PLO Central Council (PCC), after a meeting in Damascus. As the State Department noted, the PCC had been under Syrian pressure to reject the US formula.¹⁵⁷ Prior to the meeting, though, the Saudis, the Egyptians and the Soviet Union had urged the PLO to accept the US formula.¹⁵⁸ These contradictory pressures made the PLO seem erratic. Still, Vance concluded that the PLO top leadership was still considering the US formula.¹⁵⁹

This complication was revealing of a major political dilemma which was hampering the process. The PLO was internally squeezed between its moderate and radical factions, and externally pulled in opposite directions by its moderate and radical Arab 'allies'. Since the United States refused to speak to the PLO directly, the administration was left to interpret the discrepant PLO signals from Cairo and Damascus. This act of interpretation was made more difficult by the fact that Damascus was hardening its own stance as a reaction to what it saw as successful Israeli intransigence.¹⁶⁰

The non-state channels to the PLO were equally confusing. Through Walid Khalidi, the US administration was informed that Arafat was, in theory, ready to commit to UNSC Resolution 242. The problem was that the United States only promised vague formulations in return, such as 'homeland' and 'entity'. For Arafat, making a commitment to something as concrete as accepting UNSC Resolution 242 could only be done if the Palestinians were given something concrete in return, such as a US commitment to 'sovereignty over a piece of territory'.¹⁶¹ Egyptian Foreign Minister, Ismail Fahmy tried without success to get such a commitment from the United States.¹⁶² The same type of overture was made by Arafat through US journalist Edward Sheehan.¹⁶³

In mid-September, using Walid Khalidi as intermediary, Arafat again delivered a message to the US administration: the PLO was willing to go 'all the way' if it were to gain support for a Palestinian state. Arafat also asked for clarification on three other questions: What status would the United States give the PLO? Did the PLO have to use the exact 242 formula proposed by the United States? If the PLO accepted UNSC Resolution 242, would the organisation be invited to Geneva? William Quandt, on the National Security Council, responded in a non-committal but generally positive manner to Khalidi. The US stance was clear – first the PLO needed to recognise UNSC Resolution 242 along the lines proposed by the US formula, and then the United States could talk directly to the PLO. After that, the remaining issues were up for negotiation.¹⁶⁴

Although a US commitment to Palestinian statehood or sovereignty never came, it is difficult to precisely ascertain how far US thinking actually went in this regard. At a 19 April Policy Review Committee meeting, it was decided not to take or circulate notes on the issue of how a Palestinian entity on the West Bank might pose a threat to Israeli security.¹⁶⁵ What discussions were concealed by this limitation on notetaking is impossible to know.

Peace treaty drafts

While the US administration was struggling, unsuccessfully, to bridge the gap with the PLO, the state-to-state negotiations shifted gear. Perhaps the most remarkable thing which would emerge from Vance's second Middle East tour was the fact that President Anwar Sadat showed real and surprising diplomatic initiative. He handed Vance a draft peace treaty and 'a series of fallback positions which he said we [the US] could use at our discretion'.¹⁶⁶ Sadat also stated, for the first time, that if the other Arab states failed to follow suit, he was willing to meet with Begin and sign a separate peace treaty.¹⁶⁷ This was the earliest indication of how the talks would then develop over the next two years. While Sadat's expressed willingness to sign a separate peace was a surprise, the draft peace treaty itself should not have been entirely unexpected since Sadat's preferred format was bilateral negotiations under the Geneva structure.¹⁶⁸

Vance did not pick up on Sadat's willingness to go it alone with Israel, but he urged the other involved states to produce similar peace treaty drafts.¹⁶⁹ They all agreed.¹⁷⁰ The new US policy was therefore to collect these drafts and, based on them, put forth new US suggestions to be discussed in the next round of talks.¹⁷¹ These would take place in New York in September 1977, at the foreign minister level, in connection with the UN General Assembly.

This was the beginning of the end of Carter's comprehensive approach. The draft peace treaties approach shifted US thinking considerably. Since the Palestinians did not comprise a state or enjoy the representation of one, they were effectively squeezed out of this process, which was state to state by nature. For the US administration these drafts were a positive breakthrough. It had found the Palestinian representation issue to be increasingly intransigent, and this shift in focus was therefore welcome. The Egyptians and the Israelis were also undermining the comprehensive approach by conducting secret high-level talks via Romania. Although the parties never met directly in Romania, messages were delivered from Begin to Sadat via Romanian President Nicolae Ceauşescu. Ceauşescu told Sadat that Begin was a man with whom he could work. This channel was possible because Romania was the only Eastern Bloc country that maintained an Israeli embassy after the 1967 war.¹⁷² Due to these indirect contacts, the distance between Israel and Egypt was narrowing, whereas the attitude between Israel and the other Arab states either stayed reliably negative or worsened.

The comprehensive approach had always been a tall order. It demanded that the Carter administration bridge political gaps to the degree that a peace conference at Geneva could be fruitful. This meant solving many issues towards which the various parties had massively divergent views. First, on the nature of the peace, the Israelis wanted full normalisation of relations, whereas the Arab states wanted simply an end to the state of war. Sadat would accept full normalisation of relations with Israel, but the other Arab states would not follow suit. During Vance's second Middle East tour, he found that the Arabs had moved in a positive direction on this question, but not enough to please the Israelis, who refused to budge. Second, on the question of borders, the Arab states wanted full withdrawal on all fronts, whereas Israel wanted partial withdrawal on most fronts and no withdrawal on the West Bank. Again, there was some positive movement on the Arab side, which came to accept minor and mutually agreed modifications on the West Bank.¹⁷³ In Israel, however, the change in government made this issue even thornier. For Begin, there could be no withdrawal on the West Bank whatsoever.

But the most important issue, which in the end made the process grind to a halt, was the question of Palestinian representation. The Carter administration went further than any previous US government in pushing the Palestine question to the fore. First Carter called for a Palestinian 'homeland' in the Clinton speech in March. Then, the administration made clear that if the PLO were to accept UNSC Resolution 242, the United States would talk to them directly. Last, the administration offered a precise formulation for 242 which the PLO needed to accept. This formula allowed for a modification of the content of the resolution which would have granted the Palestinians legitimacy.

Despite the good intentions and hard work of the Carter administration, however, it failed to induce the PLO to make the necessary concessions to satisfy the administration's demands. This failure boils down to several closely related factors. For one, the PLO faced conflicting inter-Arab pressures and was also internally divided between moderates and radicals.¹⁷⁴ This combined external Arab pressure and internal division made the PLO stance volatile and susceptible to political change. Ahead of the Israeli election, the organisation had been moving in a moderate direction, but once the Israeli hard-line Likud party came to power, the incentives for moderation all but disappeared. The US unwillingness to communicate directly with the PLO enhanced the effects of these pressures as well. The PLO messages coming out of Damascus were different from those which emerged from Egypt and Saudi Arabia, which were yet again different from those delivered via Walid Khalidi and Landrum Bolling. It was therefore hard for the United States both to understand the PLO position and to engage in a dialogue in which that position could be altered in a direction acceptable to the United States. Also, even if the PLO had made the statement about UNSC Resolution 242 that the United States demanded, the PLO was only guaranteed a dialogue with the United States, not a presence in Geneva. This was hardly sufficient inducement to get the PLO to give up one of its most important negotiating cards.¹⁷⁵

The rejectionist stance of the Begin government meant that the US administration failed to get Israel to accept PLO participation, even if the PLO took the important step of accepting UNSC Resolution 242.¹⁷⁶ Begin did not mince words in this regard. In August he had told Vance: 'The PLO is excluded forever.'¹⁷⁷ This problem was compounded by the fact that Carter was unwilling to invest the political capital required to confront Israel. Begin was able to challenge Carter directly on the settlement issue, winning an important victory when Carter's criticism resulted in a domestic political attack against the president. Compared to getting Begin to accept the PLO, the settlement issue was relatively minor. Since Begin was able to outmanoeuvre Carter on the settlements, he knew he could comfortably do the same on the Palestinian question.

The failure of Carter's comprehensive approach can be boiled down to an inherent dilemma which the administration failed to face. The idea behind the comprehensive peace was founded upon a break with previous US approaches, but Carter was unwilling to break with the political restrictions which had shaped the previous approach towards the Arab–Israeli conflict. This was an irreconcilable dilemma. It was impossible to develop a peace based on Palestinian representation while simultaneously working under the restriction that the PLO could not be talked to. Carter was working for a comprehensive peace but unwilling to fully activate a comprehensive approach. One could argue that changing that premise was not really feasible in the first place, but Carter failed to put it to the test in any case. With some minor exceptions, the Carter administration never seriously considered revisiting its PLO policy.¹⁷⁸ Begin gave the US administration ample excuse to reconsider its US– PLO policy, given the Israeli stonewalling and broken commitments regarding the settlements, but Carter never took advantage of these opportunities. The administration was unwilling to break out of the 'diplomatic straitjacket' which Israel and Kissinger had imposed on the United States.¹⁷⁹ This represented a massive limitation of the administration's room for manoeuvre. Cyrus Vance admitted that it made 'our task of finding a way to deal with the PLO close to impossible'.¹⁸⁰ The irony is that the limitation was self-imposed.

CHAPTER 4

CLINGING TO Comprehensive peace

President Carter had spent the first seven months in office working intensely on a formula which would enable negotiations for a comprehensive Middle East peace. This was not the only foreign policy issue which demanded attention, of course. On the contrary, Carter had also initiated a global focus on human rights, negotiated a Panama Canal treaty and initiated negotiations for an arms-reduction treaty with the Soviet Union. From the very first days of his administration, Carter had made the Middle East a top priority, but the burden of trying to achieve breakthroughs on so many difficult foreign policy issues was immensely taxing on the political energy of the administration.¹

By the end of the summer of 1977, the Carter administration was growing tired of a Middle East process which was leading nowhere. Conceptually, the administration was still set on a comprehensive peace to be obtained through a Geneva conference, but a breakthrough was sorely needed. Thus, when Sadat suggested on 2 August 1977 that Carter should collect concrete peace proposals from Israel and the Arab states, Carter gladly accepted the proposition. This broke with the comprehensive approach in two ways. First, since the Palestinians were not a state, they were excluded from this new initiative. Second, while the original comprehensive approach was multilateral, the new peaceproposal approaches under a multilateral umbrella. The challenge would be to make the multi-bilateral approach, which excluded the Palestinians, function as a comprehensive approach, or at least as a proxy for one. Even more difficult, of course, was the need to keep the Palestinians on board, despite the shift in approach. It was an attempt at squaring a circle and, despite the best of intentions, the Carter team would not succeed.

During the first week of September 1977, the United States received a draft for an Israeli–Egyptian peace treaty from Israel. The Israelis explained that they would make similar drafts for all the other neighbouring Arab states (with Lebanon as a possible exception), and that, based on these, negotiations would be bilateral. In the Israeli–Egyptian draft, Israel insisted on keeping large areas of land, including all of the West Bank.² The draft adressed issues such as full normalisation, the exchange of ambassadors, final borders and demilitarisation of the evacuated areas. The important issue of where the borders should be drawn was not actually addressed, but they would not be based on full withdrawal.³ The Americans were deeply disappointed by what Israel was proposing. Carter noted in his diary, 'I thought the Israelis were deliberately blocking the peace treaty and were being remarkably inflexible.'⁴

The Syrians did not deliver a draft treaty but instead provided a list of 'items' that should be part of a settlement.⁵ Asad reiterated that the Palestinian issue was the core of the conflict, and that the PLO had to be present at any peace conference in Geneva. He argued that there were two possible formulas for Palestinian representation. There could be either a unified Arab delegation which included the PLO or individual Arab delegations, one of which was a PLO delegation. The Syrians demanded that peace had to be based on the June 1967 lines, and an implementation of the right of return for the Palestinian refugees. Asad also specified that the term 'ending the state of war' was synonymous with peace, and that measures such as buffer zones and international observers along the border could be acceptable.⁶ This was a compromise position similar to the US administration's idea of separating security and sovereignty.

The Jordanian equivalent of a draft peace treaty was close to the Syrian position, demanding full Israeli withdrawal to the June 1967 lines, with minor reciprocal adjustments, and a corridor between Gaza and the West Bank. Furthermore, the refugee issue had to be solved through a combination of repatriation and compensation, fulfilment of Palestinian self-determination and an Israeli evacuation of the Palestinian territories within six months, followed by a UN trusteeship. After two years, a plebiscite could take place. The proposal added that a state of peace must be established, and that concrete arrangements for security zones should be in place. On Jerusalem, the draft stipulated that Arab Jerusalem should be under Arab sovereignty, but that the city should not be divided. The US diplomat who received the document viewed it as fruitful.⁷

Unlike the Syrians, the Jordanians opposed including the PLO in a Jordanian delegation. They urged the United States to support Palestinian self-determination, hoping that this could make the PLO moderate its position.⁸ This was a setback for the United States, which had hoped to use the Jordanians as a proxy for the Palestinians. The good news was that both the Syrian and the Jordanian papers showed a willingness to compromise on the other issues, even as they both made clear that the thorny issue of PLO representation had to be solved.

Carter agreed. In a 29 September press conference, he stated: 'there can be no Middle Eastern peace settlement without adequate Palestinian representation'.⁹ He added that the United States would not talk to the PLO until it accepted UNSC Resolution 242, but that if the PLO did so, with the reservation that the resolution did not adequately address the Palestinian issue, then the United States would initiate direct contacts with the PLO.¹⁰ Much like the homeland statement in March, this represented a public moderation of the US stance on the PLO. The lure of direct contact in return for recognition of UNSC Resolution 242 with a qualified reservation was the furthest the United States would go in clarifying its PLO policy. As the Carter administration saw it, this statement placed the ball squarely in the PLO's court.

Including the PLO through Syria and the Soviet Union

Inducing the PLO to play ball was, as we have seen, not the only challenge the Carter administration faced in the Middle East. Far from it. The Syrians were particularly perturbed by Carter's inability to stop Begin from building settlements in the occupied territories, and by his lack of will to punish Begin for the settlements he had built.¹¹ These two US inabilities compounded one other. The Syrian government 'assume[d] that if the USG could not face down the "Lobby" on such a

clearcut provocation [building settlements], Washington would be unable to guide a Geneva conference to a successful conclusion'.¹² A PLO representative similarly commented in *The New York Times*: 'The trend is toward a retreat of the Americans in the face of Begin, instead of pressing Begin into a settlement.'¹³ This was not an unfounded accusation – given Carter's inability to stop Begin, the Syrian government needed a safeguard to ensure that Syria would not be excluded from the peace process and would retain its influence over the PLO.

It was important for the United States to placate Syria, and convince President Asad to get the PLO to accept the US formula for UNSC Resolution 242 with reservations. Carter therefore sent Asad a personal message.¹⁴ This was a typical Carter move; he was a president who often used the personal touch. While the Syrians reacted positively to the letter, they suggested that the United States should offer a more precise definition of what 'official contacts' entailed for the PLO.¹⁵ As before, the United States could not guarantee participation for the PLO at Geneva even if the PLO accepted the 242 formula, because Israel retained a veto over who could participate. Although it was important to get the Syrians on board, it was more important for the US administration to uphold the official stance on the PLO, and the promise that had been made to Israel. The United States would offer no more on the question of PLO participation.¹⁶

As the US administration saw it, the Syrian regime had pushed the PLO away from the possibility of compromise in August. This explained the Palestine Central Council's decision to reject the '242 with appropriate reservation' formula.¹⁷ In September, therefore, the US administration again tried to get the Syrian regime to help moderate the PLO. One suggestion, which two US diplomats presented to Asad, was that Syrian Foreign Minister Khaddam could serve as Arafat's 'postman'.¹⁸ Before the Syrians could respond to this suggestion, however, Washington delivered a counter-message saying that Arafat must send no letter to President Carter, even via intermediaries, as this could be interpreted by critics of the US government's Middle East policy as a direct contact with the PLO. It is unclear why the administration changed its mind.¹⁹

This about-face illustrated the administration's utter inability to break out of its self-imposed PLO straitjacket, and it showed the dampening effect which domestic politics had on US foreign policy. The idea of using Khaddam as a postman was a foreign policy solution to a foreign policy problem, but it was withdrawn because it was perceived as impossible due to domestic political considerations. The Arabs, and particularly the Palestinians, were the victims of this constraint, while Israel strongly benefitted.

Discarding the 'postman' model, the US administration continued to use the Syrians as its line of communication with the PLO in a less formal fashion. Through Syria, in turn, the PLO suggested a new formula for its qualified acceptance of UNSC Resolution 242: 'The reservation of the PLO regarding Res 242 is that it does not establish a complete basis for the Palestinian issue and for the national rights of the Palestinians. It also fails to refer in any manner to a national homeland for the Palestinian people.'²⁰ This was a reformulation of the 242 formula the PLO had made in August, which had been unacceptable to the United States.²¹ Nevertheless, the US administration saw this new formulation as a positive step and found it acceptable as long as the PLO added that it was also a commitment to accepting UNSC Resolution 242, and the rights of all states in the region, including Israel, to live in peace. US Ambassador Richard Murphy presented the Syrians with two alternative formulations for the PLO:

The PLO accepts UNSC Resolution 242, recognizing that it relates to the right of all states in the Middle East to live in peace, with the following reservation, the reservation of the PLO regarding resolution 242 is that it does not establish a complete basis for the Palestinian issue and for the national rights of the Palestinians, it also fails to refer in any manner to a national homeland for the Palestinian people.²²

or

The PLO accepts the UNSC resolution 242 with the following reservation. The reservation of the PLO regarding resolution 242 is that it does not establish a complete basis for the Palestinian issue and for the national rights of the Palestinians. It also fails to refer in any manner to a national homeland for the Palestinian people. It is recognized that the language of resolution 242 relates to the right of all states in the Middle East to live in peace.²³

The only difference between these two formulations was whether the recognition of UNSC Resolution 242 as 'relating to the right of all states in the Middle East to live in peace' should come at the beginning or the end of the statement. There was very little space for flexibility, and the formulation had to start with the phrase: 'The PLO accepts the UNSC resolution 242'. The Carter administration was of the unwavering opinion that it had given the PLO the absolute best offer it could.

From the Syrian point of view, however, the US formulations were asking too much of the PLO in return for too little, since they implied PLO recognition of Israel with little concrete reward apart from direct communication with the United States. Syria asked if the United States could grant any *quid pro quos*: 'Will Israel recognize the rights of the Palestinians?; Does the U.S. guarantee the rights of the Palestinians? And finally, when the U.S. speaks of the rights of the Palestinians, is it speaking in the name of Israel?' The US ambassador could promise no such thing.²⁴ Although the Carter administration was more flexible towards the PLO than its predecessors in the White House had been, it was not even-handed. On UNSC Resolution 242, it was the Palestinians who would have to make the major concession, while the Israeli position was considered non-negotiable.

Given all of the time and energy invested in convincing Syria, one can understand how Steven Spiegel concluded that the comprehensive approach was a 'Syrianized' process.²⁵ However, the opposite argument is more convincing. It was Israel which set the tone for the negotiations, and all of the US pressure on Syria – and, indirectly, on the PLO – was applied to accommodate the Israeli demands, or to avoid pressuring Israel.

For Israel, there could be no PLO participation whatsoever, and the unified Arab delegation model was unacceptable. As Ambassador Samuel Lewis commented, 'it is hard to overstate the rigidity of the Israeli position on Palestinian representation'.²⁶ In addition to the Israeli rigidity, Carter was under increased domestic pressure. AIPAC was highly critical of the attempts to include the Palestinians, and Vance reported 'cries of distress' from Congress.²⁷ Carter noted in his diary: 'We had adverse reaction from the Israelis, as expected, from our release concerning the need for Palestinians to participate in any future Geneva conference.²⁸

In mid-September, Arafat met with the Soviet leadership in Moscow, and the Soviet ambassador relayed Arafat's views to the US administration. Arafat had argued that the goal of a peace conference had to be the creation of a Palestinian state and the fulfilment of the right of return for the Palestinian refugees. The PLO insisted on participating at Geneva, but agreed that there could be two possible models for such participation: a separate PLO delegation or a unified Arab delegation. No matter which of these models was chosen, Arafat argued, it was of vital importance that the PLO be explicitly mentioned in the invitation to the conference.²⁹

Throughout September and into October 1977, contradictory messages arrived regarding the Soviet stance on the PLO. The US administration was repeatedly informed that the Soviet Union would not participate in Geneva unless the PLO was allowed to participate.³⁰ Jordan's King Hussein, however, said he had received information from PLO sources that the Soviet Union pushed the PLO not to recognise Israel and UNSC Resolution 242 until Israel was willing to recognise the PLO.³¹ In a meeting between Vance and Soviet Ambassador Dobrynin, on the other hand, Dobrynin said that the Soviet Union would assist in finding a solution to the Palestinian representation problem.³² It was difficult for the US administration to discern whether the Soviet Union was trying to be helpful or obstructive.

Complicating matters further, the Jordanian king was unhappy with the increased US focus on the PLO. King Hussein favoured Sadar's suggestion for early links between Jordan and the PLO, and Asad's suggestion that the Arab League could represent Palestinian interests in Geneva, because both suggestions implied a weakening of the PLO's position.³³ Interestingly, much of the information on King Hussein's views came to the Americans via Moshe Dayan, and the United States therefore assumed that Dayan and King Hussein had recently met.³⁴ King Husseins's biographer, the historian Avi Shlaim, confirms that such a secret meeting did indeed take place in London on 22 August 1977.³⁵

The fact that the United States was informed of King Hussein's opinions via Israeli Foreign Minister Moshe Dayan made the information unreliable, of course, both because it came from an indirect source which could not be independently verified, and because Dayan had a vested interest in overstating King Hussein's distrust of the PLO. But the situation does illustrate how Dayan used Hussein's despair, overstated or otherwise, to argue that the focus of negotiations should be on Syria and Egypt, with a 'functional partition of responsibility' for the West Bank and Gaza.³⁶ Thomas Pickering, the US ambassador in Jordan, thought Dayan purposefully exaggerated Hussein's worried state of mind to keep the West Bank off the negotiation table.³⁷

Multi-bilateral negotiations: Israel sets the tone

The Carter administration kept publicly pushing the points that the Palestinians had to be a partner in the peace process and that the Palestinian issue was one of the cornerstones of a comprehensive peace. As a result, Carter found himself under considerable domestic pressure since Jewish and pro-Israel interest groups increasingly perceived the administration as too pro-Arab, too critical of Israel and too lenient with the PLO.³⁸ The administration referred to this domestic pressure in its talks with the Arab regimes to explain how difficult Carter's position was, and how difficult it would be for him to pressure Israel.³⁹ The fact that Carter's Middle East foreign policy was embedded in US domestic politics was something the Israeli politicians used to their advantage.

When Israeli Foreign Minister Moshe Dayan visited the White House on 19 September 1977, Carter told him that he thought Israel had taken an overly adamant stand, and that the Arab states were more flexible. Carter once again emphasised his position that Israeli settlements were illegal, and the Israeli stance on these settlements cast doubt on Israel's support for UNSC Resolution 242 and, in practice, made a renewed Geneva conference impossible. Dayan refused to budge. While he admitted that it was up to the PLO whether Jordan could represent the Palestinians, the Israeli government's view was that Israel could only discuss the West Bank with Jordan. The Israeli formula for Geneva was that the Arabs could only have a unified delegation at the opening ceremony, after which all the negotiations should be bilateral. While Carter responded that this was perhaps an unhelpfully narrow understanding of 'opening stage', he also agreed that final peace treaties would have to be negotiated bilaterally.⁴⁰

The parties were talking at cross-purposes. Israel wanted no Palestinian participation and wanted Jordan to negotiate the West Bank; the Syrians would not accept anything less than a unified Arab delegation including the PLO; Jordan could not talk about the West Bank without consent from the PLO; and both the United States and Israel refused to talk to the PLO.

On the settlement issue, Israel made no more than a cosmetic attempt to soften its staunch position. Dayan told Carter that the Israelis would only build military camps with 'marriage quarters' in the West Bank. This meant that they would have a civilian function as well, of course.⁴¹ It was an odd attempt to mask settlement expansion as a concession. Although Carter's tone was blunt and critical towards Dayan throughout this meeting, he did not take a hard stance here. Rather than inform Dayan that this settlement proposal was unacceptable, Carter told him that it was better than if Israel built new settlements.⁴² Carter even asked Dayan to simply tone down the settlement question, so as to avoid a public debate.⁴³ While Israeli settlements were far less of an issue in 1977 than they are today, the Carter team clearly considered them a serious problem but was unwilling to put any real weight behind its position.

Seeing the settlements as a problem and acting forcefully to stop the settlement expansion were very different things. By simply asking Dayan to tone down the issue, Carter was setting a remarkably low bar. It was yet another example of how Carter gave Israel concessions rather than stand his ground. Carter had leverage over Israel, but he refrained from using it. Dayan's hard line on settlements had no consequences for US aid, nor did it affect the US stance on Israel in the UN. In this meeting, then, Carter inadvertently exposed his domestic weakness and set the stage for an even more rigid Israeli position.

Ten days after discussing the Geneva conference with Carter, Dayan met with US Under Secretary Habib, and Assistant Secretary of State for Near East Affairs Alfred L. Atherton to discuss a draft working paper for Geneva. Instead of facilitating the talks, however, the working paper would become yet another roadblock to them. Dayan wanted clarifications on who would negotiate over what, and reiterated that Israel would not accept Syrian involvement in any West Bank negotiations. He also wanted the paper to explicitly state that peace treaties would be negotiated bilaterally. Habib clarified that the focus would be on bilateral negotiations, but that certain themes would be negotiated in thematic subgroups. Dayan concluded that Begin would probably not accept such a Geneva conference, and that he would definitively reject the US suggestion that the Palestinians could be represented by 'not well-known members of the PLO'.⁴⁴

Dayan was right. Begin declared 'in most unequivocal terms imaginable that Israel would not attend Geneva conference if any [...] known PLO member took part'. Begin added that the Palestinians could not have any separate delegation and could only be part of a Jordanian delegation. Anything else would 'Lay the foundation for the end of Israel, everything is negotiable except Israel's destruction.⁴⁵ The Americans most familiar with Begin knew that this was Begin's deepest conviction. The US ambassador reported: 'I am completely convinced that Begin means it with regard to PLO participation. To assume that either persuasion or pressure will move him off this point is to misread the man.⁴⁶

This did not sink in with Carter. He continued to insist on the Geneva format, but appeared to have no plan for how to persuade Begin. Instead, he forged ahead with the Arab states. In a 28 September meeting with Syrian Minister of Foreign Affairs Abdul Halim Khaddam, Carter insisted on a Geneva conference with a unified Arab delegation, which 'will include PLO members. The only caveat is that the PLO representatives should not be well known or famous persons.⁴⁷ Carter made the same point when he met with a Jordanian delegation.⁴⁸ Israel pushed in the opposite direction. During a 30 September meeting, Dayan probed directly for the US administration's views on possible separate Egyptian–Israeli negotiations. This was yet another forewarning of how any future talks would develop, but at the time the United States did not support such a separate peace. Vance replied that he saw no such possibility unless those negotiations took place within a Geneva framework.⁴⁹

Difficult as it was to get the PLO on board during this time, the PLO and the United States had never been closer to opening direct talks. The fact that they were indirectly negotiating a 242 formula and considering the use of Syria as a 'postman' and other ideas around including 'not well-known' PLO members in an Arab delegation, showed that the Carter administration took the question of PLO participation seriously. The PLO was also moving. On 3 October, Arafat claimed that he would support having the PLO represented by a US citizen of Palestinian descent on an Arab delegation.⁵⁰ The suggestion would come too late, however – that first week of October would change everything.

The US-Soviet joint communiqué

On 1 October, the United States and the Soviet Union issued a joint communiqué on the Middle East. It stated that their common goal was a comprehensive peace obtained through the participation of all the involved parties, including the Palestinians. It also stressed that a solution to peace must include Israeli withdrawal to the 1967 lines. Interestingly, it lacked any specific reference to UNSC Resolution 242.⁵¹ The communiqué was a compromise between the US and Soviet positions. Whilst the United States for the first time acknowledged 'the legitimate rights of the Palestinian people', the Soviet Union agreed not to mention the PLO, and to call for 'normal peaceful relations'.⁵² In a sense, this joint communiqué was to be expected, since US-Soviet cooperation was one of the cornerstones of Carter's comprehensive approach to Middle East peace-making.⁵³ Still, the announcement of the communiqué came as a shock and prompted radically opposed reactions which shed light on the communique's profound impact on the peace process overall.

First of all, the communiqué set off alarm bells in Israel. Menachem Begin was furious when he saw the draft of the statement, claiming that it was a breach of the 1973 US–Israeli Memorandum, and Carter's promise to not publicly mention the 1967 borders.⁵⁴ The negative reaction to the statement in Israel was uniform across all political boundaries and focused on the use of the term 'Palestinian rights', the lack of reference to UNSC Resolutions 242 and 338, and the lack of explicit mention of a 'peace treaty'.⁵⁵ A *Haaretz* editorial described it as 'one of the gravest crises since the establishment of Israel'.⁵⁶ According to Naphtali Lau-Lavie, Moshe Dayan's advisor, who was present when Vance first handed the communiqué to the Israelis, Dayan was so angry that he would not allow his aides to accept the photocopies of it.⁵⁷ Dayan had warned the United States that Israel objected to the communiqué, but the US administration was nevertheless unprepared for the adverse reactions which would arise.⁵⁸

The reactions in the United States were also highly negative. Pro-Israeli interest groups and the US Jewish community 'went bonkers'.⁵⁹ One hundred fifty members of the House of Representatives signed a letter criticising Carter for the communiqué.⁶⁰ This reaction resonanted perfectly with the Israeli view, and Israel promptly turned the heat up on the Carter administration through a high intensity media campaign managed by Dayan and his aides. 61

Most of the Arab leaders, on the other hand, reacted with cautious optimism. The Syrian *al-Baath* newspaper stated that the communiqué was 'largely in harmony with Arab demands'.⁶² The Syrians termed the document a 'positive step', especially since it showed that the United States had adopted the Syrian idea of a unified Arab delegation. However, Syria was disappointed that the communiqué made a reference to neither the PLO nor a Palestinian state.⁶³ According to leading Syria expert Patrick Seale, the Syrians were not as openly enthusiastic as they should have been, and Vance was therefore not convinced that the communiqué was important to the Arabs.⁶⁴ The Syrians and the US representative in Syria agreed that the United States was going to have a rough time with Israel's supporters in the United States, and the US representative therefore once again asked the Syrians to help get the Palestinians to show moderation and accept the American 242 formula.⁶⁵

Despite the lukewarm response from Damascus, both Quandt and Vance saw evidence that the US–Soviet statement elicited gestures of moderation on the parts of both the PLO and Syria.⁶⁶ The PLO praised the communiqué for referring to Palestinian 'legitimate rights' and remarked upon the fact that this was the first time the United States had publicly done so.⁶⁷ The US administration would only stick to this formulation for a very short while, however. In his 4 October speech to the UN General Assembly, Carter stressed the importance of negotiating a Middle East peace based on UNSC Resolutions 242 and 338 and once again stressed the need to recognise 'the legitimate rights of the Palestinian people'.⁶⁸ The PLO then watched in dismay as Carter retracted this emphasis on 'legitimate rights' shortly thereafter.⁶⁹

Egypt's view of the joint communiqué is much debated. It is often argued that Sadat disliked the communiqué, because it brought the Soviet Union back into Middle East diplomacy. This explanation is logical, as Sadat had invested much political energy in partings ways with Soviet tutelage, as exemplified through his expulsion of Soviet advisors in 1972.⁷⁰ However, in a February 1978 meeting between Carter and Sadat, Carter quotes Sadat as having called the communiqué 'marvellous'.⁷¹ This is not entirely convincing, as Sadat had a clear interest in pleasing Carter at that point. So, while the jury is still out on Sadat's reaction, it was Israel's reaction that was the game-changer.

Duelling with Dayan

The negative US and Israeli reactions to the communiqué, which were then fuelled by Dayan's media campaign, created a tense political situation for the Carter administration. To tackle this crisis head on. Carter and his foreign policy team met with Dayan in New York on 4 October. These talks, which included Dayan, Carter, Vance and Brzezinski, lasted for over five hours. The negative Israeli reaction had surprised Carter, since he had considered the communiqué to be a positive step forward. Carter summed up the positive elements of the statement: the United States had made the Soviet Union accept the possibility of a full Middle East peace with the normalisation of relations, made it accept that there would be no mention of the 1967 lines and 'national' Palestinian rights, and made it accept that there would be no endorsement of the PLO as the representative of the Palestinians. Carter also pointed out that although the statement did not explicitly refer to UNSC Resolution 242, it had incorporated the resolution's main points.⁷² Carter thought this should have been considered good news for the Israeli leadership.

Dayan disagreed. He wanted assurances that the United States would stand by all its obligations to Israel, and insisted that UNSC Resolution 242 did not call on Israel to withdraw to the 1967 lines.⁷³ Dayan was clearly taking the offensive, striking directly at US public policy. He knew that this was Carter's weak spot. He also knew that the communiqué was an easy target in the United States, given the combined anti-Soviet and pro-Israeli sentiments there.⁷⁴ For Carter, the communiqué was an issue of foreign policy alone, and he had seen it in those terms.⁷⁵ He was therefore unprepared for what Dayan had in store. Although the meeting was held behind closed doors, the media waited outside. This was the culmination of Dayan's media campaign, putting extreme pressure on Carter to emerge with a solution to the crisis.⁷⁶ The pressure was so harsh that Brzezinski described Dayan's tactics as 'blackmail'.⁷⁷

Dayan rehashed the fact that Israel would not accept a Palestinian state, even if it was federated with Jordan. Carter told Dayan that Israel was too rigid on the question of Palestinian representation, and that this needed to be solved. In response, Dayan demanded that Palestinian representatives be only from the West Bank, Gaza or Jordan.⁷⁸ Carter promised that Israel could screen the list of Palestinians who were

suggested for participation at Geneva. Those Palestinians who did not pass the screening would be discussed with the Arab states with the aim of excluding them. If unacceptable Palestinians were then to attend Geneva, Israel could refuse to attend.⁷⁹

Much of the marathon meeting with Dayan was spent negotiating a revised working paper and a joint US–Israeli press statement for the press corps waiting outside. Carter largely caved in to Israeli pressure, and the revised working paper would replace the communiqué as the basis for the Geneva conference. It listed six principles:

- 1. The Arab Parties will be represented by a unified Arab delegation, which will include Palestinian Arabs. After the opening sessions, the conference will split into working groups.
- The working groups for the negotiation and conclusion of peace treaties will be formed as follows: a. Egypt–Israel b. Jordan–Israel c. Syria–Israel d. Lebanon–Israel.*
- 3. The West Bank and Gaza issues will be discussed in a working group to consist of Israel, Jordan, Egypt, and the Palestinian Arabs.
- 4. The solution of the problem of the Arab refugees and of the Jewish refugees will be discussed in accordance with terms to be agreed upon.
- The agreed basis for the negotiations at the Geneva Peace Conference on the Middle East are UN Security Council Resolutions 242 and 338.
- 6. All the initial terms of reference of the Geneva Peace Conference remain in force, except as may be agreed by the parties.

 \ast All the parties agree that Lebanon may join the Conference when it so requests. 80

Dayan had accepted the idea of a unified Arab delegation with Palestinian representatives during the opening session, and agreed to discuss both the future of the West Bank and Gaza, as well as the refugee issue. These were the positive aspects of the working paper. On the negative side, the question of who would represent the Palestinians remained unresolved, and point 6 implied that Israel retained its veto against PLO participation.⁸¹

Via the joint press statement, the US–USSR joint communiqué was discarded. It was 'not a prerequisite for the reconvening and conduct of the Geneva Conference'.⁸² While meeting with the press, Dayan declared that he had accepted the US working paper and would recommend it to the Israeli government. He added the usual mantra that Israel would not talk to the PLO and would not negotiate about a Palestinian state. Jody Powell, the US press secretary, added that although the US–USSR communiqué would not supply the basis for Geneva, it still reflected the shared US–USSR view.⁸³ This point was also made in meetings with the Arab leaders.⁸⁴ The argument was cosmetic, however; the communiqué had been scrapped.

Since Dayan had to get his government's approval for the working paper, the US government would not show the paper to the Arab heads of state until Israel had accepted it.⁸⁵ The result of the Carter–Dayan meeting was that Israel had made the United States discard a document which it considered to be a reflection of its view, and which the Arab parties generally liked, in return for a document which the Israeli government had not even accepted on its part yet. Carter even had to intervene further before Begin would finally accept the paper on 11 October.⁸⁶ As we will see, however, Israel would then proceed to undermine this working paper as well.

Who can accept the working paper?

The working paper did not address the issues that most troubled the Arab states. Jordan, for example, had no desire to negotiate over the West Bank, while the working paper insisted that it was Jordan's to negotiate. Also, while Egypt and Israel favoured the 'bilateral groups' model, both Jordan and Syria favoured the 'functional groups' model.⁸⁷ King Hussein was satisfied that the United States considered Palestinian representation possible without the PLO, as part of a unified Arab delegation, but Egypt, according to King Hussein, was pushing for a separate PLO delegation.⁸⁸ Jordan looked into possible Palestinians, but all those who were suggested had some connection to the PLO. As expected, the PLO 'firmly rejected' the working paper, claiming it was tantamount to 'liquidat[ing] the question of [Palestinian] national rights'.⁸⁹

To make the working paper more palatable to the Arab states, the United States wanted it to appear to be a US initiative. Israel made this difficult when Dayan leaked the paper and referred to it as both 'his own paper' and as a 'US–Israeli paper'.⁹⁰ This was not the only source of discontent between the two governments. The United States was publicly at odds with the Israelis over the Palestinian representation issue. Since the middle of September, Begin had been stating that Vance had given him a veto over PLO participation. To quote Begin, in his vehemently anti-PLO language:

Vance has stated explicitly [...] that the participation of the organization of murderers [the PLO] in the Geneva Conference is conditioned on the consent of the parties. [...] the US Administration is not pressuring the Israeli government to go to Geneva with the organization of murderers known as the PLO. [...] the U.S. is explicitly leaving the decision in the hands of the parties which means, in our hands as well, because we are one of the parties.⁹¹

The US State Department insisted that there was no such US-Israeli agreement. The United States also tried to clarify that no new participants could attend Geneva unless all the parties agreed, and that the Israeli position was that the PLO as an organisation could not participate in the other delegations. This formula did not exclude individual PLO members, in other words. Dayan disagreed. Israel not only did not want the PLO as an organisation to participate, but also felt that no PLO members could participate whatsover. Israeli Ambassador Simcha Dinitz was duly informed that this was not how Vance had understood the 4 October meeting.⁹²

This stern message to Dinitz had no effect. Moshe Dayan blatantly pushed the issue as far as he could, hoping the United States would relent. Vance was nervous about the impact of Israel's behaviour. He urged Israel not to leak any more of the US–Israeli discussions, since this 'could destroy possibility of getting to Geneva'.⁹³ No wonder: in the Arab states, the working paper was already being referred to as an 'Israeli paper'.⁹⁴

Selling the working paper

The working paper had failed to facilitate talks. It was unpopular in Israel, because it included Palestinian representation as an issue.⁹⁵ It was even less popular in the Arab states and among the Palestinians. If it was to have any value, however, they would have to accept it. On 14–15 October, then, President Carter sent personal letters to the Middle East heads of state asking them to support the working paper.⁹⁶ It was no easy sell. King Hussein accepted the working paper but added that he could not go to Geneva if only he and Sadat accepted it.⁹⁷ This was a classic problem; unless Syria could be brought on board Jordan had to stay away for fear of being isolated.

The Syrian reaction was predictable. Syrian Foreign Minister Abdul Halim Khaddam criticised the paper for being a 'clear retreat' which took only Israeli concerns into account. Khaddam particularly resented the removal of any reference to the PLO, as well as the mechanism of allowing working groups to report to the plenary session in Geneva.⁹⁸ The US administration knew it would be difficult to sell the working paper to the Arabs and was therefore adamant about rejecting any further conditions from the Israelis.⁹⁹ But the Arab leaders demanded changes too. Was it feasible to make them, then resell the amendments to the Israelis? The Egyptian reaction spoke to this quandary.

Egypt was one of very few buyers of the document, and the Egyptian leadership even tried to convince the PLO and Syria to accept it. Egyptian Foreign Minister Ismail Fahmy found this to be a tall order.¹⁰⁰ While Fahmy and Sadat both claimed that they were willing to go to Geneva tomorrow, if need be, they found that the working paper was impossible to accept for the other Arabs, because of the removal of references to the Palestinian question.¹⁰¹ Fahmy and Sadat therefore suggested a slightly amended working paper which would re-insert such a reference.¹⁰² Although Carter and Vance sympathised with their suggestions, the Americans contended that, if further changes had to go back to the Israelis, they would reject them and the whole process would collapse.¹⁰³ Without changes, however, the PLO and Syria would not accept the working paper and there would be no Geneva.¹⁰⁴ Indeed, Arafat would later argue that while the PLO could largely accept the US–Soviet joint communiqué and the original working paper from September, with some reservations, the October working paper was completely unacceptable.¹⁰⁵

Vance concluded that it was not even worth trying to get Israel to accept an amended working paper. Rather than pressuring the Israelis, Vance once again put the onus on the Arab leaders. He underlined two concessions which Israelis had made. The first was that the Arabs could participate in the opening session with a unified Arab delegation, and the second was that the Palestinians could participate in that delegation.¹⁰⁶ At face value, these concessions appeared significant, but both were greatly watered down. The unified Arab delegation would only have a role during the opening session at Geneva, and there would be no reporting back from the bilateral talks to the plenary session. On the second point, the Palestinians would be far removed from an independent role in the substantial talks which were to take place after the opening session, and they could not represent the PLO.

The communiqué and the ensuing debate were enormously detrimental to the comprehensive approach. Syria, at this point, worried that Egypt could be 'going it alone' and sought to coordinate against this eventuality with Jordan.¹⁰⁷ Clear cracks were thus appearing in the relations among the Arab states, and Jordan was caught in the middle, politically closer to Sadat's stance but unable to make a commitment without Asad.

Could Egypt go it alone?

The Arab divisiveness nicely suited Israel, which wanted a separate peace with Egypt. Sadat certainly considered this option as well. In early August, Sadat had told Vance that he could sign a separate peace with Israel if the other Arab states failed to participate in negotiations.¹⁰⁸ Vance had ignored the implications of this statement.¹⁰⁹ In late October, for example, this statement from Sadat should have come to mind, when Dayan asked Carter how he would react if Egypt and Israel agreed to end the state of war. Carter responded that he would not stand in the way, but that he preferred a comprehensive peace.¹¹⁰ The Carter administration did not see a separate Egyptian–Israeli peace as a priority, nor was it even aware that such a peace process was already developing.

The Carter administration had been kept in the dark about the indirect contact Sadat and Begin had through Ceausescu. It was also mostly unaware of the fact that Moshe Dayan had met with Sadat's emissary, Hassan Tuhami, in Morocco on 16 September 1977, after Egypt had delivered its draft peace treaty to the United States. To the extent that Vance was informed, he failed to grasp the significance of the meeting.¹¹¹ Egyptian Deputy Premier Hassan Tuhami and Israeli Foreign Minister Moshe Davan had arranged this top-secret meeting through King Hassan of Morocco. The goal was to prepare for direct negotiations between Sadat and Begin. Given the secrecy of these talks, there has, until now, been no documentary evidence of the meeting; all accounts of it have been based on various memoirs.¹¹² However. the Israeli State Archives recently published a four-page summary of the meeting in Morocco. It reveals that Sadat was willing to meet Begin directly and discuss any issues, so long as Begin first accepted the principle of 'evacuation of Arab occupied territories'.¹¹³

Sadat wanted these contacts to be kept secret from the Americans, but, if they produced results, then they should be handed over to the Americans to frame as a US initiative. Sadat insisted, furthermore, that all issues should be decided directly between Israel and Egypt, and then delivered to a Geneva conference for official signing. As for the Palestinians, the message from Sadat was that there should be formal links between the Palestinian territories and Jordan and Egypt. Dayan and Tuhami suggested that a new meeting should take place two weeks later, but this second meeting never took place.¹¹⁴ Until Sadat's trip to Jerusalem two months later, the contact between the two states ceased.

In the meantime, the tiresome discussions about the working paper dragged on. Sadat and Fahmy demanded changes which would make the paper acceptable to the PLO.¹¹⁵ Vance knew that it would be impossible to get Israel to accept the Egyptian changes, to say nothing of the Syrian changes.¹¹⁶ This was obviously not an outcome the Americans had sought. Hafez al-Asad, in fact, suggested a complete reformulation of the working paper. His version included explicit mention of PLO participation in the united Arab delegation and placed the substantive negotiations in the plenary.¹¹⁷ The Syrians were worried that the bilateral format would open up for a bilateral peace between Egypt and Israel – a nightmare scenario which would leave Syria and the PLO with little leverage over Israel. The Americans knew that they had to take

Syria's protests seriously, but since Vance was unwilling to push Israel to make concessions, the Arab leaders could not accept the revised working paper. There were no easy options on the table, and the Carter administration was walking in circles.

Jimmy gets personal

Frustrated by the deadlock President Jimmy Carter sent a personal letter to Anwar Sadat, asking him for help to push the process forward.¹¹⁸ A week later Carter sent another message to Sadat, thanking him and Foreign Minister Fahmy for trying to accommodate the other Arabs by suggesting changes to the working paper, then lamenting that it was futile to try to settle on a detailed working paper upon which all parties could agree. The main appeal of the letter, however, was its personal character. Carter told Sadat that he would send similar letters to Asad and King Hussein, but that the close personal relationship between himself and Sadat prompted him to contact Sadat first. Carter stressed that the parties should move beyond procedure in the hope that 'negotiations create a dynamic of their own'.¹¹⁹

Carter added the selling point, that if the Arab states agreed to this procedure, then he would make an 'unequivocal public statement that the Palestinian question, as well as the question of withdrawal and borders and of peace, must be dealt with seriously at the conference with the aim of finding a comprehensive solution to all aspects of the Arab–Israeli conflict'.¹²⁰ The final carrot Carter offered Sadat was that if Sadat gave the green light, Carter would go to the Israelis and make them accept the proposed procedure.¹²¹

This was an attempt to give the impression that Carter was putting Egypt before Israel, but it was illusory. There was a glaring problem of balance here which diplomatic cosmetics could not conceal. Carter and Vance had accepted the negotiation of the nitty-gritty details of the working paper with Israel alone and had accepted practically all the Israeli amendments to it. When the Arab leaders demanded alterations, however, the United States told them that such detailed changes were pointless. The United States closed the debate once Israel had won it.

It seemed, though, that Carter had sugar-coated the deal enough for Sadat, who replied to Carter that he accepted the suggested procedure.¹²² In a later meeting with US Ambassador Eilts, Sadat

repeatedly stressed that he was "fed up" with the procedural debate', and that 'the situation needs a "very bold act".¹²³ Sadat also warned Eilts that the Palestinians must not be given a chance to 'creat[e] difficulties for us'.¹²⁴ This was yet another indication of Sadat's growing inclination to go it alone, but the Carter team still continued to miss what was developing under their noses.

While Sadat said he would accept the vaguer approach to procedures at Geneva, Begin and Dayan were worried about them. They had, after all, meticulously hammered out Israel's terms for the working paper, and going to Geneva without such a document might make all that effort irrelevant. Begin was adamantly opposed to negotiations in the plenary sessions at Geneva, and he would not accept the condition that the Soviet Union would chair the negotiations.¹²⁵ Cyrus Vance was blatantly upset with the Israelis at this point.¹²⁶ One sensed that a US–Israeli confrontation was in the air and that Israel had pushed its advantage too far. But it never came to that. Sadat's 'bold act' served to relieve the tension of a deadlocked process.

In the meantime, all possible ways to moderate the Arab demands were being tested by the Americans. Despite shelving the joint communiqué, the US administration kept the Soviet Union generally informed about the developments in Middle East diplomacy. The most important message sent to the Soviet leadership was that it should use its influence to moderate Syria and the Palestinians, and that some accommodation had to be found regarding the Palestinian dilemma. Vance made it clear that it was as impossible for Israel to accept PLO representation at Geneva, as it was for the Arab states to accept the fact that the PLO was not represented. It was vital to find some middle ground between those deemingly irreconcilable principles.¹²⁷

Since the Arab foreign ministers were preparing for a foreign minister summit in Tunis at this time, Vance sent an appeal to the Syrian, Egyptian, Jordanian and Saudi Arabian foreign ministers, asking them not to support any proposal which required PLO attendance at Geneva.¹²⁸ Vance also suggested to Sadat and Fahmy that they should start to work on a list of acceptable Palestinians for a Palestinian delegation. If the Palestinians could accept such a list, it would be difficult for Syria to block it.¹²⁹

Unsurprisingly, Israel had input on the formation of this Palestinian delegation as well. Dayan suggested that Palestinian West Bank mayors

could represent the Palestinians in Geneva, as long as they did not claim to represent the PLO, in which case Israel would veto their attendance.¹³⁰ This idea of using West Bank Palestinians as representatives of all Palestinians in order to bypass the PLO was something of an Israeli obsession. It was based on the erroneous analysis that these mayors were non-PLO members or sympathisers and flew in the face of the fact that pro-PLO candidates had largely won the 1976 West Bank municipal elections.¹³¹ Contemporary research surveying the opinions of Palestinians in the occupied Palestinian territories also revealed that most of them were PLO supporters.¹³² There was, then, no realistic non-PLO Palestinian option to pursue.

For the Carter administration, the fall of 1977 was dismal when it came to Arab–Israeli peace-making. The comprehensive approach was coming apart at the seams. September had started well enough, with the collection of the draft peace treaties, since several of those drafts reflected a willingness to compromise. However, they did nothing to alter the problem of Palestinian representation. Instead, they compounded it. As a non-state, the Palestinians were unable to deliver a draft treaty, and none of the Arab states could deliver a treaty on their behalf. Thus, while collecting the draft treaties from the Arab states, the Carter administration tried to get the Palestinians on board by handing them a '242 with reservations' formula. This was the most which any US government had offered the Palestinians to that point. While the two sides seemed to be only inches apart, it was still not enough.

In an attempt to push the process forward, the United States and the Soviet Union released their joint communiqué on 1 October. Although the contents of the communiqué represented a compromise between the Soviet and US positions, and although the document did not mention the PLO, Israel and its supporters in the US were aghast at it. Dayan launched a hard-hitting media campaign in the United States, forcing Carter to withdraw it, then introduced the US working paper as a substitute for the communiqué. Where the communiqué had raised alarms in the Israeli camp, the working paper raised similar concerns in the Arab camp. Such was the nature of the Rubik's-cube diplomacy. Any move Carter made to appease one party would upset another. The joint communiqué had pleased the Soviet Union, Syria and the PLO but upset Israel, the US domestic scene and, debatably, Egypt. To solve this, the working paper was launched. The paper pleased Israel but upset all the Arabs. Israel had outmanoeuvred Carter, and Carter was unwilling to spend any substantial political capital to make Israel concede.

Instead, Carter and his team spent weeks haggling over the working paper. The Israelis refused to amend it, whereas the Arabs demanded a variety of alterations. Realising the futility of this haggling, Carter suggested that they should proceed without the working paper. This outcome pleased Sadat, who was tired of the deadlock, but upset Begin and Dayan, for whom the working paper had been a great victory. Any step forward entailed at least one step back, then, and often more. In his desperation, Carter appealed personally to Sadat to make a bold move. Little did he realise how bold Sadat's move would be. It would save *a* peace process, but terminate the comprehensive peace process.

CHAPTER 5

THE JERUSALEM BOMBSHELL

By late 1977, the comprehensive approach had reached a dead end. Something drastic had to happen if there was any chance of getting the process back on track. On 3 November 1977, in a secret 'eyes only' letter, Sadat informed Carter that he wanted to upgrade the talks. He suggested a top-level peace conference in East Jerusalem sponsored by all the major powers.¹ Sadat was thinking far outside the box, and Brzezinski wondered if he was 'losing his sense of reality'.² But Sadat needed a serious peace process, and he had a myriad of ideas regarding how to make it happen. Even at this late moment, in fact, he was not sure which idea to pursue. His ultimate decision to go it alone rather than opt for a multilateral conference might well have been prompted by Carter's reply to his Jerusalem conference initiative: 'I must tell you that this public announcement [of a Jerusalem conference] may seriously complicate, rather than facilitate, the search for peace in the Middle East.'³

Rebuffed by Carter, Sadat then surprised everybody. On 9 November 1977, Sadat delivered the game changer. In what have become some of the most famous words in modern Middle East history, Sadat declared: 'I am prepared to go to the ends of the earth [...] I am prepared to go to their very home, to the Knesset itself and discuss things with them [the Israelis].⁴

The Carter administration failed to grasp the significance of these words. In his first report to Carter, Brzezinski acknowledged that the speech was 'remarkable' but did not supply any deeper analysis of how it represented a shift in Egyptian policy.⁵ Ambassador Eilts's first report

also placed the Knesset remark in the context of Sadat's desire to convene the Geneva conference.⁶ Carter does not even mention the speech in his diary.⁷ The US administration was obviously confused by the initiative and unsure whether to take it at face value or as engaging rhetoric.

It was not only the US administration that was caught off guard. PLO leader Yassir Arafat was present in the Egyptian Assembly when Sadat made his speech, and Sadat had specifically brought attention to Arafat during the speech. This gave the impression that Arafat had been informed of Sadat's intention to go to Jerusalem.⁸ But this was not true. Witnesses and analysts disagree over whether Arafat even understood the political significance of Sadat's words, or whether he thought the speech was rhetorical.⁹

The 'Knesset speech' was Sadat's expression of his solo initiative – an idea which evidently came to him after Carter's personal appeal to make a 'bold, statesmanlike move'.¹⁰ According to Egyptian journalist Ahmed Bahaa al-Din, who was there when Sadat received the note, Sadat had exclaimed, 'You see, the American president is begging me.'¹¹

The seriousness of Sadat's statement would not take long to sink in. Egyptian Foreign Minister Ismail Fahmy resigned in protest shortly afterwards, along with a group of senior diplomats.¹² As Fahmy saw it, going to Jerusalem, which implied the recognition of Israel, would isolate Egypt and make a comprehensive Geneva conference more difficult to convene. Internal Egyptian opposition did not faze Sadat. He was an autocrat, and he had strengthened his domestic position during this period.¹³ In the ensuing negotiations, then, Egypt was essentially Sadat.

While Carter and Vance had 'great admiration for [Sadat's] courageous and bold step', they were worried that it would antagonise the other Arab leaders who would see it as a betrayal of Arab solidarity. They therefore urged Sadat and Begin to publicly clarify that the goal was still a comprehensive peace on all fronts, to be obtained through a Geneva conference.¹⁴ Sadat did keep toeing the line, reiterating his support for a comprehensive peace and stating that the Palestinian issue was 'the crux of the problem'.¹⁵ This could not conceal the fact that the Jerusalem speech had changed the situation drastically. There was no going back from the ends of the earth.

Going to Jerusalem

It was no wonder that the United States, as well as the Arab states and the PLO, were caught off guard by Sadat's initiative. The whole idea of going to Jerusalem was not only untraditional politics but also anathema to the Arab political consensus. There had been some hints that Sadat was ready to break new ground, however. For instance, on 27 October, Vance was informed by Nahum Goldman, president of the World Jewish Congress, that Sadat was planning for 'the visit of a high-level Jewish delegation in the near future'.¹⁶ But the leap from that to actually visiting Israel was enormous.

Unlike the United States and the Arab states, Begin was ready for Sadat's initiative. He and Sadat had spent the last few months testing each other out in secret.¹⁷ Only in mid-November did it become known to the US administration that Romanian President Nicolae Ceauşescu had, for two months, facilitated a back channel engagement between Sadat and Begin.¹⁸ More important was the Moroccan back channel from September, where Dayan had met Sadat's trusted envoy and vice premier, Hassan Tuhami.

Most indications are that the United States was not aware of the depth of the direct and indirect talks between Egypt and Israel. Yet there had been several signs along the way that Sadat was willing to go it alone, without the other Arab states. In his later account, Quandt claims that the Egyptians informed Vance of the meeting in Morocco, but that he did not understand the full significance of these meetings.¹⁹ The signals of Sadat's willingness to go it alone had thus not been picked up the US administration, which did not expect him to pursue such a policy.

While the United States had no good follow-up plan after Sadat's Jerusalem speech, Begin promptly took matters into his own hands. Things moved very fast. Two days after Sadat's speech, Begin addressed the Egyptian people in a radio broadcast, welcoming Sadat to Jerusalem.²⁰ On 14 November, the two men were interviewed by Walter Cronkite, the famous American news anchor, and Sadat declared that once he received an official invitation, he would accept.²¹ On 15 November, Begin sent the invitation, and Sadat accepted immediately.²²

Catching up with events, the United States offered Sadat and Begin help to facilitate Sadat's visit to Israel.²³ In a personal phone call, Carter told Begin to ensure that Sadat's visit would clear the path for the Geneva conference. The key, stressed Carter, was to publicly state that Israel was willing to deal with the Palestinian problem and give Syria something, so that Asad could support Sadat in tun.²⁴ Carter also phoned Sadat to offer him his full support. He encouraged Sadat to convince Begin that Syria should be included in the Geneva working group which would discuss Gaza and the West Bank. Carter considered it vital to give Syria something to increase the chances of convening a Geneva conference.²⁵ From all these personal letters and telephone conversations with Sadat and Begin, it is clear that Carter did not fully understand the depth of the changes set in motion by Sadat's declaration. Well into the second week after Sadat's speech, Carter and Vance still viewed the upcoming Jerusalem visit in light of a Geneva conference.

In reality, though, Sadat was too far along his bilateral track to revert to the comprehensive approach. Still, he needed something more to give this bilateral process legitimacy. Alfred Atherton and Harold Saunders of the State Department's Bureau of Near East Affairs aptly described the difficulty Sadat faced:

he must be seen by Egyptians as having achieved something substantial in terms of the Sinai *and* be seen by Syrians and Palestinians as having achieved something substantial in terms of their particular interests as a means of allaying their suspicions that he is pursuing Sinai III.²⁶

For the two American diplomats, the onus lay on Israel. If Israel did not alter its position, or altered it in a way which only favoured Egypt, it would destroy the chances for Geneva. If, however, Israel could give something on Palestinian representation, it could help push forward the possibility of convening the Geneva conference.²⁷ In light of Begin's track record, of course, this was highly unlikely.

For most Arabs, the writing was on the wall. The reaction to the forthcoming Sadat visit to Israel was 'hostile and violent'. Anti-Sadat demonstrations and acts of violence against Egyptian targets broke out across the Middle East. Even Saudi Arabia's King Khalid distanced himself from Sadat.²⁸ The PLO declared, 'Sadat's decision is a betrayal of the dearest and most sacred goal of our nation [...] this dangerous move which imperils the existence of the Arab nation, its future and its honour.'²⁹ Two weeks later, the PLO's tone was even harsher: 'Sadat's

determination to pursue his policy of capitulation to the terms set by the enemy and American imperialism deals the greatest blow to the Palestinian cause since it has existed.'³⁰ Meanwhile, the PLO persisted in working with the comprehensive approach framework which had preceded Sadat's speech. The PLO suggested a formula under which Geneva should be convened on the basis of the joint US–Soviet communiqué, and asked that the UN General Secretary issue an invitation to 'representatives of the Palestinian people'.³¹ This might have been a helpful suggestion in late September, but the PLO had fallen behind in the political developments. The US–Soviet joint communiqué had been scrapped even before the Sadat initiative, and there was no reason for it to resurface after the 'ends of the earth' speech.

Visiting Israel

Sadat's initiative developed quickly. On the evening of 19 November, only ten days after his speech, Sadat arrived in Jerusalem. It was the first time an Egyptian leader had visited Israel, and hundreds of foreign journalists were present to cover the momentous event.³² It also massively stirred popular emotion. Israeli Minister of Defense Ezer Weizman recounted: 'Half of the Israeli people were glued to their television sets, and the other half were squeezing into the airport to shake the hand of our great enemy.'³³ Could popular emotion compel the rigid Begin government to soften its position?

Shortly after Sadat arrived in Israel, he and Begin held a brief private meeting, and they both expressed a commitment to 'continuing a dialogue leading to peace treaties in Geneva'.³⁴ But the grand moment of the trip, the Knesset session, was disappointing. The combined effect of the two leaders' speeches pleased no one.

While the trip to Jerusalem was made to calm the Israelis and break the 'psychological barriers' between Israel and Egypt, Sadat's Knesset speech was designed to calm the Arabs and justify his visit to Israel.³⁵ Most important to his Arab audience were Sadat's statements that a complete Israeli withdrawal from all territories occupied in 1967, including East Jerusalem, was not negotiable, that the Palestinians must be granted a homeland in Palestine, and that Egypt would not sign a 'separate agreement, a partial peace, or a third disengagement'.³⁶ Although Sadat's Knesset speech generally did not deviate from the official Egyptian policy regarding the Arab–Israeli conflict, Sadat did refrain from explicitly mentioning the PLO.³⁷ Dayan had warned Sadat against referring to the PLO because, if Sadat did so, 'Begin would be obliged to attack the PLO.'³⁸ Since Begin's general tendency was to compare the PLO to the Nazis, claim that the organisation was a Soviet puppet, and even deny that there was any such thing as a Palestinian people, Sadat would gain nothing from provoking such a response.³⁹ Begin then answered Sadat's speech by extending invitations to Asad and King Hussein and talking about a Geneva conference, but he did not mention the Palestinians as a party or mention territorial withdrawal.⁴⁰

The Egyptians were disappointed by Begin's speech, as was much of the Israeli public, and the Israelis were aggrieved by Sadat's perceived hard line.⁴¹ PLO and Syrian comments were all harshly critical of both Sadat and Begin.⁴² While the Israelis were largely disappointed by Sadat, some analysts noted that the speech had constituted a *de facto* recognition of Israel, at no cost to Israel. This point was underlined by the Israeli politician and peace activist Uri Avnery:

For him [Begin], this visit was a gift from Heaven. It was handed to him for free, on a silver platter. It was Sadat who initiated it and paid the full price for it, endangering his life and his regime, and gave Israel an invaluable prize – full recognition of her existence and her legitimacy. And what did Begin pay? Nothing at all, not even a piaster with a hole in it. He did not risk anything and did not give anything.⁴³

As for the Carter administration, it was concerned that the Jerusalem visit had taken the process out of its hands. The Americans were kept in the dark. On 20 November, the United States still did not know what had taken place during Begin and Sadat's private meetings. Reports indicated that Sadat brought a peace plan to Begin, and that Begin was authorised by the Knesset to offer Sadat such a plan in return.⁴⁴ But, in their joint press statement, Begin and Sadat had continued to focus on a process leading to peace treaties with all Arab states signed at Geneva.⁴⁵ Two things should be noted about this statement. First, it was clear that the expressed goal was not a separate peace and, second, it was clear that the Palestinians – as a non-state – were not included. These two points are self-contradictory, of course – the parties could talk about Geneva as
much as they wanted, but all the premises on which the Geneva conference rested had been destroyed. Sadat was isolated in the Arab world, the Palestinians were out, the Soviet Union was out, and the United States was kept in the dark.

Returning to Egypt. Sadat was boisterous. He described the trip as his 'greatest victory'.⁴⁶ Still, his actual gains were opaque. Begin and Sadat had agreed to continue their talks using two separate channels. The first channel would take place in Morocco between Israeli Minister of Foreign Affairs Moshe Dayan and Egyptian Deputy Prime Minister Hasan Tuhami and deal with political issues. The second channel would take place in Romania between Egyptian War Minister Mohamed Abdel Ghani al-Gamasy and Israeli Minister of Defense, Ezer Weizman, and deal with security issues. Despite the fact that these two channels were bilateral, Sadat still presented them to US Ambassador Eilts as part of an effort to ensure a Geneva conference by the end of December 1977 or in early January 1978.⁴⁷ Sadat said that he had received a peace proposal from Begin. Curiously, it was the same peace proposal given to the United States in September.⁴⁸ This should have been a forewarning of how little Begin's position had been influenced by Sadat's grand gesture. But Sadat was euphoric at this time and did not see it.

Sadat argued that the purpose of his trip was to jump-start an 'over-all Arab/Israeli' peace process, and he had refused Weizman's proposal that he should stay in Israel for an extra 24 hours to sign an Egyptian–Israeli agreement.⁴⁹ The Israelis were trying to lure Sadat into a bilateral peace, but Sadat maintained that he was aiming for something larger. It is difficult to gauge whether Sadat was delusional or whether he was simply trying to placate Carter. Realistically, however, Sadat had laid waste to the grand bargain by going to Jerusalem and estranging the remaining interested parties.

Sadat was so optimistic after his Jerusalem trip that he told the US ambassador that he no longer thought the United States needed to pressure Israel. Sadat also suggested a compromise for the West Bank, in which the area would be under UN jurisdiction for five years, during which a plebiscite could be held for Palestinian self-determination. In the meantime a new Palestinian leadership could be built up in Gaza. Sadat also claimed that he was willing to slightly enlarge Gaza by giving away some of the Sinai to the Palestinians.⁵⁰ All this was the product of euphoric optimism detached from political reality. Sadat did not control

the Sinai, because Egypt had lost it in the 1967 war. Until Israel agreed to give it back to Egypt, it was not Sadat's to give away again. Sadat's suggestion that the United States could stop pressuring Israel also revealed an unrealistic view of the impact his trip to Israel had made. As the forthcoming negotiations would demonstrate, Begin was going to be almost impossible to budge, even with US pressure.

After having conferred with both Begin and Sadat, Vance finally realised that Sadat's Jerusalem trip had created an entirely new situation in the Middle East. Massive political adjustment was required. First of all, the direct contacts between Egypt and Israel meant that the importance of the US intermediary role was reduced. Second, Israel and Egypt wanted to use these direct contacts to work out the substance of an agreement between the two. Vance thought that Israel probably wanted a separate Israeli-Egyptian peace and concluded that an early reconvening of the Geneva conference was unlikely. Furthermore, it seemed that both Egypt and Israel thought Syria and the Soviet Union could be ignored. Sadat's optimism rested on the assumption that he could get the necessary movement on the Palestinian issue to cover himself regarding the accusation of abandoning the larger Arab cause. While Vance advised Carter to support Sadat's intention of using direct negotiations, he was not hopeful about what this might engender.⁵¹ He dryly commented that Sadat 'is overly optimistic about the ease and speed with which his negotiations with the Israelis can proceed'.⁵²

The Israelis confirmed what Sadat had told the US administration. Begin noted that Sadat wanted 'agreement in principle on Palestinian problem before negotiating Israeli–Egypt issues'.⁵³ According to Begin, the ball was in Sadat's court, and Israel was waiting for his next move. Brzezinski concluded in the margin of the telegram: 'Geneva out'.⁵⁴ It was harder for Carter and Vance to reach that conclusion, however. They had worked for such a conference for so hard and so long that it was almost impossible to let it go.⁵⁵ As a result, they began grasping at straws.

Despite the drastic change which had occurred after Sadat's Jerusalem trip, Carter maintained that the overall process had to include Syria and the Palestinians. Yet another clear divide between Carter and Begin thus became apparent. Unlike the US administration, the Israeli government was intent on making a bilateral agreement *the* option. It would be a dream come true if Israel could make peace with Egypt without involving the Palestinian question and in this way eliminate the threat of a new war with both Syria and Egypt. Carter strongly disagreed with the Israeli position. While he supported the two tracks of continued Israeli–Egyptian dialogue, he stressed that a comprehensive approach was vital.⁵⁶ Again, we see an inherent contradiction here. The more Egypt and Israel negotiated separately, the less likely it was that the other Arab states and the Palestinians would join in.

This contradiction did not elude the US administration. The Americans knew something had to be done, but they had no clear plan about what to do. Vance asked Sadat to clarify how he proposed to tie the bilateral treaties into a comprehensive approach. How far did he envisage going with bilateral negotiations before the other Arab states should be involved? Vance stressed that it was important for Sadat to publicly support the goal of a comprehensive approach, through a Middle East peace conference, in which the Palestinians would participate.⁵⁷ But that was not going to happen. Vance was finally convinced that Sadat was seeking a bilateral peace with Israel, and that he was using the concept of a comprehensive peace to 'protect his flanks' from Arab criticism.⁵⁸ Carter admitted that steps needed to be taken to 'try to keep together what seems to be coming apart'.⁵⁹ Carter and Vance refused to give up on the comprehensive approach despite all indications that it was no longer possible. Arguably, they were more committed advocates of the larger Arab cause than Sadat was.

Vance was convinced that Sadat would realise that his optimism was unfounded and that he would soon approach the United States to pressure Israel. In the meantime, the US administration should hang back and simply encourage Israel to pursue peace, but 'keep under review how we can encourage the bilateral track while keeping alive the prospects for a comprehensive settlement'.⁶⁰ It was finally sinking in that the comprehensive approach was becoming impossible, and that the bilateral approach was gaining strong momentum.

Taking the talks to Cairo

Against US advice, Sadat invited all the parties to a preparatory conference in Cairo. Israel immediately accepted the invitation, and Carter sent Assistant Secretary Atherton as the US representative.⁶¹ The PLO was also invited, but Israel gambled on the likelihood that it

would decline the invitation. If the PLO had accepted the invitation, Israel would have been forced to either *de facto* recognise the PLO or withdraw from the conference and take the flak for torpedoing the peace process. Both of those scenarios would have been bad news for Israel.⁶² Predictably, the gamble paid off, as both the PLO and Syria declined the invitation.

For the PLO and Syria, the situation was one of 'damned if you do, damned if you don't'. They could not accept the Sadat initiative but, by not attending, they were in effect forcing Sadat to continue to follow the path of bilateralism. To counterbalance this bind, the Syrian regime tried to garner broad condemnation of the Sadat initiative.⁶³ In the UN General Assembly, where the PLO was an official observer, the PLO united with Syria to argue that Sadat had betrayed the Arab cause by recognising Israel, and implicitly recognising Jerusalem as its capital.⁶⁴ Both the Soviet Union and Jordan declared that they would only attend a Geneva conference if the PLO participated.⁶⁵ The fact that Jordan had suddenly become an active supporter of PLO participation was striking. All the cracks which had been visible in the comprehensive approach during the summer and fall of 1977 had become gaping fissures. All the work the Carter administration had put into moderating the Syrians, finding a formula for enabling Palestinian participation and getting support from the Soviet Union was falling apart as Sadat pushed forward and the Begin government fully invested in bilateral negotiations with Egypt.

Carter, too, was more openly supporting Sadat at this point. In a 30 November press conference, he praised Sadat's initiative for its positive impact on the peace process. What Carter presented as positive developments were the very same things which the other Arabs opposed: 'Two of Israel's most cherished desires have already been met. One is this face-to-face negotiation possibility, and the other one is a recognition by a major Arab leader that Israel has a right to exist.'⁶⁶

Oddly, though, Carter continued using the reference points of his comprehensive approach in his analysis of the Middle East situation. He referred to his original three points, stating that much progress had been made on the definition of peace, even though the Palestinian issue and the borders/security question remained undecided. He even continued to stick with the idea that the Soviet Union should be part of the process, despite the fact that the USSR declined the invitation to the Cairo conference. Carter even insisted that a separate peace was undesirable, as long as there was hope for a comprehensive peace process. He claimed that such hope still existed.⁶⁷

Consequences of a separate peace

Despite Carter's public optimism about salvaging a peace process which would include all the warring parties, he also had to prepare for a scenario in which Sadat negotiated a separate peace with Israel. Vance therefore asked the US embassies in the Middle East for input. The question was so sensitive that the embassies were strictly forbidden to mention it to anyone outside the missions. The premise of the study was that Sadat had four options. His first option was to negotiate a comprehensive peace with Israel, which he could then try to sell to Syria, Jordan and Lebanon. If they rejected the possibility, he could sign the Egyptian-Israeli portion of it. His second option was to negotiate a comprehensive peace but retain a fall-back position in the form of an Egyptian-Israeli peace 'plus a Gaza-West Bank-Jordan-Israel settlement of the Palestinian question'.⁶⁸ This option would exclude the PLO and Syria. Sadat's third option was to try for a comprehensive peace but be willing to accept a separate peace if Israel was unwilling to give anything outside the Sinai. His last option was to negotiate a separate peace while claiming to pursue a comprehensive peace. In short, the options ranged from full comprehensive to optical comprehensive.⁶⁹

Based on the feedback from the various regional embassies, the US study concluded that the best option for Sadat, and the US administration, was to continue to focus on the comprehensive approach, with special attention to finding a Palestinian settlement. According to the study's authors, Sadat should start by working for a comprehensive approach but gradually lower the bar and aim for a separate deal if that ambition were to fail. Sadat's greatest hope would be to get an Israeli agreement to withdraw from the West Bank. If he managed that, Sadat would have the comprehensive peace in his pocket, even if Syria and the PLO refused to participate.⁷⁰

The argument in favour of a separate treaty was that even such a limited arrangement would be better than none at all, and it would eliminate the threat of a war which could endanger Israel's existence. While a separate peace could induce the other Arabs to join the process at a later date, the same peace would give Israel few incentives to make further concessions. The report therefore concluded that the best situation for the United States was still a comprehensive peace, but that if Sadat was able to make a separate peace without causing a complete Arab-Egyptian schism, then it was better than the current deadlock. The United States should therefore be as willing to take that chance as Sadat.⁷¹

The first Arab attempt to formalise opposition against the Sadat initiative came in early December 1977 at a summit in Tripoli, Libya, which issued a declaration against Egypt. Despite its harsh tone, though, the substance of the declaration was weaker than expected. Rather than rejecting negotiations with Israel outright, as the staunchest rejectionists wanted, the declaration stated that negotiations would be acceptable as long as they aimed at 'the establishment of a just and honourable peace'.⁷² Such a peace would entail full Israeli withdrawal and recognition of the national rights of the Palestinian people.⁷³

Atherton and Saunders considered Syrian President Hafez al-Asad to be the conference's 'clear winner', as he was able to both condemn Sadat and maintain the option of a negotiated settlement. The Iraqi delegates had walked out of the conference in protest because Syria insisted that a negotiated solution was possible if it was based on UNSC Resolutions 242 and 338 and recognised Palestinian national rights. Compared to Iraq, then, Syria was moderate. Sadat did not accept this distinction, however, forcing the Arab states to either support his initiative or fully embrace the rejectionists.⁷⁴ This made both Syria and the PLO oppose Sadat even more, and they pulled Jordan with them.

The PLO, for their part, called for the formation of a 'Steadfastness and Confrontation Front', rejected UNSC Resolutions 242 and 338 and called for a political boycott of the Sadat regime.⁷⁵ As Sadat went on alone, the PLO was becoming more radicalised and rejectionist – essentially, that is, a spoiler movement. The rift between Sadat and Syria-the PLO meant that, while Sadat continued talking about a comprehensive peace and a Palestinian solution, he could not deliver one, unless Begin suddenly changed course and accepted some form of Palestinian self-determination. This was highly unlikely.

Sadat therefore again suggested that a solution to the Palestinian problem could be a five-year UN mandate, followed by a vote for selfdetermination, and that it was necessary for Israel to respond with a gesture to match his Jerusalem trip. Sadat wanted Israel to declare that it was willing to withdraw to the 1967 lines on all fronts, and that it was ready to 'resolve the Palestinian question in all its aspects'.⁷⁶ As Quandt phrased it, 'somewhere the magic words "withdrawal to the 1967 lines, with minor modifications" must appear'.⁷⁷

This was wishful thinking as there was absolutely no reason to expect that Israel could be made to issue such a statement. In fact, months before, Begin had rejected any such prospects outright. For example, in a 6 September interview, Begin had stated:

We do not accept the idea of a trusteeship regime [...] this proposed trusteeship regime is bound up with the establishment of a Palestinian entity, a homeland for the Palestinians, a national home for the Palestinians – whatever name you want to give it, they all lead to one result. An Arafatist state, a state which will endanger the very existence of the Jewish state.⁷⁸

Meanwhile, the direct talks between Egypt and Israel progressed, albeit slowly. On 2 December 1977, Dayan introduced Begin's peace plan to Tuhami in Morocco. Sadat rejected the proposal because it did not contain a link to Palestinian issues, and because Israel insisted that the Sinai settlements would remain.⁷⁹ Sadat was still trying to obtain all the goals of a comprehensive peace – full Israeli withdrawal on all fronts, Israeli security and Palestinian rights – but he was negotiating without the other involved parties, and Israel was not even prepared to make adequate concessions in the Sinai. It was evident that Sadat needed help. His euphoria after the Jerusalem trip had been completely unfounded. He was, in short, in dire need of US pressure on Begin.

Prior to the Cairo conference, Vance went on yet another Middle East tour to discuss the process with Sadat and Begin, as well as some of the other Arab leaders. His emphasis was still on a comprehensive approach, and the US support for the Cairo conference was based on the idea that it would help facilitate a Geneva conference at a later stage. Sadat was at this point furious with Asad and the PLO, and although he still argued for a comprehensive approach, the fissure between PLO–Syria and Egypt was becoming so large that this approach was clearly a pipe dream.⁸⁰ Vance's meetings in the Arab states confirmed as much.⁸¹

It should have been no surprise then that the Cairo conference produced nothing. Officially, the chief negotiators of Israel, Egypt and the United States all claimed that the aim was still a comprehensive peace.⁸² However, everything in the conference indicated the opposite including even the visual formalities. First, Egypt wanted to have name plates for all the invitees, including the PLO. When Israel insisted that the PLO nameplate should be replaced by one labelled 'The Arabs of Eretz Israel', Egypt decided to have no name plates at all. Then, Egypt insisted on flying the flags of all the invitees outside the conference hotel, but Israel refused to accept the Palestinian flag. Once again, Egypt caved in by flying only the flags of the actual participants. Visually, and in content, the Cairo conference was a bilateral one with the United States as the sole third party.⁸³

The Cairo conference was yet another diplomatic dead end (and there would be many more to follow in the months ahead). Even within the limited framework of a bilateral peace, it produced nothing, serving only to highlight the fact that Israel was pushing hard for the exclusion of the Palestinians, and that Egypt was willing to cave in on this question without much of a fight. Might Carter have any more success at compelling Begin?

Home rule for the Palestinians

Only days after the unsuccessful Cairo conference, Menachem Begin came to Washington. The US administration considered it to be of the utmost importance to impress upon Begin that the goal of the peace process was still comprehensive.⁸⁴ For there to be any semblance of a comprehensive peace, however, the Palestinians had to be included, in some form or another. The critical question was whether Begin could be coaxed into making any concession on that front. Begin was well aware that the Americans would pressure him on this and, to counter the pressure, Begin and his closest advisors developed a new concept for the Palestinian issue which the Israelis would push hard in the coming months, and which would gradually come to form the cornerstone of the Egyptian–Israeli negotiations.

On 16 December, Begin offered Carter a 'home rule' proposal for the Palestinians in 'Judea, Samaria, and Gaza'.⁸⁵ This proposal specified that Israel would retain responsibility for public order and security in the West Bank and Gaza, while a Palestinian Administrative Council would run the daily affairs of the Palestinian inhabitants. The central question of sovereignty was kept clear of this equation – Begin argued that sovereignty had to be excluded because both Arabs and Israelis insisted that they had legitimate claims upon it. Thus, if Israel insisted on including sovereignty, the Arabs would not accept the proposal, and if the Arabs insisted on including sovereignty, the Israelis would abandon the proposal.

The proposal was frankly mind-boggling. As long as it excluded sovereignty, there was no hope that the Palestinians would accept it. Since the Israelis would not withdraw from the territories, as well, it was unclear what was actually in it for the Palestinians. To exclude the question of sovereignty while continuing to occupy the land effectively meant that Israel had claimed sovereignty. Furthermore, while the Palestinians living in the area could have free elections, they would not be allowed to vote for any PLO affiliated parties.⁸⁶ 'Free' was therefore devoid of any actual meaning.

Puzzled by the proposal, the Americans pushed Begin on the question of who would make decisions in the West Bank and Gaza. The Israelis responded that the Palestinian Administrative Council's power would be derived from the Israeli military governor, and that this same governor could revoke the powers delegated by that office.⁸⁷ In other words, 'home rule' was a very limited form of autonomy under which Israel would retain full control over the external borders and the territory. The Palestinians would have individual but not national rights. The Carter team viewed the proposal as a useful starting point but insisted on more sovereignty for the Palestinians and clearer indications of withdrawal from the Israelis. As it would turn out, the Carter team could argue as hard as it liked, but Begin would only give in on words, not on substance.⁸⁸ This argument would persist for the remainder of Carter's presidency.

When Begin then returned home to discuss the proposal with the Israeli cabinet, he introduced amendments to counter the arguments from the Israeli critics who claimed that the original proposal could pave the way for a Palestinian state.⁸⁹ After closing all the loopholes in the proposal which could lead to Palestinian statehood, Begin took the stricter version to Sadat.

This version consisted of two documents. The first was titled the 'Proposal for a peace treaty between Egypt and Israel', and set out what a

separate peace treaty would look like. The second was the amended 'home rule' proposal, now titled 'Self-rule for Palestinian Arabs, residents of Judea, Samaria and the Gaza District'.⁹⁰ This pairing of a separate treaty between Israel and Egypt with a vague solution to the Palestinian issue would henceforth dominate the peace process.

The first document was brief. Its main points were that normal relations would be established between Egypt and Israel, and that Israel would withdraw from the Sinai in two phases. The second document proposed that the residents of 'Judea, Samaria and the Gaza District' could elect an Administrative Council which would sit for four years at a time. The Council would run departments covering civilian affairs, while security, foreign policy and public order would remain Israeli responsibilities.⁹¹ When Sadat pressed Begin for some formulation concerning Palestinian self-determination, Begin responded that "self-determination" is tantamount to recognizing the right to an independent state'.⁹² In a word: No.

The proposal was not reciprocal in its dealings with Israelis and Palestinians. With regard to the land question, for instance, Palestinian refugees could not acquire land in the areas in question, while both current and future Israelis from the Jewish diaspora could acquire land on the West Bank and in Gaza. Furthermore, although Palestinians could ask for Israeli citizenship, the question of whether Israel would grant such citizenship would depend on Israeli citizenship laws.⁹³ As Israeli Foreign Minister, Moshe Dayan, later noted in a discussion with President Carter, the proposal was made with the knowledge that hardly any Palestinians would request Israeli citizenship, adding, 'They can then *dream* of being Palestinians.'⁹⁴

The Sadat-Begin talks produced nothing apart from an understanding that further negotiations would follow two tracks. A military committee would negotiate in Cairo, and a political committee would negotiate in Jerusalem. Highlighting the lack of success, the statesmen could only manage to agree to issue a statement presenting their diverging views on the Palestinian issue:

The Egyptian and the Israeli delegations discussed the Palestinian problem. The Egyptian position is that in the West Bank and in the Gaza Strip a Palestinian State should be established. The Israeli position is that the Palestinian Arabs residing in Judea, Samaria and the Gaza district should enjoy self-rule, and the issue will be discussed in the political committee. $^{95}\,$

Sadat would later tell Carter that this meeting with Begin was his 'first experience of disillusionment'. 96

Despite the opposition from both Carter and Sadat, Begin presented his 'self-rule' proposal, and the main principles of an Egyptian–Israeli peace, to the Knesset for a vote of approval in which 64 members voted in favour, eight voted against and 40 abstained.⁹⁷ Begin had secured domestic support for his Palestinian solution, but neither the Palestinians nor the other Arab states would accept it. Tellingly, King Hussein, one of the most moderate Arab leaders, described Begin's proposal as 'shocking and distressing'.⁹⁸ Also, all the local Palestinians rejected the 'home rule' proposal. They consistently rejected any proposals which ignored the PLO.⁹⁹

The major question for Israel was not whether the Palestinians or the other Arab states would accept the proposal, but whether the United States would accept 'home rule' as an adequate Palestinian solution. While Carter was sceptical when Begin first presented the proposal on 16 December, he gradually warmed to the idea. In a 28 December 1977 interview, Carter stated that Begin had 'taken a long step forward in offering to President Sadat, and indirectly to the Palestinians, self-rule'. He went on to say that he did not prefer a solution in which the Palestinians gained an independent nation.¹⁰⁰

The PLO was furious, and declared that Carter's stance was 'an insult to the entire Arab nation'.¹⁰¹ The US–PLO attitudes had soured considerably in a very short time. Where, only three months before, they had been working on a formula for acceptable reservations on UNSC Resolution 242, they were now exchanging insults.¹⁰² For example, in a 15 December 1977 press conference, Carter had stated: 'The PLO have been completely negative. They have not been cooperative at all.'¹⁰³

The president started the new year by meeting King Hussein of Jordan. Carter informed him of the recent diplomatic developments, highlighting the facts that Sadat was willing to cede parts of the Sinai to Gaza, and that Begin's autonomy proposals included a withdrawal to certain military cantonments on the West Bank. Carter presented his view of the process as though nothing had changed: 'there are two crucial elements: [...] withdrawal with minor modifications, and [...] a

resolution of the Palestinian problem in all its aspects.'¹⁰⁴ King Hussein said he could participate in negotiations if they were based on these broad principles, but he was not convinced by Begin's autonomy proposal.¹⁰⁵

Although much of what Carter discussed with King Hussein was still in line with the increasingly defunct comprehensive approach, one aspect had definitely changed. Carter informed him that he would 'not make his acceptance dependent upon Syria'.¹⁰⁶ This was the sorry state of the comprehensive peace. Not only was Carter not interested in bringing the PLO on board any more, but Syria was also considered a less than necessary party to the process. This was a drastic move away from the principle of including all the confrontation states. The difficulties of Middle East diplomacy had taken their toll.

At this point, Sadat, too, admitted that his demand for Palestinian self-determination was a mere 'cover', telling the Americans, in absolute secrecy, that what he needed was a separate peace – with only enough linkage to the Palestinian issues to make his peace with Israel sellable to the other Arabs. In order for that plan to work, he could not accept an Israeli military presence in the initial phase of the peace process, but 'he secretly had no problems if the West Bank eventually went to Israel'.¹⁰⁷ If this statement were to be taken at face value, Sadat was being even more lenient on Israel than the United States. While Carter was watering down his comprehensive approach, Sadat was saying that the comprehensive aspects of the peace process as though Sadat had not admitted as much. The US reaction to Sadat's statement was very similar to its reaction when Sadat had previously suggested that he could negotiate separately with Israel: they ignored it.

The Aswan statement

On 4 January 1978, Carter made an unannounced stopover in Aswan, Egypt. In his public statements after meeting Sadat there, Carter stressed that the peace process should continue to be driven by the three points which had always been the baseline for the comprehensive approach: true peace with full normalisation; Israeli withdrawal from the occupied territories; and a resolution of the Palestine problem in all its aspects.¹⁰⁸ This statement made Arafat feel a 'glimmer of hope'.¹⁰⁹

Despite his public break with the United States after Sadat started his initiative, Arafat again tried to contact the US government. Republican Congressman Paul Findley, who was on the Middle East subcommittee, met with Arafat in Damascus. Arafat expressed disappointment in the direction the peace process had taken, and wanted to convey to Carter that he was willing to set up a Palestinian state in only the West Bank and Gaza. This gesture implied an acceptance of the existence of Israel.¹¹⁰ There is no indication, however, that the Carter administration picked up on this message as a positive move; on the contrary, Brzezinski wrote to Carter that 'our current posture of ignoring the PLO while concentrating on the Palestinian issue and encouraging moderate Palestinian voices to make themselves heard is the appropriate position for now'.¹¹¹ The problem with this approach was that the moderate Palestinians were at this point threatened by the rejectionists, and on this question Arafat belonged to the moderate camp. This threat from the extreme moderates was brutally exemplified when, on 4 January 1978, the PLO dove, Said Hammami, was murdered by the Abu Nidal faction in London because he had been putting out peace feelers to the Israeli left.¹¹² In such a political atmosphere, how could non-PLO Palestinians be expected to join the talks?

The US National Security Council presented Carter with a strategy through which it could pressure Israel, Egypt, Jordan and the Palestinians to accept the self-rule concept as a transition phase and acknowledge that Palestinian self-determination could be implemented upon completion of the peace treaties. This approach would enable Jordan to participate in the process going forward.¹¹³ Although the US administration still claimed to be working towards a comprehensive peace, this position was illusory. It had accepted that Syria, the Soviet Union and the PLO were out of the process.¹¹⁴

Indicative of the shift in US policy is a memorandum from Quandt to Brzezinski in which Quandt argued that, although the administration should still aim for the inclusion of Palestinian issues, it should prepare for a scenario in which this would become impossible and the only way forward would be an Egyptian–Israeli bilateral track which did not address the Palestinian question. Quandt opined that the only way to make the Palestinian issue part of the negotiations was to make the self-rule proposal transitional, and to get Israel to declare that it would withdraw from the West Bank and Gaza.¹¹⁵ Withdrawal, argued Quandt, was the key: 'I would rather see us argue hard for the principle of withdrawal, which has some tangible meaning, than for the vague notion of self-determination. Self-determination without withdrawal means nothing; the reverse is not the case.'¹¹⁶

To make this possible, something special had to happen first. Quandt suggested that the United States could manufacture a minor crisis by urging Sadat to make a public stance which was 'a bit tougher than his real position', after which the United States would 'intervene with an initiative to break the deadlock, which he would then accept'. This would put the onus on Israel, and Carter could 'consider his fireside chat to the American people'.¹¹⁷ The 'fireside chat' implied that Carter would publicly explain that Begin stood in the way of peace. This idea would surface several times. In the end, however, it was never utilised.

Sadat was, by this time, very disappointed in Begin. In a 15 January 1978 interview, he stated: 'Begin has offered nothing. It is I who offered him everything. I offered him security and legitimacy and got nothing in return.'¹¹⁸ Sadat was under increasing pressure from the other Arab leaders, and it seemed as though Begin strove to prove them right in their scepticism about Sadat's initiative. Sadat was therefore against going to the Political Committee talks with Israel in Jerusalem, and he only went on Carter's insistence.¹¹⁹ Carter had become the prime mover for a process that differed drastically from the one he had aimed for.

The preparatory talks between Begin and Vance represented an omen regarding how the talks in Jerusalem would go. Begin insisted that Carter had endorsed his proposals in Washington, while Vance maintained that Carter had called them a fair basis for negotiations. Vance also had to reiterate that the United States considered all settlements illegal, while Begin insisted on keeping even the Sinai settlements.¹²⁰

On 17 January 1978, Egyptian Foreign Minister Mohamed Ibrahim Kamel and Israeli Foreign Minister Moshe Dayan opened the Political Committee talks in Jerusalem. Secretary of State Cyrus Vance represented the United States. The Egyptian and Israeli leaders exchanged their respective drafts, and Vance then prepared a US draft based on common language from the two proposals. As before, the biggest gap between them was the Palestinian question. The Egyptian draft insisted on self-determination, whereas the Israeli draft pushed the self-rule proposal. Vance tried to bridge them with this formula: 'recognizes the legitimate rights of the Palestinian people and enables them to participate in the determination of their own future'.¹²¹ By recognising the Palestinians as a people with legitimate rights, Vance stood closer to the Egyptian than the Israeli position, however.

Vance's attempt was in vain, because the gap was simply too wide to be bridged. On 18 January 1978, the Political Committee was suspended when Sadat withdrew his negotiators.¹²² The last thing to come out of the discussions was a reworked US draft. Illustrative of the differences between the parties was the fact that the paragraph on the Palestinian question had to have an Israeli version and an Egyptian version. Egypt had conceded that it would refrain from using the terms 'national rights' and 'self-determination'.¹²³ In return, they got very little. The Israeli version did not refer to the Palestinians as a people, addressing only the 'Palestinian Arabs in Judea, Samaria and Gaza'.¹²⁴

If September and October 1977 had been difficult months for the Carter administration and its desire to create a comprehensive negotiation format, the events which commenced with Sadat's November speech were disastrous. Although Carter had appealed to Sadat to make a 'bold' move, the US administration was completely unprepared for Sadat's decision to go to Jerusalem.

The process that developed in the months following the 'ends of the earth' speech was comprehensive in name only. The other main Arab states and the Palestinians vehemently opposed Sadat's solo initiative, and all the attempts the United States had made to get Syria to moderate its stance, and to get the PLO to accept a UNSC Resolution 242 with modifications formula, went down the drain. After the Jerusalem trip, Syria and the PLO hardened their stances.

Sadat had overestimated the positive effect his grand gesture would have on Begin, and he gained very little in return for what had amounted to his *de facto* recognition of Israel. Sadat became isolated in the region, the United States lost control of the peace process, and Begin made very few, if any, real concessions. Oddly, the US administration, with the exception of Brzezinski, insisted that the process was still comprehensive. It was as though the Americans were stuck in a preconceived model, and adamantly against adapting to the new political reality, or to applying the amount of pressure needed to get the parties back on the original track.

110 Arab-Israeli Diplomacy under Carter

While refusing to make any real commitment on the Palestinian issue, Begin did realise that Sadat had to gain something on that front, however cosmetic. Begin's solution was to launch a two-treaty package. The first treaty was an Egyptian–Israeli bilateral peace, and the second was a self-rule proposal for the Palestinians. Initially, Begin found no buyers for this solution but, given how the negotiations would later develop, this two-treaty package would stick. This was the start of the exact process which the Carter administration had sought to avoid. Peace would move forward on one front, and the Palestinians would not be a participant in the process. Once again, the Palestinians would a subject *for* negotiations, not a partner *in* negotiations.

CHAPTER 6

THE TORTUROUS ROAD TO CAMP DAVID

President Anwar Sadat had gone to Jerusalem to break the psychological barrier and ensure the development of a swift peace process. His daring move got him very little, however, and his optimism would soon prove unfounded. Instead of obtaining a quick breakthrough, Sadat and President Jimmy Carter got a process which moved nowhere as they talked in circles with Prime Minister Menachem Begin, who refused to budge. The inter-Arab divide had become irreconcilable, as both Syria and the PLO rejected Sadat's initiative. The Carter administration was in dire need of something, anything, which could get the Middle East peace process moving again. Carter would not get it for free, though, and developments were headed in the wrong direction. This was amply demonstrated when the nationalreligious settlement movement Gush Emunim (Bloc of the Faithful) erected a new settlement in the occupied West Bank, with Begin's knowledge.¹ This was a direct provocation both against Sadat, who was on the verge of withdrawing from the talks, and against Carter who had worked hard to keep the process going.

Attempting to salvage the process, Carter invited Sadat to Washington.² As expected, Sadat was disillusioned by Begin's actions over the past week, and particularly by his stated intention to retain even the Sinai settlements. Regaining all of the Sinai was the most essential issue for Sadat, and he handed Carter a plan for the peninsula which included large Egyptian concessions such as demilitarised zones, UN forces, and a joint Egyptian–Israeli Military Committee to oversee the

territory. Unlike Begin, Sadat made a point of showing that he was dedicated to finding a diplomatic solution. To have any chance of getting US support against Begin, Sadat needed to be perceived as moderate, and as a partner in peace with Carter.³

Carter and his team emphasised that pressure was building against Begin because of his intransigence over the settlements, but that Carter's ability to maintain such pressure depended on Sadat's ability to appear willing to make peace. If Sadat withdrew from the talks, many Americans and Israelis might think that Sadat was not sincere, which would make it hard for Carter. If he were able to maintain pressure, Carter insisted, perhaps Begin could be made to accept the possibility that Palestinian self-rule could evolve into some form of selfdetermination over time.⁴ This might have sounded alluring on the surface, but Carter was unable to specify what such pressure would amount to, how it would be utilised or even how it would influence Begin (if at all). In other words, Sadat was asked to hold the line in return for a vague promise but no concrete returns. The coming months would be a gruelling series of talks without movement, proving exactly how vague Carter's mediation strategy had become.

After the Sadat meeting, Carter reiterated in public that the Israeli settlements were illegal, according to international law.⁵ The Israeli government was infuriated.⁶ There was no love lost between Carter and Begin, but more than strong statements would be needed to make Begin budge. To move things forward, then, the United States therefore returned to the idea of a 'manufactured crisis' – that Sadat should launch an Arab peace plan which Israel would then automatically reject, after which the United States could break the deadlock by presenting a compromise proposal.⁷ The idea was enticing. Not only would Carter finally present a compromise but also a US–Egyptian collusion would be on the table.

Sadat was still caught in a vice, however. The United States was only willing to pressure Israel if Sadat continued to negotiate, but, as long as these negotiations continued to bear no fruit, Sadat remained under massive pressure from the other Arab states to cancel the talks. Furthermore, while Sadat had been forthcoming for months, if not years, Begin had been stonewalling ever since he came to power. The US promise to pressure Israel was immaterial, then, and the idea that Sadat should not pull out of the talks until Begin had made their continuation pointless, was an open-ended offer, since it was not at all evident what Begin would have to do before Carter would blame him for making progress impossible.

Despite everything, Carter did not think that they had reached such a point. Rather than push for a confrontation with Begin, Carter sent Assistant Secretary Atherton to the region to work on a Declaration of Principles as a framework for peace.⁸ As before, the Carter administration hoped that introducing a new procedural document would be helpful. Their experience from the US-Soviet communiqué and their various working papers should have taught them otherwise, but it was a lesson not learned. Sadat was not optimistic. He was upset that Begin was not responsive to his Jerusalem initiative, that Begin wanted to retain parts of the Sinai, and that Begin refused to include the Palestinian issue in a Declaration of Principles. Furthermore, Sadat claimed that Begin's self-rule proposal was made so as to avoid the possibility of Israeli withdrawal from the Palestinian territories.⁹ While the US administration insisted that self-rule had to be a temporary solution at best, its position in February 1978 was directly derived from Begin's proposal from December 1977.¹⁰ It seemed that Begin had found a buyer for the concept after all.

Begin's proposal was so full of caveats that it was difficult to imagine how it could succeed, even as a limited Egyptian–Israeli peace. Begin's actions did not help either. In addition to the aforementioned settlements established by Gush Emunim, the 1978–79 Israeli budget included funding for 11 new settlements. Five of these were planned for the Sinai, three on the Golan and three on the West Bank.¹¹ The timing of the budget was a provocation to both Carter and Sadat. The good news was that parts of the Israeli government agreed with Carter.¹² The president took this as a positive sign, noting in the margins of the report: 'Let's hold firm.'¹³

The question of settlements was difficult, but in terms of keeping the process as comprehensive as possible, the Palestinian question was still the thorniest. Carter needed all the help he could get to moderate the Israelis. Two US senators, Jacob Javits (R) and Abraham Ribicoff (D), promised to try to sell the US stance on the West Bank–Gaza issue to Dayan if Carter were to make certain modifications to the US language. At first glance, these changes looked minor – simply the removal of two words. Upon closer examination, however, the changes had significant

political implications. The words 'legitimate' and 'people' would be removed from the phrase 'a solution of the Palestinian problem in all its aspects which recognizes the *legitimate* rights of the Palestinian *people*'.¹⁴ Accepting this change opened the door for Begin's self-rule model, which denied the Palestinian claim of being a people with legitimate national claims.

While such changes benefitted Israel, Begin continued to push for even less of a Palestinian connection. Dayan and Begin asked the United States about the minimum level of 'comprehensive settlement' required to obtain an Egyptian–Israeli peace. Vance responded that he thought Sadat would accept a Declaration of Principles which brought Jordan on board, with 'broad outlines for a West Bank/Gaza plan'.¹⁵

Very little remained of the comprehensive approach which Carter had set out to obtain, although he insisted that this was still his ambition. The contradiction between intent and political reality is apparent from the internal US papers. Formally, the goal of the peace process was still ambitious, but, in practice, the Soviet Union was out, the PLO was out, the Syrians were out and the format of the negotiations was bilateral. What made these contradictions astounding was that the US administration still argued that 'the Palestinians should be enabled to participate in the determination of their own future'.¹⁶ Who would represent them if the PLO was excluded and the unified Arab delegation was no longer an option? The Carter administration was unable to find a satisfying answer to that conundrum. The Americans were out of tune with their own ambition.

The United States also became less inclined to work for the Palestinians when the PLO pivoted back towards the Soviet Union. In March 1978, PLO leader Yassir Arafat visited Moscow. The Soviet Union reaffirmed support for Palestinian self-determination and the right to a state. The PLO and the Soviet Union also agreed that the separate Egypt–Israeli talks were 'gravely detrimental' to Palestinian interests.¹⁷ This was the cold war logic in action: when the PLO was estranged from Washington, it gravitated toward Moscow, which in turn made the United States more distrustful of the PLO.

US Assistant Secretary Atherton informed Dayan that Sadat believed that the PLO had 'taken itself out of the negotiations', but that Jordan still needed to be on board before Sadat could conclude a peace with Israel. However, if Jordan's King Hussein refused to come on board, even after Sadat had negotiated a reasonable Declaration of Principles, then Sadat could probably go it alone.¹⁸ Sadat confirmed this position.¹⁹ Once again, he was being far more conciliatory than the United States expected.

Israel did not answer in kind. When Vance met Dayan in February, the two got stuck debating one of the fundamentals of the conflict. They disagreed over the implication of UNSC Resolution 242. Vance insisted that the resolution applied on all fronts, whereas Dayan insisted that it did not demand withdrawal from the West Bank.²⁰ Dayan made the same point in a meeting with Carter.²¹ Vance and Carter should have been prepared for this argument, since Israel had pushed it since 1967. While they might have known that the argument over UNSC resolution would come up, it appears that they did not fully comprehend the ideological depth of Israel's stance – Begin considered the West Bank as belonging to Israel.

No matter how much Carter pushed, Begin would not accept the applicability of UNSC Resolution 242 on all fronts nor allow the West Bank to come under 'foreign rule'.²² He demanded that the political committee negotiations be reopened and threatened to withdraw from any military committee negotiations unless this was done. The Israelis pushed hard for a bilateral peace and even blamed Carter for hardening Sadat's position by insisting on a comprehensive peace. Sadat, for his part, refused to reopen the political committee until a Declaration of Principles was agreed upon.²³ The fact that even Egypt and Israel were this far apart, showed how unrealistic the comprehensive approach had become. The diplomatic correspondence between Begin and Sadat from this period is revealing. Instead of negotiating over the future, the two leaders squabbled over what happened in the 1967 war.²⁴ The parties were talking in circles, mired in procedural questions and debating the past.

Missing an opportunity to pressure Begin

While Sadat was willing to go far in negotiating separately with Israel, he needed some form of Palestinian solution to legitimise his peace with Israel in the Arab world. Sadat therefore presented a proposal to the United States in which he insisted on withdrawal to the 1967 lines, Palestinian self-determination and the right of return for the Palestinian 116

refugees, and suggested a Palestinian state linked to Jordan.²⁵ It was indeed hard to understand Sadat. One moment the Palestinian issue was a 'cover'; the next he made complete demands on the Palestinians' behalf. The Egyptian stance was miles away from what Begin was pushing for or anything he could even contemplate accepting. There was absolutely no progress to speak of. As Carter dryly noted: 'Atherton has been in the Middle East for weeks. We have now come down to the two basic questions of the Palestinians and withdrawal.'²⁶ But these had been the major questions all along.

The distance between the parties was confirmed by King Hussein of Jordan, whom both Egypt and Israel claimed they wanted on board.²⁷ King Hussein would only join talks if Israel was willing to fully withdraw from the West Bank and grant Palestinian self-determination.²⁸ This was extremely unlikely and left the US administration with the choice of either giving up on King Hussein, and thus the last semblance of comprehensiveness, or pushing Israel to make substantial concessions.

Vance made a half-hearted attempt at the latter. When he met Israeli Minister of Defense Ezer Weizman on 9 March 1978, he insisted that UNSC Resolution 242 applied on all fronts. Weizman tried to dodge the bullet by focusing on a separate Egyptian–Israeli peace, and by claiming that if the United States pushed Begin on UNSC Resolution 242, Begin would reject talks altogether. Vance stood his ground, however, informing Weizman that 'all Israel had to do was agree that Resolution 242 also applied to the West Bank, and that it was prepared to discuss final borders in negotiations'.²⁹ Vance could stand his ground against Weizman all he liked, of course, but Begin did not give in to verbal pressure. As long as the US administration was unwilling to put any weight behind those words, he could remain firm.

Begin had to be confronted directly, and he was coming to Washington in any case. In preparation for this visit, Carter sent a personal letter to Sadat to assure him that the United States stood by its strategy, as previously agreed. It would insist that UNSC Resolution 242 applied on all fronts, and that a peace had to include a just Palestinian solution with Palestinian participation.³⁰ If ever there was a chance of pressuring Begin, this was it. But it was not to be.

One problem was that Carter sent mixed signals. First, Carter made an implicit threat to blame Begin if talks collapsed.³¹ Then, in a meeting with Weizman, Carter told him that he believed that an Egyptian–Israeli bilateral agreement was possible, and that an Israeli military presence on the West Bank could continue 'whatever solution may be reached'.³² Carter thus disarmed his own threat to blame Begin by granting Israel exactly what it wanted – support for a bilateral peace, and an acceptance of no withdrawal from the West Bank.

Dealing with the parties included in the peace process – Egypt, Israel and perhaps Jordan – was difficult enough, but they did not have a monopoly on impacting the conflict. One major problem with the bilateral approach was that the excluded parties gained an interest in sabotaging the talks. As tensions rose on the Israeli–Lebanese border, the PLO was poised to reimpose itself on the conflict. On 11 March 1978, a Fatah raiding party arrived in Israel by boat from Lebanon, hijacked two Israeli busses, and in the ensuing drama killed 37 Israelis and wounded dozens, before being killed themselves.³³ Khaled Fahoum, the chairman of the Palestinian National Council, argued that the attack was conducted to show that 'the PLO was not a spent force and that Begin's obduracy was not acceptable'.³⁴

Israel reacted with expedient force. The Israeli army (IDF) invaded South Lebanon with 25,000–30,000 troops, while Israeli planes and warships bombed PLO bases and supply routes. The Israeli goal was to destroy the PLO presence in southern Lebanon and create a ten-kilometres-wide 'security belt' along the border. The attack had profound human consequences. Casualty figures vary greatly, but as many as 2,000 civilians may have been killed, as well as several dozen PLO fighters and two dozen Israeli soldiers. Several hundred thousand Lebanese civilians fled north.³⁵ On 19 March 1978, four days after the invasion, the UN Security Council passed a resolution demanding Israeli withdrawal. The United States took the unusual step of voting in favour – that is, against Israel.³⁶ Despite US and UN pressure, though, the IDF stayed in Lebanon for three months.³⁷

The Israeli invasion of South Lebanon certainly did not stir up any support for Sadat's negotiations with Israel in the Arab world. The PLO attack took place amidst a peace process which had side-lined the PLO, and was intended to derail that process. This PLO move was made to reassert the relevance of the organisation – to prove, in short, that there could be no peace without it. If the attack did prove the organisation's relevance, it also pushed the PLO further out of the process as a political

actor. By supporting the UNSC resolution condemning the Israeli incursion into Lebanon, the United States was able to keep the bilateral peace process on track. However, since the talks still did not include the Palestinians, they did not address the issue which had made the PLO resort to such an attack.

Despite the massive death toll and the rising Arab anger at Sadat, the conflict in Lebanon was a highly dramatic sideshow to the Israeli– Egyptian negotiations. Most importantly, Menachem Begin was still set for his Washington visit. If there was to be any hope for the peace process, some movement had to be made with Begin. William Quandt of the National Security Council wrote a lengthy and detailed brief to Brzezinski on possible trajectories for the negotiations. This brief provides valuable insights into the shifting trajectory of the peace process.

He argued that, while the Egyptian army might find a bilateral peace with Israel acceptable, Sadat needed a full Sinai withdrawal and some sellable progress on the Palestinian issue. Such progress had to be substantial enough that the other Arabs states could not dismiss it as a charade. The Palestinian formula would probably not have to explicitly support self-determination, and Sadat might even settle for a commitment to the effect that the Palestinians would negotiate the rest for themselves. If Quandt's analysis was correct, a bilateral peace was in sight if Begin could concede the entire Sinai and come up with an acceptable formula for the Palestinians. Those were big ifs, but prospects were much better than if the Americans continued to aim for a broader more ambitious peace.³⁸ That ambition, then, was finally taken off the table.

What Sadat could accept was one thing; how the other regional actors would react was quite another. As the Fatah attack on Israel, and the ensuing Israeli invasion of Lebanon, had illustrated, such reactions could have dire implications. Quandt predicted that PLO 'member groups' would react violently to a separate Egyptian–Israeli peace. The 'PLO mainstream' wanted a Palestinian state on the West Bank and would probably accept a trusteeship solution with a limited timeframe and a link with Jordan. However, Arafat would be incapable of convincing the radical PLO members of such a course, meaning that the PLO moderate–radical split would deepen.³⁹

Everything pointed in one direction. All the parties save for Israel wanted a comprehensive peace, whereas Sadat was trapped by his own

initiative. Since Sadat was desperate to succeed, he was willing to budge on a large variety of questions. It was a weakness Begin would exploit again and again.

Begin and Carter clash

On 21 March 1978, Begin and Davan met with Carter and his foreign policy team in the White House. Carter presented the Arab compromise positions, and added that the PLO had side-lined itself from the talks. Still, the meeting rapidly became heated. Begin's position was that any formulations referring to Palestinian statehood and self-determination were unacceptable. Israel would only allow an interpretation of UNSC Resolution 242 which understood that there would be no withdrawal from the West Bank. Carter asked Begin to show more flexibility, and tried to bridge the gap with the vague formulation that negotiations 'call for the fulfillment of the principles of Resolution 242'.⁴⁰ As we will see, the verbatim records of this meeting include discussions which were uncomfortable for both parties. However, since the result was that Carter asked Begin to merely base the talks on UNSC Resolution 242, rather than actively demand Israeli withdrawal on all fronts, Begin's stonewalling got him what he wanted.

The Israelis knew that the question of self-rule was the key to success. If Carter and Sadat could accept self-rule on the Palestinian front, then a bilateral peace with Egypt was in sight. But self-rule was no easy sell, and its contradictions were clear; as Davan explained, 'Israeli forces will stay there [West Bank] to defend Israel, but not to rule the Palestinians. This is equivalent to withdrawal, not in a territorial sense, but in substance.⁷⁴¹ It was a far cry from the self-determination demanded by the Arab states and the Palestinians. While the US representatives could accept aspects of the self-rule model, they insisted that it had to go hand in hand with Israeli withdrawal, so that it would not be a perpetuation of the occupation, but rather a step towards removing it. For this reason, Brzezinski and Carter pressed hard on agreeing on a timeframe. For them, it was essential that self-rule would be a temporary solution with a concrete goal. Begin would not yield. He wanted the concept to be openended – after five years, they would see what happened. Carter could not accept this position, because it would give Israel a veto after those five

years. If that were the case, the Palestinians could not decide their own fate, and the possibility of an agreement would be nullified.⁴²

Carter was clearly tired of the Israeli intransigence at this point: 'You get more and more demanding and you are closing the door [...] the obstacle to peace, to a peace treaty with Egypt, is Israel's determination to keep political control over the West Bank and Gaza, not just now, but to perpetuate it even after five years.'⁴³ Carter reprimanded Begin for his response to Sadat's compromises and informed him that Sadat was willing to sign a peace without Jordan, provided that peace included a full Sinai withdrawal, and an agreement on a 'statement of principles'.⁴⁴

The paradox here is that, even at the most heated moment between Carter and Begin, Carter gave Begin exactly what he wanted. Carter had finally dropped the comprehensive approach, accepted that even Jordan was out of the process, and admitted that, beyond a Sinai withdrawal, only a non-substantial statement of principles was needed. This was an almost perfect scenario for Israel. The only substantial sacrifice Israel would have to make was in the Sinai.

The next day the delegations met for a follow-up meeting. Carter was pessimistic and drained of energy after the preceding day's encounter. He opened the meeting by stating, 'I am now discouraged about the prospects for further progress. [...] I still believe that a comprehensive settlement is preferable, but the first agreement will have to be between Israel and Egypt, and then with Jordan, and then with the others.⁴⁵ This was the first clear-cut declaration that Carter saw no hope for the comprehensive approach under the existing circumstances. One wonders why he realised it so late. Perhaps he had hoped that it would be possible to convince Begin to take the necessary steps to at least bring Jordan on board. After the first meeting with Begin in Washington, all such hope had faded.

Carter outlined his understanding of the Israeli position:

even if there were a clear statement by us, and if it were accepted by Egypt, against total withdrawal in the West Bank and against a Palestinian state, Israel would not stop new settlements, or the expansion of settlements in Sinai; Israel would not permit an Egyptian or UN protection over the Israeli settlements in Sinai; even with military outposts, Israel would not withdraw political authority from the West Bank and Gaza; Israel will not recognize that Resolution 242 applies on all fronts, including the principle of withdrawal; Israel will not give the Palestinian Arabs, at the end of the interim period, the right to choose whether they want to be affiliated with Israel, with Jordan, or to live under the interim arrangement.⁴⁶

Begin tried to ward off the criticism, arguing that Carter saw only the negatives. However, even his positive rephrasing revealed that Carter had it just right. For example, Begin stated that there would be no settlement moratorium during the negotiations.⁴⁷ Carter continued:

To refuse to acknowledge the possibility that the withdrawal principle of Resolution 242 applies to the West Bank is an insurmountable problem. [...] All Sadat wants is for Israel to work to resolve the Palestinian question, and to give the Palestinian Arabs a voice in determining their own future. [...] We reach a stone wall [...] I don't know where to go.⁴⁸

This was a rather different tone from the softer approach Carter had offered given Begin in July 1977. This time, Carter was not a 'cream puff'.⁴⁹ The question was whether Carter was willing and able to apply any real and substantial pressure on Begin, or whether things would end with this verbal confrontation, then revert to business as usual. Either way, Begin had effectively gotten what he wanted from Carter.

Returning to Israel, Begin met opposition from within his own government over his 'excessively hard line', and there was a broad Israeli view that Begin's trip to the United States had been a failure.⁵⁰ The Israeli public was also against Begin's approach. In a March 1978 Israeli poll, 69.8 per cent of Israelis preferred peace over the historic right to all of Palestine; 60.9 per cent thought that the Begin settlement policy had damaged Israeli global standing; and 59.8 per cent supported a settlement moratorium during negotiations with Egypt.⁵¹

This mounting criticism against Begin in Israel could have provided Carter with an opportunity to make a real push against Begin, such as threatening to withhold US funds to Israel. While there was absolutely no guarantee that such pressure would work, the fact that Carter did not try sent the message that harsh words from the US president would not lead to actual pressure from the US government. Once again, Begin found that he could push hard against Carter without being punished. Having failed to exert any leverage on Begin, Carter instead appealed to Sadat to reassure Israel that he supported their security needs.⁵² Carter hoped Sadat could help him address Begin's concerns. It was easier to lean on the weak party than on the strong.

Sadat by this time, had 'virtually given up hope that Begin will show the imagination and flexibility needed for peace talks to move forward'.⁵³ This was not very far from the view held in the White House. On 16 April, the Israeli cabinet issued a statement that UNSC Resolution '242 can serve as a basis for negotiations between Israel and all neighbouring countries – including Jordan'.⁵⁴ Since the statement did not specify the principle of withdrawal on all fronts, Carter's comment in the margins of the report was 'no change'.⁵⁵ Vance duly informed Carter: 'I will tell him [Dayan] that it is our judgement that Israel cannot get a resumption of serious negotiations with Egypt unless it is prepared to make more than cosmetic or semantic changes in its position.'⁵⁶ Carter agreed: 'Be firm – Don't gloss over differences.'⁵⁷

On 26–27 April 1978, Cyrus Vance again met with Moshe Dayan. While Dayan agreed that progress on the West Bank and Gaza was crucial to progress in the negotiations with Egypt, he would not give in to Vance's demand for a clarification regarding what would happen after the five-year transition period. He also insisted on preserving the right of Israelis to settle on the West Bank.⁵⁸ It was clear that the Begin government would not concede. Naturally, Carter's frustration with the Israelis did not diminish. He noted: 'This is probably a waste of time. Be sure to let public know how bad it is.'⁵⁹ By the sound of it, it was time for the 'fireside chat'.

Less than a week later, however, Carter gave an interview in which he stated that a solution for the West Bank would not be based on full Israeli withdrawal, that he did not support an independent Palestinian state and that the West Bank solution would be 'based substantially upon the home rule proposal'.⁶⁰ Carter was backtracking from his own position, and the PLO was infuriated.⁶¹ The organisation had lost all faith in the Carter administration.

The Egyptians, too, were worried that Carter supported the Begin plan.⁶² To dispel this fear, Sadat started to insist that Begin had to support the principle of withdrawal to the 1967 lines on all fronts, with negotiated minor modifications on the West Bank only.⁶³ This was not

going to happen, of course; they were talking in circles. The United States was faced with a choice between either confronting Israel directly, or finally offer a US proposal to bridge the Israeli–Egyptian gap.

The process slowed, almost to a halt. In Quandt's account of this particular period, the frustration within the administration was extremely high. The Americans lacked a basic strategy, and they had weakened their position to accommodate Begin's refusal to 'move an inch'.⁶⁴ All the United States did was ask for proposals, see whether the other party could accept them, (usually) get a negative answer, then repeat the exercise. In retrospect, Quandt described the US approach as '[n]egotiations by questionnaire'.⁶⁵ It was getting the Americans nowhere, yet still it continued, further draining the administration of energy.

Carter's face-off with the Israel lobby

During this tense period, Carter picked a fight with the pro-Israeli politicians in Congress. During the first two weeks of May, he pushed through an armaments package whereby the United States would sell fighter jets to Israel, Saudi Arabia and Egypt. While the pro-Israeli lobbyists wanted the United States to sell only to Israel, the Carter administration insisted on a package deal. The United States would sell to all three countries, or to none at all. Despite tough opposition, Carter won the congressional vote, 54 to 44. Israel was allowed to buy 15 F-15s and 75 F-16s; Saudi Arabia would purchase 60 F-15s; and Egypt would buy 50 F-5Es.⁶⁶ The fact that this was controversial demonstrates Israel's standing in the United States. At this point, the Israeli army was stronger than at any previous time, and the package deal further enhanced Israel's relative regional power since the Egyptian planes primarily had defensive capabilities.⁶⁷

Although Carter won this battle in the US Senate, it cost him political capital. The pro-Israeli lobbyists, and AIPAC in particular, came out of it all better organised and even less willing to budge in any new confrontation.⁶⁸ The arms package had been unpopular within the administration as well, and Carter's liaison to the US Jewish community even resigned in protest against it.⁶⁹ If pressuring Begin into making concessions in the peace process was the goal of the Carter administration, then Carter made the wrong move in picking this

particular fight with Israel's supporters in the United States.⁷⁰ Carter had cashed in, and arguably wasted, the political capital he had gained through the domestic support Sadat had built in the United States over the past half year.

Meanwhile, the tension between the US administration and the Israeli government only increased, particularly when Dayan, in a 25 May Knesset debate, misrepresented the US view and blamed Sadat for the stagnant peace process. Not only was this embarrassing to the United States, but it placed Sadat under even more pressure from the Arab states.⁷¹ Sadat told the Americans that he would not speak with the Israelis unless the US government was present as a witness, because they were 'liars'.⁷² Sadat's optimism from his Jerusalem trip was long gone. Direct negotiations were not helpful, and having the United States as a witness was obviously not enough.

In order to keep the process going, however, Sadat offered further concessions – Israeli stonewalling had paid off, whereas Sadat's commitment to peace had cost him. Sadat declared that he supported a linkage between the West Bank/Gaza and Jordan, rather than an independent Palestinian state. Furthermore, he would even accept an Israeli military presence on the West Bank during a transition period, as well as the fact that Israeli security demands would come before withdrawal.⁷³ These were considerable Egyptian concessions, but the United States still asked Egypt to provide Israel with further assurances.⁷⁴

Nothing new came from Israel until 18 June 1978, when Begin finally gained cabinet support for his West Bank and Gaza stance. The new Israeli formula was that, after five years of self-rule, 'the nature of the future relations between the parties will be considered and agreed upon at the suggestion of any of the parties'.⁷⁵ This was far from what the United States wanted. There was

no mention of resolving the final status of the West Bank/Gaza [...] no reference to a final agreement being based on the principles of [UNSC resolution] 242 [...] 'self-rule' proposal comes into force with the establishment of peace, rather than being a transitional stage leading to a final peace treaty.⁷⁶

Carter's handwritten comment was damning: 'It means nothing. The Israelis have abandoned any commitment to UN[SC Resolution] 242.⁷⁷

124

Although Sadat was disappointed, and his patience was running thin, his official reaction was mild. He reiterated his demands for Israeli withdrawal to the 1967 lines and a solution to the Palestinian issue. Seeing that Begin would not go far enough by himself, both the Egyptian and the Jordanian leadership called for a US proposal to push the peace process forward.⁷⁸

What was clear from this period in the talks was that the West Bank and Gaza were important issues and stumbling blocks, but that they were being discussed primarily between Israel and Egypt, secondarily with Jordan, and only lastly with (non-PLO) Palestinian representatives. While the Carter administration was talking more *about* Palestinian issues than prior US administrations, it was still talking *past* the Palestinians, as had its predecessors. The PLO maintained that 'neither Sadat nor anyone else is entitled to speak for the Palestinian Arab people or to negotiate away any part of Palestine.'⁷⁹

London talks

Given the absolute diplomatic standstill, the US administration decided that it was time to add much-needed momentum to the Israeli–Egyptian peace process. The idea was to start with trilateral United States–Israel–Egypt foreign minister-level talks in London on 18–19 July.⁸⁰ Here, the parties would discuss the Israeli West Bank/Gaza proposal, hoping to later expand their talks in a more comprehensive direction.⁸¹ Oddly, despite Carter's outburst in the Begin meeting in March, and despite all practical indications to the contrary, Carter was once again talking about a comprehensive peace. Unless something drastic happened, however, that phrase was by this point devoid of meaning.

With regard to how fed up Carter was with Begin, it was illustrative that the London meeting was more closely coordinated with Egypt than with Israel. Carter based the talks on the Egyptian counterproposal to the West Bank/Gaza solution, rather than on the Israeli paper itself.⁸² Still, this US–Egyptian coordination was not as lockstep as Sadat had hoped. Carter did not agree to Sadat's suggestion that the two presidents should meet shortly before Carter announced the London meetings, since this would give the impression that Carter had a pro-Sadat bias.⁸³ The Egyptian counter-proposal for the West Bank and Gaza called for a just solution to the Palestinian question which would guarantee 'the legitimate rights of the Palestinian people', with a transitional period of at most five years, after which the Palestinians could 'determine their own future'.⁸⁴ Begin had rejected the proposal completely, describing it as an existential threat to Israel.⁸⁵

The negotiations were therefore approaching a breaking point, and the London talks were viewed as a 'crucial moment'. The United States could either invest all its resources to break the deadlock or develop a damage-limitation approach by accepting the *status quo*. Brzezinski supported the all-in option, but the administration was divided.⁸⁶ In the end, the Americans settled upon something between the two options.

As it had with the fruitless Atherton mission in February 1978, the administration aimed for a Declaration of Principles (DoP) from the London talks. To this end, the US foreign policy team formulated various drafts, as well as a set of guidelines for the West Bank and Gaza negotiations.⁸⁷ Key differences between the drafts included how explicit they were in terms of further process, what would happen during the five-year transition period, and what the goals would be on issues such as the Palestinian refugee question. Vance preferred the most explicit version, but the Carter team concluded that the least detailed draft was the most likely to go through. The Palestinians were pegged to participate in the West Bank and Gaza negotiations, but it was not clear who these Palestinians would be. They would certainly not be the PLO. Furthermore, the United States had already accepted the Israeli argument that, on the West Bank, sovereignty would be a non-issue during the five-year transitional period.⁸⁸

It was taken for granted that the Begin government would resist the US proposals.⁸⁹ Despite this general pessimism, it is also clear that the US team underestimated the ideological value the Likud Government placed on the West Bank.⁹⁰ Had the Americans realised the depth of Begin's ideological commitment to 'Judea and Samaria', they would probably have been even more pessimistic than they were. Begin, after all, considered all of *Eretz Israel* to be eternally Jewish and something which could not be handed over to anybody else. The furthest he was willing to go was to temporarily abstain from claiming sovereignty.⁹¹

On 17 July, Vance met with each of the delegations separately. Dayan rehashed the Israelis' self-rule proposal and rejected the notion that Israel would agree to any commitment concerning what would happen after a five-year transitional period. He insisted that 'there was no way to convince the Begin Government to make a pre-commitment to withdrawal'.⁹² In his meeting with Egyptian Foreign Minister Mohamed Ibrahim Kamel, Vance pointed out that the sticking point was the question of what would happen after five years, while the parties were actually rather close regarding what status the West Bank/Gaza should have during the transitional period. Kamel was far less optimistic than Vance, however. He doubted that there was any chance of success until Israel accepted that there would be actual withdrawal from the West Bank.⁹³ The London talks, then, seemed doomed from the outset.

As expected, when the talks got underway, Israel flatly rejected the Egyptian proposal, which referred to 'Arab sovereignty' in the West Bank and Gaza.⁹⁴ The talks therefore reverted to discussing the Israeli self-rule proposal, which was not productive. The same old disagreements dominated the talks. Israel rejected discussions of sovereignty, while Egypt demanded that the Palestinians' claim to the land had to be explicitly recognised.⁹⁵ Dayan added that Israelis had to retain the right to settle on and buy land in all of the West Bank even after the five-year transitional period, and that there could be no Palestinian state – even one federated with Jordan. Dayan clearly had not come to London to compromise. Egyptian Under Secretary Osama al-Baz did not mince words: 'No Palestinian yet has accepted the idea of self-rule. It is seen as a sham, a hoax. This view is shared by all Arabs.'⁹⁶ Kamel was even harsher. He likened negotiating with Begin to negotiating with Hitler.⁹⁷

The Israelis and the Egyptians were so far apart that it was futile for them to negotiate face-to-face. After the United States–Israel–Egypt trilateral meeting on 18 July, all further talks in London were either between Egypt and the United States, or between Israel and the United States.⁹⁸ This was a stark anticipation of the dynamic which would emerge at Camp David some months later. Even a separate Egyptian– Israeli peace, with a partial and temporary solution on the West Bank/ Gaza had become almost impossible. Since coming to power, Carter had downgraded his ambitions massively, but unless something drastic happened, even that revised goal would be untenable.

Unsurprisingly, the London talks produced nothing. They were a huge disappointment for Sadat in particular. He had expected a US proposal; instead, the only conclusion which was reached in London was that further talks were needed.⁹⁹ Sadat's patience was running thin and

he launched a vociferous attack on Begin, stating that he was the only obstruction to peace and that he was driven by 'greedy ambition' for territory.¹⁰⁰ In a personal letter to Carter, Sadat explained that he saw no reason to continue talks while the Israelis refused to commit themselves to the idea that 'peace is worth giving up ambitions of annexation and expansion.'¹⁰¹ In a meeting with Atherton, he summed up his view of the London talks: 'They [the Israelis] are always [...] putting what we offer in their pocket and then asking for more.'¹⁰² This had been a very successful Israeli strategy, of course, and nothing indicated that this Israeli approach would change.

The invitation to Camp David

The London talks, like the Atherton mission, were without result. The next attempt for a diplomatic breakthrough was to take place in the Sinai. President Carter was pessimistic, and prepared for a likely collapse of the negotiations. The US State Department therefore drafted a plan for what the United States would do if the Sinai talks also ended in a deadlock. The working assumption was that Egypt would accept the US compromise position, while Israel would refuse. If this occurred, the United States could either accept the no-peace status quo, at the cost of the US global reputation, or pressure Israel into making concessions at potentially high domestic costs. According to this 'stalemate' paper, pressuring Israel was the only option aligned with US interests. Such pressure would have both an international and a domestic aspect. Internationally, the United States would have to appeal to countries to which Israel listened, garner Arab (and other) support for Sadat and appeal to international institutions. Domestically, Carter would have to build support for pressuring Israel in the US Senate and House of Representatives and appeal directly to the US public via a major television address, clarifying the US stance on the importance of peace and on the principles upon which that peace should be based. Other details in this long 'stalemate' paper included getting Jordan to accept the US proposal and possibly renewing the offer of direct talks to the PLO, if it were to accept UNSC Resolution 242.¹⁰³

Israel was lucky, because the US State Department's central presumption of Egyptian acceptance and Israeli rejection turned out to be wrong. Sadat beat Begin to the finish line and refused to participate

128

in the Sinai talks. He was tired of facing Begin's stonewalling and upset that the United States was unable to get Israel to make concessions. The US embassy in Cairo summed up Sadat's view of the US stance:

a quiet but steady erosion of our [US] previously enunciated positions, e.g. our failure to reiterate either President Carter's earlier statement that border rectifications should be minor or our view on the illegality of the Israeli settlements. Added to this is the growing Egyptian suspicion that our suggestions, when finally presented, will in effect ask them to compromise on a compromise, largely at their expense.¹⁰⁴

Sadat's timing was terrible. Had he waited out the Sinai talks, there was a real possibility that Carter would have taken some of the steps suggested by the State Department in the stalemate paper. Once Sadat pulled out of the talks, however, those steps were no longer considered an option.

Rather than give up, Carter opted for a last grand attempt. He invited Begin and Sadat to Camp David for a trilateral conference. Here the three heads of state would negotiate directly in a secluded environment, away from domestic constraints and the watchful eyes of the media. It was a shot in the dark, but given the state of affairs, Carter thought it was worth a try.¹⁰⁵

The year 1978 had been an excruciatingly slow one for US Middle East negotiations. A huge amount of energy was poured into a process which can best be described as moving from deadlock to deadlock. The only good news, from a US perspective, was that the Americans were back in the peace process, after Sadat's surprising Jerusalem trip had failed to garner him the peace process he desired. Being back in the game was a mixed blessing for President Carter, who was promptly forced into a reactive mode through which he gradually accepted the Israeli position, despite his opposition to Menachem Begin.

While this period contained ample opportunities for Carter to pressure Begin, he never did so. Though the team surrounding Carter developed several scenarios for applying pressure on Israel, Carter never decided that the situation was deadlocked enough to trigger such steps. The precise amount of deadlock Carter felt was necessary in the situation is difficult to ascertain, and Carter clearly missed several opportunities. For instance, when Begin came to Washington in March, Carter could have used the prime minister's obduracy to his advantage by calling the talks off and blaming Begin; instead, Carter blew a fuse and declared that the comprehensive peace was dead. Rather than pressure Begin, this response actually placated him. Carter then wasted the domestic political capital he had built up in the United States against Begin and for Sadat when he pushed his arms package through Congress. While he won that battle, Israel's supporters were far less willing to lose again after that. The last example was Sadat's fault. Though Sadat did not know it, his decision to call off talks after London let Begin off the hook. Unable to pressure Begin any further, Carter had the choice of either giving up on the peace process or making Sadat concede, at the expense of the Palestinians. The lesson of these events was that Begin's stonewalling had paid off.

Despite having the closest relationship with Carter, Sadat bore the brunt of the US pressure. The tone was far friendlier between Carter and Sadat than it was between Carter and Begin, but Sadat had to bend, and then bend again, to please the Israelis. Whereas Begin could afford to stand firm, Sadat had invested everything in the peace process, and it would cost him enormously to give up. Knowing this, the Americans kept asking Sadat for more whenever they got stuck with Begin. Sadat increasingly gave the Israelis assurances, gradually made the talks more and more bilateral, and increasingly gave up on asking for anything substantial for the Palestinians. Sadat's desperation for peace made his position more malleable.

As for the Palestinians, these tense months in 1978 spelled the end of their role in Carter's peace-making. The Palestinians had been a cornerstone of Carter's comprehensive peace, but they had been squeezed out. Whereas in Carter's first year in office, the Palestinians were talked to, via indirect channels, they had become merely a *theme* in the talks by 1978. The Palestinian reaction was predictable. The moderates within the organisation found themeselves under massive pressure from the radicals within the movement itself, and from other Arab states – and Syria in particular – to reject the ongoing diplomatic process. The process of moderation in the Palestinian national movement since the early 1970s had been contentious within

130
the PLO, and the developments in the peace process seemed to prove the rejectionists right. Since it perceived an Israeli–Egyptian peace as detrimental to its cause, and since it had no access to diplomatic channels with either the United States or Israel, the PLO reverted to violence to derail the process, as exemplified by the March attack in Israel. This reversion to violence further entrenched their exclusion from the political process.

CHAPTER 7

CAMP DAVID AND THE Egyptian-Israeli Peace treaty

On the evening of 5 September 1978, the heads of state of Israel and Egypt arrived at Camp David, the secluded presidential complex of cottages. The next 13 days have become the most famous of all Arab-Israeli negotiations. The Camp David summit was unlike any of the other mediation formats which Carter had tried. For one thing, it was a completely sealed format, with no media access. Furthermore, it was at the head-of-state level (Sadat, Begin and Carter), ensuring that all the decision-makers were actually present. None of the negotiators, therefore, could create a scene outside the talks, and nobody could claim that he lacked the power to make decisions. The fact that the US president himself was the host and chief mediator meant that it was all the costlier for any of the parties to leave the summit without having made adequate concessions. Blame would fall on anyone who made the talks collapse. Politically, the Camp David summit was a high-risk endeavour, since it demanded that the political leadership of all three countries invest large amounts of political time, energy and prestige, with absolutely no guarantee of success.¹ Changing format and venue was not a miracle cure.

Study papers - still a comprehensive strategy

The US administration was theoretically well prepared for the conference. Carter and his foreign policy team had negotiated with these parties for well over a year and a half at this point. Furthermore, the Americans had written a series of preparatory papers. What is particularly interesting about these papers is that the aim was still a broader Arab–Israeli peace, despite the developments which had occurred over the past year. For example, in two of the most central documents, the Palestinian issue dominated the majority of the priorities for the negotiations.²

Moving from its goals to the difficult question of how to achieve them, the US team strove to understand both the content and the relative strength of the parties' bargaining positions. Brzezinski argued that Sadat could not afford failure, whereas Begin probably thought that failure would hurt Carter and Sadat, but not him.³ The State Department agreed that Carter could not afford failure at Camp David.⁴ As we will see, Brzezinski was right. Begin was much more willing to risk failure to further his position than either Carter or Sadat. This gave him an advantage, because he could push his demands more than Sadat, and Carter realised that Sadat was more willing to budge than Begin.

Despite his insight into Begin's mindset, Brzezinski still insisted that Begin would have to agree that there would be Israeli withdrawal on all fronts. This was unlikely, to say the least, and Brzezinski understood that Begin would have to be cajoled. To that end, Brzezinski listed threats which Carter could use, the most potent of which was public shaming of Begin. Carter could go public with the US stance and the amount of aid given by the United States to Israel, putting it all in the context of US national interests. Such a stick – which would also be relevant if Sadat broke the talks – could be combined with carrots such as the promise of a closer relationship with the United States if the talks were successful.⁵

Vance agreed with Brzezinski and underscored the fact that the key was to find a price on the West Bank and Gaza which Begin would be willing to pay in order to secure peace with Egypt. The further they could push Begin, the more likely peace would be. According to Vance, unless Begin was willing to commit to a withdrawal from the West Bank and Gaza, progress was unlikely. Furthermore, Vance insisted that a successful peace had to recognise Palestinian 'legitimate rights', but the Palestinian solution only had to be good enough for Syria and the PLO to 'acquiesce' to the agreement.⁶ This reflected a persistent anomaly in US thinking – the Americans wanted a solution for the Palestinians without including the Palestinians in its negotiation.

Vance also thought that it would be possible to get a full Israeli moratorium on settlements during the negotiation period.⁷ In sum, Carter's top political advisors agreed that there should be a clear connection between the Palestinian issues and the Egyptian–Israeli treaty, and that it would be impossible to achieve a peace treaty without such a connection.

Given that the goals in all these documents were so far-reaching, it is surprising to see the following in Carter's diary: 'All the briefing books [...] set our expectations too low. I want to insist to the Middle East leaders that we resolve as many problems as possible at Camp David, not just come out with a declaration of principles leading to further negotiations.'⁸ Nothing suggests that Carter had given up on gaining some amount of linkage between an Egyptian–Israeli peace and the Palestinian issue. However, despite all its experience and preparations, the Carter team still failed to realise how difficult it would be to do so; how bad the Sadat–Begin chemistry actually was; and how far Begin would go to avoid making any concessions on the Palestinian issue.

Camp David Phase I: Openings and trilateral meetings

From the opening of the summit, it was evident that Carter would be navigating between two very different parties. In their opening meeting, Sadat told Carter that he wanted a comprehensive peace, but as long as Israel committed to withdrawing from occupied Egyptian territory, the rest was up to the US president. Sadat would not fight for Palestinian gains. In Carter's first meeting with Begin, on the other hand, Begin insisted that Israel would retain all the settlements, including those in the Sinai.⁹ From the very start, Sadat was flexible and trusted Carter, whereas Begin was rigid and prepared to fight the American president. It was clear that Carter would be better able to make Sadat concede than to make Begin do the same. Sadat compounded this imbalance in his second meeting with Carter, by handing him a secret list of concessions which he was willing to make.¹⁰ Sadat's trust in Carter, and Carter's knowledge of how far Sadat was willing to go, weakened Sadat's bargaining position considerably. Once Carter knew Sadat's fall-back position, Sadat could not claim to be demanding more in order to secure a treaty. Begin had the advantage. Since Sadat was prepared to make

concessions while Begin was prepared to fight, it was much easier to lean on Sadat. $^{11}\,$

Although the Camp David summit was trilateral, the top-level trilateral meetings only made an already tense political atmosphere worse. The first top-level trilateral meeting was on 6 September, and the last was the next day.¹² After that, Sadat, Begin and Carter did not negotiate in the same room for the remainder of the summit. In the first of those trilateral meetings, Sadat read his opening position to Begin. The proposal contained the usual Arab position on peace.¹³

Begin was furious and vented his anger on Carter the next morning. He insisted that Sadat's paper was completely unacceptable. Carter, in turn, was infuriated by Begin's behaviour. He insisted that Begin had to convince both him and Sadat that self-rule would not imply a prolonged Israeli presence on the West Bank.¹⁴ Begin could not convince Carter of that, because self-rule did imply a prolonged Israeli presence.

The handwritten notes from the second trilateral meeting, held from the morning through midday on 7 September, further illustrate how tense the situation was. Begin refused to accept even the language of UNSC Resolution 242 regarding the 'inadmissibility of acquisition by war', and Sadat declared: '[I] cannot continue discussion if Is[real] wants land.'¹⁵ Begin retorted that Sadat was paving the way for a Palestinian state.¹⁶ Sadat ended the session by decrying the lack of even '[m]inimum confidence', and Carter's summary of the meeting was as follows: 'bitter discussions'.¹⁷ The conference could hardly have gotten off to a worse start. Three days in, there was an all-out clash of both personalities and political positions. Illustrative of how far apart the parties were on settlements, for example, is the fact that, on the same day, Dayan suggested that Israel would only construct 15 to 20 new settlements in the Jordan valley in the next five years.¹⁸

The evening meeting on 7 September was the last top-level trilateral meeting and it was no less tense. Both Begin and Sadat tried to charge out of the room and leave the conference, but Carter begged them to stay for one more day so that he could present a compromise paper. They both agreed.¹⁹ While convincing Begin, however, Carter unwittingly revealed that Sadat's opening position was not the final Egyptian position. In this way, he hinted at the secret list of concessions Sadat had given him.²⁰ While this might have led Begin to stay in the talks, the cost for Egypt was high, since it lessened the need for Begin to concede.

As had been the case many times before, Sadat was paying the price for his flexibility, while Begin was reaping the benefits of his rigidity.

Camp David Phase II: The US draft

Realising that the trilateral format was counterproductive, Carter moved on to the next phase of the negotiations by formulating a US treaty draft. The level of comprehensiveness of the proposed treaty was toned down, as he instead aimed primarily at an Egyptian–Israeli peace, with an interlinked process for the West Bank and Gaza.²¹ From this point on, then, the discussions would focus on the text of the US draft, which was amended time and again and sent back and forth between the parties. There would be 23 revised drafts in total.²²

The first version of the 'Framework for Peace in the Middle East' was presented to the Israelis on 10 September.²³ Such was the order of the talks – the Israelis would have their say before the Egyptians. The Egyptians would then give their input on the version of the text which had been adapted to the Israeli demands. The exercise was then repeated as the parties inched towards an agreement.²⁴

A recurring theme in these negotiations was Begin's resistance to anything which implied withdrawal from the West Bank and Gaza, or Palestinian self-determination. For instance, he reacted strongly to any phrases such as 'Palestinian problem in all its aspects', and he even wanted all references to UNSC Resolution 242 taken out.²⁵ Furthermore, while Egypt insisted that there could be no Israeli troops in the West Bank and Gaza after the transition period, Israel insisted that such troops had to stay.²⁶ The most important premise for Begin throughout the negotiations was to keep the West Bank under Israeli control; anything that hinted at an Israeli concession of land on the West Bank was unacceptable. The West Bank was nowhere near as important to Sadat as it was to Begin, but he needed some amount of linkage to the Palestinian issue to legitimise the peace he was making with Israel. He therefore reacted strongly to the lack of a clear linkage between Sinai and the West Bank and Gaza.²⁷

Due to these kinds of disagreements, on day eight, before the parties had completed the first cycle of negotiations over the US draft, Begin declared that the Camp David summit had reached a dead end. Carter was again infuriated.²⁸ Still, as had been the case in the months

preceding Camp David, Carter could become enraged by Begin's intransigence, but would not put any real weight behind his fury. He knew that if he pushed too hard, Begin would simply depart, which would destroy any possibility of reaching a negotiated settlement.²⁹ Begin's willingness to take the negotiations to the brink increased his leverage over both Carter and Sadat, because it limited how far Carter could push him without risking failure.

Despite Begin's declaration that he intended to leave, and the heated debate which followed, the talks continued the next day between the legal advisors of each party: Attorney General Aharon Barak for Israel and Osama al-Baz for Egypt.³⁰ Moving forward, these legal advisors would shoulder the principal burden of negotiating the text.

Camp David Phase III: Changing the framework, weakening the ties

Moving on from broader issues to more specific details, the parties concentrated on amending the framework. The main tendency of these revisions was to delink the Egyptian–Israeli peace and the Palestinian issue, as Israel insisted. In early drafts, the agreement was still based on UNSC Resolutions 242 and 338, but the phrase 'full implementation of' was removed. Technically, the framework was still comprehensive at this point, but the Palestinians were gradually removed as one of the parties. For instance, in two cases, the specified list of parties was deleted. The original lists included either the 'Palestinians' or 'inhabitants of West Bank and Gaza'. The removal of these lists therefore signified that the Palestinians had been taken out of future negotiations. In a third case, 'on all fronts' was replaced by a list of 'all neighbors' which did not include the Palestinians. On the refugee question, the word 'return' was replaced with 'admission' and whereas the original text used the phrase 'Palestinian and Jewish refugees', the Israeli team changed it to 'Arab and Jewish refugees'.³¹ Throughout the paper, then, the Palestinians were de-nationalised, reduced to the generic referent 'Arab' or removed entirely.³² Begin and his team wanted as thorough a peace with Egypt as possible for the fewest concessions on the Palestinian front, and they were successful at making this happen.

The next version of the framework, from 12 September, confirmed the Begin team's success. The US notes in the text pointed out that even the concept of synchronising withdrawal with the other peace treaties, was removed at Israel's behest, and Israel continued to reject linkages between the 'West Bank and Gaza' and Jordan.³³ While the Israeli team was succeeding at limiting the amount of linkage, Sadat's advisors worried that Sadat would make so many concessions that there would be practically no Palestinian issues at all in the final agreement.³⁴

The Egyptians team maintained that the Palestinian issue had to be included in the text. Some linkages, then, remained – the 12 September version of the text, for example, proposed to solve the refugee problem with reference to 'appropriate United Nations Resolutions', implying UNSC Resolution 194 and thus the Palestinian right of return. This was completely unacceptable to the Israelis, a fact which was strongly remarked upon by the Americans.³⁵ Furthermore, the Egyptians managed to include a paragraph on a settlement moratorium and remove a clause saying that Egypt would negotiate alone if Jordan refused to join the West Bank and Gaza negotiations. These Egyptian changes spelled trouble, of course, and the American notes included observations such as 'Israelis will object strongly' and 'Hard for Begin'.³⁶

The tug-of-war continued over each draft, with Israel gradually winning more and more ground. The 14 September draft started with a major Israeli alteration. A full paragraph referring to 'the inadmissibility of the acquisition of territory by war' was removed and instead hidden in UNSC Resolution 242, which would only be attached as an annex to the treaty.³⁷ The largest formal claim against the Israeli occupation of the West Bank and Gaza was thus excised from the main text. Furthermore, the Palestinians were eliminated as one of the independent political parties in future negotiations. While 'the representatives of the Palestinian people' was included in the section dealing with the West Bank and Gaza, those representatives were only given the right to participate in the later stages of these negotiations. The refugee formulation from the last round remained the same, but a note in the margin stated 'Egypt ok Israel no'. The settlement moratorium also remained in place.³⁸ In the final text, however, there would be no moratorium, and the refugee issue was not tied to any UN resolution.

In the 15 September version, there was still no decision on what formula to use for fronts other than the Sinai. Egypt wanted 'all fronts of the conflict – the Sinai, the Golan Heights, the West Bank and Gaza, and Lebanon', a formulation which explicitly mentioned the territories from which Israel must withdraw, while Israel insisted on 'all of its neighbors – Egypt, Syria, Jordan and Lebanon', a formulation which named only the states with whom Israel had to solve the issues. The Israeli demands once again excluded the Palestinians. The section on the interim period for the West Bank and Gaza was still 'under discussion', and there was no agreement on the settlement moratorium or on the Egyptian insistence on a reference to UN resolutions on the refugee question.³⁹ While such references remained in the text, the Israelis had not made any real concessions at this point. They were merely chipping away at the Egyptian position.

Tiring of Begin's tough stance Sadat declared on 15 September that he and the whole Egyptian negotiation team would leave. He only agreed to stay after Carter promised to make a last push with Israel.⁴⁰ The cost of this gambit was high for Sadat, however. Carter made it clear that if Sadat actually left, the peace process would be over, and so too would the US–Egyptian relationship. Sadat thus lost his one major advantage in the negotiations – the fact that Carter considered him a trusted friend.⁴¹ If he followed through with his threat to leave, Sadat also risked losing the main asset he had been developing over the past five years or so – namely Egypt's close relationship with the United States. This had been the linchpin of Sadat's foreign policy, and he could not risk it.⁴²

Carter's reaction to Sadat's threat contrasted greatly with his reaction to Begin when the Israeli prime minister had threatened to leave some days earlier. While Carter was perhaps angrier with Begin's negotiation tactics, no real threat had followed; on the contrary, Carter had instead hinted at the Egyptian concessions he had in his pocket. This illustrated the difference in leverage possessed by Sadat and Begin. If talks collapsed due to Begin's behaviour, he risked being stuck with the moral responsibility for it, but the long-term Israeli relationship with the United States would most probably remain firm. If talks collapsed due to Sadat's behaviour, on the other hand, Sadat risked losing the US– Egyptian relationship he had worked so hard to develop. Begin could therefore afford to push much harder than Sadat.

Once again, Sadat's timing was terrible. Carter had been considering an end to the summit at this point, and he planned to blame Begin for its collapse, due to the Israeli unwillingness to evacuate the settlements in the Sinai and accept that UNSC Resolution 242 applied to the West Bank. Without a commitment to that evacuation, it seemed impossible to reach even a separate peace between Egypt and Israel. Since Begin was unwilling to move on the borader issues, he would either have to concede on the Sinai issue, as a bare minimum, or take responsibility for killing the conference. The possibility of placing blame on Begin was therefore very real at this point, and William Quandt even wrote the failure speech, which was accepted by Carter with only minor changes.⁴³ The Carter team may have hoped that the threat of blaming Begin would make him concede on the Sinai settlements, and preferably on UNSC Resolution 242 as well. In order for that to have an effect, however, the threat had to be made. Sadat's decision to leave the Camp David summit pulled Carter back from the brink of blaming Begin, though, and the threat was never utilised. Sadat must have grossly misread Carter and concluded that he had more to gain by leaving than by waiting for Begin to force Carter's hand.

While the Israeli team was completely unwilling to concede on the West Bank, its members realised that they would have to accept withdrawal of the Israeli settlements from the Sinai. Without a Sinai agreement, there would be no framework. The Israeli team was therefore desperate to convince Begin that the Sinai settlements could be abandoned. On 15 September, the team decided to bring in Ariel Sharon – settlement stalwart, war hero and Israeli minister of agriculture. Sharon's position carried great weight in all questions relating to security and the settlements. If he could convince Begin that the Sinai settlements could be evacuated, then perhaps that argument could carry the day. Sharon agreed with the other Israeli negotiators, and, over the telephone, Sharon told Begin that if the Sinai settlements were the last roadblock for a peace with Egypt, then they should be removed.⁴⁴

Still, Begin stood his ground for a little longer on the Sinai. While Carter could not get him to consent to dismantle the settlements outright, he did manage to get Begin to agree to put the question of dismantling them to the Knesset. If the Knesset agreed, then the settlements could be removed.⁴⁵ The lifting of this roadblock paved the way for the Egyptian–Israeli peace treaty.

This did not mean that Begin would also concede on the Palestinian question. On the contrary, he now insisted that future 'negotiations' be based on UNSC Resolution 242, rather than that the 'result of the negotiations' should be based on UNSC Resolution 242. This would allow Begin to reject UNSC Resolution 242 once those negotiations got under way. Begin also insisted that the text should not list the specific elements of UNSC Resolution 242 but only refer to the resolution itself, meaning that the essential word 'withdrawal' would be removed from the framework's text.⁴⁶ As Begin kept winning points, the negotiations lurched towards their conclusion. In the first 16 September redraft, the refugee question was removed from the West Bank and Gaza section.⁴⁷ Again, Israel had prevailed on the Palestinian front.

In one of very few high-level verbatim records from Camp David, from a 16 September meeting with Carter, Vance, Begin, Dayan and Barak, Carter explained that they had reached a moment of truth. He listed all the gains Israel had achieved, and pointed out, if the talks were to collapse, all those gains would be lost. The amount of Israeli victories were remarkable. In addition to an Egyptian–Israeli peace, Israel had gained a veto over any arrangement regarding the Palestinian Self-Governing Authority; the fact that minor modifications of the West Bank borders were nowhere mentioned; and the fact that the terms 'inadmissibility' (of acquiring territory by war) and 'selfdetermination' (for the Palestinians) had been removed.⁴⁸ The Palestinians, who were not present at the summit, were the biggest losers, and Israel, who was the toughest negotiator, had made the largest gains.

Camp David Phase IV: Endgame

At this late stage in the negotiations, the moratorium on building Israeli settlements in the West Bank and Gaza remained in place.⁴⁹ This moratorium was of great importance to Carter and the Egyptians, whereas Begin was adamantly against it. The last-minute negotiations over this moratorium would generate a heated debate, both at Camp David and afterwards. On the last day of negotiations, 16 September, Carter tried to get Begin to refrain from building any more settlements in the period between Camp David and the finalisation of the Palestinian self-rule negotiations, which would follow after the conclusion of the Egyptian–Israeli peace treaty. Carter thought Begin had accepted this condition, and he therefore agreed to remove the settlements

142

moratorium from the actual Camp David Accords and instead have it as a side-letter.⁵⁰ Carter had been duped.

In fact, Begin disagreed with Carter over which negotiations were tied to the moratorium. Begin considered the moratorium valid for three months only – that is, until the finalisation of a peace treaty between Israel and Egypt.⁵¹ When Carter was shown the Israeli side-letter on 17 September, the moratorium was specified for this three-month period. Carter did not accept this and asked Barak to redraft the paper, but, rather than insist upon its immediate return, Carter agreed that the final version of the side-letter could be delivered the next day – *after* the framework had been signed.⁵² This was a huge mistake. When Begin delivered the next version of the side-letter, it was the same as the one Carter had rejected.⁵³ It stated that 'during the agreed period for negotiations for the conclusion of the peace treaty [with Egypt], no new settlements will be established'.⁵⁴ This meant that it was a three-month rather than a five-year moratorium. Since the accords had already been signed at that point, it was too late to press for an amended version.

How had Carter been outmanoeuvred in this way on such an important issue?

Based on an Israeli document composed by Aharon Barak, it is apparent that Carter earnestly thought that Begin had committed himself to a settlement freeze for the period until the Palestinian autonomy negotiations were finalised. Since this was not contradicted by the Israelis, Carter was convinced that they agreed with his interpretation when he suggested this formulation: 'After the signing of the framework [agreement] and during the negotiations, no new Israeli settlements will be established in the area, unless otherwise agreed.⁵⁵ If this version is accurate, then the real problem was not that Carter was, or was not, clear enough in stating which negotiations he was talking about, but that he accepted Begin's response that he would 'think about' Carter's proposal and present his position the next day.⁵⁶ Carter had mistakenly taken that to mean that Begin accepted his position. Upon his return to Israel, Begin clarified: 'I responded to this proposed text by saying "I shall think about it and I will write to you tomorrow." By any standard such a reaction cannot be construed as an acceptance.⁵⁷

Carter, however, had no recollection of Begin saying that he would have to 'think about' it.⁵⁸ In an undated note, Carter summed up this

discrepancy. He made it very clear that he had rejected Begin's proposal that the freeze would last for three months only and, even more importantly, that Barak had not disagreed with Carter's version of what Begin had agreed to.⁵⁹ It was Carter's word against Begin's. Whoever was right, Begin got away with it.

In addition to the moratorium debacle, another last crisis emerged when Begin refused to accept a side-letter from Carter to Sadat stating that East Jerusalem was occupied territory. Begin threatened to leave Camp David at the zero hour in protest, demonstrating how important Jerusalem was to Begin. He was willing to risk the collapse of the entire Camp David Accords over a side-letter which was not legally binding but did confirm the US view that East Jerusalem was not Israeli. The solution had been to hide the question of Jerusalem's status by instead referring to previous US statements in the UN, rather than spelling out the position directly.⁶⁰ Israel would therefore not sign an accord which included a document that referred to East Jerusalem as occupied. As with the settlement moratorium and the question of acquisition of territory by war, Begin's very legalistic technique was to hide a disagreeable point by packing it away by an extra degree of separation. The more degrees of separation, the less legal weight these commitments and concessions carried. Begin thereby managed to secure that his concessions carried as little legal weight as possible. His gains, on the other hand, were always included in the main text of the accords and were therefore much more secure and legally binding.

Once the side-letters were in place the two treaty documents were signed on 17 September 1978. After returning to Israel, Begin secured clear support in the Knesset for the framework on 28 September. Apart from Ariel Sharon and Ezer Weizman, however, few of the Herut members (the right-wing core of Likud) voted for the Camp David Accords.⁶¹

Evaluating the framework

The Camp David Accords were composed of two agreements which were loosely tied together. One dealt with an Egyptian–Israeli peace, while the other dealt with the rest of the conflict, including the Palestinian issue. Not only were these two agreements not as strongly tied together as Carter and his team wanted, but also the content of the larger framework was weaker than they desired.

The final version of the framework agreement contained a large section on two negotiating committees for the West Bank and Gaza. One would negotiate the 'final status of the West Bank and Gaza', while the other would negotiate 'the peace treaty between Israel and Jordan, taking into account the agreement reached on the final status of the West Bank and Gaza'.⁶² The connection between these two negotiating committees meant that Jordan was involuntarily implicated in the West Bank and Gaza solution. King Hussein of Jordan had no knowledge of what transpired at Camp David, and he was furious that Sadat and Begin had made such a commitment on his behalf.⁶³

The omission of the Palestinians was a reccurring theme in the Camp David Accords. The reason was simple: the Palestinians had not been present at the negotiation table and had not been able to press their case. Of the other parties at the table, it was Sadat who was given the task of speaking on their behalf. His interest was in regaining the Sinai. While he might have wanted to gain as much as possible on the other Arab questions as well, he was not willing to make any Egyptian sacrifices in order to do so. Because he was secluded at Camp David, he was also under considerably less pressure to press for Palestinians successes.⁶⁴ When it came down to choosing between Egyptian interests and Palestinian interests, Sadat would always choose the former. More importantly, Begin came to Camp David intent on giving in as little as possible on the Palestinian question. For Begin, that is, the West Bank was an integral part of Israel, while the Sinai was not.⁶⁵ While he was willing to surrender the Sinai, if the deal was good enough, nothing could make him give up the territory of the West Bank and Gaza. He considered these territories eternally Jewish and therefore not something which could be negotiated away. The vague autonomy proposal was as far as he was willing to go. Sadat and Carter could either accept this fact or give up on an Egyptian-Israeli treaty. Given that Sadat was not intent on fighting long and hard for the West Bank, Carter was not going to be more pro-Arab than Sadat.

It is also important to note that Carter thought he had secured a much greater commitment from Begin than Begin thought he had given to Carter. A clear indication of this is that when Carter presented the Camp David success to Congress, he lauded the framework for having secured Palestinian participation, a five-year deadline and a recognition of the legitimate Palestinian rights.⁶⁶ This was a huge exaggeration regarding what had actually been achieved. Due to Begin's legalistic knack for details and insistence on not giving an inch on the Palestinian issue, Begin had been able to make those commitments so vague that they did not carry the weight which Carter and Sadat thought they did. Similarly, in letters describing the framework, the US administration stated that the refugee issue would be based on an 'appropriate UN resolution', and that the principles in the framework would be 'applicable to all fronts'.⁶⁷ Carter also affirmed that there was a moratorium on settlements during the interim period.⁶⁸ While all of this might well have been among the US intentions, those formulations were not actually in the final framework. Begin had made sure of that.

Looking back, US ambassador Herman Eilts aptly described the framework drafting process:

instead of being strengthened, the document becomes more and more ambiguous. It was no longer constructively ambiguous, but just ambiguous. [...] [N]obody was quite sure what autonomy meant. To Egypt it meant self-determination, or leading to selfdetermination. To Israel, it meant a kind of bondage status.⁶⁹

The Arab states and the PLO fumed at the Camp David Accords. For the PLO Executive Committee it represented 'what Zionism and American imperialism have been seeking to achieve for thirty years. [...] presented to them by Sadat through his total surrender to their terms for the liquidation of the Palestinian and Arab cause'.⁷⁰

Together with the other Arab states, the PLO organised against the treaty, gathering under the rubric of the Arab Front for Steadfastness and Confrontation States.⁷¹ The local Palestinian 'West Bank National Conference', and the Gaza version of the same body, rejected the accords for not including the PLO, for not granting Palestinian self-determination, and for dividing the Palestinians outside of Palestine from those within Palestine.⁷² A State Department report concluded that, except for the Egyptian army, no Arab leader supported the accords.⁷³

To lessen the Arab opposition, the US administration argued that there was a significant difference between the original Israeli self-rule proposal, and the 'self-governing authority' solution in the Camp David Accords. This was a hard sell, since almost all of the changes between the two notions were theoretical gains to be resolved in future negotiations.⁷⁴ Many US diplomats failed to understand the implications of this fact. The US ambassador to Saudi Arabia, for example, told Crown Prince Fahd: 'I felt that the Palestinians were much like a starving person who upon suddenly being offered a half loaf of bread spurned it because the whole loaf was not offered.'⁷⁵ The problem was not just the size of the bread, of course – it was the extent to which any bread would be distributed at all.

The Americans were not resigned to the prospect of abandoning a Palestinian solution yet. Brzezinski informed the State Department that contacts with the Palestinians had to be developed, but, as always, the White House had to stay clear of such contacts, because they could have high domestic costs.⁷⁶ To the Arab states, which had rejected Camp David, finding a solution to the Palestinian question was paramount. Saudi Arabia therefore offered to help the United States establish an informal and secret meeting with the PLO leadership. As always, the United States turned down the offer, because the PLO had yet to recognise Israel and the UNSC Resolution 242 with reservations formula.⁷⁷ The US administration nonetheless informed the Egyptian PLO liaison that it stood by its offer of talking to the PLO once the organisation had accepted the US conditions.78 These Palestinian contacts did not develop into anything substantial, but Brzezinski's considerations once again illustrated how including the Palestinians was essential as a foreign policy question but largely impossible as a domestic one. And the Carter administration was not willing to pay that price. As long as this was the position, the Americans could only wish for Palestinian participation.

Difficult rounds ahead

The Camp David Accords were not equivalent to a peace treaty but rather formed the basis upon which such a treaty could be negotiated. One month after signing the Camp David Accords, Carter therefore invited the Egyptian and Israeli leadership to Washington for the first round of Egyptian–Israeli peace talks.⁷⁹ This was supposed to be the start of a three-month process, but it would take almost double that time. The talks immediately showed that, while progress was possible on the Israeli–Egyptian front, tying this to a broader Middle East peace still remained the major sticking point.⁸⁰ The pattern had been repeating itself since Sadat's Jerusalem trip. Sadat demanded an explicit linkage between the two treaties and a settlement freeze, both of which Moshe Dayan rejected.⁸¹ The United States supported Sadat's view, because this explicit linkage was important to its ultimate ambition to broaden the talks.⁸² Israel refused to include explicit linkage, while Sadat attempted to link normalisation to the timing of Israeli withdrawal. The Carter administration characterised both Dayan's rejection of linkage and Sadat's suggestion of phased normalisation as backtracking from the agreement at Camp David.⁸³ This would be the negotiation pattern moving forward – Israel tried to water down the Camp David Accords, while Sadat tried to expand on them.

Regardless of what Dayan's actual position was, he had little room for manoeuvre since Begin had him on a tight leash.⁸⁴ Begin also claimed that he was not mandated to make any concessions without the approval of his government.⁸⁵ This was a typical Begin ploy. Rather than face up to any demands for compromise, he would insist that his own government was too rigid – even as he hindered the flexibility of his own foreign minister. In reality, Begin was the hardliner in his own government, and he had tight control over his party. Had he wanted to make concessions, that is, he could have.

The Egyptian dynamic was quite the opposite. Sadat was the most flexible Egyptian leader. He therefore bypassed his own mediators because they were making difficult demands in the negotiations. Sadat told Carter that he was willing to exchange ambassadors with Israel as soon as diplomatic relations could be established, but that Carter was not allowed to inform the Israelis or even the Egyptian mediators of this concession.⁸⁶ Sadat therefore repeated his error from Camp David, handing Carter concessions before the bargaining had begun. This showed that what really mattered to Sadat was the development of close ties with the United States.

In return for expedient normalisation, Sadat insisted, Gaza had to be explicitly included in the treaty so that Egypt could claim to have made concrete Palestinian gains. Sadat also wanted Israel to establish the selfgoverning authority in Gaza immediately, or at least in tandem with the Sinai withdrawal.⁸⁷ The 'Gaza first' scheme was initially rejected.⁸⁸ Nonetheless, the idea would henceforth be part of the negotiations.

Settlement expansion without consequence

As if the gap between the parties was not wide enough, there was more trouble ahead. In the midst of talks in Washington, the Israelis declared that they would 'thicken' the existing West Bank settlements.⁸⁹ Egypt reacted by postponing negotiations.⁹⁰ This Israeli move was a real shocker to Carter, who thought there was full agreement on a threemonth settlement moratorium. Carter did not mince word, informing Begin that 'no step by the Israeli Government could be more damaging [...] taking this step at this time will have the most serious consequences for our relationship. [...] It may also jeopardize the conclusion of the peace treaty which we are negotiating.'91 Little over a month had passed since Camp David, but Begin replied to Carter that he had only promised not to create *new* settlements during the three-month period; expanding existing ones, on the other hand was within the boundaries of the Camp David Accord.⁹² This went against everything Carter had aimed for, but he was in too deep to back down, and he was not willing to seriously challenge Begin. The difference in opinion between the US president and the Israeli prime minister could hardly have been clearer, but once again no real pressure emerged from Washington. Begin was by now accustomed to these vocal confrontations with Carter. The prime minister knew from experience that talking tough was not followed by acting tough.

Illustrative of how exasperated Carter was with Begin is a note in Carter's diary from when Sadat and Begin were awarded the Nobel peace prize on 28 October 1978: 'Sadat deserved it; Begin did not.'⁹³ Then, some days later: '[T]he Israelis want a separate peace treaty with Egypt, to keep the West Bank and Gaza, to get as much money as possible from us, and use the settlements and East Jerusalem to prevent involvement of Jordan and the Palestinians.'⁹⁴

While Carter had ample reason to be frustrated, it was Sadat who really felt the heat at this point, thanks to the negotiation deadlock and the Israeli settlement expansion. The Arab League summit, held 2–5 November 1978 in Baghdad, condemned the peace process for not including the PLO and Palestinian self-determination. The summit statement called on Sadat to cancel the agreements with Israel and return to the Arab fold.⁹⁵ While it did not explicitly sanction Sadat, it laid the groundwork for doing so if a final peace treaty were to be concluded.⁹⁶

This did not make Sadat back down. Instead it fired him up and strengthened his determination to finalise the peace treaty with Israel. He then sent his negotiators back to Washington to get 'more explicit and far-reaching assurances from Israel concerning the West Bank and Gaza'.⁹⁷ Under Arab pressure, Sadat insisted on linkage, even at the cost of postponing the Israeli withdrawal from Sinai.⁹⁸ This was not a position Sadat would stick to, however. Once again, Begin had dodged the bullet. Since Sadat expediently returned to the negotiating table, there were no consequences for Begin's settlement expansion.

Nonetheless, the gap between the parties was widening, rather than shrinking. Vance realised that the choice the United States faced was between pushing for linkage at the risk of there being no agreement whatsoever, or aiming for a bilateral treaty at the risk of getting very limited linkage.⁹⁹ Carter aimed for the latter. In a 10 November draft of the Israeli–Egyptian treaty, linkage was only found in the preamble and in side-letters suggesting that the parties would agree to start West Bank and Gaza negotiations within a month after the signing of the peace treaty.¹⁰⁰ For the Israelis, this was still too much linkage, and Begin rejected the proposal.¹⁰¹ Sadat, like Carter, was disappointed.¹⁰² While the US mediators tried to assure the Egyptians that the draft treaty was good, their formulations were revealing: 'Our draft West Bank/Gaza letter provided for a process which *could* produce movement.¹⁰³

Based on all the work the Carter administration had invested in the peace process to this point, we know for sure that they wanted a sufficient amount of linkage – and, ultimately, a solution – to the Palestinian question. It was also clear, however, that they were not willing to risk the collapse of the Egyptian–Israeli peace process. Begin's steadfast position in the negotiations showed that he would not agree to any explicit linkage, nor would he cede territory on the West Bank and Gaza. Unless Carter was willing to drastically heighten the cost for Begin for not moving on the Palestinian issue, Begin would not budge. This raises the question of how important linkage really was to Carter at this point – wishful thinking without forceful political action is only wishful thinking.

This became very clear when, on 21 November 1978, Israel accepted the treaty text but rejected the side-letters. The Israelis insisted that there could be no more linkage than there had been in the Camp David framework.¹⁰⁴ The parties were largely home free with the bilateral peace, but linkage was still the deal-breaker.

The State Department's Warren Christopher suggested that Sadat should push for a timetable which focussed on the West Bank and Gaza, so that the whole treaty would then depend on that timeline.¹⁰⁵ The problem was that Begin adamantly rejected any timetable other than for one concerning when to *start* negotiations.¹⁰⁶ While Christopher's proposal was sound, Begin would have nothing to do with it. Once again, Begin won. The United States realised that it would be impossible to get Israel to accept anything that formally tied withdrawal and autonomy negotiations together.¹⁰⁷ The United States could either accept this or make a serious push on Begin. To make such a push, Carter would need to have, and be willing to use, a considerable amount of political leverage. But did the United States have any such leverage over Israel at this point?

When Carter again discussed the questions of a timetable and formal linkage with Begin, Begin inadvertently revealed that the United States did in fact possess such leverage. Begin asked for US economic aid to counterbalance the cost of the Sinai withdrawal and the loss of the Sinai oil fields. Carter mentioned that such subsidies would be considered only in connection with a treaty, but he did not push the matter, nor did he tie the aid to the Palestinian issue and the autonomy negotiations.¹⁰⁸

Reflecting on the potential use of this leverage, Brzezinski noted to Carter:

tell Begin that Israeli failure to accept the timetable and to begin positive movement on the West Bank/Gaza will mean that the US will take the entire matter to the UN Security Council, and consequently that the U.S.–Israeli economic-military relationship will not be allowed to perpetuate a stalemate [...] For the above to work, we must be genuinely prepared to be as direct and blunt as is stated above; so far, we have never managed to be and we have always backed off at the last minute.¹⁰⁹

Brzezinski also suggested that all the money Israel had spent on settlements should be subtracted from the total amount of aid it would

be given from the United States and that, if settlement construction continued, the United States should vote against Israel in the UN.¹¹⁰ As Brzezinski hints, there is an important difference between having leverage and using it. Carter clearly had it, but despite his deep frustration with Begin, he declined to use it. The result of not using the leverage, as Quandt observed, was as follows: 'Neither side seems to take our views very seriously, presumably because there are no consequences when they ignore us.'¹¹¹ Since Carter failed to apply this type of pressure, Begin could once again continue to make gains, and refuse to make concessions.

Another go with the PLO?

In a 27 November version of the side-letter, the United States included a clause inviting Palestinians to participate in the negotiations for the self-governing authority.¹¹² The problem with this clause was that while the Palestinians insisted that the PLO was their sole representative, the United States insisted that the Palestinians had to be represented by somebody other than the PLO. In the midst of these talks, Arafat sent a new message via US Congressman Paul Findley (R). Findley was an outspoken advocate of the need to talk to the Palestinians, and he had also met with Arafat in January 1978.¹¹³ This time, Arafat's message was that the PLO was prepared to accept a two-state solution and recognise Israel.¹¹⁴ This same message was sent from the PLO via Arab UN ambassadors to the United States should start talking with the organisation.¹¹⁶

The US government did not publicly respond to Paul Findley, but British diplomats were confidentially informed that the US government reacted positively to Arafat's messages. However, the risk of going public was seen as too great, because it could threaten the peace process.¹¹⁷ Walid Khalidi later informed the United States that the PLO did not intend to recognise UNSC Resolution 242, because the United States had not made a clear enough commitment as to what it intended to do with the West Bank and Gaza.¹¹⁸ Once again, then, the PLO initiative petered out into nothing.

Within the Carter administration there was no agreement as to how to proceed. In a note on the negotiation impasse, National Security 152

Advisor Zbigniew Brzezinski commented, 'The Camp David Accords created the impression that in fact a separate peace between Egypt and Israel was acceptable to both the US and to Egypt – and for a while I even thought that perhaps you [Carter] and Sadat had secretly agreed on this.'¹¹⁹ It seemed as though Sadat did not care about the Palestinians at all. Could the US leadership actually be more pro-Palestinian than the Egyptian president? Certainly not in practice. It was unimaginable that Carter would publicly press hard on Begin to secure gains for the Palestinians if, at the same time, Sadat declined to pursue the issue. But it was not easy to just let it go either. Brzezinski was worried about the regional fallout if the United States failed to deliver on linkage, and he informed Carter that a separate Egyptian–Israeli peace was a 'worst case scenario' on par with a collapse of the Shah regime in Iran.¹²⁰ Within the next year, the Americans would have both those worst case scenarios on their hands.

To counter the claim that Israel was not doing enough on the West Bank and Gaza, Begin informed Sadat that there was no reason to move beyond the letter of the framework:

At Camp David we agreed on autonomy, on full autonomy for the inhabitants of Judea, Samaria and Gaza. We did not agree on sovereignty. We did not agree on a 'Palestinian state,' nor on a nucleus for such a 'state.'¹²¹

While Carter and Sadat hoped that the spirit of Camp David would prevail, Begin, ever the legalist, was adamant that only the letter of Camp David carried weight. There was a massive gap between the spirit and the letter, of course. In an attempt to wrap things up, Vance was sent on a new Middle East tour.¹²² Sending the secretary of state to the Middle East had become almost a routine procedure for the Carter administration.

The positions Vance encountered in Egypt and Israel had not moved.

Sadat demanded a timetable for the Palestinian issues, and Begin stood his ground.¹²³ Vance was exasperated by the Israelis. He considered it unfair of Israel to demand timelines for all their concerns, while rejecting timelines for any Arab concerns.¹²⁴ Together with the Egyptians, he therefore formulated a timeline for the West Bank and Gaza negotiations. It stipulated that the negotiations would

start one month after the peace treaty was signed, and that the selfgovernment elections would be held by the end of 1979.¹²⁵ This was a long-standing US position.

As should have been expected, Begin rejected the timetable and all the other agreements Vance made in Egypt.¹²⁶ Begin could easily reject the timeline on purely formal grounds, in fact, because there was no reference to a timetable at Camp David. It was the US negotiation team which had refused to include such a timetable, ironically, having refuted the suggestion on four occasions during the drafting process at Camp David.¹²⁷ That decision had come back to haunt them.

There goes the deadline

As the three-month negotiation deadline passed, the US administration noted that while there was near agreement on the treaty package as a whole, it was all or nothing, and the remaining gaps therefore stopped the whole process.¹²⁸ Cyrus Vance was very upset with Israel and made public statements to that effect. As had become the normal routine, Israel's supporters in the United States jumped on the statement, heavily criticising the Carter administration for what they claimed was its anti-Israeli position.¹²⁹ With regard to the Arab–Israeli conflict, US domestic politics were intimately intertwined with the relevant foreign policy, as Begin was well aware. Begin knew that it would cost Carter if he, or anyone in his administration, was too critical of Israel.¹³⁰

The high political cost of fighting against the Israeli position helps explain why Vance decided to further tone down the Palestinian issue. Vance's strategy paper to Carter therefore contained several shifts which accommodated Israeli demands. For example, each time he mentioned the West Bank and Gaza, he suggested that they should at least aim for progress on Gaza, and Vance suggested that Israel had to be assured about progress on normalisation which was independent of other developments.¹³¹ Sadat's idea of moving on Gaza first, which the Americans had initially rejected, was reintroduced and explored through several channels at this time.¹³²

While Vance betrayed his gradual shift away from concern for the Palestinians, Brzezinski went all the way. He argued that it was time to move past the focus on the Palestinian issue, and instead frame the peace process as part of a regional security strategy.¹³³ This was a significant

strategic shift. In the initial Carter strategy, one of the reasons behind the focus on the Palestinians was that a solution to the Palestinian problem was seen as a key to regional peace. With a separate Egyptian– Israeli peace in sight, the uniting of the Arab rejectionists, and troublesome developments taking place in Iran, it seemed better to work on securing Egyptian–Israeli peace quickly rather than struggling uphill towards an increasingly unlikely overall solution.

Brzezinski's desire to disengage from the Palestinian issue was understandable. Developments in both the Palestinian camp and in the region as a whole had made solving the Palestinian issue even more difficult. The PLO, in response to the Camp David Accords, had moved in a rejectionist direction. The 14th Palestinian National Council (PNC), held in Damascus on 15-23 January 1979, issued a declaration that was anti-Camp David and anti-self-rule, featured an increased emphasis on armed struggle, and did not contain formulations which might imply an acceptance of a two-state solution, as had been the case for the 1974 and 1977 PNCs.¹³⁴ Furthermore, in Iran, a revolution was underway, by which the US administration had been caught completely off guard. Iran had been in a state of martial law since September 1978, and the Shah left Iran for exile on 16 January 1979. He had been one of the central pillars of US Middle East policy. Once his regime crumbled, the United States lost one of its most stable allies in the region. The ramifications were regional instability and rising oil prices.¹³⁵ The Palestinian issue promptly plummeted down the priority list.

Given the drastic developments in Iran, Carter could not afford to drop the ball on the Israeli–Egyptian peace negotiations. It would be highly detrimental to US regional interests if the Americans both lost Iran as an ally and failed to secure an Egyptian–Israeli peace. With the heightened regional stakes, it was hard to push for a Palestinian solution if that meant risking the whole peace process. The administration opted to secure the separate Egyptian–Israeli peace through a trilateral meeting at the ministerial level, with Secretary of State Cyrus Vance and Foreign Ministers Moshe Dayan and Mustafa Khalil. If the meeting was successful, then Begin and Sadat could be brought in to finalise the deal.¹³⁶ It would not be that simple.

Carter sent a new set of personal letters to Begin and Sadat, urging them to join him in a renewed attempt to push the peace process forward.¹³⁷ The

US administration increasingly leaned towards getting something on Gaza first and finding a mechanism to get Sadat 'off the West Bank hook'.¹³⁸ The move towards a 'Gaza first' option is indicative of the low level of linkage demanded by the administration at this time. Desperation for an agreement was sinking in. Still, it did not mean that Israel would yield.

Despite the shift in US thinking, the Israelis were disappointed after four days of the ministerial negotiations. According to Dayan, 'there has been no progress this week; if anything, the other way.'¹³⁹ The Americans were equally frustrated. Ambassador Samuel Lewis summed up the talks as 'a real mess [...] Carter was banging his head against two stone walls for a couple of days.'¹⁴⁰ What had gone wrong?

While Mustafa Khalil had full authority to negotiate for Sadat, Dayan remained on a tight leash from Begin.¹⁴¹ This was the normal pattern. While Sadat did not concern himself with the details of the talks, Begin was extremely detail-oriented and would not allow Dayan to take any initiatives or make any concessions. Basically, Begin 'ruled with an iron rod'.¹⁴² The Israeli position in the negotiations came from him directly, and any decisions had to be cleared by him. Unless Egypt would concede on every point, then, there would be no result from any negotiation which did not include Begin himself. Carter therefore declared that talks had to be upgraded to heads-of-state level.¹⁴³

Despite the fact that Carter made this declaration publicly, and that it had been cleared by Dayan, Begin declined the invitation.¹⁴⁴ This was a direct insult to Carter, but, rather than make Begin feel the heat, Carter bent over backwards to satisfy him, because it was the most painless way to move forward. Sadat seemed willing to accept almost anything, as long as the peace treaty with Israel was brought to fruition, whereas Begin remained unwilling to move an inch on anything outside the Sinai. Carter could either accommodate Begin or apply large amounts of pressure to Israel. The latter would be difficult, and there was no guarantee for success, so he once again chose the former.

Begin in Washington

Carter then invited Begin to meet with him personally, without the Egyptians.¹⁴⁵ Preparing for this talk, Brzezinski's analysis was that Begin was convinced that he could withstand US and Egyptian pressure, because both Sadat and Carter needed success, while he could tolerate

156

failure. This was the same analysis Brzezinski had provided prior to Camp David, and he had been proven correct at that time. Begin had withstood US pressure for two years, and with the US election season approaching, time was on Begin's side again. The opposite was true for Sadat and Carter. As US elections approached, it would be increasingly difficult for Carter to pressure Begin, thanks to the domestic support for Israel in the United States. As for Sadat, Egypt was increasingly isolated after the Camp David Accords, and he still had nothing to show for that work in return. Begin, for his part, would prefer failure over a deal which forced Israel to accept that the Egyptian–Israeli peace would be explicitly linked to movement on the West Bank and Gaza, and, given the political situation, he was willing to risk failure because the odds were largely in his favour. Brzezinski was therefore pessimistic. He proposed that a settlement freeze could be used as a litmus test: 'If the answer [from Begin to a freeze] is negative, we are kidding ourselves if we think the next phase of negotiations is going to succeed.'146

Talks between Begin and Carter started in Washington on 1 March 1979. As expected, Begin pushed hard to further reduce any existing potential linkage between the two treaties and to hinder any new links from evolving. Furthermore, he rejected any changes to the original Camp David Accords, and therefore any notion of separating Gaza from the West Bank.¹⁴⁷ Amplifying the effects of his legalistic approach in negotiations, Begin made a distinction between the side-letters exchanged at Camp David and the agreement which had been reached there. The former, he argued, had no legal value. He thus rejected all the non-Sinai gains Egypt had made. He also flatly rejected the 'one-year target date'.¹⁴⁸ Carter was dumbstruck. Begin was once again withdrawing commitments Carter thought Begin had made. Technically, however, Begin was not doing so - he had skilfully ensured that his concessions would be less legally binding than the Egyptian concessions. He was perhaps not negotiating in good faith, but, in any case, Israel was not legally obligated to implement those concessions.

If there was any doubt as to exactly what Begin had agreed to for the self-governing authority, he nailed it down now:

If the administrative council one day proclaims a Palestinian state, we will arrest them. [...] After five years [...] Israel must have

iron-clad guarantees that there will be no Palestinian state. [...] We are not talking about autonomy for or to the West Bank and Gaza, but only for the inhabitants.¹⁴⁹

Begin's concept of autonomy was conceptually complicated, to say the least, but it rested on two key pillars – the status of the land would not change, and there would be no Palestinian state. The land, according to Begin, was eternally Israeli, and the autonomy proposal merely postponed Israel's claim of sovereignty. The Palestinians would have personal autonomy, but the territory would remain Israel's in all but name.¹⁵⁰

Vance expressed his exasperation clearer than anyone when he told Begin: 'I have been trying to find a way to help. I have been breaking my back doing so. We made changes in this draft, and you rejected all of them [...] I have run out of ways to help. You have rejected everything.'¹⁵¹ Carter was hardly less frustrated. He opened the 4 March meeting by stating: 'This is the most stubborn problem that I have ever dealt with. We made little progress.'¹⁵²

Having gained no ground in Washington, the Carter team decided that the president needed to go to Israel and Egypt to make a final push for peace. If those talks failed, Carter told Sadat, he would 'let the public know we [Sadat and Carter] stand together as partners'.¹⁵³ Sadat was elated. He had already accepted the treaty text, and, like Carter, he was thinking of broader regional security.¹⁵⁴ The ongoing revolution in Iran meant that the regional power balance was eroding, that oil prices would be rising and that both the United States and Egypt had lost a stable and close ally. It was time to secure peace with Israel.¹⁵⁵

As of 10 March 1979, the only formal tie between the peace treaty and the West Bank and Gaza negotiations was that the latter would start one month after the ratification of the peace treaty. Any semblance of a specific deadline had been replaced with vague formulations.¹⁵⁶ Nevertheless, when Carter went to Israel, Begin started to chip away at the treaty draft. He ensured that the West Bank and Gaza letter was very weak, and that the timeline was diffuse. The two men agreed only that the five-year transition period would start after the self-governing authority had been established.¹⁵⁷

Verbatim records of the 11 and 12 March meetings between Carter and Begin illustrate Begin's tiresome nit-picking, and the effect it had on the negotiated outcome. He rejected the US/Egyptian proposal of changing the words 'does not derogate' to 'is not inconsistent'. The two terms are synonymous, and Begin struggled to explain the difference between them. It was the mere fact that Sadat had changed the text, even if those changes were insignificant, that gave Begin an excuse to push the Americans yet again. Begin used the same technique when it came to the letter tying the peace treaty to the autonomy negotiations. He reacted against the formulation 'at the earliest possible date thereafter', since he had previously agreed to the formulation 'as expeditiously as possible'.¹⁵⁸ While these word games were substantively meaningless, they served a purpose: They took time and energy which could otherwise have been used to haggle over actual issues.

Begin also insisted on 'ironclad guarantees' that there would be no Palestinian state. He demanded that the mention of 'self-government authority' be followed by the phrase 'administrative authority', so as to ensure that the body would have no legislative power. Begin also flatly rejected the application of autonomy to Gaza first, and the possibility of having any Egyptians stationed in Gaza. Carter insisted that these were important issues, however, because closing off the possibility of solving Gaza first would hamper the autonomy negotiations. Of particular importance to Carter was the opening of Gaza to Egyptian representatives during the autonomy negotiation period, so that they could facilitate Palestinian participation. This did not faze Begin, who steadfastly refused to accept Egyptian liaison officers in Gaza, but he did suggest a new vague formulation regarding Gaza first: 'Should Egypt propose the introduction of the autonomy in Gaza first, Israel will be prepared to consider this proposal during the negotiations.'159 Put simply, rather than agree to a specific solution, Begin agreed to the possibility that Israel could eventually consider a solution.¹⁶⁰ Quandt called this session one of Begin's 'most remarkable performances' - one in which he 'took negotiations to the brink of failure before edging back just enough to ensure success on his terms'.¹⁶¹

After negotiating with Begin for four tiresome days, Carter went to Sadat.¹⁶² Despite some protestation, Sadat accepted the new treaty text.¹⁶³ Carter was tired of negotiating and needed to close the Egyptian–Israeli treaty so that he could focus on other important issues. He therefore refused to go back to Israel with any new demands: 'For the

last 18 months I, the President of the most powerful nation on earth, have acted the postman. I am not a proud man – I have done the best I could – but I cannot go back to try to change the language.'¹⁶⁴ It was a take it or leave it offer to Sadat, and Sadat could not afford to leave it.

Once again, problems with the agreement arose quickly as Israeli politicians promptly began to draw distinctions between the treaty and the side-letters, exactly as they had done with the Camp David Accords. For example, Dayan argued that Israel had made no commitment on 'unilateral steps' for the West Bank and Gaza. These steps had been an important issue in the final negotiations, and Carter had managed to get Begin to agree to some steps which would give the Palestinians something concrete. They were, however, only part of a side-letter and the Israelis argued that even the precise formulations of that letter were undecided.¹⁶⁵ The Egyptians were furious that Israel could make such statements after an agreement had been reached.¹⁶⁶ Once again. however, the United States and the Egyptians had already accepted the condition that the gains for the Palestinians amounted to vague formulations packed away in side-letters rather than in the treaty itself. Begin's legalism ensured that his concessions were symbolic and would have few real consequences.

The peace treaty between Egypt and Israel was signed in Washington on 26 March 1979. It was a purely bilateral peace treaty through which Israel would gradually withdraw from the Sinai in return for peace and normalisation with Egypt. What remained of any linkage was an agreement to start negotiating self-rule for the Palestinians within one month of the ratification of the peace treaty. The United States sweetened the deal with Israel and Egypt by supporting them with military purchases valued at \$2.2 billion and \$1.5 billion respectively. Other economic sweeteners included an \$800 million grant to Israel to pay for relocation of evacuated Sinai air bases and \$300 million to Egypt in economic aid.¹⁶⁷ Furthermore, the United States promised to pay for the establishment of new airfields in Israel to replace those left behind in the Sinai, and to guarantee that Israel could buy oil from Egypt. If Egypt failed to deliver on this, then the United States would step up and sell the same amount to Israel.¹⁶⁸ The US cost of subsidising the withdrawal and the added aid to Egypt and Israel, then, was \$4.8 billion.169 Whereas Carter had been unwilling to threaten Begin by withholding

funds in order to get a better deal, he was very willing to compensate Begin once the deal had been made.

Arab reactions

Despite its shortcomings, the peace with Israel was a huge victory for President Anwar Sadat. Egypt would regain the Sinai, huge amounts of US aid came in, and Egypt had secured a close political relationship with the United States. However, there was also a massive cost, as Egypt became ostracised in the Arab region. The PLO was furious and called for an Arab foreign ministers meeting in light of what it described as 'a serious escalation of the U.S.-Zionist plot against the Arab cause and the Palestinian question'.¹⁷⁰ Likewise, the Palestinian leadership on the West Bank denounced the peace treaty, rejected the self-rule proposal and affirmed that only the PLO could represent the Palestinians.¹⁷¹

Sadat was boisterously defiant regarding the Arab opposition. He called Libyan leader Muammar Gadhafi the 'boy in Libya', and argued that King Hussein was schizophrenic and opportunistic, and that 'Iraq and Syria are of no real significance', adding '[d]o not fear the scarecrows.'¹⁷² The United States appealed to the Arab heads of state, pointing out that the treaty sought forward movement on granting the Palestinians full autonomy.¹⁷³ This had no effect, nor was it very credible.

Between 27 and 31 March 1979, Arab leaders gathered in Baghdad to discuss how to punish Egypt for signing the peace treaty with Israel. They decided that all their ambassadors would be withdrawn from Egypt and recommended that political and diplomatic relations with Egypt should be cut. Furthermore, they expelled Egypt from the Arab League, moving its headquarters to Tunis. All financial aid to Egypt was to be halted, and oil transfers were cancelled.¹⁷⁴ Arafat joined in this hard-line response, even calling for the Arab leaders to boycott the United States.¹⁷⁵ Returning from Baghdad, however, Arafat informed the Fatah leadership that international terrorism would not be resumed, and that the PLO should remain ready to negotiate if the United States were to issue an invitation.¹⁷⁶

Sadat had gotten his peace treaty with Israel, but Egypt was isolated in the region as a direct result. Unless he could get something for the Palestinians in the months ahead, it would stay that way. Begin, however, had gotten all he wanted – a separate peace with Egypt and increased US aid – and he was not going to give any leeway on the Palestinian front. Carter, who had initially been the most ambitious of the three heads of state, had failed to get his comprehensive peace, but he had secured the separate peace and secured an alliance with Egypt – no small feat. But, if he were to follow up on his own stated ambitions, Carter had to make the autonomy negotiations lead to some form of Palestinian self-rule. This would have been difficult in the best of times, but in the spring of 1979, regional events would take a turn for the worse, and election season was approaching in the United States. Against this background, making gains for the Palestinians would be neither easy nor politically prioritised.

CHAPTER 8

WHERE DO WE GO NOW, BUT NOWHERE?

The Egyptian-Israeli peace treaty was a major accomplishment and could not have been achieved without the indefatigable efforts of President Jimmy Carter. At several key moments, notably at Camp David and in Jerusalem, he worked tirelessly to push through a deal. Both the Camp David Accords and the Egyptian–Israeli peace treaty, however, fell far short of Carter's ambition of a comprehensive Arab-Israeli peace. Nominally, Carter insisted that negotiations would continue until a solution to the Palestinian problem was found. In practice, however, Carter no longer had the time or the energy to really push for a Palestinian solution. Global developments, most notably in Iran and Afghanistan, would consume him from this point forward. That is not to say that Carter had entirely given up on the Palestinians. If he could stop Begin's settlement expansion, it would be a good starting point. Still, this would not improve the situation but only stop it from getting worse. It would be, as Brzezinski had suggested, a litmus test. Yet even the modest goal of curtailing the Israeli settlement project would demand much of Carter. It would also be a goal which he would ultimately fail to achieve.

Begin launched new settlements and expanded existing ones at regular intervals, knowing full well that this made Palestinian autonomy all the more difficult to achieve, and ensured enhanced Israeli control over the occupied territories. The Israeli government acted as though there were no contradiction here. Israeli Foreign Minister Moshe Dayan declared that the autonomy negotiations would not change the status of the settlements and that, even after the five-year period, all the settlements would remain.¹ Such statements came in tandem with new settlement launches. For example, Israel decided to establish a new settlement near Nablus, Elon Moreh.² This was particularly provocative since Nablus was a major Palestinian city. The US State Department issued a short statement criticising both the action and the timing of the establishment of the settlement.³

Paradoxically, there was no negative public reaction from the Egyptian leadership. It is difficult to know for certain why this was so, but it is at least evident that Sadat wanted the Israeli withdrawal from the Sinai to precede as expeditiously as possible, and he had ceased to care about the Palestinian issue, particularly if it threatened the prospects for moving quickly on Israeli withdrawal from occupied Egyptian territory. This passive Egyptian position made it difficult for the US government to harshly criticise Israel. If the Americans did so. they would seem more pro-Arab than the Arabs. Vance and Carter therefore had to take the unusual step of urging the Egyptians to criticise Israel.⁴ The political situation was unfortunate for the Palestinians. Election year was approaching in the United States, which meant that Carter had less room for manoeuvre, and his ability to work for an unpopular policy, such as the Palestinian issue, was very limited. The fact that Egypt would not step up compounded the problem. The Palestinians, then, were largely on their own.

Finding some Palestinians, any Palestinians

One key to gaining any ground on the autonomy negotiations was to get Palestinians on board. There was no easy way to do this. The United States did not talk to the PLO, and even the most moderate Palestinians rejected Begin's autonomy plan. Furthermore, all the Arab states, as well as the Palestinians themselves, insisted that only the PLO could negotiate on behalf of the Palestinians.⁵

Whereas the Palestinian question had initially been a priority for Carter, he was now reluctant to put political weight behind these autonomy negotiations. One very clear indication of the way in which Carter had toned down the importance of the negotiations was his decision to appoint a special negotiator rather than handle the negotiations himself. Robert Strauss, the lawyer and once chairman of the Democratic party, was appointed to the position on 24 April 1979.⁶ No matter how active such a special negotiator was, it was a huge step down from secretary of state and president of the United States.⁷ Over the last two and a half years under Carter, but also with Kissinger before that, the parties to this conflict had been spoiled by regular and direct access to US top decision-makers, such as the national security advisor, the secretary of state and even the president. This downgrade sent a very clear message about the lack of priority assigned to the Palestinian autonomy talks. It reflected the fact that Carter was entering election season, and that other foreign policy issues had become much more important. The special negotiator functioned as a domestic 'political shield' for Carter.⁸

To make the downgrading of US priorities even more obvious, Secretary of State Cyrus Vance proposed that the United States should step back from the negotiations and allow Egypt and Israel to lead their own negotiations. If need be, the United States could engage at a later stage.⁹ The ambition was at this point reduced by so many notches that there was no reconciling it to the early Carter days. Jerusalem had become an issue whose 'deeper aspects' did not need to be addressed. Palestinian representation, as well, had been reduced to gradualism – the Palestinians would not participate at the outset, but, perhaps by the end of the year, some Palestinians who were acceptable to the PLO could be induced to participate.¹⁰

In his diary, Carter noted that PLO representatives 'are sending feelers [...] wanting a means by which to consult. We will do as much as possible within the bounds of our promise to Israel.'¹¹ This was not saying much. Landrum Bolling, the American Quaker who had previously delivered messages from Arafat, again went to see him in April 1979. Vance asked Bolling to inform Arafat that the United States was looking for 'responsible Palestinians' to bring into the negotiation process.¹² In mid-May, Arafat tried to establish contact with the US ambassador to Lebanon, John Gunther Dean, but Dean declined.¹³ Landrum Bolling also met with Arafat in July and reported that Arafat was interested in a new UNSC resolution which would affirm the main principles of UNSC Resolution 242.¹⁴ None of these talks produced any breakthroughs, though – no direct channels of communication were opened, and the PLO did not accept non-PLO Palestinian participation

in the autonomy negotiations. The Palestinians in the occupied territories also consistently insisted that the PLO was their sole legitimate representative, and that they would only accept a solution which granted Palestinian statehood.¹⁵

The difficulty Carter had in engaging with the Palestinians was most famously illustrated when the US ambassador to the UN, Andrew Young, met with PLO members in New York. Israel and its supporters in the United States were enraged. Young first denied that the meeting had taken place, then had to resign when it turned out that this was not true.¹⁶ Carter was unhappy with the situation. Not only was the Young affair difficult to navigate as a foreign policy issue, but also Carter had a personal relationship with Young, and Young was considered a domestic political asset because of his prominent standing in the African-American community.¹⁷

Carter noted in his diary: 'It is absolutely ridiculous that we pledged under Kissinger and Nixon that we would not negotiate with the PLO; but our country's honor is at stake.'¹⁸ Carter was abiding by Kissinger's pledge more strictly than had actually been intended. The pledge opposed political negotiations with the PLO but did not forbid all US officials from meeting with the PLO.¹⁹ No matter what the pledge actually stated, though, meetings with the PLO represented a highly sensitive issue. While Carter could technically have defended Young, it would have cost him domestically. Furthermore, since Young had lied about the meeting, it was all the more difficult to shield him.

Starting the Palestinian autonomy talks

Begin's actions during this period show that he was convinced that he was off the West Bank hook. He appointed Israeli Interior Minister Yosef Burg to head the autonomy talks, a political choice which showed that Israel had no intention of ceding power in the West Bank and Gaza. Assigning his interior minister in this way demonstrated that Begin considered the West Bank and Gaza to be domestic issues. Furthermore, Burg was the leader of the National Religious Party and thus connected with the Gush Emunim settlement movement, which opposed any West Bank compromise. The inclusion of settlement stalwart Ariel Sharon on the negotiation team also sent a very strong signal regarding Begin's intentions to retain control over the West Bank and Gaza.²⁰

This did not bode well for the autonomy talks, which started in Beersheva on 25 May, coinciding with the return of Al Arish to Egypt.²¹ This timing was important, since Israel was gradually handing back Egyptian territory as the autonomy talks took place. If Sadat were to pressure Israel on autonomy, there was a real possibility that Israel would postpone the Sinai evacuation. Since Sinai was what really mattered to Sadat, he would not take that risk.²²

Opening the autonomy talks, Cyrus Vance pointed out that all negotiations would be based on UNSC Resolution 242, land for peace on all fronts, and the Camp David framework formulation 'resolution of the Palestinian problem in all its aspects'.²³ It was an ambitious start. Making that argument and trying to get Israel to agree to it, however, were very different things. As always, the Egyptians and Israelis had very different starting positions. The Egyptians insisted that Palestinian selfdetermination was 'god-given'. Furthermore, the Egyptians insisted that the talks had to be based on the inadmissibility of acquiring territory by war, that this principle must be valid for the West Bank, including East Jerusalem, and that all Israeli settlements were illegal. The Israelis, on the other hand, insisted that they were only negotiating for the establishment of an administrative council which would not be allowed to develop into a Palestinian state. The main conclusion of this first round of talks was an agreement that they would meet again in Alexandria 24

The total lack of movement in the first round was indicative of how the talks would progress throughout. The autonomy talks initially took place every second week. After the talks in Alexandria on 11-12 June, new rounds followed in Herzliya on 25-26 June, then in Alexandria on 5-6 July and in Haifa on 5-6 August 1979.²⁵ The regularity of these summits did not mean that they were significant, however. In fact, the CIA was convinced that the autonomy talks represented a charade from Begin: 'There can be little doubt that the Begin government is determined to retain control over all the crucial powers in the occupied territories [...] Its tactics will be to drag out negotiations over details.'²⁶ Charade or not, the autonomy talks dragged on, with no end in sight.

The Middle East was in flux, and it was hard to see which direction the region would go. The massive opposition against the Israeli– Egyptian peace, exasperated by Begin's continued settlement expansion, meant that old enemies, such as Syria and Iraq, found common ground.
The most secure way for the Americans to regain Arab support was to make progress on the Palestinian issue, stop Israeli settlements, find a way to talk to the PLO and make Jerusalem part of the West Bank negotiations.²⁷ However, while Carter and his foreign policy team continued to claim that these were important issues, they were unwilling to take the steps necessary to moving those Palestinian questions forward. Adapting to regime change in Iran, for example, was far more important than obtaining autonomy for the Palestinians on the West Bank and Gaza.

Furthermore, Sadat's focus was on extending US aid rather than pushing for an autonomy settlement.²⁸ Israeli Defense Minister Ezer Weizman knew that Sadat would not raise difficulties in the negotiations and told Vance that 'Israel would have fewer problems with Egypt in the negotiations than with the United States.²⁹ This position was frustrating for the Carter administration. Since Egypt did not pressure Israel, it was hard for the United States to be more critical of Israel than Egypt was. Israel therefore enjoyed free reign in expanding settlements in the occupied territories.

While Carter struggled with the prospect of being more critical of Israel than Egypt, Israel took a step further to the right, hardening its position regarding the West Bank in particular. At the end of October 1979, Moshe Dayan resigned from the Begin government, in protest at Begin's lack of sincerity about making Palestinian autonomy work and at the settlement expansion policy. Begin handed the position of foreign minister to Yitzhak Shamir from Likud, another far-right politician.³⁰ The Israeli government then drastically increased the pace of its settlement programme. On 15 November 1979, the Israeli 'special ministerial committee' decided to proceed with building 19 settlements which had already been decided on, to transform 12 military settlements into civilian ones, to launch five completely new ones and to expand already existing settlements.³¹

As though matters were not difficult enough for Carter, on 4 November 1979 radical Iranian students seized the US embassy in Tehran, taking the embassy staff hostage. This started an ordeal that would last for the remainder of Carter's presidency – a total of 444 days. Although it was not initiated by the Iranian political leadership, the attack on the embassy was quickly supported by it, making it a question of prestige for the new Iranian regime.³² Senator Robert Byrd (D)

accurately described the effect of the crisis on Carter: 'The Ayatollah Khomeini doesn't just have fifty-three hostages. He also has the President hostage.'³³ Many of the important foreign policy people in the administration who could otherwise have worked on the Palestinian autonomy talks were overloaded by the job of trying to solve the Iranian hostage crisis.³⁴ The hostage crisis, and Carter's deep involvement in it, sapped his energy, making it almost impossible for the hands-on president to focus on the Palestinian question.

In November 1979, Sol M. Linowitz, who had been central to negotiating the 1979 Panama Canal treaty, replaced Robert Strauss as the special negotiator. Strauss had become impatient with the negotiations and was needed in Carter's re-election campaign.³⁵ Carter needed all the help he could get, since he even faced a challenger from within the Democratic party: Ted Kennedy. While Sol Linowitz had mediation experience, he was no Middle East expert.³⁶ Furthermore, when he started his mission with a trip to the region on 6-13 December 1979 to become acquainted with the views of the parties in the autonomy negotiations, he made it clear that those parties were, in fact, only Israel and Egypt. Revealingly, he informed the regional US ambassadors that 'I have not included any activities with Palestinians, which I felt would be counterproductive on this first visit.'37 The regional ambassadors, except those to Egypt and Israel, disagreed with Linowitz's approach. They argued that the most productive thing Carter could do at this stage would be to engage directly with the PLO.³⁸ They might have been right, but Carter was not going to take that step.

The change in special negotiator did not alter the fact that there was no movement in the autonomy talks. The Israeli, Egyptian and US negotiators could not even agree on the size of the proposed elected selfgoverning authority. While Egypt wanted this body to be large, Israel wanted it to be as small as possible so as not to resemble a parliament. If the governing body of the self-governing authority resembled a parliament, they argued, the self-governing authority would resemble a state.³⁹ Such a resemblance was a red line for Begin.

During December 1979, Begin again asked Carter for an increase in US aid to Israel.⁴⁰ This once again provided Carter with the possibility of pressuring Begin, but, as noted previously, there is a difference between having leverage and using it, and Carter was not prepared to use it. Quite the contrary: despite having to make deep budgetary cuts,

Carter agreed to try to increase the amount of aid given to Israel.⁴¹ Ensuring an Israeli sense of security in a troubled region trumped the possibility of using such funds to pressure Israel into making concessions, particularly as US elections were approaching. As time went by, whatever pressure there was on Begin abated, and there was even less incentive for him to make concessions.

Carter admitted to Israeli Minister of Defense Ezer Weizman that he would have to put his involvement on the backburner but promised that, if he was re-elected, the Middle East peace talks would be a top priority.⁴² This was ominous. All the diplomatic breakthroughs had come as a result of direct presidential involvement, whether at Camp David or elsewhere during the last push before the signing of the peace treaty. With Carter out, an increasingly right-wing Israeli government, and an Egyptian president who did not care about finding a solution for the Palestinians, there was no reason to expect much progress.

From bad to worse in the Middle East and beyond

Meanwhile a series of events unfolded which made the region all the more unstable. In November 1979, the grand mosque in Mecca was captured by Sunni Islamic militants, leading to a prolonged fight with the regime in Saudi Arabia. This event, coupled with the revolution in Iran, which had brought to power a radical Shia regime, made the Saudi regime even more insecure about its regional position, faced as it was by emboldened enemies both abroad and domestically. These fears seemed to be confirmed when the Shia population in the eastern parts of Saudi Arabia held protests. Then, in late December 1979, the Soviet Union invaded Afghanistan, ostensibly to protect the Afghani government.⁴³

The world as it had been when Carter came to power in 1977 was spinning out of control. Carter's inability to sustain stability in that region, as well as the rising oil prices, was terrible news for Carter's re-election campaign. It also massively limited his ability to engage in the autonomy negotiations. In January 1980, the president launched the 'Carter doctrine', declaring that 'an attempt by any outside force to gain control of the Persian Gulf region will be regarded as an assault on the vital interests of the United States of America, and such an assault will be repelled by any means necessary, including military force'.⁴⁴ The president who had come to power hoping that the cold war could be sidestepped was reacting just like a typical cold war president.⁴⁵ Yet another of the foundations of his original approach to the Middle East - namely that the Soviet Union could be a partner in guaranteeing the peace - was long gone.

These global events affected not only Carter. In such an unstable regional environment, there was no way Begin would gamble with the security of a territory he considered to be an integral part of Israel.⁴⁶ Furthermore, the Palestinian issue once again dropped drastically in relative importance. None of the central actors would prioritise standing up for the Palestinians while the Soviet Union was invading Afghanistan, Carter was trying to free US hostages in Iran and Saudi Arabia was fighting domestic discontent.

Meanwhile, the autonomy talks dragged on as an ever more futile exercise. A round took place from 31 January to 1 February 1980 in Herzliya, and another in The Hague on 27–28 February 1980.⁴⁷ Much as it had been in the months prior to Camp David, the parties were talking in circles.⁴⁸ In effect, Egypt was hardly negotiating with Israel at all, leaving the United States to take the brunt of the disagreement with Israel. Perhaps the most astonishing thing was that Khalil, representing Egypt, offered to reject the US proposal to 'help us [the United States] out with the Israelis'.⁴⁹ This was a peculiar way of showing that, for Egypt, it was far more important to secure US goodwill than to actually make progress on Palestinian autonomy.

The Middle East experts in the US administration were deeply pessimistic.⁵⁰ Harold Saunders urged that the PLO slowly be brought on board, or that the Palestinians should at least be convinced that they were 'part of the picture'.⁵¹ In reality, though, they were not part of the picture, and they had not been for a very long time.

Begin the builder

Begin was far from helpful. His cabinet supported the building of an Israeli settlement inside Hebron – the was the first one inside a densely populated Palestinian area.⁵² Sol Linowitz informed Begin that Carter would react strongly, and that Israel was losing staunch supporters in the United States over these settlements. Begin's response was defiant. He lambasted the United States for wanting a Palestinian state.⁵³ Begin had no backing for this claim, but over the last three years he had learned

that he could push back when Carter tried to corner him, and that Carter would not stand his ground. Begin even successfully resisted the US attempt to obtain a two-month moratorium on settlement expansion. 54

The number of settlements being built by the Begin government was staggering. According to a US report, Israel had constructed 36 new settlements in the three years Begin had been in power. The West Bank settlement population, excluding Jerusalem, had increased almost three-fold.⁵⁵ Although the United States vocally fought these expansions at every turn, they never put any real pressure on Israel or attached any tangible consequences to the construction. Instead, the United States continued to protect Israel at the UN, to refuse to talk to the PLO, and to supply Israel with both monetary and military aid.

Since October 1978, Sadat had tried to convince the United States and Israel that they could implement the autonomy plan in Gaza first, then move on to the West Bank once this had been proven to work.⁵⁶ While the United States and Israel had both initially been negative, Sadat had not given up. In July 1979, November 1979 and February 1980, respectively, he had pushed the Gaza first idea.⁵⁷ In March 1980, Sadat tried again. At this point the United States was willing to seriously consider it.⁵⁸ Begin, however, did not even respond to Sadat's initiative.⁵⁹

Due to this new deadlock, Carter once again tried to get personally involved. He invited Sadat and Begin for separate visits to Washington.⁶⁰ Illustrative of the sorry state of the negotiations, the only realistic option was to work towards a more detailed framework to form the basis for further negotiations.⁶¹ After over three years of negotiating, the ambition had become simply an agreement to keep negotiating.

Carter admitted to Sadat that he did not think Begin even wanted the self-governing authority to be established at all.⁶² Everything pointed in this direction. For starters, the US embassy in Tel Aviv reported that Begin was not prepared to concede an inch. By their assessment, Begin felt that he enjoyed a strong position in the United States, given the country's pro-Israel inclination. Furthermore, the embassy claimed that Begin felt that conceding anything would push him in the direction of accepting a Palestinian state.⁶³ Since this was an absolute red line for Begin, there was no realistic way to pressure him to accept anything he considered to facilitate the creation of such a state.

The US plan was therefore to find out what Begin thought of a Gaza first scheme, whether he could accept a settlement freeze, and how the self-governing authority could be constituted if Begin refused voting rights to the Palestinians in East Jerusalem.⁶⁴ Begin promptly refused to budge on anything related to Jerusalem, and Carter was once again unable to get him to agree to a settlement moratorium.⁶⁵ Begin also rejected the existing negotiation deadline and instead suggested that talks carry on for over a year – in other words, through and beyond the US election. It was evident that Begin wanted to extend the talks indefinitely, so that the parties would never actually reach the point of implementing autonomy.⁶⁶ This was bad enough, but the real test would be the way in which East Jerusalem would be treated.

Carter argued that taking East Jerusalem out of the self-governing authority would fatally undermine the concept, but Begin would not budge. He countered that allowing Palestinians in East Jerusalem to vote would be equivalent to 'destroyling' Israel's connection with Jerusalem'.⁶⁷ All US drafting of agreements after this point tried to square the circle by finding a solution through which the Palestinians would believe that Jerusalem would be open for future negotiations and Begin would believe that Jerusalem would never be divided.⁶⁸ These two positions were irreconcilable, of course, and again illustrated the problem of what happened when Carter tried to work around Begin's intransigence rather than tackle him head on. Carter could use harsh words when arguing with Begin, but unless he was willing to actually follow up on his threats, or break with some of his self-imposed restrictions - such as not talking to the PLO - there was no reason for Begin to suddenly change his position and make compromises. While Carter might once have had political room to manoeuvre for pressuring Begin – a possibility Carter never truly utilised – that moment had passed, well into the US election year.

Things fall apart

On 24 April 1980, the United States sent a rescue mission to Iran in an attempt to free the US hostages. The mission failed miserably, and Carter ordered the team to withdraw. As it did so, two US aircraft collided, killing eight Americans.⁶⁹ Vance had strongly opposed the launch of the rescue mission and resigned in protest following it. He was replaced as

secretary of state by Senator Edmund Muskie, a choice which showed that Carter was in political trouble and wanted Muskie's influence in domestic politics.⁷⁰ Vance had been one of the architects of the comprehensive approach, but Muskie would not take up that flag.

Carter's position had never been more difficult. The tragedy in Iran was quickly followed up by the resignation in Israel of Ezer Weizman, perhaps the most flexible politician in the Israeli government. Weizman had also been the only person there to support the Gaza-first idea. Weizman and Moshe Dayan, who had resigned in October 1979, had been Begin's flexible ministers. With both of them out, Begin could be even more rigid.⁷¹

With these developments as a backdrop, Linowitz tried to get more talks going by taking a ten-day trip to the Middle East.⁷² As expected, however, there was no progress while Linowitz was in the region.⁷³ Carter was on the brink of admitting failure, and Begin was being unusually difficult, which, in Carter's own words, was 'really saying something'.⁷⁴ Sadat was also tired of the whole affair and, in mid-May 1980, he announced that he would postpone autonomy talks due to an accumulation of Israeli actions hampering negotiations and limiting Palestinian rights.⁷⁵

The PLO saw no hope at all of being allowed to participate in the diplomatic process. They also realised that the process had reached a dead end. The organisation therefore reverted to the hard-line position of wanting to liberate all of historical Palestine, and Fatah even called for 'an escalation of armed struggle'.⁷⁶ One US assessment said that this was both an expression of Fatah's frustration with the political situation, and an attempt by Arafat to 'outmaneuver his extremists'.⁷⁷ Behind the scenes, though, Arafat tried not to burn bridges with the West.⁷⁸ The problem for Arafat was that, since the hard-line statements were public, Begin could easily use them to dismiss the PLO as a legitimate political actor.

A last try

In July 1980, with the negotiation deadline long past, talks were held in Washington to agree on the terms for restarting autonomy negotiations. While both parties disagreed with the US proposals, they did agree to restart negotiations.⁷⁹ But there was absolutely no reason for optimism. The Israelis were busy finalising a Knesset bill which would assert Israeli sovereignty over the whole of Jerusalem. If this resolution passed, it would make it very difficult for Egypt to participate in further negotiations at all.⁸⁰ The international community was also strongly against such an Israeli move.

This did not deter Israel, and the Knesset passed the Jerusalem bill into law on 30 July 1980, effectively making all of Jerusalem Israel's capital.⁸¹ The UN Security Council passed a resolution condemning the bill, with the United States abstaining.⁸² The PLO was furious and blamed the United States for providing Israel with resources and political backing, which allowed Israel to push forward with the 'aggression against Jerusalem'.⁸³ Carter acknowledged that the Jerusalem bill 'puts the final nail in the coffin of the Camp David negotiations'.⁸⁴

While Sadat had ceased working for real Palestinian gains, this Israeli move was a step too far. Sadat's response to the Jerusalem bill was a strongly worded letter informing Begin that his actions in the Palestinian territories had gone against both the letter and the spirit of Camp David, and that they were a breach of UNSC Resolution 242. He ended the letter with a plea:

I am certain that you know, deep in your heart, that it is virtually impossible to continue the negotiations if the present attitude continues. [...] I urge you to take the remedial action which is necessary for the removal of the obstacles which have been placed on the road to peace in the past months. [...] If we fail to remove those obstacles in due time, we will be reducing the vital process of negotiations to a meaningless exercise in futility which would be a disservice to our cherished ideal of peace. [...] I hope to receive a positive reply from you so that the negotiations could proceed in a promising atmosphere and as soon as possible.⁸⁵

Carter's penned note on his copy of the letter is as follows: 'The situation is discouraging. Well worded, very good message.'⁸⁶

The fact that Carter agreed with Sadat had no consequence. As Israeli Foreign Minister Shamir told the Herut Central Committee: Israel's relations with the United States over the years, have known ups and downs. [...] notwithstanding differences of opinion [...] We have heard [...] solemn assurances that U.S. military and economic aid to Israel will remain unaffected and will never be used as a means of exerting pressure on Israel. We have heard too, that the United States will always oppose attempts to impose sanctions on Israel.⁸⁷

As we have seen throughout Carter's term in office, this assessment hit the mark.

In early November 1980, the US administration put forth a last 'nonpaper' devoted to the autonomy framework. According to this proposal, the goals were full Palestinian autonomy based on UNSC Resolution 242; the 'legitimate rights of the Palestinian people'; and Palestinian participation in the next phase of negotiations.⁸⁸ Importantly, the United States insisted that the autonomy arrangements would fall within a five-year transition formula, after which the self-governing authority and Israel would negotiate final status questions. Also, the US paper proposed that after the self-governing authority had been inaugurated, Israel would withdraw its military forces, except for those to be redeployed 'into specified security locations'.⁸⁹ Neither Israel nor Egypt accepted the document.⁹⁰ This was the last attempt the Carter administration would make to get an agreement for the West Bank and Gaza. There would be no agreement and no Palestinian self-governing authority.

The Egyptians rejected the paper because they did not consider it to 'meet the minimum standards which [...] would be necessary for either Palestinian or Arab public opinion'.⁹¹ One Egyptian representative summed up his view of the negotiations: 'If the GOE [Government of Egypt] wanted 90 per cent and Israel wanted 20 per cent the U.S. position was at 25 per cent although he acknowledged that the Israelis might be willing to raise hell over the 5 per cent gap between their position and the United States paper.'⁹² While this statement obviously reflects Egyptian frustration, it would be more precise to point out that the US position was much closer to Egypt's position, but that each time Begin 'raised hell', Carter backed down.

On 4 November 1980, Jimmy Carter lost the US presidential election to Republican candidate Ronald Reagan. Carter had run out of time, and

he had no more political capital to spend. Reagan was a strong supporter of Israel and had no political interest in solving the Palestinian issue.⁹³ Shortly after entering office, Reagan stated publicly that he did not consider the Israeli settlements to be illegal.⁹⁴ It seemed as though Carter's policies were going to be reversed, and Begin would be home free. However, as fighting intensified in Lebanon, the Reagan administration did become engaged in the Arab-Israeli conflict and, on 24 July 1981, even mediated a cease-fire between Palestinian guerrillas and Israel. Then, in August 1982, after the Israeli invasion of Lebanon, the United States helped to mediate the PLO evacuation from the country. Once Reagan got engaged in the Arab-Israeli conflict, interestingly, he tried to go all the way and, a month later, in September 1982, he launched his own peace plan. To Israel's great dismay, it was based on the autonomy proposal, which Begin had thought was a dead letter after Carter had lost the election. This time, Israel simply rejected the proposal outright, rather than try to drag out negotiations as it had under Carter. This seemed to work. Reagan abandoned his peace proposal without putting up much of a fight.⁹⁵

The autonomy proposal, however, had a strange way of reappearing at regular intervals, despite the fact that the Palestinians had consistently rejected it and that Israel, which had originally suggested autonomy, also shunned it. When the Palestinian Intifada broke out in 1987, it was once again obvious that something had to be done, and, during the spring of 1988, the Reagan administration launched the Shultz peace plan. Here, too, Palestinian autonomy was a central component, and once again, both the PLO and Israel rejected the proposal.⁹⁶

In September 1993, however, Israel and the PLO signed the Oslo treaty.⁹⁷ While there are clear differences between the Oslo treaty and Begin's self-rule proposal, it is clear that Begin's concept of Palestinian autonomy formed the basis for the Oslo treaty.⁹⁸ The Oslo treaty, like the autonomy negotiations which took place during the last year and a half of Carter's presidency, has been bogged down by the fact that the transitional phase was never really accepted as such. The transition from autonomy, in the form of the Palestinian Authority, to Palestinian statehood has now become a purely theoretical concept. Well over two decades have passed since the Oslo treaty's five-year transition period began, and there is no end to it in sight.

CHAPTER 9 A FAILED AMBITION

Both the United States and the Palestinians missed a historic opportunity in the Carter years. President Jimmy Carter entered office in January 1977 with great ambitions for the Middle East, aiming to solve the Arab–Israeli conflict in its entirety. Importantly, Carter identified the Palestinian issue as the core of that conflict and sought to solve it as part of the peace process, rather than postpone it until all the other issues had been dealt with. It was never exactly clear what Carter proposed for the Palestinians, but he wanted to include acceptable Palestinian representatives in the negotiations, so that they could participate in determining their own future. Furthermore, while Carter never supported a Palestinian state, he supported full Israeli withdrawal with only 'minor modifications' and a Palestinian 'homeland'. All of this represented a break with traditional US Middle East policies.

When the comprehensive process derailed and the Sadat–Begin talks developed, Prime Minister Menachem Begin launched his self-rule scheme as a smokescreen to avoid making real concessions on Palestinian issues, while providing Egyptian President Anwar Sadat with cover to proceed with a separate Egyptian–Israeli peace. Carter disliked Begin's self-rule proposal for the Palestinians, because it failed to grant them the rights to which they had a legitimate claim. In September 1978, Carter told Begin: 'What is important is whether these people [the Palestinians in the West Bank and Gaza] have an irrevocable right to selfgovernment. If I were an Arab, I would prefer the present Israeli occupation to this proposal of yours.'¹ The more the talks dragged on, however, the more Carter came to accept self-rule as a starting point. 178

Once Carter had come to that conclusion, however, Begin began to stall and provoke, ensuring that even that limited proposal never came into being, until the concept was revitalised a decade later in the Oslo treaty.

When Carter left office after four years, in January 1981, he had secured an Egyptian–Israeli peace, but a broader Arab–Israeli peace had proven elusive. The Palestinians had made no gains, and Carter had failed to negotiate with the PLO. Carter was in an odd position – he had attempted to break with traditional US policy but had ended up fulfilling the goals of that tradition, which had been to break up the Arab alliance, side-line the Palestinians, build an alliance with Egypt, weaken the Soviet Union and secure Israel.

The Carter legacy

Within the existing literature, there are two broad approaches to ranking President Jimmy Carter as a peace-maker in the Arab-Israeli conflict. The first, and most common, is to see him as a successful mediator of an Egyptian–Israeli peace.² The second is to see him as a failure because he made no progress on the Palestinian front.³ The former ranks him primarily according to what he achieved, while the latter ranks him primarily according to his intentions. A third approach, recently represented by Hazem Kandil, sees a separate Egyptian-Israeli peace as Carter's intention all along, but this is simply not true. Not only does the archival material fail to support this theory, but even Kandil's source for his argument actually says the opposite of what he claims.⁴ In his seminal book on Carter's Middle East diplomacy, William B. Quandt concludes that, given how the deck was stacked against him, Carter could realistically have tweaked his policy only very slightly in order to increase linkage.⁵ In other words, a comprehensive peace was unrealistic, but it might have been possible to achieve a little more than the very limited separate peace which emerged in March 1979. Recently, Nathan Thrall has posited that Carter might serve as a model for how US presidents can pressure Israel to make concessions.⁶ As this study has demonstrated, though, Thrall largely overstates Carter's pressure on Israel.

This academic debate aside, President Jimmy Carter's legacy in the Middle East is clearly based on his achievement, not on his intentions. He is not remembered as the first US president to focus on the

Palestinian issue, or for his use of the term 'homeland', but rather as the US president who secured a separate Egyptian-Israeli peace. There is no denving that the Camp David Accords and the Egyptian–Israeli peace treaty constitute an impressive accomplishment. Since 1948, when Israel was established. Egypt had been Israel's principal enemy. The two states had been at war several times, most importantly in 1948-49, 1956, 1967 and 1973, but also during the war of attrition in 1968-70. The Egyptian–Israeli peace treaty not only ensured that there would be no more wars between Israel and Egypt but also that the Arab states could no longer engage in direct war with Israel, since Syria - Israel's other main adversary – needed Egypt to have a chance against the vastly superior Israeli forces. Carter was decisive in bringing those Egyptian-Israeli treaties to fruition. Had it not been for his persistence, there would have been no such agreements. Still, while this acknowledgment is important, it disguises the fact that, measured against Carter's own standards of what he sought to achieve, the separate peace was a failure.

Perhaps that is an unfair standard, however. It can easily be argued that Carter's ambition was an impossible one – that the conditions were simply too difficult for there to be any realistic chance of a comprehensive peace. I contentd that this argument is too simplistic, because it is built on a premise which cannot be tested. It might well be that even *if* Carter had tried all the political tools available in his toolset, then the Egyptian–Israeli peace treaty might still have remained the maximum of what he could have achieved.

The problem is that we have no way of knowing this for certain. What we do know, however, is that Carter did not utilise his full toolset. He could have conditioned US aid to Israel on the implementation of restrictive Israeli settlement policies, thus heightening the cost to Begin of expanding settlements (President George H. W. Bush did this in the run-up to the Madrid conference a decade later.) Carter also could have gone further in opening up a US–PLO dialogue, either in response to Israeli policies or by endorsing a broader interpretation of the Sinai II promise regarding the PLO. Carter could have supported UN Security Council resolutions on settlement construction and the Jerusalem bill, but, apart from the resolution on Lebanon, he made no such push in the UN. Lastly, Carter could have gone public with how obstinate Begin was, and thereby attempt to secure US domestic support for more pressure on Israel or a more generous PLO policy. This 'fireside chat' was indeed considered but never implemented. It is impossible to know whether any of these policies would have had any positive effects, but it is clear that, while Carter worked very hard to resolve the Arab–Israeli conflict, there were many measures left untried.

Changing conditions

Carter's comprehensive approach represented a major change in how the US addressed the Middle East. Previous US presidents had viewed the Arab–Israeli conflict according to a set of principles which shaped their negotiations. Firstly, the conflict was viewed as part of the cold war rivalry. This meant that the United States and the Soviet Union competed both in war and in peace, and that the regional conflict was a zero-sum game in which the superpowers competed for influence. Securing the position of their regional allies, then, tended to supersede the desire for regional peace. Secondly, the conflict was seen primarily as one between the Arab states and Israel. This meant that all negotiations were state to state, aimed at solving border questions between the states in question. Thirdly, the Palestinians were politically excluded as a political party, because they were seen as either a humanitarian issue (as refugees) or a security issue (as terrorists). Previous US approaches had thus failed to address the core Israeli–Palestinian conflict.

Carter attempted to break with all of these assumptions. He intended to cooperate with the Soviet Union in arranging a broad conference at Geneva. The idea was that Soviet participation would increase the likelihood of success, because it would transform the superpower rivalry which had hampered previous peace-making efforts into superpower cooperation, through which the United States and the Soviet Union could help bring each other's allies to the table and serve as guarantors afterwards. Carter tried to break with the two other assumptions by including the Palestinians both as an issue (West Bank, Gaza, Jerusalem and refugees) and as a political actor in the negotiations.

The latter goal was one of the most difficult aspects of Carter's overall approach. Though the Arab states and the Palestinians considered the PLO to be the 'sole representative' of the Palestinians, the United States had promised Israel not to negotiate with the PLO, as part of the 1975 Sinai II disengagement agreement. According to this pledge to Israel, the United States could only negotiate with the PLO if the PLO recognised Israel and UNSC Resolution 242.⁷ Carter and his foreign policy team were, nevertheless, prepared to attempt to bridge that gap and find creative ways of including the Palestinians in the talks. In the end, though, Carter's main accomplishment reflected the previous US approaches to the conflict far more than they resembled Carter's ambition. The peace between Egypt and Israel was a separate peace which dealt exclusively with Israel and one Arab state: Egypt. The Palestinians were excluded as a party to the talks, though they were the *theme* of the unsuccessful self-rule negotiations.

The goal of reaching a comprehensive peace was not going to be an easy task, as Carter quickly discovered. Nonetheless, some of the important conditions for such a grand scheme were actually present when Carter entered office in January 1977. Globally, the United States and the Soviet Union were in a period of détente. This meant that it was possible to get the Soviet Union on board as a co-chair of a Geneva conference, and that the two superpowers could cooperate in developing their diplomatic approach. The Soviet Union, for example, was willing to help Carter communicate with the PLO in an attempt to get the organisation to assent to a UNSC Resolution 242 formula which was acceptable to the United States. According to this formula, the United States would recognise that the resolution did not adequately address the Palestinian issue.⁸

Regionally, the overall situation was stable, apart from the civil war in Lebanon. Both Egypt and Syria had recently signed disengagement agreements with Israel, meaning that the two leading Arab confrontation states had broken the taboo of negotiating with Israel. These agreements had confirmed to these states that it was possible to regain land through negotiations, and that the United States could serve as a mediator, despite its bias in Israel's favour. Furthermore, while the PLO had not gone the full distance towards committing to recognising Israel and accepting UNSC Resolution 242, the organisation had recently moved in that direction. At the Palestine National Council (PNC) in 1974, the PLO had vaguely, and implicitly, accepted a two-state solution.⁹ It would confirm that move at the 1977 PNC.

In Israel, the Labour Party was still in power when Carter started his term. While the Labour Party leaders had supported the establishment of settlements in the occupied territories since 1967, they were not proponents of a strong ideological claim to those territories. Negotiations could thus have a security-oriented focus.

Domestically, Carter was a newly elected president with the popular mandate this status entailed. He had considerable room for manoeuvre. in terms of changing approaches to foreign policy, particularly since both the Nixon and Ford administrations had become so unpopular. Furthermore, while previous US governments had failed to include the PLO in peace-making, there had been a gradual move in the United States to accept the PLO as a legitimate political party. Such a development was found in State Department deliberations, in the socalled Saunders document presented to the US House of Representatives in November 1975, and in the 1975 Brookings Institution report, amongst others.¹⁰ The Brookings report in particular had been instrumental in bringing the argument for a comprehensive peace in the Middle East, including the Palestinian question, to the fore in US foreign policy circles. Several of the authors of the report gained prominent positions in the Carter administration, including National Security Advisor Zbigniew Brzezinski and his Middle East advisor William B. Quandt. While including the Palestinians in Middle East peace-making did remain controversial in the United States, Carter and his foreign policy team were not starting from scratch.

The conditions which had been promising when Carter moved into the White House withered over time, and almost none of them remained in place at the end of his tenure. There was obviously some interplay between Carter's approach to the Middle East and the changes in these conditions. Some of the conditions changed as a result of Carter's policies, whilst other were shaped by external events – which were often outside Carter's control, and this would, in turn, alter Carter's policies towards the conflict. The changing conditions form one important explanation for why Carter failed to deliver on his comprehensive approach.

Building a house of cards

The first nine months of Carter's tenure in office can be described as an almost hyperactive period of constructing a comprehensive peace edifice. The combined effort of President Carter and Secretary of State Vance in putting together all the pieces is staggering. Only three weeks along, in February 1977, Vance went on an eight-day Middle East tour to develop the common ground on which a Geneva conference could be based. On 16 March 1977, Carter famously and controversially declared that he supported a Palestinian 'homeland'. 'Homeland' was a vague term, and Carter did not go so far as to support a Palestinian state. The term did, however, imply a degree of self-determination, and Carter would also accept a federative solution with Jordan. He also demanded Israeli withdrawal from the West Bank and Gaza, with only minor modifications.¹¹

This was a radical step by a US president. It set off alarm bells in Israel and amongst pro-Israeli groups in the United States. On the other hand, it gained Carter support from the Arab states, the Palestinians and the Soviet Union. In March 1977, the PLO confirmed its stance at the 1974 Palestine National Council which implied an acceptance of a two-state solution.¹² This was not enough for the United States to open direct contacts with the PLO, because the PLO still rejected UNSC Resolution 242 and did not recognise the state of Israel. The fact that Carter was going further than previous US presidents in acknowledging the importance of the Palestinian question, and the reactions this raised in the United States, demonstrated the inherent tension between US domestic and foreign politics with regard to the Arab–Israeli conflict. Attempting to shift US policy in a direction which accommodated the Palestinians was highly unpopular domestically and created tension between the Carter administration and Israel.

In the period surrounding the homeland declaration, Carter hosted the Middle East heads of state, to further develop the prospects for holding a Geneva conference. Already at this point Carter clashed with the Israeli leadership, which was still led by a Labour government and was in a tight spot. Facing domestic problems, and with elections approaching, it was in no position to make concessions.¹³

Meanwhile, Carter and his foreign policy team explored various ways to get the PLO on board in the negotiations. For one thing, Carter pressed all the regional heads of state on this issue. Israel was adamantly against including the PLO in any way. Despite the fact that Carter strongly disagreed with the Israeli approach to the Palestinians, he strictly adhered to the 1975 Sinai II promise and did not speak to the PLO. He did, however, cultivate a series of back-channel approaches towards the Palestinian organisation. These back-channel intermediaries included Palestinian intellectuals in the United States with ties to the PLO, US Quakers, a US journalist (Sheehan), a US Congressman (Findley), the Soviet Union and the various Arab states. The Carter administration's indirect communication with the PLO, in the hopes of getting it to accept UNSC Resolution 242 and thus become an acceptable partner in the peace process, was a highly unusual and controversial US policy. At the same time, Carter's strict adherence to the Sinai II promise meant that, while he intended to break out of the diplomatic mould by including the Palestinians in peace-making, he remained bound by the premises of that mould. He would never really challenge the Sinai II pledge and actually adhered to it much more strictly than even Henry Kissinger had intended. This was perhaps the biggest contradiction in Carter's approach.

The contradiction between Carter's goal of including the Palestinians and the premise that the United States could not communicate with the PLO, is key to understanding why Carter failed to get the PLO on board. The various back channels were slow and contradictory. The PLO was also torn 'inside and out' between the radicals and the moderates.¹⁴ The organisation was comprised of a large variety of groups with divergent interests, and coordinating a common political stance was exceedingly difficult for it. Furthermore, the PLO was at the mercy of its various interlocutors, and neither the United States nor the PLO could actually get a clear sense of how far the other was willing to go. What would the PLO get in return for accepting UNSC Resolution 242? Could the PLO accept being part of a unified Arab delegation at Geneva? If the PLO did everything the United States asked, would Israel accept the PLO's participation in a Geneva conference?

Carter had no clear answers to these questions. While the United States agreed to communicate with the PLO, if the PLO accepted the UNSC Resolution 242 formula which the Carter team developed, the administration refused to commit to anything beyond that. The PLO leadership therefore had no clear notion of what such communication could lead to. Accepting UNSC Resolution 242, and implicitly recognising Israel, was considered a high price to pay with few concrete returns. This made it difficult for the moderate Palestinian leadership to convince the more radical Palestinian groups and individuals of the merits of accepting UNSC Resolution 242. It was also hard for the PLO leadership to convince its various Arab benefactors, such as the Syrian

regime. The Syrian regime insisted that the PLO had to get more than a mere promise of contacts with the United States in return for accepting the resolution.¹⁵

On shaky ground

The Israeli answer to the question of conditional PLO participation had been a clear 'no' under the Labour government, and, as it turned out, that no would become even clearer. In June 1977, Likud took power in Israel under the leadership of Menachem Begin. This changed the political situation decisively. Unlike the late Labour government, Begin's government had a strong mandate and a strong leader. While this meant that Likud was in a better position to make difficult decisions, the government was also harder to work with due to its staunch ideological position regarding the Palestinians and the Palestinian territories. Many of the Arab states and the PLO backtracked on their compromises when faced with the harsh Likud rhetoric, the ideological claim Begin made regarding the West Bank and Gaza, Begin's insistence that the Palestinians were not a people, and, lastly, Carter's inability to rein in Israel.¹⁶ Begin even insisted that the PLO was a reincarnation of the Nazis.¹⁷

Carter had taken the position that Israeli settlements were illegal, as well as obstacles to peace. This, combined with the fact that he appeared to open the door for the PLO to join negotiations, made Israel and its US supporters strongly sceptical of Carter. He therefore tried a soft approach towards Begin, hoping that he could win more by not confronting him. It had the opposite effect. Begin returned to Israel convinced that Carter was weak and describing him as a 'cream puff'.¹⁸ Begin then tried to exploit Carter's perceived weakness and challenged him by expanding settlements. This challenge, and Carter's inability to stop it, set the tone for the tense relationship between Carter and Begin, as well as the later encounters between the two. Begin had seen that he could push Carter and make gains and, when Carter tried to push him back, he could stand his ground without cost. This dynamic gave the Arab heads of state the impression that Carter was not able to support their claims when faced with Begin.

This impression was confirmed when, before Begin's visit to Washington, the Carter administration asked the Arab heads of state for 186

concessions, because it was seen to be almost impossible to make Begin budge. The result was that the PLO and the Arab states became sceptical as to how realistic Carter's comprehensive approach was. To accommodate the needs of Israel was to estrange the Arab position. While the internal discussions from this period show that the US administration considered talking to the PLO if Israel refused to budge, Carter never dared make that move, due to certain domestic constraints.¹⁹ Not talking to the PLO was a fundamental cornerstone of US Middle East policy, and breaking with that policy would have been extremely unpopular in the United States. Similarly, Carter had ways to pressure Israel, but refrained from doing so. These unused tools included withholding US funds, supporting UN Security Council resolutions and publicly blaming Begin for blocking progress in the negotiations.

Instead, Vance went on a new tour of the Middle East, to develop the comprehensive approach further. Despite having hardened somewhat in reaction to Begin, Vance found that, in general, the Arab leaders were constructive. August and September 1977 was the moment in the Carter presidency when the United States came closest to opening political talks with the PLO. For a short while, Vance, through various intermediaries, argued over the semantics of a PLO statement which would have allowed for direct talks. The United States would accept a formula which stated that the PLO supported UNSC Resolution 242 but recognised that it did not adequately deal with the Palestinians as a political entity. The PLO, however, insisted on first pointing out that UNSC Resolution 242 did not recognise their political rights; if it did, on the other hand, the organisation would recognise it.²⁰

The PLO proposed the following formulation: 'Had resolution 242 dealt with the Palestinian question as a cause of a people that has its national rights and aspirations to establish its state in its homeland and not as a problem of refugees, the PLO would have accepted it.'²¹

The Carter administration could not accept that formulation and suggested an alternative:

The PLO accepts UN Security Council Resolution 242, with the reservation that it considers that the Resolution does not make adequate reference to the question of the Palestinians since it fails to make any reference to a homeland for the Palestinian people.

It is recognized that the language of Resolution 242 relates to the right of all states in the Middle East to live in peace.²²

Later the Carter administration tried another formulation:

The PLO accepts UNSC Resolution 242, recognizing that it relates to the right of all states in the Middle East to live in peace, with the following reservation, the reservation of the PLO regarding resolution 242 is that it does not establish a complete basis for the Palestinian issue and for the national rights of the Palestinians, it also fails to refer in any manner to a national homeland for the Palestinian people.²³

The PLO did not accept these formulations, and the 242-withreservations debate ultimately led nowhere. While Carter thought that not talking to the PLO was a hopeless policy, he considered keeping the promise a question of national honour. This debate nonetheless shows how close Carter was to opening direct communication with the PLO. In the history of US-PLO relations, this was remarkable, but it did not cut it.

Sadat's initiatives

While Begin stood his ground against Carter, Egyptian President Anwar Sadat was desperate for peace. Economically, Egypt was not doing well. Sadat wanted to reorient his regime away from its long-time Soviet ally and towards the United States, and he wanted to regain the Sinai. Peace with Israel was essential to ensure success in these overarching aims.²⁴ Sadat therefore gave Carter concessions which Carter had not even asked for. Sadat's strategy was to try to become as close to the United States as possible. For Sadat peace-making with Israel was also alliance-building with the United States. Begin, on the other hand, did not have to compromise to please the United States, because the US–Israeli alliance was well cemented. Carter could vocally challenge Begin but would not put any political weight behind that challenge, unless a situation arose in which Carter could convincingly argue that Begin was the roadblock to peace. It never became clear exactly how obdurate Begin had to be before Carter felt that such pressure would be warranted. This difference between Sadat and Begin's position vis-à-vis the United States is essential to understanding the development of the peace talks. Begin was a hardliner who knew that his alliance with the United States was secure. Sadat, on the other hand, needed to compromise, precisely to secure support from the United States. This dynamic greatly benefitted Begin.

In a major attempt to push the peace process forward and please the United States, Sadat handed Vance a draft for an Egyptian–Israeli peace treaty in August 1977. Sadat suggested that the United States should collect similar drafts from the other involved states. Carter and Vance were elated, and the focus of the talks shifted to a multi-bilateral approach. Rather than focus on one complete deal involving all the parties, this model aimed for several parallel treaties. In most aspects, this shift from a comprehensive approach to a multi-bilateral approach was a minor procedural shift, but for the Palestinians it was a major substantial shift, since they were not a state, and this model applied only to states.

September 1977 went by with little progress. Israel built more settlements, and argued strongly against Palestinian participation. On 1 October, the disagreements between Israel and the Carter administration came to a head with the release of the US–Soviet joint communiqué. The communiqué stated that the common goal of the United States and the Soviet Union was a comprehensive peace, to be obtained through the participation of all the involved parties, including the Palestinians. The communiqué stressed that such a solution must be based on Israeli withdrawal to the 1967 lines.²⁵

While US–Soviet cooperation was part and parcel of the comprehensive approach, Israel was strongly against this move and mobilised massive support, particularly within the United States. Brzezinski described Israel's pressure as 'blackmail'.²⁶ Carter caved in, scrapping the joint communiqué and accepting an Israeli working paper for how to proceed with the negotiations. This working paper ensured that Israel would negotiate with each of the Arab states separately and once again proved to Begin that Carter could be pressured. Israel's ability to mobilise domestic opinion in the United States was one of Israel's greatest assets, particularly in comparison to the Arab states. To say nothing of how this imbalance tipped in Israel's favour compared to the Palestinians. Israel had a high level of influence on US domestic politics,

while the Arab states had almost no access. This imbalance favoured Israel, particularly in moments such as the joint communiqué debate, because the communiqué contained elements which were domestically unpopular in the United States. It was seen as inviting the Soviet Union back into Middle East diplomacy, and it accepted the Palestinians as a legitimate party to the conflict. Israel's know-how in effectively using US domestic policies to its advantage helped the Israelis outmanoeuvre both the Arab states and the Carter administration.

Syria and the PLO were particularly dissatisfied with the scrapping of the joint communiqué, as well as the working paper which replaced it. The situation became completely deadlocked, and the comprehensive approach was clearly falling apart as Carter gave in to Israeli pressure. Then, Sadat and Begin undermined the comprehensive approach further by establishing secret and direct lines of communication. When Carter appealed to Sadat to help him push the process forward, Sadat decided to go to Jerusalem and break the psychological barrier between Israel and Egypt. With this Jerusalem initiative in November 1977, any hope of keeping the process comprehensive went out the window. Once Sadat had opened direct contact, thus implicitly recognising Israel, the other Arab states and the PLO wanted no part in the political process. A particularly important result of this was that Sadat became increasingly isolated in the Arab world. Sadat was essentially faced with the choice of either breaking with the Israeli-Egyptian peace process in order to reconcile with the Arab states and the PLO or continuing with the peace process and breaking with the other Arabs. Given that he was realigning his main alliance towards the United States he was disinclined to consider the former.

Fascinatingly, Carter and his team were slow to realise that their comprehensive approach was no longer viable. Instead, they struggled to find a way to keep the process going.

The cards fall down

Based on the archival material, we can be sure that Carter wanted a comprehensive peace. We can be far less sure of what Sadat wanted. He was vocally supportive of the comprehensive approach for a long time, and with some exceptions, until the very end of Carter's presidency, Sadat generally insisted that peace with Israel was part of a broader peace. However, in late December 1977, Sadat claimed that the Palestinian issue was a mere 'cover' for him.²⁷ Later though, he reverted to arguing that it was central. In sum, it is reasonable to assume that Sadat would not have minded achieving a broader Arab–Israeli peace, but that he became less and less willing to risk anything in order to secure it. What really mattered to Sadat was to make peace with Israel, to regain the Sinai, and to secure an alliance with the United States. The more the Arab states and the PLO condemned Sadat, the less he was willing to heed their demands.

While Sadat's trip to Israel derailed the comprehensive peace, and ensured that there was an open and direct contact between the Israeli and Egyptian leadership, it did not pave the way for an easy peace process. In this period, Sadat generally acted against US advice. It is difficult to assess what Sadat was thinking at the time, but it appears that he was, at the very least, naively optimistic regarding Israel. Realising – very slowly – that this bilateral approach was the new name of the game, the Carter administration investigated the possibility of a separate peace plus. This would entail an Egyptian–Israeli peace which included an adequate Palestinian solution. As had been the case with the 'homeland' term, it was not entirely clear what was understood to be an adequate Palestinian solution. It had to be something which the other Arab states, and some of the Palestinians, could accept as a starting point, and which could therefore help to legitimise Sadat's peace with Israel. This would then form the first step in a broader peace process.

The concept that would tie this together was linkage – that is, a certain degree of formal connection between an Egyptian–Israeli peace treaty and a broader peace between Israel and the other Arab states, as well as a solution to the Palestinian issue. How much linkage would be enough to satisfy the Arab states in general, and Egypt in particular? Furthermore, could Israel be made to accept the degree of linkage which was seen as a minimum by the Arab states and the Palestinians?

Begin realised that he was under a certain amount of pressure to provide something on the Palestinian front, in order to facilitate a separate peace with Egypt. In December 1977, therefore, he launched his 'self-rule' proposal, hoping that it would be just enough to satisfy Carter and Sadat. The self-rule proposal would give the Palestinians in the West Bank and Gaza autonomous rights as individuals, but they would not gain any national rights, nor could they claim sovereignty over the land. This was a non-starter for the Palestinians, and it should have been clear that this was not enough to appease any of the Arab states, including – at least initially – Egypt. For lack of better options, however, the idea would gradually sink in with both Sadat and Carter.

The first half of 1978 was an *annus horribilis* for Carter in the Middle East. Begin refused to budge and also expanded Israeli settlements in the West Bank, and, in March, Israel invaded Lebanon in retaliation for a PLO terrorist attack in Israel. For the Palestinian's, the process had become one of negotiation without representation, and they would have none of it. Isolated from the political process, the PLO reverted to violence in order to assert its importance in the conflict. While the PLO attack on Israel did indeed prove the PLO's relevance, it further excluded them from the negotiations.

When Israel invaded Lebanon, causing over a thousand deaths, Begin had crossed a red line. He was condemned in the UN, and ordered out of Lebanon by a UN Security Council resolution supported by the United States. While the IDF did not immediately heed the order, this showed that the United States could exert pressure on Israel in the UN if Israel committed acts which were adequately reprehensible. This was a step Carter would take only if Begin really pushed it. A large-scale military incursion into Lebanon was such a case, whereas settlement expansions were not. This gave Begin a good indication of his room for manoeuvre vis-à-vis Carter.

When Carter tried to get Begin to accept that negotiations had to have some semblance of comprehensiveness, Begin knew he could stand his ground, aside from offering the elusive self-rule concept. In March 1978, faced with Begin's intransigence, on the one hand, and Sadat's increasing willingness to work towards a peace with Israel, on the other, Carter admitted that a separate peace was the only realistic option.²⁸ Begin's self-rule had become the accepted starting point for a negotiation of what 'linkage' would entail in practice.

Camp David

After having banged his head against a wall for months on end, Carter invited Sadat and Begin to Camp David for a closed conference. The format was highly unusual, but by September 1978 Carter had tried virtually everything else and badly needed a breakthrough. 192

His administration had invested too much time, prestige and energy on the peace process to let it fade into oblivion.

The Camp David format had several advantages. First, it was toplevel, so major decisions could be made on the spot. Second, the fact that the conference was secluded and closed meant that domestic pressure was reduced. Third, since the US president himself was host and main negotiator, the cost of failing to make compromises was high. None of these premises was enough to make the process easy. There was also a clear imbalance with regard to how these factors affected the respective parties. On the Egyptian side, Sadat was the individual who was most willing to compromise and the most intent on securing a close relationship with the United States. The lack of any corresponding US domestic pressure and a fear of disappointing Carter increased Sadat's willingness to make serious compromises. Begin, on the other hand, was a hardliner, and he knew that the US-Israeli relationship was stable. While the reduced role of domestic pressure meant that he was free from the pressure of the most inflexible Israelis, it also meant that he was under less pressure to compromise. He also risked far less than Sadat with regard to the US relationship. This gave him much more room to manoeuvre, and he could take negotiations to the brink of collapse in order to secure his position. While Carter's stance on the desired outcome from Camp David was much closer to Sadat's, he needed success. Since it was easier to pressure Sadat than Begin, Carter was inclined to lean on Sadat.

The gruelling 13 days of negotiations at Camp David ended in a framework agreement between Egypt and Israel, known as the Camp David Accords, which stipulated a separate peace between the two countries and provided the framework for negotiating a solution for the West Bank and Gaza. While the Israeli concession of agreeing to cede the Sinai was major, Begin made the greatest gains with regard to everything outside the Sinai. He minimised the degree of formal linkage between the Egyptian–Israeli peace and the development of Palestinian autonomy on the West Bank and Gaza. Carter believed that Begin had agreed to a moratorium on settlements for a longer period, but Begin insisted that he had only agreed not to launch new settlements for three months. In addition, Begin had ensured that any references to Israeli withdrawal from the West Bank and Gaza, to a division of Jerusalem or to Palestinian self-determination, were either entirely removed from the text, or packed away in separate side-letters with a low judicial value.

Despite the Camp David Accords of September 1978, Israel and Egypt negotiated until March 1979 before they signed a peace treaty. Those months included several tough rounds of negotiations, and Begin continuously managed to weaken the degree of linkage between the Egyptian-Israeli peace treaty and the Palestinian autonomy negotiations. After the peace treaty was signed, negotiations for Palestinian autonomy slowed down almost immediately. Begin had gotten what he wanted – peace with Egypt without substantial concessions on the West Bank and Gaza. Giving up the Sinai was the most he was willing to offer to ensure those gains. Sadat, too, had gotten what he primarily wanted peace with Israel, regaining the Sinai, and an alliance with the United States. As for the remaining issues, Sadat was angered by the vociferous Arab reaction to his peace treaty with Israel and became far less inclined to push for Palestinian gains. In addition, Sadat feared that if he pushed on the Palestinian issues, Begin would slow down the return of the Sinai. Sadat therefore allowed Begin to expand the Israeli settlements without complaining.

Carter, for his part, was tired of the Arab–Israeli conflict. Instead of being personally involved in further engagements or sending Secretary of State Cyrus Vance, he appointed special representatives who lacked an intimate knowledge of the situation. The Carter administration was sapped of energy, and had to direct its focus towards issues which were far more important than securing autonomy for the Palestinians. Oil prices were rising, the economic situation was becoming more difficult, US election season was approaching, and the Middle East was in turmoil. In Iran, a stable US ally was ousted and replaced by a radical anti-US regime led by Ayatollah Khomeini. Things took a turn for the worse when US embassy personnel were taken hostage in November 1979. Furthermore, the lull in the cold war ended abruptly with the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan in December 1979 and the launch of the Carter doctrine.

When Carter lost the US presidential election in November 1980, it seemed to be the end of the story. Carter and his call for a comprehensive peace had been the best shot the Palestinians would get for at least a decade. Begin knew that once he had outlasted Carter, the pressure on Israel to provide Palestinians with a self-governing authority would be gone. Since neither the Palestinians nor the other Arab states supported the idea, and since Sadat was disinterested, there was no impetus to keep negotiations going. Those negotiations had been kept artificially alive by Carter in 'a semi-comatose state' during the last months of his tenure.²⁹ With Carter out of the White House, the autonomy negotiations lost their life support. Twice during the following eight Reagan years, however, the autonomy proposal would resurface, but each time both Israel and the PLO rejected it. The PLO wanted a state, and autonomy would not cut it.

Whither the pressure

The looming question in this story is whether Carter realistically could have done more to change the outcome of the peace process. The key to the answer resides in the power structures between Egypt and Israel. Israel was the strongest regional power, and Sadat had come to realise that the Sinai could only be regained via diplomacy. Since war was no longer an option, and since Egypt had become isolated in the Arab world, Sadat lacked leverage over Israel. Begin was able to use this fact to maximise his advantage in the negotiations. Sadat could only hope that Carter could use the leverage the United States had over Israel to alter the balance of power in the negotiations, but he would be disappointed. In theory, the United States had massive leverage over Israel, but there is a difference between having leverage and using it. While internal US documents are full of thoughts about how and when to pressure Israel, the Carter administration never took those steps. As I have argued at length, it is simply too easy to dismiss Carter's project as impossible from the start. We simply do not know if the result would have been different if Carter had taken steps to pressure Israel, or to facilitate a proper US-PLO dialogue. What we do know is that he failed to utilise his full political toolset.

Not only did Carter not pressure Begin in any substantive way – though the two had several heated encounters – but he also increased the amount of aid given to Israel, paid for the withdrawal from the Sinai, sold Israel a large number of the most advanced fighter jets and generally protected Israel at the UN. This reveals an inherent tension in the policies of the Carter administration. On the one hand, the Carter administration represented a break with the past, in that it sought to solve the Arab–Israeli conflict in a way which greatly displeased Israel; on the other hand, the Carter administration represented a great degree of continuity with the past, in that it continued to arm Israel and refused direct communication with the PLO. This contradiction encapsulates the difference between Carter the idealist and Carter the realist. While he may have entered the White House as an idealist, set on solving the conflict in its entirety, he gradually became a realist, as difficulties mounted both at home and abroad.

Still, we must not dismiss the fact that the Carter administration did consider ways to apply pressure on Israel and alternatives for how to include the Palestinians in negotiations. One of the keys to understanding why Carter's team considered pressure on Begin but never applied it is Sadat's terrible sense of timing. At several important junctures in the talks, the Carter administration was prepared to place the blame on Begin, consider opening talks with the PLO, vote against Israel at the UN and undertake a variety of other soft options. Hard pressure, though, such as withholding money and ceasing to supply Israel with arms, was never really considered at all.

In each of the cases where Carter considered using soft pressure on Israel, a central premise was that talks had reached a deadlock for which Begin clearly bore responsibility. If such a situation were to occur, the US domestic resistance against pressuring Israel would have been reduced, and it would have been easier for Carter to stand up to Begin. Each time they approached such a moment of truth, though, Sadat jumped the gun and cancelled talks. While Sadat was not aware that Carter was preparing to move against Begin, his decisions caused ire with Carter, who withdrew the threat of blaming Begin. One such example was in July 1978, when the State Department had prepared a stalemate paper which predicted that Sadat would accept the US proposal while Israel would refute it. The stalemate paper therefore laid out ways to blame Israel and pressure Begin both domestically and internationally. Before Begin had time to react to the US proposal, however, Sadat pulled out of the talks.³⁰ The same thing took place at Camp David.

Another important aspect of the power balance between Sadat and Begin is the way in which each man related to Carter. While Begin had a quarrelsome but professional way of approaching Carter, Sadat was always amicable. Begin gave Carter nothing for free, whereas Sadat handed him secret concessions. On a personal level, Carter favoured Sadat, and this helped Egypt draw closer to the United States. In terms of negotiating, however, Begin's strategy paid off. Since Begin hardly moved an inch, and since Sadat handed Carter concessions before negotiations even started, Carter fell into the habit of applying pressure on Sadat, whom he knew would concede.

William B. Quandt summarised Begin's negotiation technique: '[He] knew how to turn to good advantage his reputation for intransigence. He would resist mightily making even the most insignificant verbal concessions, so that when he would finally decide to give an inch it would seem like a vard.³¹ Begin was, quite simply, a superior negotiator who utilised all of the tools at his disposal. For example, while his claims to the West Bank and Gaza were rooted in the deep ideological argument that those territories were eternally Jewish, he used a legalistic argument when negotiating. He claimed that, according to international law, Israel was allowed to annex territory which had been acquired by defensive war. He claimed that the Six-Day war was a defensive war, and that Israel could annex the territory it had won. Even Meir Rosenne, Begin's legal advisor at Camp David, admitted that this was untrue, and that no legal experts supported Begin's interpretation.³² Whether Begin had legality on his side or not is irrelevant when judging his brilliance in negotiation. While Begin was among the most frustrating opponents one could have had across the negotiation table, he got what he wanted, because he held the best cards and played them well. Sadat, a friendlier negotiating partner, got far less than he wanted because he had a weaker hand and he played it erratically. One of Begin's strengths was that he was able to identify exactly how little Sadat needed. He never gave an inch more than necessary.

Carter, for his part, was slow to realise that Sadat was willing to go it alone, and he failed to appreciate how deeply ideological Begin's claim to the West Bank and Gaza was. What Carter perceived as a bargaining position was, in fact, an ideological red line for Begin. By the end of his term, Carter was sick and tired of Begin. At one point, he informed the full Egyptian team, including Sadat, that he had no recollection of Begin ever being helpful in the negotiation process.³³ But Carter failed to transform his frustration into any productive pressure. Instead, he grudgingly let Begin get his way, since it seemed to be the only means of obtaining any agreement at all. Since Sadat was willing to accept a A FAILED AMBITION

separate peace, Carter was willing to acknowledge that this was as much as he was going to get. A comprehensive peace would have demanded much more, both to make Israel concede and to get the other Arab states and the PLO back into the process. This would have been difficult at the best of times, but with the re-emergence of the cold war, chaos in the region and dwindling domestic support, Carter was no longer in any such position.

Unsurprisingly, the Palestinians were the biggest losers in this process. The self-rule proposal, which none of the Palestinians had accepted, was a ruse. Their concerns were kicked further down the road, and it would take a war in Lebanon, yet another state of exile (in Tunisia) and an intifada before they would finally be allowed to participate in negotiations. Even then, the result was not a state, but a Palestinian Authority. It is no overstatement to say that Begin's legacy looms large over the West Bank and Gaza to this day.

NOTES

Chapter 1 President Carter and the Palestinians

- Jimmy Carter, 'Clinton, Massachusetts Remarks and a Question-and-Answer Session at the Clinton Town Meeting,' 16 March 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, The American Presidency Project, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/ index.php?pid=7180#axzz1valH9Qqn (22.05.2012).
- 2. Jimmy Carter, White House Diary (New York: Picador, 2010), 33.
- Kathleen Christison, Perceptions of Palestine: Their Influence on U.S. Middle East Policy (London: University of California Press, 2001), 158, 161–62.
- Betty Glad, An Outsider in the White House: Jimmy Carter, His Advisors, and the Making of American Foreign Policy (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 2009), 7.
- Michael G. Krukones, 'The Campaign Promises of Jimmy Carter: Accomplishments and Failures,' *Presidential Studies Quarterly* 15, no. 1 (1985): 136-37.
- William Stueck, 'Placing Jimmy Carter's Foreign Policy', in Gary M Fink and Hugh Davis Graham, *The Carter Presidency: Policy Choices in the Post-New Deal Era* (Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1998), 244–45.
- Mari Salberg, "Conventional Wishdom" U.S. Policy Toward Iran 1969– 1979' (Unpublished PhD thesis: University of Oslo, 2017), 187.
- Douglas Brinkley, 'The Rising Stock of Jimmy Carter: The "Hands On" Legacy of Our Thirty-Ninth President,' *Diplomatic History* 20, no. 4 (1996): 505–30.
- Jimmy Carter, 'Nashville, Tennessee Remarks and a Question-and-Answer Session at a Townhall Meeting', 9 October 1980, Papers of Jimmy Carter, *The American Presidency Project*. http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php? pid=45243#axzz2hh2PcIL1 (14.10.2013).
- Zbigniew Brzezinski, Power and Principle: Memoirs of the National Security Adviser, 1977–1981 (New York: Farrar Straus & Giroux, 1983), 5: see also p. 74.

- Glad, An Outsider in the White House, 1–40. An exception would be the Vance– Brzezinski rivalry, which gradually deepened during the course of the administration.
- David Skidmore, 'Carter and the Failure of Foreign Policy Reform,' *Political Science Quarterly* 108, no. 4 (1993–1994): 699–706.
- 13. For the claim that it was his Christian belief which made him focus on the Palestinians, see Darren J. McDonald, 'Blessed Are the Policy Makers: Jimmy Carter's Faith-Based Approach to the Arab–Israeli Conflict,' *Diplomatic History* 39, no. 3 (2015): 452–76; for a critical review of this claim see Jørgen Jensehaugen, 'H-Diplo Article Review 584 on "Blessed Are the Policy Makers: Jimmy Carter's Faith-Based Approach to the Arab–Israeli Conflict", '*H-Net. org* (blog), 26 January 2016, https://networks.h-net.org/node/28443/discussions/108554/h-diplo-article-review-584-%E2%80%9Cblessed-are-policy-makers-jimmy-carter (16.11.2017).
- 14. Jerel A. Rosati, 'Jimmy Carter, a Man before His Time? The Emergence and Collapse of the First Post-Cold War Presidency,' *Presidential Studies Quarterly* 23, no. 3 (1993): 461-69; Christian Philip Peterson, 'The Carter Administration and the Promotion of Human Rights in the Soviet Union, 1977-1981,' *Diplomatic History* 38, no. 3 (2014): 628-56; Debbie Sharnak, 'Sovereignty and Human Rights: Re-Examining Carter's Foreign Policy Towards the Third World,' *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 25, no. 2 (2014): 303-30; Scott Kaufman, *Plans Unraveled: The Foreign Policy of the Carter Administration* (DeKalb: Northern Illinois University Press, 2008), 5, 13-15; David F. Schmitz and Vanessa Walker, 'Jimmy Carter and the Foreign Policy of Human Rights,' *Diplomatic History* 28, no. 1 (2004): 113-43.
- 15. Roy Licklider, 'The Power of Oil: The Arab Oil Weapon and the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, Canada, Japan, and the United States,' International Studies Quarterly 32, no. 2 (1988): 215–16; Janice Gross Stein, 'The Political Economy of Security Agreements: The Linked Costs of Failure at Camp David', in Peter B. Evans, Harold K. Jacobson, and Robert D. Putnam, eds, Double-Edged Diplomacy: International Bargaining and Domestic Politics (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1993), 84.
- Brookings Institution, 'Toward Peace in the Middle East' (Washington DC: The Brookings Institution, 1975); Jørgen Jensehaugen, 'Blueprint for Arab– Israeli Peace? President Carter and the Brookings Report,' *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 25, no. 3 (2014): 492–508.
- 17. Jensehaugen, 'Blueprint for Arab-Israeli Peace?'
- 18. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 165; Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 77.
- Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 35; Steven L. Spiegel, 'The Carter Approach to the Arab-Israeli Dispute', in Haim Shaked and Itamar Rabinovich, eds, Middle East and the United States: Images, Perceptions and Policies (New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers, 1980), 93-117; Daniel Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East: The Politics of Presidential Diplomacy (New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2015), 47-48, 72-73.

- 20. Patrick Seale, Asad: The Struggle for the Middle East (London: University of California Press, 1990), 291.
- Vance to the President, 25 March 1977, JCL, NLC-128-11-19-2-5; Bernard Gwertzman, 'Rabin, After Carter Talks, Urges a Goal of "Real Peace" in Mideast', *The New York Times*, 9 March 1977; Victor V. Nemchenok, "These People Have an Irrevocable Right to Self-Government": United States Policy and the Palestinian Question, 1977–1979,' *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 20, no. 4 (2009): 600; Christison, *Perceptions of Palestine*, 168; Yitzhak Rabin et al., *The Rabin Memoirs* (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1996), 292–95.
- Vance to the President, 29 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-7-1-1; Quandt to Brzezinski, Negotiating Positions Arab–Israeli Conflict, 22 February 1977, JCL, Vertical File Box 79, Middle East; Quandt to Brzezinski, 18 April 1977, JCL, Vertical File Box 79, Middle East.
- Cyrus R. Vance, *Hard Choices: Critical Years in America's Foreign Policy* (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1983), 168–71; Seale, *Asad*, 292–93; Samuel Hoskinson and William B. Quandt to Brzezinski, 9 February 1977, JCL, NLC-7-49-3-2-6; Middle East to Brzezinski, 29 March 1977, JCL, NLC-10-1-7-29-1; Brzezinski to The President, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-5-6-0; Discussion Paper for the PRC Meeting on Middle East, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-132-61-6-2-9; Alfred L. Atherton to the Secretary, 24 June 1977, JCL, NLC-25-76-3-3-5; Vance to Brzezinski, 21 July 1977, JCL, NLC-25-74-9-4-0; London to White House, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-25-105-8-4-6; SecState WashDC to White House, 25 August 1977, JCL, NLC-25-74-11-6-4.
- Memorandum: Husayn's Visit, 20 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-3-11-4; Vance to The President, 29 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-7-1-1; Brzezinski to the President, 29 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-7-1-1; London to White House, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-25-105-8-4-6; Gary Sick to Brzezinski, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16A-13-18-1-2.
- 25. Rabin's memoirs show how aghast he was at Carter's approach. Rabin et al., *The Rabin Memoirs*, 293–96, 300.
- 26. Arye Naor, 'Hawks' Beaks', Doves' Feathers: Likud Prime Ministers between Ideology and Reality,' *Israel Studies* 10, no. 3 (2005): 160.
- 27. William B. Quandt, *Camp David: Peacemaking and Politics* (Washington DC: Brookings Institution Press, 1986), 323.
- 28. Kirk J. Beattie, Egypt during the Sadat Years (New York: Palgrave, 2000), 37.
- 29. Kirk J. Beattie, Egypt during the Sadat Years.
- 30. Jimmy Carter, *Palestine: Peace Not Apartheid* (New York: Simon & Schuster, 2006).
- 31. 'Jimmy Carter: Give Hamas a Chance', *CNN*, 2 February 2006, http://edition. cnn.com/2006/WORLD/meast/02/01/carter.hamas/ (12.10.2017).
- 32. Nathan Thrall, *The Only Language They Understand: Forcing Compromise in Israel* and Palestine (New York: Metropolitan Books, 2017), 5–26.

- Yael S. Aronoff, 'In Like a Lamb, Out Like a Lion: The Political Conversion of Jimmy Carter,' *Political Science Quarterly* 121, no. 3 (2006): 425–49.
- 34. See, for example, Saadia Touval, The Peace Brokers: Mediators in the Arab-Israeli Conflict, 1948-1979 (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1982), 284-320; Eitan Haber, Zeev Schiff, and Ehud Yaari, The Year of the Dove (New York: Bantam Books, 1979); Laura Zittrain Eisenberg and Neil Caplan, Negotiating Arab-Israeli Peace: Patterns, Problems, Possibilities (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 2010), 35-51; Glad, An Outsider in the White House, 142-63; Lawrence Wright, Thirteen Days in September: Carter, Begin, and Sadat at Camp David (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 2014); Shibley Telhami, Power and Leadership in International Bargaining: The Path to the Camp David Accords (New York: Columbia University Press, 1990).
- 35. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine; Kathleen Christison, 'Bound by a Frame of Reference, Part II: U.S. Policy and the Palestinians, 1948–88,' Journal of Palestine Studies 27, no. 3 (1998): 20–34; Osamah Khalil, 'Pax Americana: The United States, the Palestinians, and the Peace Process, 1948–2008,' The New Centennial Review 8, no. 2 (2008): 1–41.

Chapter 2 US Presidents and the Palestinians

- Jørgen Jensehaugen, Marte Heian-Engdal, and Hilde Henriksen Waage, 'Securing the State: From Zionist Ideology to Israeli Statehood,' *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 23, no. 2 (2012): 281, 298.
- Baruch Kimmerling and Joel S. Migdal, *The Palestinian People: A History* (London: Harvard University Press, 2003), 146; Alain Gresh, *The PLO: The Struggle Within: Towards an Independent Palestinian State* (London: Zed Books, 1988), 1; Wendy Pearlman, *Violence, Nonviolence, and the Palestinian National Movement* (Cambridge University Press, 2014), 27–56.
- 3. Jensehaugen, Heian-Engdal, and Waage, 'Securing the State,' 286.
- United Nations General Assembly Resolution 181, 29 November 1947, https://unispal.un.org/DPA/DPR/unispal.nsf/0/7F0AF2BD897689B78525 6C330061D253 (16.05.2017).
- 5. Jensehaugen, Heian-Engdal, and Waage, 'Securing the State'.
- Steven L. Spiegel, *The Other Arab–Israeli Conflict: Making America's Middle East Policy, from Truman to Reagan* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1986), 30; Jeremy M. Sharp, 'U.S. Foreign Assistance to the Middle East: Historical Background, Recent Trends, and the FY2011 Request' (Congressional Research Service, 2010), 21–22; Yaacov Bar-Siman-Tov, 'The United States and Israel since 1948: A "Special Relationship"?,' *Diplomatic History* 22, no. 2 (1998): 233–36.
- Joakim Aalmen Markussen and Hilde Henriksen Waage, 'A Balancing Pretence: The Johnson Administration's Policy towards Jordan, 1964–1967,' *British Journal of Middle Eastern Studies* online prepublication (2016): 10–11; Abraham Ben-Zvi, 'Influence and Arms: John F. Kennedy, Lyndon B. Johnson

and the Politics of Arms Sales to Israel, 1962-1966, 'Israel Affairs 10, no. 1-2 (2004): 29-59.

- 8. Avi Shlaim, *The Iron Wall: Israel and the Arab World* (New York: W.W. Norton, 2001), 27.
- 9. Shlaim, *The Iron Wall*, 28, 30; Kimmerling and Migdal, *The Palestinian People*, 150–56.
- Benny Morris, The Birth of the Palestinian Refugee Problem Revisited (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004), 65–139; Marte Heian-Engdal, 'Twenty Years of Crocodile Tears: The International Treatment of the Palestinian Refugee Issue, 1948–1968' (Unpublished PhD thesis: University of Oslo, 2015), 48–49.
- Morris, The Birth of the Palestinian Refugee Problem Revisited, 163-66; Walid Khalidi, 'Plan Dalet: Master Plan for the Conquest of Palestine,' Journal of Palestine Studies 18, no. 1 (1988): 4-33.
- 12. Jensehaugen, Heian-Engdal, and Waage, 'Securing the State,' 295-96.
- Jørgen Jensehaugen and Hilde Henriksen Waage, 'Coercive Diplomacy: Israel, Transjordan and the UN – A Triangular Drama Revisited,' British Journal of Middle Eastern Studies 39, no. 1 (2012): 79–100; Hilde Henriksen Waage, 'The Winner Takes All: The 1949 Island of Rhodes Armistice Negotiations Revisited,' The Middle East Journal 65, no. 2 (2011): 279–304; Hilde Henriksen Waage and Petter Stenberg, 'Cementing a State of Belligerency: The 1949 Armistice Negotiations between Israel and Syria,' The Middle East Journal 70, no. 1 (2016): 69–89.
- 14. Benny Morris, Righteous Victims: A History of the Zionist-Arab Conflict, 1881– 1999 (London: J. Murray, 2000), 252.
- United Nations General Assembly Resolution 194(III), 11 December 1948, http://domino.un.org/unispal.nsf/0/c758572b78d1cd0085256bcf0077e51a? OpenDocument (24.01.2014).
- Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 49-50; John B. Judis, Genesis: Truman, American Jews, and the Origins of the Arab/Israeli Conflict (New York: Farrar Straus & Giroux, 2014), 339-46.
- 17. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 95.
- 18. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 95.
- Seth P. Tillman, *The United States in the Middle East: Interests and Obstacles* (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1982), 5; Heian-Engdal, 'Twenty Years of Crocodile Tears,' 327-32.
- 20. Heian-Engdal, 'Twenty Years of Crocodile Tears,' 108; Osamah Khalil, 'Pax Americana,' 6.
- 21. UNRWA gradually became perceived as both a costly recourse and a political problem, but the United States was unable to come up with an alternative. See e.g. Arieh J. Kochavi, 'The US, Britain and the Palestinian Refugee Question after the Six Day War,' *Middle Eastern Studies* 48, no. 4 (2012): 537–52.
- 22. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 106.
- Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 67–68, 77; Peter L. Hahn, Caught in the Middle East: U.S. Policy Toward the Arab–Israeli Conflict, 1945–1961 (Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina Press, 2004), 138, 141; Seale, Asad, 46–48, 68, 70, 72–73.
- Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 124-29; Adeed Dawisha, 'Egypt', in Yezid Sayigh and Avi Shlaim, eds, The Cold War and the Middle East (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1997), 29-34; Philip Robins, A History of Jordan (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004), 89; Hahn, Caught in the Middle East, 163-66, 184-86, 189, 191; Robert Daniel Tschirgi, The American Search For Mideast Peace (New York: Praeger, 1989), 6-7, 15-16; Youssef M. Choueiri, Arab Nationalism: A History (Oxford: Blackwell Publishers, 2004), 179-97.
- Ben-Zvi, 'Influence and Arms,' 30-31; Bar-Siman-Tov, 'The United States and Israel since 1948,' 233-36; Douglas Little, 'The Making of a Special Relationship: The United States and Israel, 1957-68,' *International Journal of Middle East Studies* 25, no. 4 (1993): 564-67.
- Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 178-87; Patrick Seale, 'Syria', in Sayigh and Shlaim, The Cold War and the Middle East, 54; Little, 'The Making of a Special Relationship,' 563-64.
- 27. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 96-100.
- 28. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 99.
- Christison, *Perceptions of Palestine*, 107; Ben-Zvi, 'Influence and Arms,' 29–42; Bar-Siman-Tov, 'The United States and Israel since 1948,' 236–37; Little, 'The Making of a Special Relationship,' 563–69.
- Heian-Engdal, 'Twenty Years of Crocodile Tears,' 314–15; Ben-Zvi, 'Influence and Arms,' 37–42; Little, 'The Making of a Special Relationship,' 568–69; Zaha Bustami, 'The Kennedy/Johnson Administrations and the Palestinians,' *Arab Studies Quarterly* 12, no. 1–2 (1990): 102–14.
- 31. Little, 'The Making of a Special Relationship,' 573.
- Adeed Dawisha, Arab Nationalism in the Twentieth Century: From Triumph to Despair (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2005), 107–16; Choueiri, Arab Nationalism, 176, 178, 204–5; Little, 'The Making of a Special Relationship,' 574–75.
- 33. Gresh, The PLO, 22; Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 114–15; Paul Thomas Chamberlin, The Global Offensive: The United States, the Palestine Liberation Organization, and the Making of the Post-Cold War Order (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012), 15; Laurie Brand, 'Nasir's Egypt and the Reemergence of the Palestinian National Movement,' Journal of Palestine Studies 17, no. 2 (1988): 41–43.
- Bustami, 'The Kennedy/Johnson Administrations and the Palestinians,' 101, 115–16; Christison, 'Bound by a Frame of Reference, Part II,' 24.
- 35. Simen Zernichow and Hilde Henriksen Waage, 'The Palestine Option: Nixon, the National Security Council, and the Search for a New Policy, 1970,' *Diplomatic History* 38, no. 1 (2014): 186.
- 36. Quoted in Edward W. Said, Orientalism (London: Penguin, 2003), xxvii.

- 37. Kimmerling and Migdal, The Palestinian People, 225-26.
- Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 15-16; Kimmerling and Migdal, The Palestinian People, 244-46; Yezid Sayigh, 'The Palestinians', in Sayigh and Shlaim, The Cold War and the Middle East, 127-28; Gresh, The PLO, 9, 18, 21-26; Pearlman, Violence, Nonviolence, and the Palestinian National Movement, 64-67; Choueiri, Arab Nationalism, 204-6.
- 39. William B. Quandt, 'Lyndon Johnson and the June 1967 War: What Color Was the Light?,' Middle East Journal 46, no. 2 (1992): 198–228; Roland Popp, 'Stumbling Decidedly into the Six-Day War,' Middle East Journal 60, no. 2 (2006): 285–89, 293, 296–307; Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 236–41; Clea Lutz Bunch, 'Strike at Samu: Jordan, Israel, the United States, and the Origins of the Six-Day War,' Diplomatic History 32, no. 1 (2008): 69–72; Ersun N. Kurtulus, 'The Notion of a "pre-Emptive War": the Six Day War Revisited,' The Middle East Journal 61, no. 2 (2007): 229. For the 'yellow light' document see Draft Statement, 26 May 1967, FRUS: Foreign Relations of the United States, 1964–1968, Volume XIX, Arab–Israeli Crisis and War, 1967 (Washington DC: Department of State, United States Printing Office, 2004), 137–38.
- Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 116; Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 241-50; Bunch, 'Strike at Samu,' 72-73.
- Ben-Zvi, 'Influence and Arms'; Little, 'The Making of a Special Relationship,' 567-77.
- 42. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 109.
- United Nations Security Council Resolution 242, 22 November 1967, http:// unispal.un.org/UNISPAL.NSF/0/7D35E1F729DF491C85256EE700686136 (23.01.2014).
- 44. Omar M. Dajani, 'Forty Years without Resolve: Tracing the Influence of Security Council Resolution 242 on the Middle East Peace Process,' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 37, no. 1 (2007): 28; Touval, *The Peace Brokers*, 136, 140; Moshe Gat, 'Yitzhak Rabin, the Ambassador to Washington, 1968–73: A Diplomat and Policy Maker,' *Middle Eastern Studies* 51, no. 3 (2015): 490; Hilde Henriksen Waage and Hulda Kjeang Mørk, 'Mission Impossible: UN Special Representative Gunnar Jarring and His Quest for Peace in the Middle East,' *International History Review* 38, no. 4 (2016): 830–53.
- Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 116–17; Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 260–61; Dajani, 'Forty Years without Resolve,' 28–29, 31.
- 46. Gresh, The PLO, 3.
- 47. Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 258 (emphasis in original); Tschirgi, The American Search for Mideast Peace, 22; Galia Golan, Israeli Peacemaking Since 1967: Factors Behind the Breakthroughs and Failures (New York: Routledge, 2015), 22; Moshe Gat, 'Military Power and Foreign Policy Inaction: Israel, 1967–1973,' Israel Affairs 22, no. 1 (2016): 73; Avi Raz, The Bride and the Dowry: Israel, Jordan and the Palestinians in the Aftermath of the June 1967 War (New Haven: Yale University Press, 2012), 137.

- Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 258-59; Golan, Israeli Peacemaking since 1967, 22; Gat, 'Military Power and Foreign Policy Inaction,' 73-74; Raz, The Bride and the Dowry, 137.
- Adeed Dawisha, 'Egypt', and Patrick Seale, 'Syria', in Sayigh and Shlaim, *The Cold War and the Middle East*, 36–37, 56–57, 63–64; Bar-Siman-Tov, 'The United States and Israel since 1948,' 240–42.
- 50. Alan Dowty, Israel / Palestine (Cambridge: Polity, 2012), 125.
- 51. Yezid Sayigh, 'Turning Defeat into Opportunity: The Palestinian Guerrillas after the June 1967 War,' *Middle East Journal* 46, no. 2 (1992): 244-45.
- 52. The numbers vary greatly. Just counting those that fled from the West Bank, estimates are between 125,000 and 215,000. Kochavi, 'The US, Britain and the Palestinian Refugee Question after the Six Day War,' 537-39, 544; Zernichow and Waage, 'The Palestine Option,' 185; Robins, A History of Jordan, 124; Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 122; Tom Segev, 'The June 1967 War and the Palestinian Refugee Problem,' Journal of Palestine Studies 36, no. 3 (2007): 14-15; Raz, The Bride and the Doury, 5, 103.
- 53. Quoted in Sayigh, 'Turning Defeat into Opportunity,' 245.
- Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 14; Kimmerling and Migdal, The Palestinian People, 274.
- 55. Pearlman, Violence, Nonviolence, and the Palestinian National Movement, 67; Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 16; Gresh, The PLO, 36; William B. Quandt, 'Political and Military Dimensions of Contemporary Palestinian Nationalism', in William B. Quandt, Fuad Jabber, and Ann Mosely Lesch, eds, The Politics of Palestinian Nationalism (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1974), 60.
- Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 26; Gresh, The PLO, 13-14; Faris Giacaman, 'Political Representation and Armed Struggle,' Journal of Palestine Studies 43, no. 1 (2013): 26, 28.
- Helena Cobban, The Palestinian Liberation Organisation: People, Power and Politics (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1984), 41-42; Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 43; Morris, Righteous Victims, 368-70; Helga Baumgarten, 'The Three Faces/Phases of Palestinian Nationalism, 1948-2005,' Journal of Palestine Studies 34, no. 4 (2005): 34.
- Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 122; Kimmerling and Migdal, The Palestinian People, 254; Giacaman, 'Political Representation and Armed Struggle,' 29, 31-32, 34; Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 43-49; Robins, A History of Jordan, 127; Rashid Khalidi, Palestinian Identity: The Construction of Modern National Consciousness (New York: Columbia University Press, 1997), 196-97; Cobban, The Palestinian Liberation Organisation, 42; Morris, Righteous Victims, 368-70; Eugene Rogan, The Arabs: A History (New York: Basic Books, 2011), 346-47; Pearlman, Violence, Nonviolence, and the Palestinian National Movement, 69; Raz, The Bride and the Dowry, 206-7.
- 59. Chamberlin, *The Global Offensive*, 62. The numbers vary massively. According to Robins, the highest estimate puts the number of recruits as high as 15,000

only three months after the battle. Robins, A History of Jordan, 127; Cobban, The Palestinian Liberation Organisation, 42; Morris, Righteous Victims, 369.

- 60. Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 70; Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 115–16; Kimmerling and Migdal, The Palestinian People, 254; Sayigh, 'Turning Defeat into Opportunity,' 263–64; Gresh, The PLO, 11, 26–30; Nigel J. Ashton, 'Pulling the Strings: King Hussein's Role during the Crisis of 1970 in Jordan,' The International History Review 28, no. 1 (2006): 99–100; Pearlman, Violence, Nonviolence, and the Palestinian National Movement, 70; Ido Zelkovitz, 'Militancy and Religiosity in the Service of National Aspiration: Fatah's Formative Years,' Israel Affairs 21, no. 4 (2015): 668–90.
- 61. Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 24.
- 62. Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 38.
- 63. Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 50-51.
- 64. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 126.
- Ahmed S. Khalidi, 'The War of Attrition,' Journal of Palestine Studies 3, no. 1 (1973): 60; Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 289; Morris, Righteous Victims, 348-63; Zernichow and Waage, 'The Palestine Option,' 183-84; Yehuda U. Blanga, 'Nasser's Dilemma: Egypt's Relations with the United States and Israel, 1967-69,' Middle Eastern Studies 51, no. 2 (2015): 301-26.
- 66. Touval, The Peace Brokers, 153–57, 167–75; Zernichow and Waage, 'The Palestine Option,' 191; Khalidi, 'The War of Attrition,' 72; Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 298–301; Morris, Righteous Victims, 360; Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 108–9; Noam Kochavi, Nixon and Israel: Forging a Conservative Partnership (New York: State University of New York Press, 2009), Kindle edition location 256–261; Gat, 'Yitzhak Rabin, the Ambassador to Washington, 1968–73,' 496–97.
- 67. Chamberlin, *The Global Offensive*, 109–10; Zernichow and Waage, 'The Palestine Option,' 191–92.
- Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 55–58; Robins, A History of Jordan, 128; Joseph Nevo, 'September 1970 in Jordan: A Civil War?,' Civil Wars 10, no. 3 (2008): 221–23; Asaf Siniver, Nixon, Kissinger, and U.S. Foreign Policy Making: The Machinery of Crisis (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2011), 123; Markussen and Waage, 'A Balancing Pretence,' 12.
- 69. Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 115; Robins, A History of Jordan, 129-30.
- 70. Christison, 'Bound by a Frame of Reference, Part II,' 25.
- Robins, A History of Jordan, 129; Nevo, 'September 1970 in Jordan,' 223-25; Ashton, 'Pulling the Strings,' 101-2; Pearlman, Violence, Nonviolence, and the Palestinian National Movement, 74-75.
- Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 128; Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 115; Zernichow and Waage, 'The Palestine Option,' 192; Ashton, 'Pulling the Strings,' 101-3; Siniver, Nixon, Kissinger, and U.S. Foreign Policy Making, 123.
- Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 108; Robins, A History of Jordan, 130–31; Ashton, 'Pulling the Strings,' 101–3; Tschirgi, The American Search for Mideast Peace, 72–73.

- 74. Quoted in Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 121.
- 75. Chamberlin, 121; Ashton, 'Pulling the Strings,' 106.
- 76. Ashton, 'Pulling the Strings,' 107-16; Ziv Rubinovitz, 'Blue and White "Black September": Israel's Role in the Jordan Crisis of 1970,' *The International History Review* 32, no. 4 (2010): 692-700; Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 128; Shlaim, *The Iron Wall*, 298-99; Robins, A History of Jordan, 131; Siniver, Nixon, Kissinger, and U.S. Foreign Policy Making, 124, 137, 139-40.
- Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 125–26; William B. Quandt, Decade of Decisions: American Policy Toward the Arab–Israeli Conflict, 1967–1976 (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1977), 119; Zernichow and Waage, 'The Palestine Option,' 192–93, 195–96; Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 299; Robins, A History of Jordan, 131; Ashton, 'Pulling the Strings,' 116–17; Gat, 'Military Power and Foreign Policy Inaction,' 81.
- Rubinovitz, 'Blue and White "Black September",' 687-88; Siniver, Nixon, Kissinger, and U.S. Foreign Policy Making, 146; Quandt, Decade of Decisions, 122; Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 126, 138-40; Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 132-33; Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 298-99.
- 79. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 132-33.
- Chamberlin, *The Global Offensive*, 128; Zernichow and Waage, 'The Palestine Option.'
- 81. Quoted in Gresh, The PLO, 104.
- Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 144; Robins, A History of Jordan, 132; Pearlman, Violence, Nonviolence, and the Palestinian National Movement, 75, 84-85.
- Gresh, The PLO, 147; Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 172; Zernichow and Waage, 'The Palestine Option,' 185; Mark Tessler, A History of the Israeli-Palestinian Conflict (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 2009), 451–64; Yezid Sayigh, Armed Struggle and the Search for State. The Palestinian National Movement, 1949–1993 (Washington DC: Oxford University Press, 1999), 304–12.
- 84. Tillman, The United States in the Middle East, 182.
- 85. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 152-53.
- 86. Quoted in Kai Bird, *The Good Spy: The Life and Death of Robert Ames* (New York: Crown Publishers, 2014), Kindle edition location 1692.
- 87. Christison, 'Bound by a Frame of Reference, Part II,' 26.
- 88. Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 192.
- 89. Quandt, Decade of Decisions, 128.
- 90. Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 299–308, 316, 323–24; Golan, Israeli Peacemaking since 1967, 30–34; Siniver, Nixon, Kissinger, and U.S. Foreign Policy Making, 189–90; Gat, 'Military Power and Foreign Policy Inaction,' 81–85; Craig A. Daigle, 'The Russians Are Going: Sadat, Nixon and the Soviet Presence in Egypt, 1970–1971,' Middle East Review of International Affairs 8, no. 1 (2004): 11–12.

- 91. Lars Hasvoll Bakke, 'Facing Assad: American Diplomatic Relations with Syria, 1969–76' (Unpublished MA dissertation: Oslo, 2013), 44. For original document see: Kissinger to President Nixon, Washington, 25–26 February 1973, FRUS: Foreign Relations of the United States – 1969–1976 Volume XXV Arab–Israeli Crisis and War, 1973 (Washington DC: United States Government Printing Office, 2011), 80–84.
- Uri Bar-Joseph, 'Last Chance to Avoid War: Sadat's Peace Initiative of February 1973 and Its Failure,' *Journal of Contemporary History* 41, no. 3 (2006): 546, 550.
- 93. Bar-Joseph, 'Last Chance to Avoid War', 552.
- Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 218–19; Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 318–20; Seale, Asad, 202–7.
- 95. Seale, Asad, 208, 210-11, 214.
- Seale, 209–15; Hazem Kandil, Soldiers, Spies and Statesmen: Egypt's Road to Revolt (London: Verso, 2012), 130–37; Quandt, Decade of Decisions, 177–79, 186.
- Christison, 'Bound by a Frame of Reference, Part II,' 25; William B. Quandt, *Peace Process: American Diplomacy and the Arab–Israeli Conflict since* 1967 (Washington DC: Brookings Institution Press and the University of California Press, 2005), 113–18.
- 98. Seale, Asad, 214–20; Morris, Righteous Victims, 433–37; Siniver, Nixon, Kissinger, and U.S. Foreign Policy Making, 199–202; David S. Painter, 'Oil and Geopolitics: The Oil Crises of the 1970s and the Cold War,' Historical Social Research 39, no. 4 (2014): 190; Arnon Gutfeld and Boaz Vanetik, "A Situation That Had to Be Manipulated": The American Airlift to Israel During the Yom Kippur War,' Middle Eastern Studies 52, no. 3 (2016): 419–47.
- 99. 'UN Security Council Resolution 338,' http://www.mfa.gov.il/MFA/ Peace+Process/Guide+to+the+Peace+Process/UN+Security+Council+ Resolution+338.htm (13.01.2014).
- Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 220-21, 223; Gresh, The PLO, 143, 156, 159.
- 101. Gresh, The PLO, 144.
- 102. Contacts with the Fatah Leadership, 18 July 1973, A Life in Intelligence The Richard Helms Collection, http://www.foia.cia.gov/document/memocontacts-fatah-leadership-18-july-1973 (28.09.2015); Yezid Sayigh, 'The Palestinians', in Sayigh and Shlaim, The Cold War and the Middle East, 130-31; D. P. Forsythe, 'The Palestine Question: Dealing with a Long-Term Refugee Situation,' The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 467, no. 1 (1983): 96; Patrick Seale, Abu Nidal: A Gun for Hire (New York: Random House, 1992), 50, 167; Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 140; Backchannel Message from the Deputy Director of Central Intelligence (Walker) to Kissinger FRUS: Foreign Relations of the United States, 1969-1976, Volume XXVI, Arab-Israeli Dispute, 1974-1976 (Washington DC: United States Government Printing Office, 2012), 159-62. This meeting is described

as the last such PLO meeting in *FRUS: Foreign Relations of the United States* – 1977–1980 Volume VIII Arab–Israeli Dispute January 1977 – August 1978 (Washington DC: Department of State, United States Printing Office, 2013), 2, footnote 4.

- 103. Kai Bird, The Good Spy, Kindle edition location 1440-3620.
- 104. Wendy Pearlman, 'Spoiling Inside and Out: Internal Political Contestation and the Middle East Peace Process,' *International Security* 33, no. 3 (2008): 87-88; Pearlman, *Violence, Nonviolence, and the Palestinian National Movement*, 81; Chamberlin, *The Global Offensive*, 237-38; Gresh, *The PLO*, 138-46, 157-63, 167-71, 179; Baumgarten, 'The Three Faces/Phases of Palestinian Nationalism, 1948-2005,' 35-36.
- 105. Quoted in Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 239.
- 106. Quoted in Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 218.
- 107. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 142.
- 108. Tillman, The United States in the Middle East, 212.
- United Nations General Assembly Resolution 3236, 22 November 1974, http://domino.un.org/UNISPAL.NSF/0/025974039acfb171852560de00 548bbe (21.01.2014).
- 110. United Nations General Assembly Resolution 3237, 22 November 1974, http://unispal.un.org/UNISPAL.NSF/0/512BAA69B5A32794852560DE00 54B9B2 (21.01.2014).
- 111. Chamberlin, *The Global Offensive*, 229-30, 237; Pearlman, 'Spoiling Inside and Out,' 89-92.
- 112. Quandt, Decade of Decisions, 205-6, 208-9; Louise Fischer, "Turning Point on the Road to Peace: The Government of Yitzhak Rabin and the Interim Agreement with Egypt (Sinai II),' Israel Studies 19, no. 3 (2014): 57-58; Saliba Sarsar, 'The Question of Palestine and United States Behavior at the United Nations,' International Journal of Politics, Culture, and Society 17, no. 3 (2004): 459; Tschirgi, The American Search for Mideast Peace, 77, 84.
- 113. Salim Yaqub, 'The Weight of Conquest: Henry Kissinger and the Arab– Israeli Conflict', Fredrik Logevall and Andrew Preston, eds, Nixon in the World: American Foreign Relations, 1969–1977 (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2008), 228.
- 114. Quandt, Decade of Decisions, 213; Quandt, Peace Process, 138-41; Spiegel, The Other Arab-Israeli Conflict, 1986, 271-73; Janice Gross Stein, 'Structures, Strategies, and Tactics of Mediations Kissinger and Carter in the Middle East,' Negotiation Journal 1, no. 4 (1985): 334; Tschirgi, The American Search for Mideast Peace, 85-86; Lars Hasvoll Bakke and Hilde Henriksen Waage, 'Facing Assad. American Diplomacy Toward Syria, 1973-1977,' The International History Review 40, no. 3 (2018): 549.
- 115. Quandt, Peace Process, 141-43; Tschirgi, The American Search for Mideast Peace, 86.
- Yinon Shlomo, 'The Israeli-Syrian Disengagement Negotiations of 1973– 74,' Middle Eastern Studies 51, no. 4 (2015): 636–48; Quandt, Peace Process,

144–52; Tschirgi, *The American Search For Mideast Peace*, 87–88; Touval, *The Peace Brokers*, 249–59; Hasvoll Bakke, 'Facing Assad: American Diplomatic Relations with Syria, 1969–76,' 57–70.

- 117. David S. Painter, 'Oil and Geopolitics: The Oil Crises of the 1970s and the Cold War,' 193.
- 118. Quoted in Quandt, Decade of Decisions, 267.
- 119. Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 342.
- 120. Fawwaz Traboulsi, A History of Modern Lebanon (London: Pluto Press, 2007), 182-94, 201-3.
- 121. Kai Bird, The Good Spy, Kindle edition location 2972-2979.
- 122. Quandt, Decade of Decisions, 269-70; Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 146-47; Tschirgi, The American Search For Mideast Peace, 92; Jensehaugen, 'Blueprint for Arab-Israeli Peace?'; Brookings Institution, 'Toward Peace in the Middle East.'
- 123. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 147.
- 124. Galen Jackson argues that Ford and Kissinger were actually much closer to supporting a comprehensive approach than has long been thought. Galen Jackson, 'The Showdown That Wasn't: U.S.–Israeli Relations and American Domestic Politics, 1973–75,' *International Security* 39, no. 4 (2015): 130–69; Christison, *Perceptions of Palestine*, 146–47; Kochavi, *Nixon and Israel*, Kindle edition location 1040–1044; Tschirgi, *The American Search for Mideast Peace*, 92.
- 125. Quandt, Decade of Decisions, 272–73; Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 337; Tschirgi, The American Search For Mideast Peace, 93; Touval, The Peace Brokers, 264–65.
- Bernard Gwertzman, 'Pledges to Israel by U.S. Qualified', 9 September 1975, *The New York Times*; Jackson, 'The Showdown That Wasn't,' 162.
- 127. Touval, *The Peace Brokers*, 267; Quandt, *Decade of Decisions*, 275-76; Fischer, 'Turning Point on the Road to Peace,' 72.
- 128. Quoted in Edward R. F. Sheehan, 'How Kissinger Did It: Step by Step in the Middle East', in Jeffrey Z. Rubin, *Dynamics of Third Party Intervention* (New York: Praeger Publishers, 1983), 86.
- 129. Sheehan, 'How Kissinger Did It: Step by Step in the Middle East', in Rubin, *Dynamics of Third Party Intervention*, 60.
- 130. Touval, The Peace Brokers, 1982, 267.
- 131. Sheehan, 'How Kissinger Did It: Step by Step in the Middle East', in Rubin, *Dynamics of Third Party Intervention*, 60.
- 132. Sheehan, 'How Kissinger Did It: Step by Step in the Middle East', in Rubin, *Dynamics of Third Party Intervention*, 64.
- 133. Sheehan, 'How Kissinger Did It: Step by Step in the Middle East', in Rubin, *Dynamics of Third Party Intervention*, 64.
- 134. Stein, 'Structures, Strategies, and Tactics of Mediations Kissinger and Carter in the Middle East,' 338.

- 135. Samuel W. Lewis, 'The United States and Israel: Evolution of an Unwritten Alliance,' *Middle East Journal* 53, no. 3 (1999): 367; see also Christison, *Perceptions of Palestine*, 155.
- 136. Ambassador Hermann Frederick Eilts, Interviewed by Ambassador William D. Brewer, 12 August 1988, The Association for Diplomatic Studies and Training Foreign Affairs Oral History Project, Library of Congress, http://www.adst.org/OH%20TOCs/Eilts,%20Herman.toc.pdf (22.05.2014).
- 137. Quandt, *Decade of Decisions*, 220, 234; Pearlman, 'Spoiling Inside and Out,' 89; Robins, *A History of Jordan*, 138.
- Seventh Arab League Summit Conference, Resolution on Palestine, Rabat,
 October 1974, http://unispal.un.org/UNISPAL.NSF/0/63D9A930E2B4
 28DF852572C0006D06B8 (19.02.2014).
- 139. Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 13; Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 124–56.
- 140. As mentioned the term 'special relationship' was orginially Kennedy's. Christison, *Perceptions of Palestine*, 106-7, 132-33; Bar-Siman-Tov, 'The United States and Israel since 1948,' 231-49; Bustami, 'The Kennedy/Johnson Administrations and the Palestinians,' 101-2, 109-10, 113-15; Shlaim, *The Iron Wall*, 210-11, 222, 310; Little, 'The Making of a Special Relationship'; Lewis, 'The United States and Israel,' 365-67.
- Bustami, 'The Kennedy/Johnson Administrations and the Palestinians,' 101, 113–15; Heian-Engdal, 'Twenty Years of Crocodile Tears,' 321–22.
- 142. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 104-6.
- 143. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 152-53; Quandt, Decade of Decisions, 156; Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 142-43; Kimmerling and Migdal, The Palestinian People, 258.
- 144. John A. Noakes and Karin Gwinn Wilkins, 'Shifting Frames of the Palestinian Movement in US News,' *Media, Culture & Society* 24, no. 5 (2002): 649, 654; Christison, *Perceptions of Palestine*, 152–56.
- 145. Pamela E. Pennock, The Rise of the Arab American Left: Activists, Allies, and Their Fight against Imperialism and Racism, 1960s-1980s (Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina Press, 2017), Kindle edition location 2454-2885.
- 146. Seale, Abu Nidal; Osamah F. Khalil, America's Dream Palace: Middle East Expertise and the Rise of the National Security State (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2016), 220.
- 147. Markussen and Waage, 'A Balancing Pretence,' 4, 11.
- 148. Chamberlin, *The Global Offensive*, 112; James Stocker, 'Diplomacy as Counter-Revolution? The 'moderate States', the Fedayeen and State Department Initiatives towards the Arab–Israeli Conflict, 1969–1970,' *Cold War History* 12, no. 3 (2012): 418–19.
- 149. Quoted in Zernichow and Waage, 'The Palestine Option,' 190.
- 150. Quoted in Heian-Engdal, 'Twenty Years of Crocodile Tears,' 322.

- 151. Zernichow and Waage, 'The Palestine Option,' 205-7; Stocker, 'Diplomacy as Counter-Revolution?,' 422; James R. Stocker, 'A Historical Inevitability?: Kissinger and US Contacts with the Palestinians (1973-76),' *The International History Review* 39, no. 2 (2017): 321.
- 152. Salim Yaqub, Imperfect Strangers: Americans, Arabs, and U.S.-Middle East Relations in the 1970s (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 2016); Edward Tivnan, The Lobby: Jewish Political Power and American Foreign Policy (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1987); Tillman, The United States in the Middle East, 68-69; John J. Mearsheimer and Stephen M. Walt, The Israel Lobby and U.S. Foreign Policy (New York: Farrar Straus Giroux, 2007); Pamela E. Pennock, The Rise of the Arab American Left.
- 153. Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 205.
- 154. Chamberlin, The Global Offensive, 233-34.
- 155. Quandt, Decade of Decisions, 157.
- 156. Jackson, 'The Showdown That Wasn't'; Hasvoll Bakke, 'Facing Assad: American Diplomatic Relations with Syria, 1969–76,' 111; MemCon, Tehran, 7 August 1976, FRUS 1974–76 Vol. XXVI, 1056–65.
- 157. Quoted in Marwan R. Buheiry, 'The Saunders Document,' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 8, no. 1 (1978): 31.
- 158. Quoted in Buheiry, 'The Saunders Document', 35, 40.
- 159. Quandt, Decade of Decisions, 278; Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 148.
- 160. MemCon, 28 November 1975, FRUS 1974-76, Vol. XXVI, 871.

Chapter 3 The Comprehensive Approach

- 1. 'Arab-Israeli Dispute', 14 January 1977, JCL, NLC-17-111-6-2-2.
- 'The Situation in the Middle East: The Arab Peace Offensive', 4 January 1977, and 'National Intelligence Estimate: Egypt 1977', 3 February 1977, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords, http://www. foia.cia.gov/collection/carter-camp-david-accords (02.06.2014).
- 3. Arab-Israeli Dispute, 14 January 1977, JCL, NLC-17-111-6-2-2.
- 4. Arab-Israeli Dispute, 14 January 1977, JCL, NLC-17-111-6-2-2.
- 5. Arab-Israeli Dispute, 14 January 1977, JCL, NLC-17-111-6-2-2.
- Sheehan, 'How Kissinger Did It: Step by Step in the Middle East', in Rubin, Dynamics of Third Party Intervention, 86.
- Ambassador Hermann Frederick Eilts, Interviewed by Ambassador William D. Brewer, 12 August 1988, The Association for Diplomatic Studies and Training Foreign Affairs Oral History Project, Library of Congress, http://www. org/OH%20TOCs/Eilts,%20Herman.toc.pdf (22.05.2014); Lewis, 'The United States and Israel,' 367; Christison, *Perceptions of Palestine*, 143, 165, 175–76.
- Glad, An Outsider in the White House, 30; Quandt, Camp David, 38; Ivo H. Daalder and I. M. Destler, In the Shadow of the Oval Office: Profiles of the National Security Advisers and the Presidents They Served-From JFK to George W. Bush (New York: Simon & Schuster, 2009), 102-3.

- Quandt, Peace Process, 140-41; Spiegel, The Other Arab-Israeli Conflict, 1986, 272-73.
- Arab–Israeli Dispute, 14 January 1977, JCL, NLC-17-111-6-2-2; Response to Presidential Review Memorandum, 4 February 1977, JCL, NLC-132-25-1-3-3; PRC Meeting, 4 February 1977, JCL, NLC-132-50-2-2-6.
- 11. PRC Meeting, 4 February 1977, JCL, NLC-132-50-2-2-6.
- 12. Vance, Hard Choices, 168-71; Carter, White House Diary, 21.
- NSC Meeting, 23 February 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-4-4-3; Vance to the President, 3 March 1977, JCL, NLC-128-11-17-1-8; SecState Vance to DepState, 17 February 1977; MemCon, 17 February 1977; MemCon, 17 February 1977; Embassy in Jordan to the Liaison Office in Riyadh, 19 February 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 52–53, 62–65, 71–80, 83– 93; Vance, Hard Choices, 168–71.
- Brzezinski to the President, 21 February 1977, JCL, Vertical File Box 79, Middle East; Quandt to Brzezinski, 22 February 1977, JCL, Vertical File Box 79, Middle East; SecState Vance to DepState, 17 February 1977; Embassy in Jordan to the Liaison Office in Riyadh, 19 February 1977; MemCon, 20 February 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 80–93, 113–22.
- 15. NSC Meeting, 23 February 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-4-4-3.
- 16. MemCon, 16 February 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 29-30.
- NSC Meeting, 23 February 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-4-4-3; Vance to the President, 3 March 1977, JCL, NLC-128-11-17-1-8; MemCon, 20 February 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 113–22; Vance, Hard Choices, 168–71.
- 18. Seale, Asad, 301.
- NSC Meeting, 23 February 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-4-4-3; Vance to the President, 3 March 1977, JCL, NLC-128-11-17-1-8; MemCon, 16 February 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 28; Vance, Hard Choices, 168–71.
- 20. NSC Meeting, 23 February 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-4-4-3.
- Joint Press Conference by Egyptian President Anwar Sadat and Syrian President Hafiz al-Assad, Cairo, February 28, 1977 [Excerpts], in *Journal of Palestine Studies* 6, no. 3 (1977): 182–184.
- 22. Carter, 'Clinton, Massachusetts Remarks and a Question-and-Answer Session at the Clinton Town Meeting' (22.05.2012).
- 23. John C. Campbell, 'The Middle East: The Burdens of Empire,' Foreign Affairs 57, no. 3 (1978): 615; Jeremy Pressman, 'Explaining the Carter Administration's Israeli–Palestinian Solution,' *Diplomatic History* 37, no. 5 (2013): 1124; Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 30. Carter's 'homeland' reference came as a great surprise to everybody; personal correspondence with William B. Quandt, 22 July 2015.
- 24. Christison, *Perceptions of Palestine*, 168. Nemchenok argues that Carter took a calculated risk based on his high approval rating. Nemchenok, 'These People Have an Irrevocable Right to Self-Government,' 600.
- Middle East to Brzezinski, 21 March 1977, JCL, NLC-25-17-4-10-1; Middle East to Brzezinski from Middle East, 29 March 1977, JCL, NLC-10-1-7-29-1.

- 26. Situation Room to Brzezinski, 23 March 1977, JCL, NLC-1-1-3-40-2.
- 27. Statement by Secretary General Brezhnev on the Middle East, 21 March 1977, in Meron Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations* 1974-1977 Volume 3 (Jerusalem: Ministry for Foreign Affairs, 1982), 561–62; Roland Dannreuther, *The Soviet* Union and the PLO (New York: St. Martin's Press, 1998), 91.
- 28. Brzezinski to the President, 25 March 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16B-28-13-4-7.
- 29. Brzezinski to the President, 25 March 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16B-28-13-4-7.
- 30. Tessler, A History of the Israeli-Palestinian Conflict, 502-3.
- 31. Yaqub, Imperfect Strangers, Kindle location 5053-5087.
- 32. NSC Meeting, 23 February 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-4-4-3.
- Vance to The President, 25 March 1977, JCL, NLC-128-11-19-2-5; Bernard Gwertzman, 'Rabin, After Carter Talks, Urges a Goal of 'Real Peace' in Mideast', 9 March 1977, *The New York Times*; MemCon, 7 March 1977; MemCon, 8 March 1977, *FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII*, 132-45, 148-56; Rabin et al., *The Rabin Memoirs*, 292-95.
- 34. MemCon, 8 March 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 148-56.
- 35. MemCon, 8 March 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 149.
- MemCon, 9 March 1977; President's Assistant (Jordan) to President Carter, June 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 157–63, 279–95; Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 32–33.
- 37. Vance to The President, 25 March 1977, JCL, NLC-128-11-19-2-5.
- 38. Brzezinski to the President, 30 March 1977, JCL, NLC-128-11-19-13-4.
- 39. See, for example, Jimmy Carter, 'The President's News Conference', 9 March 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, *The American Presidency Project*. http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid=7139#axzz1xTPDzmLm (11.06.2012).
- 40. Vance to the President, 25 March 1977, JCL, NLC-128-11-19-2-5; Brzezinski to the President, 30 March 1977, NLC-128-11-19-13-4.
- Vance to The President, 29 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-7-1-1; MemCon, 4 April 1977; MemCon, 4 April 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 166-80.
- 42. Memorandum: Husayn's Visit, 20 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-3-11-4; Vance to the President, 29 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-7-1-1.
- 43. Vance to the President, 25 April 1977, JCL, NLC-7-18-2-2-1.
- Quandt, Camp David, 55; MemCon, 25 April 1977; MemCon 26 April 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 214–38.
- Interview with James Earl Carter, 16 July 1997, Brian Lapping Associates, interview transcripts, *Fifty Years War – Israel and the Arabs*, Television documentary archive, Liddell Hart Military Archives, King's College London, Fiftyyears 8/6.
- 46. Brzezinski to the President, 29 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-7-1-1; Vance to the President, 29 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-7-1-1.
- Vance to the President, 29 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-7-1-1; William B. Quandt to [censored], CIA Headquarters, 5 May 1977, JCL, NLC-25-88-6-7-5; Interview with Herman Eilts, 25 March 1997, Brian Lapping Associates,

interview transcripts, *Fifty Years War – Israel and the Arabs*, Television documentary archive, Liddell Hart Military Archives, King's College London, Fiftyyears 8/10; MemCon, 9 May 1977, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 239–58.

- Seale, Asad, 296. Jimmy Carter, 'Meeting with President Hafiz al-Asad of Syria Remarks of the President and President Asad Prior to Their Meeting', 9 May 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, *The American Presidency Project*. http:// www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid=7488 (12.01.2016).
- 49. Vance to The President, 17 May 1977, JCL, NLC-128-6-15-1-6.
- 50. MemCon, 24 May 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 267-76.
- Vance, *Hard Choices*, 170. For one of the fuller discussions on whether or not to talk to the PLO, see Minutes of a PRC Meeting, 19 April 1977, *FRUS 1977–* 80, Vol. VIII, 191–207.
- 52. Sheehan, 'How Kissinger Did It: Step by Step in the Middle East', in Rubin, *Dynamics of Third Party Intervention*, 86.
- 53. Vance to the President, 29 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-7-1-1.
- 54. NSC Meeting, 23 February 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-4-4-3; Vance to the President, 29 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-7-1-1.
- 55. Quandt to Brzezinski, 18 April 1977, JCL, Vertical File Box 79, Middle East.
- 56. Vance to the President, 29 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-7-1-1.
- NSC Meeting, 23 February 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-4-4-3. This condition was often reiterated; see, for example, Quandt to Brzezinski, 18 April 1977, JCL, Vertical File Box 79, Middle East.
- Resolutions of the Thirteenth Palestine National Council, Cairo, Issued March 21–25, 1977, in 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 6(3),' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 6, no. 3 (1977): 189.
- 59. Gresh, The PLO, 205-7; Cobban, The Palestinian Liberation Organisation, 79; Sabri Jiryis, 'On Political Settlement in the Middle East: The Palestinian Dimension,' Journal of Palestine Studies 7, no. 1 (1977): 3-4; Ann Mosely Lesch, Political Perceptions of the Palestinians on the West Bank and the Gaza Strip (Washington DC: Middle East Institute, 1980), 86-87; Resolutions of the Thirteenth Palestine National Council, Cairo, Issued 21-25 March 1977, in 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 6(3),' 189; Sayigh, Armed Struggle and the Search for State, 415.
- 60. 'Palestine National Council 15-Point Program,' MERIP Reports, no. 57 (1977): 12–13; 'Letter from the Chairman of the Committee on the Exercise for the Inalienable Rights of the Palestinian People Addressed to the President of the Security Council, S/12308,' 28 March, 1977, https://unispal.un.org/DPA/DPR/unispal.nsf/0/22F62BA57C83ACC48525644800756 A86 (22.11.2017); 'General Assembly Report A/31/35,' 21 July 1976, https://unispal.un.org/DPA/DPR/unispal.nsf/0/ A7D4580DA4B4F0238525611E00668F4E (22.11.2017).
- 61. NSC Meeting, 23 February 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-4-4-3.
- 62. Howard M. Sachar, *History of Israel: From the Rise of Zionism to Our Time* (New York: Alfred A. Knopf Publishing, 2001), 833-34.

- 63. Acting Director of Central Intelligence Knoche to Brzezinski, 8 February 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 25.
- 64. Middle East to Brzezinski, 29 March 1977, JCL, NLC-10-1-7-29-1; Brzezinski to The President, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-5-6-0.
- 65. Samuel Hoskinson and William B. Quandt to Zbigniew Brzezinski, 9 February 1977, JCL, NLC-7-49-3-2-6.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 17 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-6-8-2; SecState WashDC to White House, 19 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-6-40-6; Quandt to Brzezinski, 13 September 1977, JCL, NLC-25-74-11-6-4.
- 67. Middle East to Brzezinski from Middle East, 3 June 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE4A-34-55-2-0.
- Vance to Brzezinski, 21 July 1977, JCL, NLC-25-74-9-4-0; SecState WashDC to White House, 25 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-1-32-9; Quandt to Brzezinski, 13 September 1977, JCL, NLC-25-74-11-6-4; Notes on ZB-Bolling meeting, 6 September 1977 and Conversation with Yasser Arafat, 9-10 and 11–12 September 1977, Landrum Bolling papers from William B. Quandt's private archive; Quandt to Brzezinski, 19 September 1977; Brzezinski to President Carter, 19 September 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 498–520.
- 69. Cyrus Vance to the President, 3 March 1977, JCL, NLC-128-11-17-1-8.
- 70. Memorandum: Husayn's Visit, 20 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-3-11-4.
- 71. Vance to the President, 9 April 1977, JCL, NLC-128-12-7-8-1.
- Intelligence Summary, 24 February 1977, JCL, NLC-6-50-1-6-3; Dannreuther, *The Soviet Union and the PLO*, 94–96.
- 73. Vance to the President, 25 April 1977, JCL, NLC-7-18-2-2-1.
- 74. PRC Meeting, 19 April 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39C-24-97-2-5.
- Discussion Paper for the PRC Meeting on Middle East, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-132-61-6-2-9.
- Already at the end of February, after Vance's Middle East tour, this presented itself as a central issue. NSC Meeting, 23 February 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-4-4-3.
- 77. Vance to the President, 29 April 1977, JCL, NLC-25-104-7-1-1.
- The Carter-Asad Meeting: The Syria Perspective, 2 May 1977, JCL, NLC-25-88-6-7-5; CIA to Quandt, 6 May 1977, JCL, NLC-25-76-2-1-8.
- 79. PRC Meeting, 19 April 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39C-24-97-2-5; Minutes of a PRC Meeting, 19 April 1977, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 191.
- PRC Meeting, 19 April 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39C-24-97-2-5; Minutes of a PRC Meeting, 19 April 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 191-207.
- Discussion Paper for the PRC Meeting on Middle East, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-132-61-6-2-9; Vance-Gromyko statement, Geneva, 21 May 1977, Medzini, Israels Foreign Relations 1974-1977, Volume 3, 570.
- 82. The Situation Room to Brzezinski, 18 May 2977, JCL, NLC-1-2-3-50-0.
- 83. Alfred L. Atherton to The Secretary, 24 June 1977, JCL, NLC-25-76-3-3-5.
- 84. Vance to Brzezinski, 21 July 1977, JCL, NLC-25-74-9-4-0.

- Summary of PRC Meeting on the Middle East, 5 July 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39C-24-102-2-8.
- Shlaim, *The Iron Wall*, 350; Yechiam Weitz, 'The Road to the 'Upheaval': A Capsule History of the Herut Movement, 1948–1977,' *Israel Studies* 10, no. 3 (2005): 80–81.
- 87. Personal interview with William B. Quandt, Oslo 2015, 12 June 2015. While the political leadership in the United States had not considered that possibility, the CIA had; see 'The Israeli Election and Its Impact on Peace Negotiations', February 1977, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords http://www.foia.cia.gov/collection/carter-campdavid-accords (02.06.2014).
- Nigel Ashton, "A Local Terrorist Made Good": The Callaghan Government and the Arab–Israeli Peace Process, 1977–79,' *Contemporary British History* 31, no. 1 (2017): 117.
- Harry Zvi Hurwitz, Begin: His Life, Words and Deeds (Jerusalem: Gefen, 2004), 32.
- 90. Mark Tessler, 'The Political Right in Israel: Its Origins, Growth, and Prospects,' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 15, no. 2 (1986): 19.
- 91. Tessler, 'The Political Right in Israel: Its Origins, Growth, and Prospects', 20.
- 92. Ilan Peleg, 'The Israeli Right and Israel's Territorial Dilemma', in Miriam Fendius Elman, Oded Haklai, and Hendrik Spruyt, *Democracy and Conflict Resolution: The Dilemmas of Israel's Peacemaking* (Syracuse: Syracuse University Press, 2014), 164–65; Ilan Peleg, *Begin's Foreign Policy*, 1977–83: Israel's Move to the Right (New York: Greenwood Press, 1987), 17–20.
- 93. Peleg, Begin's Foreign Policy, 1977-83, 22-32.
- Dani Filc, Political Right in Israel: Different Faces of Jewish Populism. (New York: Routledge, 2013), 30; Peleg, Begin's Foreign Policy, 1977-83, 42-43.
- Naor, 'Hawks' Beaks', Doves' Feathers,' 155–56; Tessler, 'The Political Right in Israel,' 19; Arye Naor, "A Simple Historical Truth": Judea, Samaria and the Gaza Strip in Menachem Begin's Ideology,' *Israel Affairs* 21, no. 3 (2015): 463–65.
- 96. Peleg, Begin's Foreign Policy, 1977-83, 31.
- 97. Nadav G. Shelef, 'From 'Both Banks of the Jordan' to the 'Whole Land of Israel:' Ideological Change in Revisionist Zionism,' *Israel Studies* 9, no. 1 (2004): 130-32.
- 98. Naor, 'Hawks' Beaks', Doves' Feathers,' 160.
- 99. Quoted in Shlaim, The Iron Wall, 353.
- 100. Yechiam Weitz, 'The Road to the "Upheaval",' 77.
- Discussion Paper for the PRC Meeting on Middle East, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-132-61-6-2-9.
- Discussion Paper for the PRC Meeting on Middle East, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-132-61-6-2-9.
- Discussion Paper for the PRC Meeting on Middle East, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-132-61-6-2-9.

- 104. 'U.S. Statement on the Middle East', 27 June 1977, The New York Times; Quandt, Camp David, 72-73.
- 105. Interview with Foreign Minister Dayan on A.B.C. Television, 21 and 22 June 1977, in Meron Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents*, 1977– 1982 (Jerusalem: Israeli Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 1981), 5–8.
- 106. Statement by Prime Minister Begin to the Zionist General Council, 23 June 1977, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents*, 1977–1982, 10–11.
- Discussion Paper for the PRC Meeting on Middle East, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-132-61-6-2-9; PRC Meeting, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39C-24-98-4-2.
- 108. Quandt to Brzezinski, 30 June 1977, JCL, NLC-25-76-3-3-5.
- Discussion Paper for July 5 PRC Meeting, 1 July 1977, JCL, NLC-25-132-6-1-1.
- 110. Discussion Paper for July 5 PRC Meeting, 1 July 1977, JCL, NLC-25-132-6-1-1.
- 111. Alfred L. Atherton and Harold H. Saunders to The Secretary, 20 June 1977, JCL, NLC-7-68-4-1-5.
- 112. Discussion Paper for July 5 PRC Meeting, 1 July 1977, JCL, NLC-25-132-6-1-1.
- 113. Discussion Paper for the PRC Meeting on Middle East, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-132-61-6-2-9; Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 41; Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 97.
- Discussion Paper for July 5 PRC Meeting, 1 July 1977, JCL, NLC-25-132-6-1-1; PRC Meeting on Middle East, 12 July, JCL, NLC-21-4-5-1-8.
- 115. Wolfgang Saxon, 'Mideast Peace Plan Attacked by Javits', 27 June 1977, *The New York Times*; Bernard Gwertzman, 'U.S. Calls on Israel to Quit some Lands in all the Sectors', 28 June 1977, *The New York Times*.
- Press Conference with President Carter, 30 June 1977, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977–1982, 20.
- 117. Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 99.
- Discussion Paper for July 5 PRC Meeting, 1 July 1977, JCL, NLC-25-132-6-1-1.
- Jørgen Jensehaugen and Anja Sletteland, 'Betingelsesløs Fred: Forhandlinger i Forkledninger,' *Babylon – Nordisk Tidsskrift for Midtøstenstudier* 11, no. 1 (2013): 65–68.
- 120. Press Conference with Prime Minister Begin, 20 July 1977, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977–1982, 39–42; Moshe Dayan, Breakthrough: A Personal Account of the Egypt–Israel Peace Negotiations (New York: Random House, 1981), 18–20; MemCon, 19 July 1977; Brzezinski to President Carter, 19 July 1977, FRUS 1969-76 Vol. XXV, 336–53, 358–60; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 32–34. See also SecState WashDC to White House, 21 July 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-4-35-4; SecState WashDC to White House, 29 July 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-4-46-2.

- 121. Interviews with King Hussein of Jordan and Syrian President Hafiz al-Assad in *Newsweek*, 1 August 1977, in 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab– Israeli Conflict 7(1),' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 7, no. 1 (1977): 203–7; *FRUS* 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 376–80.
- 122. Remarks by President Carter following his second meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 20 July 1977, Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977-1982, 38.*
- 123. SecState WashDC to White House, 21 July 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-4-35-4; Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 53-54.
- 124. MemCon, 19 July 1977; MemCon, 20 July 1977; DepState to the Embassy in Israel, 25 July 1977; DepState to the Embassy in Israel, 31 July 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 336–53, 362–67, 369–70, 372–75; Quandt, Peace Process, 184–85.
- 125. Quandt, Camp David, 83.
- 126. Government statement on recognition of three settlements, 26 July 1977, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977–1982, 54–55.
- Statement to the Knesset by Prime Minister Begin on his visit to the U.S. 27 July 1977, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents*, 1977– 1982, 55-67.
- 128. US reaction to Israeli settlements announcement, stated by State Department Spokesman, 26 July 1977, and Press Conference with President Carter, 28 July 1977, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents*, 1977–1982, 55, 67. According to Daniel Strieff Carter was the first US president to call the settlements illegal. Strieff, *Jimmy Carter and the Middle East*, 55. See also SecState WashDC to White House, 28 July 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-4-45-3; Jimmy Carter, 'The President's News Conference', 23 August 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, *The American Presidency Project*. http://www.presidency.ucsb. edu/ws/index.php?pid=7987 (11.02.1977).
- 129. MemCon, 10 August 1977; Embassy in Israel to DepState, 17 August 1977; DepState to the White House, 12 August 1977, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 435–53, 470–72.
- DepState to the Embassy in Israel, 17 August 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 480; Bernard Gwertzman, 'U.S. Assails Israelis on New Settlements in West Bank Region', 18 August 1977, The New York Times.
- 131. Jimmy Carter, 'The President's News Conference', 23 August 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, *The American Presidency Project*. http://www.presidency.ucsb. edu/ws/index.php?pid=7987 (11.02.1977); SecState WashDC to White House, 3 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-10-2.
- 132. Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 47-50.
- 133. DepState to the Embassies in Jordan, Egypt, Syria and Saudi Arabia, 19 July 1977; MemCon, 20 July 1977, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 360–67.
- 134. Quandt and Gary Sick to Brzezinski, 14 July 1977, JCL, NLC-25-92-1-6-6.
- 135. Brzezinski to the President, 19 July 1977, JCL, NLC-17-48-2-16-2.

- 136. Summary of message found in Brzezinski to The President, 19 July 1977, JCL, NLC-17-48-2-16-2. The full 18 July 1977 version has been published by the CIA online, http://www.foia.cia.gov/sites/default/files/1977-07-18b.pdf (12.02.2016).
- 137. SecState WashDC to White House, 28 July 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-4-45-3; SecState WashDC to White House, 29 July 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-4-46-2; Dayan, *Breakthrough*, 21–22.
- 138. SecState WashDC to White House, 29 July 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-4-46-2.
- 139. Gary Sick to Brzezinski, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16A-13-18-1-2.
- 140. Gary Sick to Brzezinski, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16A-13-18-1-2.
- 141. London to White House, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-25-105-8-4-6.
- 142. Bernard Gwertzman, 'Secretary Says Saudis Expect Change Soon', 9 August 1977, The New York Times; Sayigh, Armed Struggle and the Search for State, 420-21.
- SecStateWashDC to USdelSecretary NIact, 6 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-22-3-51-1; Gary Sick to Brzezinski, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16A-13-18-1-2.
- 144. SecState WashDC to White House, 9 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-22-3-54-8. See also SecState Vance to the Consulate General in Alexandria, 7 August 1977; Embassy in Lebanon to SecState Vance in Jerusalem, 10 August 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 409–10, 459.
- 145. Gary Sick to Brzezinski, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16A-13-18-1-2.
- 146. Gary Sick to Brzezinski, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16A-13-18-1-2; SecState WashDC to ME AMEmbassies, 13 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-5-32-6; SecState WashDC to USDdel Secretary, 21 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-6-8; Jimmy Carter, "Plains, Georgia Exchange with Reporters at Carters Warehouse", 8 August 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, *The American Presidency Project*. http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index. php?pid=7945#axzz1xmMw62jN (15.06.2012).
- 147. Works which briefly discuss the issue include Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 175–76; Sayigh, Armed Struggle and the Search for State, 420–23; Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 61–65; Cobban, The Palestinian Liberation Organisation, 88–90.
- 148. Sheehan, 'How Kissinger Did It: Step by Step in the Middle East', in Rubin, *Dynamics of Third Party Intervention*, 64.
- 149. Vance, Hard Choices, 188; SecState Vance to the Embassies in Jordan and Egypt, 9 August 1977; MemCon, 9 August 1977; CIA Intelligence Information Cable, 20 August 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 416–18, 421–26, 485–87.
- 150. SecState WashDC to AMEmbassay Tel Aviv, 16 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-6-2-8.
- 151. SecState WashDC to White House, 17 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-6-8-2.
- 152. SecState WashDC to White House, 17 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-6-8-2.

- 153. SecState WashDC to USdel Secretary NIact, 6 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-22-3-51-1.
- 154. London to White House, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-25-105-8-4-6.
- 155. Statement by the Executive Committee of the PLO Beirut, 18 August 1977 and Statement by the Central Council of the PLO, Damascus, 26 August 1977, in *Journal of Palestine Studies* 7, no. 2 (1977): 174–75.
- 156. Warren Christopher to the President, 24 August 1977, JCL, NLC-128-12-11-1-4.
- Alfred L. Atherton and Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 29 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE17B-4-19-2-8; CIA Intelligence Information Cable, 20 August 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 485–87.
- 158. CIA Intelligence Information Cable, 20 August 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 485-87.
- 159. Vance to the President, 29 August 1977, JCL, NLC-128-12-11-20-2.
- Sidney Sober and Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 31 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE17B-4-19-5-5.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 19 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-6-40 See also SecState WashDC to White House, 30 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-1-49-1; Embassy in Lebanon to DepState, 23 August 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 487–89.
- 162. SecState WashDC to White House, 29 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-1-44-6; SecState WashDC to White House, 31 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-1-56-3.
- Ambassador to Lebanon (Parker) to Atherton, 19 August 1977, FRUS 1977– 80, Vol. VIII, 481–84.
- 164. Quandt to Brzezinski, 13 September 1977, JCL, NLC-25-74-11-6-4.
- 165. Minutes of a PRC Meeting, 19 April 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 199.
- 166. SecState Vance to the White House and DepState, 2 August 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 381–82.
- 167. SecState Vance to the White House and DepState, 2 August 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 381–82.
- 168. NSC Meeting, 23 February 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-4-4-3; Vance to the President, 3 March 1977, JCL, NLC-128-11-17-1-8; MemCon, 20 February 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 113-22; Vance, Hard Choices, 168-71.
- 169. SecState Vance to the White House and DepState, 2 August 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 382–84.
- Gary Sick to Brzezinski, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16A-13-18-1-2; SecState to the White House and DepState, 6 August 1977; MemCon, 11 August 1977, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 406–8, 463–67.
- SecState WashDC to ME AMEmbassies, 13 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-107-5-32-6.
- 172. Ismail Fahmy, Negotiating for Peace in the Middle East: An Arab View (Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press, 1983), 253–60; Yaacov Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977–1982: In Search of Legitimacy for Peace (Albany: State University of New York Press, 1994), 26; Dayan, Breakthrough,

47, 87; Quandt, Camp David, 108–10; Anwar Sadat, Anwar El Sadat: In Search of Identity an Autobiography (New York: Harper & Row, 1978), 305–6; Ezer Weizman, The Battle for Peace (New York: Bantam, 1981), 95–96; Mohamed Heikal, Secret Channels: The Inside Story of Arab–Israeli Peace Negotiations (London: HarperCollins, 1996), 252–53; Orna Almog, 'Unlikely Relations: Israel, Romania and the Egyptian–Israeli Peace Accord,' Middle Eastern Studies 52, no. 6 (2016): 881–96.

- 173. Gary Sick to Brzezinski, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16A-13-18-1-2.
- 174. Pearlman, 'Spoiling Inside and Out'; Cobban, The Palestinian Liberation Organisation, 81-90.
- 175. London to White House, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-25-105-8-4-6; Cobban, *The Palestinian Liberation Organisation*, 240.
- Bernard Gwertzman, 'Israelis tell Vance they firmly oppose yielding territory', 10 August 1977, *The New York Times*.
- 177. MemCon, 9 August 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 433.
- PRC Meeting, 19 April 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39C-24-97-2-5; Discussion Paper for the PRC Meeting on Middle East, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-132-61-6-2-9; Brzezinski, *Power and Principle*, 105–6.
- 179. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 155.
- 180. Quoted in Seale, Asad, 297.

Chapter 4 Clinging to Comprehensive Peace

- Scott Kaufman is particularly scathing in his judgement that Carter overstretched. Kaufman, *Plans Unraveled*, 28-55; Schmitz and Walker, 'Jimmy Carter and the Foreign Policy of Human Rights'; Robert A. Strong, *Working in the World: Jimmy Carter and the Making of American Foreign Policy* (Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 2000), 71-182; T. M. Nichols, 'Carter and the Soviets: The Origins of the US Return to a Strategy of Confrontation,' *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 13, no. 2 (2002): 21-42.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 2 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-5-8.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 3 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-9-4; SecState WashDC to White House, 3 September 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-7-7-7.
- 4. Carter, White House Diary, 101.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 7 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-15-7.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 12 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-28-3.
- SecStateWashDC to White House, 21 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-40-6.

- Vance to The President, 24 September 1977, JCL, NLC-128-12-12-17-5; MemCon, 24 September 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 570–82.
- Jimmy Carter, 'The President's News Conference', 29 September 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb. edu/ws/index.php?pid=6720 (30.04.2013).
- Jimmy Carter, 'The President's News Conference', 29 September 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb. edu/ws/index.php?pid=6720 (30.04.2013).
- SecState WashDC to White House, 3 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-10-2; SecState WashDC to White House, 7 September, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-15-7; SecState WashDC to White House, 9 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-23-8.
- 12. SecState WashDC to White House, 3 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-10-2.
- 13. James M. Markhaim, 'U.S.-P.L.O. Dialogue: Chances Seem to Ebb', 25 August 1977, *The New York Times*.
- 14. SecState WashDC to White House, 3 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-10-2.
- 15. SecState WashDC to White House, 9 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-23-8.
- 16. SecState WashDC to White House, 9 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-23-8.
- Alfred L. Atherton and Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 29 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE17B-4-19-2-8.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 15 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-10-1.
- SecState WashDC to AmbEmbassy Jidda, 17 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-19-2; SecState WashDC to White House, 19 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-31-8.
- 20. SecStateWashDC to White House, 18 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-22-8.
- 21. Gary Sick to Brzezinski, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16A-13-18-1-2.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 19 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-29-1; SecStateWashDC to White House, 19 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-27-3.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 19 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-29-1; SecStateWashDC to White House, 19 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-27-3.
- 24. SecStateWashDC to White House, 19 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-30-9.
- 25. Steven L. Spiegel, 'The Carter Approach to the Arab–Israeli Dispute', in Shaked and Rabinovich, *Middle East and the United States*, 110.
- 26. SecStateWashDC to White House, 14 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-42-7.

- 27. Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 64-65.
- 28. Carter, White House Diary, 97.
- 29. SecState WashDC to White House, 13 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-38-2.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 4 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-12-0; SecState WashDC to White House, 22 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-2-4-8.
- 31. SecState WashDC to White House, 15 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-6-40-5.
- 32. Vance to the President, 17 October 1977, JCL, NLC-128-13-1-10-3.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 8 September, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-17-5; SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Amman, 10 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-24-7.
- SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Amman, 10 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-24-7.
- 35. Avi Shlaim, Lion of Jordan: The Life of King Hussein in War and Peace (London: Penguin, 2008), 393–95. Nigel Ashton demonstrates that the British prime minister also knew about the meeting, but it is unclear whether the British informed the Carter administration. Nigel Ashton, "A Local Terrorist Made Good": The Callaghan Government and the Arab–Israeli Peace Process, 1977–79,' 119.
- SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Amman, 10 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-24-7.
- SecStateWashDC to White House, 12 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-27-4.
- 38. Edward Sanders and Roger Lewis to Hamilton Jordan and Robert Lipshutz, 19 September 1977, JCL, Chief of Staff Jordan Box 35, Middle East, 1977; Brzezinski to the President, 13 January 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-13-5-1; George Lenczowski, American Presidents and the Middle East (Durham: Duke University Press, 1990), 169–70; Carter, White House Diary, 98, 111, 115; Steven L. Spiegel, The Other Arab–Israeli Conflict: Making America's Middle East Policy, from Truman to Reagan (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1986), 332–37; Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 168–72.
- See, for example, SecState WashDC to White House, 15 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-6-32-4.
- Meeting of Foreign Minister Day[an] with President Carter, 19 September 1977, Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [9-75 – 9-77]; Carter, White House Diary, 101.
- 41. Meeting of Foreign Minister Day[an] with President Carter, 19 September 1977, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [9-75 – 9-77]; MemCon, 19 September 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 532–47. For more on military/civilian settlements, see Idith Zertal and Akiva Eldar, Lords of the Land: The War Over Israel's Settlements in the Occupied Territories, 1967–2007 (New York: Nation Books, 2009), 283–85.

- 42. MemCon, 19 September 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 532-47.
- Meeting of Foreign Minister Day[an] with President Carter, 19 September 1977, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [9-75 – 9-77].
- 44. SecStateWashDC to White House, 30 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-4-52-4.
- 45. SecState WashDC to USDel Secretary, 30 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-4-56-0.
- 46. SecState WashDC to USDel Secretary, 30 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-4-56-0.
- 47. MemCon, 28 September 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 597.
- 48. MemCon, 28 September 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 611-20.
- 49. SecState WashDC to White House, 1 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-5-5; MemCon, 30 September 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 624–31. This was not the first time Dayan had presented this option; see, for example, MemCon, 26 September 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 583–84; Memcon of Meeting and Dinner, 26 September 1977, Israeli State Archives, "No More War": The Peace Plan of the Israeli Government and President Sadat's Journey to Jerusalem, November 1977', Documents on the Background to Sadat's Visit and the Israeli Government's Reaction', http://www.archives.gov.il/archivego_eng/publications/electronicpirsum/sadatvisit/sadatvisit.htm (23.09.2015).
- 50. Sayigh, Armed Struggle and the Search for State, 423.
- 51. Joint US-Soviet statement on the Middle East, 1 October 1977, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977–1982, 132–33.
- 52. Bernard Gwertzman, 'U.S. and Soviet Set Mutual Guidelines for Mideast Peace', 2 October 1977, *The New York Times*; Dannreuther, *The Soviet Union and the PLO*, 102.
- 53. Dannreuther, *The Soviet Union and the PLO*, 100; Jensehaugen, 'Blueprint for Arab–Israeli Peace?'; Vance and Soviet Foreign Minister Gromyko discussed the communique as early as May 1977; see Vance, *Hard Choices*, 191.
- SecState WashDC to USDel Secretary, 30 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-4-56-0; SecState WashDC to White House, 1 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-5-5. MemCon, 30 September 1977. Dayan was informed of the joint statement on 26 September. MemCon, 26 September 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 593–94, 624–31.
- 55. SecState WashDC to White House, 2 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-9-1. See also SecState WashDC to White House, 5 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-22-6; Bernard Gwertzman, 'U.S. Seeks to Calm Israeli Furor, Defends Soviet Role in Peace Plan, 4 October 1977, *The New Times*; Israel government reaction to joint U.S.-Soviet statement on the Middle East, 2 October 1977, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents*, 1977-1982, 133; Statement to the Knesset by Foreign Minister Dayan, 13 October 1977, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents*, 1977-1982, 142-43.

- Analysis of Arab–Israeli Developments n. 256, 3 October 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39B-35-5-1-6.
- 57. Naphtali Lau-Lavie, *Balaam's Prophecy: Eyewitness to History*, 1939-1989 (New York: Cornwall Books, 1998), 359.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 1 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-5-5; MemCon, 30 September 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 624–31.
- 59. William E. Farrell, 'U.S. Move on Mideast Rejected by Israel, Welcomed by Arabs', 3 October 1977, *The New York Times*; 'Mideast Peace Initiative Provokes Criticism in U.S', 3 October 1977, *The New York Times*; Bernard Gwertzman, 'U.S. Seeks to Calm Israeli Furor, Defends Soviet Role in Peace Plan, 4 October 1977, *The New York Times*; 'Went bonkers' is a quote by Jody Powell, Carter's White House spokesman; see Strieff, *Jimmy Carter and the Middle East*, 71–73; Jody Powell, *The Other Side of the Story* (New York: Morrow, 1984), 57; Brzezinski, *Power and Principle*, 108; Kaufman, *Plans Unraveled*, 79–80.
- 60. Tschirgi, The American Search for Mideast Peace, 113; Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 71.
- 61. Lau-Lavie, Balaam's Prophecy, 360–62; Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 72.
- Analysis of Arab–Israeli Developments n. 256, 3 October 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39B-35-5-1-6.
- SecState WashDC to USDel Secretary, 5 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-23-5. See also 'P.L.O. Praises Stand by U.S. and Moscow', 3 October 1977, *The New York Times*.
- 64. Seale, Asad, 300-01.
- 65. SecState WashDC to USDel Secretary, 5 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-23-5.
- 66. Quandt to Brzezinski, 5 October 1977, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East–Negotiations [10-77–12-77]; Vance to the President, 11 October 1977, JCL, NLC-7-19-2-2-0. According to Dannreuther these signs of moderation were the result of Soviet pressure; see Dannreuther, *The Soviet Union and the PLO*, 102–3.
- 67. Interview with Farouq Qaddaoumi ('Abu Lutf'), Head of the PLO's Political Department [Excerpts], 20 October 1977, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict', Journal of Palestine Studies 7, no. 2 (1978): 175; Dannreuther, The Soviet Union and the PLO, 102–3. 'P.L.O. Praises Stand by U.S. and Moscow', 3 October 1977, The New York Times.
- Jimmy Carter, 'United Nations Address Before the General Assembly', 4 October 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid=6744 (28.02.2013).
- 69. Interview with Farouq Qaddaoumi ('Abu Lutf'), Head of the PLO's Political Department [Excerpts], 20 October 1977, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(2),' 176.

- Siniver, Nixon, Kissinger, and U.S. Foreign Policy Making, 190-93; Quandt, Decade of Decisions, 151-52; Sadat, Anwar El Sadat, 228-31; Heikal, Secret Channels, 253.
- President's Meeting with President Anwar Sadat, 4 February 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77–8-78].
- MemCon, 4 October 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 652–77; SecState WashDC to White House, 5 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-22-6.
- 73. MemCon, 4 October 1977, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 652–77; SecState WashDC to White House, 5 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-22-6.
- 74. Brzezinski to the President, 13 January 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-13-5-1; Quandt, *Camp David*, 123; Strieff, *Jimmy Carter and the Middle East*, 59.
- 75. Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 108.
- 76. Lau-Lavie, Balaam's Prophecy, 359-65; MemCon, 4 October 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 652-77.
- 77. Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 108.
- MemCon, 4 October 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 652–77; SecState WashDC to White House, 5 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-22-6.
- MemCon, 4 October 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 652–77; Agreed Minutes of Conversation from the President's Meeting with Foreign Minister Dayan of October 4, 1977, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East–Negotiations [10-77–12-77]. Dayan reiterated this in a letter to Vance dated 5 October 1977. SecState WashDC to White House, 15 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-6-36-0.
- 80. SecState WashDC to White House, 5 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-22-6.
- Quandt to Brzezinski, 5 October 1977, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East–Negotiations [10-77–12-77].
- 82. SecState WashDC to White House, 5 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-22-6; Jimmy Carter, 'Geneva Peace Conference on the Middle East United States-Israel Joint Statement Issued Following a Meeting between the President and Israeli Foreign Minister Moshe Dayan', 5 October 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/? pid=6749 (01.03.2013).
- Briefing by Moshe Dayan, 5 October 1977, JCL, Chief of Staff Jordan Box 35, Middle East, 1977 [1].
- SecState WashDC to White House, 7 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-33-4; SecState WashDC to White House, 7 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-34-3.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 7 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-33-4; SecState WashDC to White House, 7 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-34-3; SecState WashDC to White House, 8 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-39-8.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 8 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-42-4; Middle East to Brzezinski, 11 October 1977, JCL, NLC-25-133-4-13-9; Vance to The President, 11 October 1977, JCL, NLC-7-19-2-2-0.

- 87. SecState WashDC to White House, 7 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-34-3.
- 88. SecState WashDC to White House, 7 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-5-34-3.
- 89. Brzezinski to the President, 18 October 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE17B-5-25-1-1.
- 90. SecState WashDC to White House, 15 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-6-30-6; Middle East to Zbigniew Brzezinski, 17 October 1977, JCL, NLC-25-133-4-16-6.
- Interview with Prime Minister Begin in Yediot Aharanot, 12 September 1977, Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977–1982, 119.
- 92. SecState WashDC to White House, 17 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-6-7.
- 93. SecState WashDC to White House, 17 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-6-7.
- 94. Interview with Farouq Qaddaoumi ('Abu Lutf'), Head of the PLO's Political Department [Excerpts], 20 October 1977, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 7(2),' 176; SecState WashDC to White House, 18 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-11-1; SecState WashDC to White House, 20 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-25-6; Alfred L. Atheron to the Secretary, 20 October 1977, JCL, NLC-15-46-1-18-5; SecState WashDC to White House, 21 October 1977, JCL, NLC-15-46-1-18-5; Vance to the President, 22 October 1977, JCL, NLC-15-46-1-16-7.
- SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Paris, 15 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-6-41-4; SecState WashDC to White House, 19 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-16-6.
- SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Amman, 14 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-6-17-1; SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Cairo, 14 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-6-16-2; SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Damascus, 14 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-6-15-3; SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Jidda, 15 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-6-38-8.
- 97. SecState WashDC to White House, 15 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-6-40-5.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 15 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-6-32-4.
- 99. SecState WashDC to White House, 15 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-6-36-0.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 18 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-11-1; SecState WashDC to White House, 26 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-2-23-7.
- 101. SecState WashDC to White House, 18 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-11-1.
- 102. SecState WashDC to White House, 19 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-22-9; SecState WashDC to White House, 19 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-23-8.
- 103. SecState WashDC to White House, 19 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-24-7; SecState WashDC to White House, 21 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-30-0; Fahmy, Negotiating for Peace in the Middle East, 245-46.

Notes to Pages 80–82

- 104. SecState WashDC to White House, 26 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-2-23-7.
- 105. Yasser Arafat, "The PLO Position," *Journal of Palestine Studies* 7, no. 3 (1978): 172.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 21 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-30-0; Vance to the President, 22 October 1977, JCL, NLC-15-46-1-16-7.
- 107. SecState WashDC to White House, 20 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-25-6.
- 108. Vance to the White House and DepState, 2 August 1977, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 381–82.
- 109. Vance to the White House and DepState, 2 August 1977, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 382–84.
- 110. SecState WashDC to White House, 28 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-3-4-7.
- Quandt, Camp David, 111; Martin Indyk, 'To the Ends of the Earth': Sadat's Jerusalem Initiative (Cambridge, MA: Center for Middle Eastern Studies, Harvard University, 1984), 65.
- 112. Dayan, Breakthrough, 38-54; Weizman, The Battle for Peace, 82-83; Heikal, Secret Channels, 255-57; Mohamed Ibrahim Kamel, The Camp David Accords (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1986), 34, 79.
- 113. Highlights from Meeting of 16 September 1977, Israeli State Archives, "No More War": The Peace Plan of the Israeli Government and President Sadat's Journey to Jerusalem, November 1977', Documents on the Background to Sadat's Visit and the Israeli Government's Reaction', http:// www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_eng/publications/electronicpirsum/sadatvisit/ sadatvisit.htm (23.09.2015). The newly released Israeli document largely confirms Dayan's version of the meeting. Dayan, *Breakthrough*, 38–54.
- 114. Highlights from Meeting of 16 September 1977, Israeli State Archives, "No More War": The Peace Plan of the Israeli Government and President Sadat's Journey to Jerusalem, November 1977', Documents on the Background to Sadat's Visit and the Israeli Government's Reaction', http://www.archives.gov. il/archivegov_eng/publications/electronicpirsum/sadatvisit/sadatvisit.htm (23.09.2015).
- 115. SecState WashDC to White House, 22 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-2-4-8.
- Vance to the President, 22 October 1977, JCL, NLC-15-46-1-16-7; SecState WashDC to White House, 21 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-34-6.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 21 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-33-7; SecState WashDC to White House, 21 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-35-5.
- 118. Jimmy Carter to President Sadat, 21 October 1977, JCL, Vertical Files Box 109, Sadat, Anwar al.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 28 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-3-5 The text of the letter in the referenced file is not official, but there is no indication that the text was changed in the version which was ultimately

delivered. On 29 October, when Sadat responded first in a meeting with Ambassador Eilts and then in a letter to Carter, he referred to the points raised in the draft letter. SecState WashDC to White House, 29 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-3-6-5; SecState WashDC to White House, 29 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-3-17-3.

- 120. SecState WashDC to White House, 28 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-3-5-6.
- 121. SecState WashDC to White House, 28 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-3-5-6.
- 122. SecState WashDC to White House, 29 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-3-17-3.
- 123. SecState WashDC to White House, 29 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-3-6-5.
- 124. SecState WashDC to White House, 29 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-3-6-5.
- 125. SecState WashDC to White House, 29 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-3-18-2.
- 126. SecState WashDC to AmEmbassy Tel Aviv, 1 November 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-4-3-7.
- 127. SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Moscow, 29 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-3-15-5.
- 128. SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Amman, 9 November 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-4-23-9.
- 129. SecState WashDC to White House, 9 November 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-4-37-0.
- 130. SecState WashDC to White House, 21 October 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-1-29-2.
- 131. Cobban, The Palestinian Liberation Organisation, 173.
- 132. Cobban, 168–92; Lesch, Political Perceptions of the Palestinians on the West Bank and the Gaza Strip; Emile A. Nakhleh, The West Bank and Gaza Toward the Making of a Palestinian State (Washington DC: American Enterprise Institute, 1979), 4, 64–65.

Chapter 5 The Jerusalem Bombshell

- 1. Embassy in Egypt to DepState, 3 November 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 741-44; Quandt, Camp David, 144-45.
- 2. Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 111.
- DepState to the Embassy in Egypt, 5 November 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 745; Heikal, Secret Channels, 257.
- Speech by Egyptian President Anwar Sadat to the Egyptian Parliament, 9 November 1977 [Excerpts], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab– Israeli Conflict 7(2),' 180.
- 5. Brzezinski to the President, 10 November 1977, JCL, White House Central File, Subject File Box CO-23, CO45 Executive 4-16-77 12-31-77.
- Embassy in Egypt to DepState, 9 November 1977; Embassy in Egypt to DepState, 10 November 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 748–53.
- 7. Carter, White House Diary, 132-34.

- Sabri Jiryis, 'The Arab World at the Crossroads: An Analysis of the Arab Opposition to the Sadat Initiative,' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 7, no. 2 (1978): 45; Alan Hart, *Arafat: A Political Biography* (London: Sidgwick & Jackson, 1994), 396.
- 9. Boutros Boutros-Ghali, Egypt's Road to Jerusalem: A Diplomat's Story of the Struggle for Peace in the Middle East (New York: Random House, 1997), 12; Madiha Rashid al Madfai, Jordan, the United States and the Middle East Peace Process, 1974–1991 (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007), 43; Fahmy, Negotiating for Peace in the Middle East, 265–66; Heikal, Secret Channels, 258; Interview with Hermann Eilts, 25 March 1997, Brian Lapping Associates, interview transcripts, Fifty Years War – Israel and the Arabs, Television documentary archive, Liddell Hart Military Archives, King's College London, Fiftyyears 8/10.
- Kandil, Soldiers, Spies and Statesmen, 150; Kamel, The Camp David Accords, 43. The letter in question is Jimmy Carter to President Sadat, 21 October 1977, JCL, Vertical Files Box 109, Sadat, Anwar al.
- 11. Kandil, Soldiers, Spies and Statesmen, 150.
- 12. Kandil, Soldiers, Spies and Statesmen, 150; Jiryis, 'The Arab World at the Crossroads,' 27.
- John Waterbury, The Egypt of Nasser and Sadat: The Political Economy of Two Regimes (New Jersey: Princeton University Press, 2014), 367-72; Kirk J. Beattie, Egypt during the Sadat Years, 231-52.
- SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Cairo, 15 November 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-5-30-6; SecState WashDC to White House, 18 November 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-6-7-1, SecState WashDC to White House, 18 November 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-6-8-0; SecState WashDC to White House, 18 November 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-6-12-5.
- 15. Meeting between Egyptian President Anwar Sadat and visiting members of the United States Congress, Cairo, 12 November 1977 [Excerpts], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(2),' 181; Jiryis, 'The Arab World at the Crossroads'; Joint press conference given by Egyptian President Anwar Sadat and Syrian President Hafiz Al-Assad, Damascus, 17 November 1977 [Excerpts], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab– Israeli Conflict 7(2),' 182, 184; Speech by Egyptian President Anwar Sadat to the Israeli Knesset, 20 November 1977, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(2),' 191–92.
- 16. MemCon, 27 October 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 729.
- See, for example, Fahmy, Negotiating for Peace in the Middle East, 219-20, 242-43, 250-51; Galia Golan, Soviet Policies in the Middle East: From World War Two to Gorbachev (New York: Cambridge University Press, 1990), 106; Sachar, History of Israel, 845-47.
- Fahmy, Negotiating for Peace in the Middle East, 253-60; Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 26; Dayan, Breakthrough, 47, 87; Quandt, Camp David, 108-10; Sadat, Anwar El Sadat, 305-6; Weizman, The Battle for

Peace, 95–96; Haber, Schiff, and Yaari, *The Year of the Dove*, 3–5, 13–14; Almog, 'Unlikely Relations'; Alfred L. Atherton, Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 19 November 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39B-35-5-2-5.

- 19. Quandt, Camp David, 111; Indyk, To the Ends of the Earth, 65.
- Broadcast by Prime Minister Begin to the Egyptian People, 11 November 1977, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977–1982, 163.
- A virtual 'joint' interview with Walter Cronkite, 14 November 1977, in Harry Hurwitz and Yisrael Medad, eds, *Peace in the Making: The Menachem Begin-Anwar El-Sadat Personal Correspondence* (Jerusalem: Gefen Publishing House, 2011), 9–11; Strieff, *Jimmy Carter and the Middle East*, 82–84.
- 22. Statement to the Knesset by Prime Minister Begin on Sadat's visit, 15 November 1977; Prime Minister Begin's letter of invitation to President Sadat, 15 November 1977, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977–1982,* 168–70; Hurwitz and Medad, *Peace in the Making,* 14. Menachem Begin to Jimmy Carter, 15 November 1977 and Mohamed Anwar El Sadat to Menachem Begin, 19 November 1977, Israeli State Archives "No More War": The Peace Plan of the Israeli Government and President Sadat's Journey to Jerusalem, November 1977', Documents on the Background to Sadat's Visit and the Israeli Government's Reaction', http:// www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_eng/publications/electronicpirsum/sadatvisit/ sadatvisit.htm (23.09.2015).
- 23. SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Cairo, 15 November 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-5-30-6.
- 24. SecState WashDC to White House, 19 November 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-6-21-5.
- 25. SecState WashDC to White House, 19 November 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-6-18-9.
- Alfred L. Atherton, Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 19 November 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39B-35-5-2-5.
- Alfred L. Atherton, Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 19 November 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39B-35-5-2-5.
- Alfred L. Atherton, Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 19 November 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39B-35-5-2-5; Alfred L. Atherton, Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 20 November 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16D-88-1-1-5.
- 29. Statement by the Executive Committee of the PLO on President Sadat's visit to Israel [Excerpt], 18 November 1977, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(2),' 185.
- 30. Statement by the PLO Central Council on Sadat's visit to Israel, issued in Damascus, 30 November 1977 [Excerpts], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict', *Journal of Palestine Studies* 7, no. 3 (1978): 186.
- Brzezinski to The President, 16 November 1977, JCL, NLC-16-SAFE17B-6-28-3-5.
- 32. Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 21.

- 33. Weizman, The Battle for Peace, 30; see also Dayan, Breakthrough, 77.
- Alfred L. Atherton, Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 20 November 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16D-88-1-1-5; Middle East to Brzezinski, 21 November 1977, JCL, NLC-25-133-7-5-5.
- 35. CIA to White House, 21 November 1977, JCL, NLC-43-4-8-17-4; Wright, *Thirteen Days in September*, 28–29; Heikal, *Secret Channels*, 263–64.
- 36. CIA to White House, 21 November 1977, JCL, NLC-43-4-8-17-4, speech by Egyptian President Anwar Sadat to the Israeli Knesset, 20 November 1977, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(2),' 189.
- CIA to White House, 21 November 1977, JCL, NLC-43-4-8-17-4; Speech by Egyptian President Anwar Sadat to the Israeli Knesset, 20 November 1977, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(2),' 186–94.
- 38. Boutros-Ghali, Egypt's Road to Jerusalem, 19.
- Colin Shindler, The Rise of the Israeli Right: From Odessa to Hebron (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2015), 298–99, 312.
- Speech by Israeli Premier Menahem Begin to the Israeli Knesset, November 20, 1977, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(2),' 196–98.
- Middle East to Zbigniew Brzezinski, 21 November 1977, JCL, NLC-25-133-7-5-5; Memorandum: International Reaction to the Sadat and Begin Speeches, 21 November 1977, JCL, NLC-2-6-3-2-8; Boutros-Ghali, *Egypt's Road to Jerusalem*, 22.
- 42. Memorandum: International Reaction to the Sadat and Begin Speeches, 21 November 1977, JCL, NLC-2-6-3-2-8; Joint Communique by Syria and the Palestine Liberation Organization, Damascus, 22 November 1977 [Excerpt], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(2),' 200–201.
- Quoted in Elias Shoufani, 'The Reaction in Israel to the Sadat Initiative,' Journal of Palestine Studies 7, no. 2 (1978): 11.
- 44. CIA to White House, 21 November 1977, JCL, NLC-43-4-8-17-4.
- 45. Joint press conference Begin-Sadat and text of agreed communique, 21 November 1977, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents*, 1977-1982, 204.
- The Situation Room to Brzezinski, 23 November 1977, JCL, NLC-128-1-24-5-7.
- The Situation Room to Brzezinski, 23 November 1977, JCL, NLC-128-1-24-5-7; The Situation Room to Brzezinski – Camp David, 24 November 1977, JCL, NLC-128-1-24-6-6.
- The Situation Room to Brzezinski, 23 November 1977, JCL, NLC-128-1-24-5-7. For the peace proposal see SecState WashDC to White House, 2 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-5-8.
- The Situation Room to Brzezinski, 23 November 1977, JCL, NLC-128-1-24-5-7.
- The Situation Room to Brzezinski, 23 November 1977, JCL, NLC-128-1-24-5-7.

- Vance to the President, 24 November 1977, JCL, NLC-128-1-24-3-9; SecState WashDC to White House, 5 December 1977, JCL, NLC-16-110-1-19-1.
- 52. Vance to The President, 24 November 1977, JCL, NLC-128-1-24-3-9.
- The Situation Room to Brzezinski Camp David, 24 November 1977, JCL, NLC-128-1-24-6-6.
- The Situation Room to Brzezinski Camp David, 24 November 1977, JCL, NLC-128-1-24-6-6.
- 55. David G. Nes, 'Egypt Breaks the Deadlock,' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 7, no. 2 (1978): 66.
- 56. SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Tel Aviv, 25 November 1977, JCL, NLC-16-101-1-26-3.
- 57. SecState WashDC to AMEmbassy Cairo, 25 November 1977, JCL, NLC-16-109-7-4-3.
- 58. Vance to the President, 26 November 1977, JCL, NLC-128-13-2-17-5.
- 59. Vance to the President, 26 November 1977, JCL, NLC-128-13-2-17-5.
- 60. Vance to the President, 24 November 1977, JCL, NLC-128-1-24-3-9.
- 61. Statement in the Knesset by Prime Minister Begin on the Cairo conference, 28 November 1977; Letter from Prime Minister Begin to Acting Foreign Minister Ghali, 28 November 1977, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977–1982, 224, 229*; Jimmy Carter, 'The President's News Conference', 30 November 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, The American Presidency Project, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php? pid=6962 (11.04.2013).
- 62. Alfred L. Atherton and Harold H. Saunders to The Secretary, 28 November 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39B-35-5-3-4.
- 63. Alfred L. Atherton and Harold H. Saunders to The Secretary, 28 November 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE39B-35-5-3-4.
- 64. UKMIS New York to FCO, 28 November 1977, FCO 93/1265, National Archives.
- UKMIS New York to FCO, 28 November 1977, FCO 93/1265, National Archives; UKMIS United Nations to FCO, 5 December 1977, FCO 93/1265, National Archives.
- 66. Jimmy Carter, 'The President's News Conference', 30 November 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, The American Presidency Project, http://www.presidency. ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid=6962 (11.04.2013).
- Jimmy Carter, 'The President's News Conference', 30 November 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, The American Presidency Project, http://www.presidency. ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid=6962 (11.04.2013).
- SecState WashDC to White House, 5 December 1977, JCL, NLC-16-110-1-20-8.
- 69. SecState WashDC to White House, 5 December 1977, JCL, NLC-16-110-1-20-8.
- 70. SecState WashDC to White House, 5 December 1977, JCL, NLC-16-110-1-20-8.

- 71. SecState WashDC to White House, 5 December 1977, JCL, NLC-16-110-1-20-8.
- See Statement of the Tripoli Summit Conference issued in Tripoli, December 5, 1977 [Excerpt], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(3),' 188–90.
- Alfred L. Atherton and Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 6 December 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE17B-6-31-7-7; Jiryis, 'The Arab World at the Crossroads,' 33.
- Alfred L. Atherton and Harold H. Saunders to The Secretary, 6 December 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE17B-6-31-7-7; MemCon, 10 December 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 807–12.
- Six-point programme agreed by all Palestinian factions, announced by Fatah Central Council member Salah Khalaf at a press conference in Tripoli, 4 December 1977, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(3),' 188.
- AMEmbassy Cairo to SecState WashDC, 7 December 1977, JCL, NLC-15-31-7-13-0.
- 77. Riaydh to White House, 14 December 1977, JCL, NLC-7-8-2-23-9.
- Interview with Prime Minister Begin on IDF Radio, 6 September 1977, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977–1982, 112.
- 79. Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 63-64.
- MemCon, 10 December 1977; Vance to the White House and DepState, 11 December 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 807–12, 820–25.
- MemCon, 12 December 1977, MemCon, 13 December 1977; Vance to the Embassy in Israel and DepState, 14 December 1977, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 827–39, 844–57.
- 82. Speech by Eliahu Ben-Elissar, chief Israeli negotiator at the Cairo conference, 14 December 1977 [Excerpt], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(3),' 193–94; Speech by Mr. Ismat Abdul-Majid, chief Egyptian negotiator at the Cairo conference, 14 December 1977 [Excerpt], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(3),' 194; Speech by US Assistant Secretary of State for Near Eastern and South Asian Affairs, Alfred Atherton, at the Cairo conference, 14 December 1977 [Excerpt], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(3),' 194–95.
- 83. Jiryis, 'The Arab World at the Crossroads,' 34-35.
- Nicholas A. Veliotes to the Acting Secretary, 14 December 1977, RG59, Office of the Deputy Secretary Records of Warren Christopher, 1977–1980, Box 19, Memoranda from WC to Bureaus – 1978, NARA, Maryland.
- 85. The proposal would be known interchangeably as 'autonomy', 'self-rule' and 'home rule'. MemCon, 16 December 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 861–72. For more on the proposal and how it developed, see, for example Mark Heller, 'Begin's False Autonomy,' Foreign Policy, no. 37 (1979): 111–32; 'Autonomy Israeli Style,' Journal of Palestine Studies 9, no. 1 (1979): 142–45.

- MemCon, 16 December 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 861–72; SecState WashDC to White House, 21 December 1977, JCL, NLC-16-110-3-21-6.
- 87. MemCon, 16 December 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 861-72.
- 88. MemCon, 17 December 1977, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 873-87.
- Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977–1982, 70–71; Sachar, History of Israel, 849.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 27 December 1977, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [10-77 – 12-77].
- 91. SecState WashDC to White House, 27 December 1977, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East Negotiations [10-77 12-77].
- Embassy in Israel to DepState, 27 December 1977; see also Embassy in Egypt to DepState, 27 December 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 893, 897–903.
- 93. David H. Ott, Palestine in Perspective: Politics, Human Rights and the West Bank (London: Quartet Books, 1980), 66, 82; 'American Views on the Future of the Palestinians', 6 February 1978, FCO 93/1560, National Archives; 'The West Bank and the Palestinians', 20 March 1978, FCO 93/1560, National Archives.
- 94. President's Meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 22 March 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78]. My emphasis.
- 95. Press conference by Egyptian President Anwar Sadat and Israeli Prime Minister Menahem Begin in Ismailia, 26 December 1977 [Excerpts], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict,' 1978, 197–199; see also Press conference with Prime Minister Begin at Ben-Gurion airport upon his return from Ismailiya, 26 December 1977, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977–1982, 269; Embassy in Egypt to DepState, 27 December 1977, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 897–903.
- President's Meeting with President Anwar Sadat, 4 February 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78].
- 97. Statement to the Knesset by Prime Minister Begin presenting Israel's peace plan, 28 December 1977, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents*, 1977–1982, 272–79; Naor, "A Simple Historical Truth," 472.
- 98. Memorandum: King Husayn and the Cairo Conference, 12 January 1978, JCL, NLC-25-56-1-5-7. The CIA reported that all Arab reaction to the plan was negative. Arab States: Reactions to Begin, 20 December 1977, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords, http://www. foia.cia.gov/collection/carter-camp-david-accords (02.06.2014).
- SecState WashDC to USDel Secretary, 29 December 1977, JCL, NLC-126-10-15-3-1; Press Statement by Karim Khalaf, Mayor of Ramallah. [Excerpt], 30 October 1977, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(2),' 178; Statement by West Bank Mayors on Sadat's visit to Israel, issued by 'Wafa,' 21 December, 1977 [Excerpts], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(3),' 195–96.
- 100. Jimmy Carter, 'Conversation with the President Remarks in an Interview with Tom Brokaw of NBC News, Bob Schieffer of CBS News, Robert MacNell of

the Public Broadcasting Service, and Barbara Walters of ABC News', 28 December 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, The American Presidency Project, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/print.php?pid=7072 (22.04.2013).

- 101. CIA to DepState, 31 December 1977, JCL, NLC-31-47-8-6-2.
- 102. For the indirect US–PLO negotiations over the 242 formula see SecState WashDC to White House, 19 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-29-1; SecState WashDC to White House, 19 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-27-3.
- Jimmy Carter, 'The President's News Conference', 15 December 1977, Papers of Jimmy Carter, The American Presidency Project, http://www.presidency. ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid=7016 (08.05.2013).
- 104. President's Meeting with King Hussein, 1 January 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78].
- President's Meeting with King Hussein, 1 January 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78].
- 106. President's Meeting with King Hussein, 1 January 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs [8-77 8-78].
- 107. President Sadat's reaction to President Carter's TV Comments on 28 December Regarding the West Bank, 1 January 1978, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords, http://www.foia.cia.gov/collection/ carter-camp-david-accords (02.06.2014).
- 108. Jimmy Carter, 'Aswan, Egypt Remarks of the President and President Anwar al-Sadat Following Their Meeting', 4 January 1978, Papers of Jimmy Carter, The American Presidency Project, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index. php?pid=31177 (26.08.2013).
- Embassy in Syria to the Embassy on Belgium, 6 January 1978, FRUS 1977– 80, Vol. VIII, 920; Vance to the President, 9 January 1978, JCL, NLC-128-13-4-2-9.
- 110. Embassy in Syria to the Embassy in Belgium, 6 January 1978; Brzezinski to President Carter, undated, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 919-22, 963-64; Sayigh, Armed Struggle and the Search for State, 441.
- 111. Brzezinski to President Carter, undated, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 963.
- 112. Seale, Abu Nidal, 162-63.
- 113. Brzezinski to the President, 6 January 1978, JCL, NLC-15-126-2-2-2.
- 114. Alfred L. Atherton to the Deputy Secretary, 12 January 1978, RG59, Office of the Deputy Secretary Records of Warren Christopher, 1977–1980, Box 19, Memos to WC from offices/bureaus, NARA, Maryland.
- 115. Quandt to Brzezinski, 12 January 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 926-28.
- 116. Quandt to Brzezinski, 12 January 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 926.
- 117. Quandt to Brzezinski, 12 January 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 928.
- Interview with Egyptian President Anwar Sadat in 'October', 15 January 1978. [Excerpts], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(3),' 201.
- President's Meeting with President Anwar Sadat, 4 February 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78].

- MemCon, 16 January 1978; Vance to the White House and DepState, 17 January 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 933-46.
- 121. SecState to the White House and DepState, 17 January 1978; Vance to the White House and DepState, 17 January 1978, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 946–52.
- 122. Speech by Egyptian President Sadat to the Popular Assembly, Announcing Recall of Egyptian Delegation from Jerusalem, Cairo, 21 January 1978. [Excerpts], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 7(3),' 205-6; Israel Government statement following breakdown of Political Committee talks, 19 January 1978, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977-1982, 301; Jimmy Carter, 'Middle East Negotiations Question-and-Answer Session with Reporters on Board Air Force One en Route to Georgia', 20 January 1978, Papers of Jimmy Carter, The American http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php? Presidency Project, pid=31011 (27.08.2013); Jimmy Carter, 'Secretary of State Vance's Trip to the Middle East White House Statement on the President's Meeting With Secretary Vance', 23 January 1978, Papers of Jimmy Carter, The American Presidency Project, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid= 31078 (27.08.2013).
- 123. Vance's Delegation to DepState, 19 January 1978, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 959–62.
- 124. Vance's Delegation to DepState, 19 January 1978, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 954–55.

Chapter 6 The Torturous Road to Camp David

- Brzezinski to Ambassador to Israel (Lewis), 27 January 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 986; Carter, White House Diary, 167.
- Embassy in Egypt to DepState, 24 January 1978, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 984–85; SecState WashDC to White House, 28 January 1978, JCL, NLC-16-110-5-38-6; Denis Clift to the Vice President, 31 January 1978, JCL, NLC-133-109-4-28-9; Vance to the President, 2 February 1978, JCL, NLC-6-18-2-31-0.
- President's Meeting with President Anwar Sadat, 4 February 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78].
- President's Meeting with President Anwar Sadat, 4 February 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78].
- White House statement on the Carter-Sadat meetings, 8 February 1978, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977-1982, 329.
- Israel government statement on settlements, 12 February 1978; Interview with Foreign Minister Dayan on NBC television, 12 February 1978, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977-1982, 330-32.
- President's Meeting with President Anwar Sadat, 4 February 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78].
- White House Statement on the Meeting between President Jimmy Carter and President Anwar Al-Sadat, 3–5 February 1978, JCL, Vertical File Box 8(A), Camp David – Summit Meetings; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 3 February 1978, JCL, NLC-16-110-6-13-2.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy London, 7 February 1978, JCL, NLC-16-110-6-27-7; Vance to the President, 7 February 1978, JCL, NLC-128-13-5-4-6; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 9 February 1978, JCL, NLC-16-110-6-34-9; James Reston, 'In Interview Egyptian Urges U.S. to Become a "Partner" in Talks', 9 March 1978, *The New York Times*.
- Hal Saunders to Warren Christopher, 4 February 1978, RG59, Office of the Deputy Secretary Records of Warren Christopher, 1977–1980, Box 19, Memos to WC from offices/bureaus, NARA, Maryland.
- Brzezinski to the President, 9 February 1978, Vance to the President, 7 February 1978, JCL, NLC-SAFE17B-8-39-6-8.
- 12. Vance to the President, 21 February 1978, JCL, NLC-128-13-5-13-6.
- 13. Vance to the President, 21 February 1978, JCL, NLC-128-13-5-13-6.
- 14. Vance to the President, 7 February 1978, JCL, NLC-128-13-5-4-6 [my emphasis]. The term 'Palestinian people' would be replaced with 'Palestinians'.
- 15. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 9 February 1978, JCL, NLC-16-110-6-34-9.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Amman, 4 March 1978, JCL, NLC-16-111-2-12-6.
- Brzezinski to the President, 11 March 1978, JCL, NLC-SAFE17B-8-44-4-4; Secstate WashDC to Amembassy Moscow, March 1978, JCL, NLC-16-111-3-18-9. See also Sayigh, Armed Struggle and the Search for State, 425–26.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 10 February 1978, JCL, NLC-16-110-6-38-5.
- DepState to Embassy in Egypt, 18 February 1978; Embassy in Egypt to DepState, 18 February 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1018-20.
- 20. DepState to the Embassy in Israel, 17 February 1978, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 1007–13.
- 21. MemCon, 16 February 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1014-18.
- 22. Brzezinski to the President, 24 February 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-14-5-0.
- Brzezinski to the President, 24 February 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-14-5-0; Consulate in Jerusalem to DepState, 8 March 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1044-51; Brzezinski to the President, 9 March 1978, JCL, NLC-SAFE17B-8-44-1-7.
- An exchange of letters, 1–10 March 1978, Hurwitz and Medad, Peace in the Making, 62–73.
- 25. Consulate in Jerusalem to DepState, 7 March 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1042-43.
- President's Meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 21 March 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78].

- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Amman, 4 March 1978, JCL, NLC-16-111-2-12-6; Embassy in Jordan to DepState, 5 March 1978, *FRUS 1977–80*, *Vol. VIII*, 1025–31.
- 28. Embassy in Jordan to DepState, 5 March 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1025-31.
- 29. Vance to the President, 9 March 1978, JCL, NLC-128-13-6-7-2.
- 30. Secstate WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 9 March 1978, JCL, NLC-16-101-5-12-4.
- 31. Brzezinski to the President, 15 March 1978, JCL, NLC-SAFE17B-9-45-1-5.
- 32. Brzezinski to the President, 15 March 1978, JCL, NLC-SAFE17B-9-45-1-5.
- Morris, Righteous Victims, 460; 'The Invasion of Lebanon,' Journal of Palestine Studies 7, no. 4 (1978): 129; Sayigh, Armed Struggle and the Search for State, 426.
- 34. Damascus to Canberra, 4 April 1978, FCO 93/1560, National Archives.
- Sayigh, Armed Struggle and the Search for State, 426-27; Helena Cobban, The Making of Modern Lebanon (London: HarperCollins Publishers, 1985), 161; Alan James, 'Painful Peacekeeping: The United Nations in Lebanon 1978-1982,' International Journal 38, no. 4 (1983): 616-18.
- United Nations Security Council Resolution 425, 19 March 1978, http:// unispal.un.org/UNISPAL.NSF/0/E25DAE8E3CE54FB5852560E50079C708 (27.05.2014).
- 37. DepState to the Embassy in Israel, 16 March 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1057-58; IDF statement on the operation in Lebanon, 15 March 1978, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977-1982, 363-64; Sayigh, Armed Struggle and the Search for State, 426-27; James, 'Painful Peacekeeping,' 619.
- 38. Quandt to Brzezinski, 20 March 1978, JCL, NLC-6-50-5-20-3.
- 39. Quandt to Brzezinski, 20 March 1978, JCL, NLC-6-50-5-20-3.
- President's Meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 21 March 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78]; MemCon, 21 March 1978, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 1062–80.
- President's Meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 21 March 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78]; MemCon, 21 March 1978, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 1062–80.
- President's Meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 21 March 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78].
- President's Meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 21 March 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78]; MemCon, 21 March 1978, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 1062–80.
- President's Meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 21 March 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-77 – 8-78].
- President's Meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 22 March 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-88 – 8-78].
- President's Meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 22 March 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-88 – 8-78].

- President's Meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 22 March 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-88 – 8-78].
- President's Meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 22 March 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-88 – 8-78].
- As mentioned earlier, Begin had viewed Carter as a 'cream puff' after their July 1977 meeting. Quandt, *Camp David*, 83.
- Alfred L. Atherton and Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 24 March 1978, JCL, NLC-SAFE17B-9-46-4-1.
- 51. Middle East to Brzezinski, 27 March 1978, JCL, NLC-25-17-10-9-6.
- 52. SecstateWashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 24 March 1978, JCL, NLC-16-111-3-26-0.
- Brzezinski to the Vice President, 24 March 1978, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords http://www.foia.cia.gov/ collection/carter-camp-david-accords (02.06.2014).
- 54. Warren Christopher to the President, 17 April 1978, JCL, NLC-128-13-7-10-7.
- 55. Warren Christopher to the President, 17 April 1978, JCL, NLC-128-13-7-10-7.
- 56. Vance to the President, 25 April 1978, JCL, NLC-128-13-7-17-0.
- 57. Vance to the President, 25 April 1978, JCL, NLC-128-13-7-17-0.
- MemCon, 26 April 1978 and MemCon, 27 April 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1116-28; Vance to The President, 26 April 1978, JCL, NLC-128-13-7-18-9.
- 59. Vance to the President, 26 April 1978, JCL, NLC-128-13-7-18-9.
- Jimmy Carter, 'Opposition to a Palestinian State,' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 7, no. 4 (1978): 168–69.
- Statement by the Central Committee of Fateh, Issued by 'Wafa,' Beirut, May 3, 1978, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 7(4),' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 7, no. 4 (1978): 196–99.
- Harold H. Saunders and William G. Bowdler to the Secretary, 1 May 1978, JCL, NLC-SAFE17A-35-56-1-5.
- 63. Brzezisnki to the President, 1 May 1978, JCL, NLC-15-22-2-25-2.
- 64. Quandt, Camp David, 191-94.
- 65. Quandt, Camp David, 194.
- 66. Daniel Strieff, 'Arms Wrestle: Capitol Hill Fight Over Carter's 1978 Middle East "Package" Airplane Sale,' *Diplomatic History* 40, no. 3 (2016): 475–99; Ghassan Bishara, 'The Middle East Arms Package: A Survey of the Congressional Debates,' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 7, no. 4 (1978): 67–78.
- 67. Andrew J. Pierre, 'Beyond the "Plane Package": Arms and Politics in the Middle East,' *International Security* 3, no. 1 (1978): 152, 155–56. See also Gary Sick to David Aaron, 30 March 1978, JCL, NLC-25-139-2-9-0.
- 68. Strieff, 'Arms Wrestle,' 22; Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 118-19.
- 69. Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 112.

- 70. Strieff, 'Arms Wrestle,' 2, 17, 22–23; Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 247–49. Interview with William Quandt, 20 March 1997, Brian Lapping Associates, interview transcripts, Fifty Years War Israel and the Arabs, Television documentary archive, Liddell Hart Military Archives, King's College London, Fiftyyears 8/16; Ambassador Samuel W. Lewis, Interviewed by Peter Jessup, 9 August 1998, The Association for Diplomatic Studies and Training Foreign Affairs Oral History Project, Library of Congress, http://www.adst.org/OH%20TOCs/Lewis,%20Samuel%20W.toc. pdf (15.10.2015).
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 27 May 1978, JCL, NLC-16-112-2-9-9; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 27 May 1978, JCL, NLC-16-112-2-11-6; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 3 June 1978, JCL, NLC-16-112-3-9-8.
- 72. Embassy in Egypt to DepState, 11 June 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1153-54.
- 73. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 3 June 1978, JCL, NLC-16-112-3-9-8.
- 74. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 3 June 1978, JCL, NLC-16-112-3-9-8.
- Embassy in Israel to DepState, 18 June 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1156-58; Brzezinski to the President, 19 June 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-15-2-3.
- 76. Brzezinski to the President, 19 June 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-15-2-3.
- 77. Brzezinski to the President, 19 June 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-15-2-3.
- Harold H. Saunders and William G. Bowdler to the Secretary, 21 June 1978, JCL, NLC-17-143-4-15-5; The Situation Room to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 5 July 1978, JCL, NLC-4-36-6-22-8.
- Statement by the PLO Central Council Following a Meeting in Damascus, 18 July 1978, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 8(1),' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 8, no. 1 (1978): 193–94.
- 80. The London talks are often referred to as the 'Leeds conference' because they took place at Leeds Castle. Peleg, *Begin's Foreign Policy*, 1977-83, 103; Bar-Siman-Tov, *Israel and the Peace Process*, 1977-1982, 91, 107.
- 81. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 22 June 1967, JCL, NLC-16-112-4-29-5.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 22 June 1967, JCL, NLC-16-112-4-29-5; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 25 June 1967, JCL, NLC-16-112-4-43-9; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 27 June 1967, JCL, NLC-16-112-4-50-1.
- 83. DepState to the Embassy in Egypt, 25 June 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1162-63.
- Sadat Proposals 3 July 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [1-78-7-28-78]; Christopher S. Wren, 'Egyptians Say Plan for Peace Contains Compromise Leeway', 6 July 1978, *The New York Times*.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 11 July 1978, JCL, NLC-16-112-5-40-1.

- Quandt to Brzezinski, 5 July 1978, JCL, NLC-6-51-2-3-4; Brzezinski to the President, 7 July 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-15-6-8; David Aaron to the White House, 6 July 1978, JCL, NLC-7-7-4-5-8; Quandt, Peace Process, 178; Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 15.
- 87. Quandt to Brzezinski, 5 July 1978, JCL, NLC-6-51-2-3-4.
- 88. Quandt to Brzezinski, 5 July 1978, JCL, NLC-6-51-2-3-4.
- Brzezinski to the President, 18 July 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [1-78-7-28-78].
- See, for example, David Aaron who viewed all non-security concerns as based on security, not ideology. David Aaron to the White House, 6 July 1978, JCL, NLC-7-7-4-5-8; Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 28 July 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [1-78-7-28-78].
- Shelef, 'From 'Both Banks of the Jordan' to the "Whole Land of Israel,' 130–32; Naor, 'Hawks' Beaks', Doves' Feathers,' 160; 'Autonomy–Israeli Style,' 143.
- 92. MemCon, 17 July 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1191-95.
- 93. MemCon, 17 July 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1196-1203.
- Official Israeli Statement Presented to Secretary Vance by Foreign Minister Dayan on 18 July, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [1-78-7-28-78].
- Harold H. Saunders to The Secretary, 28 July 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [1-78-7-28-78].
- MemCon, 19 July 1978; Vance to DepState and the White House, 19 July 1978, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII, 1205–21, 1234–36.
- 97. MemCon, 18 July 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1222-25.
- MemCon, 18 July 1978; MemCon, 19 July 1978; MemCon, 19 July 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1222-1133.
- Quandt to Brzezinski, 31 July 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [7-29-78 - 9-6-78].
- William G. Bowdler and William Crawford to the Secretary, 22 July 1978, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords http://www.foia.cia.gov/collection/carter-camp-david-accords (02.06.2014).
- 101. Embassy in Egypt to DepState, 26 July 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1246. See also Marvin Howe, 'Sadat Bars Meeting with Israelis Now; Condemns Position', 31 July 1978, The New York Times.
- 102. Embassy in Egypt to DepState, 31 July 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 1263.
- 103. Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 28 July 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East Negotiations [1-78-7-28-78].
- 104. Amembassy Cairo to SecState WashDC, 31 July 1978, JCL, NLC-16-44-6-20-8.
- 105. President Carter to Prime Minister Begin, 3 August 1978, JCL, Vertical File Box 5, Begin, Menachem; President Carter to President Sadat, 3 August 1978, JCL, Vertical File Box 109, Sadat, Anwar al; The White House to AMConsul

Alexandria, 8 August 1978, JCL, NLC-7-8-3-29-8; MemCon, 8 August 1978, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. VIII*, 1301–3; Carter, *White House Diary*, 210, 212–13.

Chapter 7 Camp David and the Egyptian–Israeli Peace Treaty

- 1. Touval, The Peace Brokers, 1982, 313-14.
- Optimal Outcome for Camp David, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [7-29-78 – 9-6-78]; Study Papers for the Camp David Talks, [no date], JCL, Vertical File Box 8(A), Camp David Study Papers.
- 3. Brzezinski to The President, 1 September 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East Negotiations [7-29-78 9-6-78]; Camp David: The Consequences of Failure, 31 August 1978, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords http://www.foia.cia.gov/collection/carter-camp-david-accords (02.06.2014); Quandt, Camp David, 208, 219; Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 253; Touval, The Peace Brokers, 313–14; Tom Princen, 'Camp David: Problem-Solving or Power Politics as Usual?,' Journal of Peace Research 28, no. 1 (1991): 67; Telhami, Power and Leadership in International Bargaining, 151.
- Planning for Camp David, FRUS: Foreign Relations of the United States 1977– 1980 Volume IX Arab–Israeli Dispute August 1978 – December 1980 (Washington DC: Department of State, United States Printing Office, 2014), 13–16.
- Brzezinski to the President, 1 September 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [7-29-78 – 9-6-78].
- 6. Study Papers for the Camp David Talks, JCL, Vertical File Box 8(A), Camp David Study Papers.
- 7. Study Papers for the Camp David Talks, JCL, Vertical File Box 8(A), Camp David Study Papers.
- 8. Carter, White House Diary, 215.
- 9. Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 52–52, 61–62; Carter, White House Diary, 216–19.
- Carter, White House Diary, 219-20; Jimmy Carter, Keeping Faith: Memoirs of a President (London: Bantam Books, 1982), 340-41; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 66-67; Quandt, Camp David, 222.
- 11. Telhami, Power and Leadership in International Bargaining, 163-67.
- Chronology [of Camp David talks], JCL, NLC-128-9-5-3-2; Quandt, Camp David, 223-25; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 73-99.
- Quandt, Camp David, 221-23; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 74; Carter, White House Diary, 221-22; Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 117.
- Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 74–75, 83–84; Carter, White House Diary, 222–23; Carter, Keeping Faith, 346–50; Weizman, The Battle for Peace, 351– 56; Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977–1982, 118.

- 15. Notes taken at meeting Begin-Sadat, 7 September 1978, JCL, Vertical File Box 8(A), Camp David – Summit Meetings.
- 16. Wright, *Thirteen Days in September*, 89; Haber, Schiff, and Yaari, *The Year of the Dove*, 238–39.
- Notes taken at meeting Begin-Sadat, 7 September 1978, JCL, Vertical File Box 8(A), Camp David – Summit Meetings; Carter, White House Diary, 224.
- 18. MemCon, 7 September 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. IX, 119-24.
- Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 97–99; Carter, White House Diary, 225–26; Carter, Keeping Faith, 357–59; Haber, Schiff, and Yaari, The Year of the Dove, 240–42.
- Quandt, Camp David, 225; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 115; Carter, Keeping Faith, 365-66; Carter, White House Diary, 227-28.
- 21. Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 153-54; Quandt, Camp David, 226-28.
- 22. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Brussels, 19 September 1978, JCL, NLC-16-102-6-40-1.
- A Framework for Peace in the Middle East Agreed at Camp David, 10 September 1978, Jimmy Carter Presidential Library, NLC-128-9-7-1-2; Chronology [of Camp David talks], JCL, NLC-128-9-5-3-2; Carter, White House Diary, 230; Quandt, Camp David, 229.
- 24. Apart from the drafts, the Carter archive contains few notes from the top-level meetings. This lack of archive material has to do with the nature of the negotiations. Many of the talks were so high level that the usual note-takers were not present. For some of the talks Quandt or Saunders were in the room, but the amount of notes either man took varied, and they were rarely typed up. Personal interview with William B. Quandt, Oslo 2015; a series of MemCons from Camp David are found in *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. IX*.
- 25. A Framework for Peace in the Middle East Agreed at Camp David, 10 September 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-7-2-1; Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 121-22; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 174-76, 195; Carter, Keeping Faith, 385-86; Carter, White House Diary, 234-35. Even the Israeli delegation was exasperated by Begin's refusal to entertain any references to UNSC Resolution 242. Consultation [Begin not present], 12 September 1978, Israeli State Archives, 'With Heavy Heart, But Head Held High: Making Peace – The Story of the Peace Treaty between Israel and Egypt, July 1978–March 1979,' http://www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_eng/ publications/electronicpirsum/campdavid/campdaviddoclist1.htm (23.09.2015).
- 26. A Framework for Peace in the Middle East Agreed at Camp David, 10 September 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-7-2-1; Carter, White House Diary, 231.
- 27. A Framework for Peace in the Middle East Agreed at Camp David, 10 September 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-7-2-1; Carter, White House Diary, 231.
- Carter, White House Diary, 234–35; Carter, Keeping Faith, 386–87; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 197; Haber, Schiff, and Yaari, The Year of the Dove, 257.

- Brzezinski to The President, 1 September 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [7-29-78 – 9-6-78]; Camp David: The Consequences of Failure, 31 August 1978, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords, http://www.foia.cia.gov/ collection/carter-camp-david-accords (02.06.2014); Quandt, *Camp David*, 208, 219; Brzezinski, *Power and Principle*, 253.
- Quandt, Camp David, 232-33; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 205-6; Haber, Schiff, and Yaari, The Year of the Dove, 258-59.
- A Framework for Peace in the Middle East Agreed at Camp David, 11 September 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-7-3-0; A Framework for Peace in the Middle East Agreed at Camp David, 10 September 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-7-1-2.
- 32. Chronology [of Camp David talks], JCL, NLC-128-9-5-3-2.
- A Framework for Peace in the Middle East Agreed at Camp David, 12 September 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-7-4-9; Memcon, 12 September 1978, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. IX, 174-84.
- Interview with Boutros Boutros-Ghali, 1 April 1997, Brian Lapping Associates, interview transcripts, *Fifty Years War – Israel and the Arabs*, Television documentary archive, Liddell Hart Military Archives, King's College London, Fiftyyears 4/3.
- 35. A Framework for Peace in the Middle East Agreed at Camp David, 12 September 1978, Jimmy Carter Presidential Library, NLC-128-9-7-4-9. See also the discussion on refugees in MemCon, 11 September 1978, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. IX, 164–71.
- 36. A Framework for Peace in the Middle East Agreed at Camp David, 12 September 1978, Jimmy Carter Presidential Library, NLC-128-9-7-4-9.
- 37. A Framework for Peace in the Middle East Agreed at Camp David, 12 September 1978, Jimmy Carter Presidential Library, NLC-128-9-7-5-8. The cover sheet says 12 September, but later pages state 'Revised (Sept. 14)'.
- 38. A Framework for Peace in the Middle East Agreed at Camp David, 12 September 1978, Jimmy Carter Presidential Library, NLC-128-9-7-5-8. The cover sheet says 12 September, but later pages state 'Revised (Sept. 14)'.
- 39. A Framework for Peace in the Middle East Agreed at Camp David, 15 September 1978, Jimmy Carter Presidential Library, NLC-128-9-8-1-1.
- Chronology [of Camp David talks], JCL, NLC-128-9-5-3-2; Carter, White House Diary, 237-38; Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 271-72; Quandt, Camp David, 238-40; Vance, Hard Choices, 224; Carter, Keeping Faith, 391-92; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 232-33.
- 41. Carter, Keeping Faith, 392–93; Carter, 237–38; Quandt, Camp David, 239; Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 272; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 233– 34; Jason Brown Lee, 'Peace Before Freedom: Diplomacy and Repression in Sadat's Egypt,' Political Science Quarterly 126, no. 4 (2011): 657. See also Interview with James Earl Carter, 16 April 1997, Brian Lapping Associates, interview transcripts, Fifty Years War – Israel and the Arabs, Television

documentary archive, Liddell Hart Military Archives, King's College London, Fiftyyears 8/5.

- 42. Adeed Dawisha, 'Egypt', in Sayigh and Shlaim, *The Cold War and the Middle East*, 40-42.
- Quandt, Camp David, 240–41; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 236–39; Carter, Keeping Faith, 391; Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 266. Ambassador Samuel W. Lewis, Interviewed by Peter Jessup, 9 August 1998, The Association for Diplomatic Studies and Training Foreign Affairs Oral History Project, Library of Congress, http://www.adst.org/OH%20TOCs/Lewis,% 20Samuel%20W.toc.pdf (15.10.2015).
- 44. Weizman, The Battle for Peace, 370; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 237; Peleg, Begin's Foreign Policy, 1977-83, 104; Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 125-26, 130.
- 45. Carter, Keeping Faith, 396; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 249-50; Weizman, The Battle for Peace, 370-73; Dayan, Breakthrough, 173, 176-77; Brown Lee, 'Peace Before Freedom,' 658; Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 270. President [Carter], Vance, Begin, Dayan, Barak, 16 September 1978, Israeli State Archives, 'With Heavy Heart, But Head Held High: Making Peace – The Story of the Peace Treaty between Israel and Egypt, July 1978–March 1979,' http://www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_eng/publications/electronicpirs um/campdavid/campdaviddoclist1.htm (23.09.2015).
- 46. Quandt, Camp David, 246; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 250-51.
- 47. Revised Draft Language #4, 16 September 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-8-2-0.
- President [Carter], Vance, Begin, Dayan, Barak, 16 September 1978, Israeli State Archives, 'With Heavy Heart, But Head Held High: Making Peace – The Story of the Peace Treaty between Israel and Egypt, July 1978–March 1979,' http://www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_eng/publications/electronicpirsum/ campdavid/campdaviddoclist1.htm (23.09.2015).
- 49. A Framework for Peace in the Middle East, 15 September 1978, JCL, NLC-128-9-8-1-1.
- Note Prepared by President Carter, undated, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. IX, 192-93; Quandt, Camp David, 247-51; Carter, Keeping Faith, 397; Carter, White House Diary, 240; Dayan, Breaktbrough, 184-86; Vance, Hard Choices, 228-29; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 251-52, 261; Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 270.
- Note Prepared by President Carter, undated, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. IX, 192-93; Quandt, Camp David, 247-51; Carter, Keeping Faith, 397; Carter, White House Diary, 240; Dayan, Breakthrough, 184-86; Vance, Hard Choices, 228-29; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 251-52, 261; Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 270.
- Quandt, Camp David, 252-53; Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 261-62; Carter, White House Diary, 242-43, 247.
- Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 267; Interview with William Quandt, 20 March 1997, Brian Lapping Associates, interview transcripts, Fifty Years War –

Israel and the Arabs, Television documentary archive, Liddell Hart Military Archives, King's College London, Fiftyyears 8/16.

- 54. Oral message from Prime Minister Begin to President Carter, 27 September 1978, Israeli State Archives, 'With Heavy Heart, But Head Held High: Making Peace – The Story of the Peace Treaty between Israel and Egypt, July 1978–March 1979,' http://www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_ eng/publications/electronicpirsum/campdavid/campdaviddoclist1.htm (23.09.2015).
- 55. President [Carter], Vance, Begin, Dayan, Barak, 16 September 1978, Israeli State Archives, 'With Heavy Heart, But Head Held High: Making Peace The Story of the Peace Treaty between Israel and Egypt, July 1978–March 1979,' http://www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_eng/publications/electronicpirs um/campdavid/campdaviddoclist1.htm (23.09.2015). See also Telegram from the Embassy in Israel to the Department of State, 26 September 1978, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. IX, 240–44.
- 56. President [Carter], Vance, Begin, Dayan, Barak, 16 September 1978, Israeli State Archives, 'With Heavy Heart, But Head Held High: Making Peace – The Story of the Peace Treaty between Israel and Egypt, July 1978–March 1979,' http://www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_eng/publications/electronicpirs um/campdavid/campdaviddoclist1.htm (23.09.2015).
- 57. Oral message from Prime Minister Begin to President Carter, 27 September 1978, Israeli State Archives, 'With Heavy Heart, But Head Held High: Making Peace – The Story of the Peace Treaty between Israel and Egypt, July 1978–March 1979,' http://www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_eng/publications/ electronicpirsum/campdavid/campdaviddoclist1.htm (23.09.2015).
- 58. Meeting between Prime Minister Begin and Ambassador Samuel Lewis, 27 September 1978, Israeli State Archives, 'With Heavy Heart, But Head Held High: Making Peace – The Story of the Peace Treaty between Israel and Egypt, July 1978–March 1979,' http://www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_ eng/publications/electronicpirsum/campdavid/campdaviddoclist1.htm (23.09.2015); SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Avivi, 27 September 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-4-9-6; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 28 September 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-4-15-9; Ambassador Hermann Frederick Eilts, Interviewed by Ambassador William D. Brewer, 12 August 1988, The Association for Diplomatic Studies and Training Foreign Affairs Oral History Project, Library of Congress, http://www.adst.org/OH %20TOCs/Eilts,%20Herman.toc.pdf (22.05.2014); Afternoon Summary of News Highlights, 18 September 1978, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords http://www.foia.cia.gov/collection/ carter-camp-david-accords (02.06.2014); Carter, *White House Diary*, 240.
- 59. Note Prepared by President Carter, undated, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. IX, 192-93.
- Wright, Thirteen Days in September, 256-60; Weizman, The Battle for Peace, 373; Dayan, Breakthrough, 177; Quandt, Camp David, 252; Brzezinski, Power

and Principle, 270; Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977–1982, 128–29; Carter, White House Diary, 241–42.

- 61. Colin Shindler, The Rise of the Israeli Right, 321.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy, 18 September 1978, Jimmy Carter Presidential Library, NLC-16-113-3-4-2.
- 63. Statement by the Jordanian Government on the Camp David Agreements issued in Amman, 19 September 1978, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 8(2),' Journal of Palestine Studies 8, no. 2 (1979): 180; Shlaim, Lion of Jordan, 400-01; Kenneth W. Stein, Heroic Diplomacy: Sadat, Kissinger, Carter, Begin and the Quest for Arab-Israeli Peace (London: Routledge, 1999), 254.
- 64. James, 'Painful Peacekeeping,' 654-55.
- 65. Colin Shindler, The Rise of the Israeli Right, 318-19.
- 66. Jimmy Carter, 'Camp David Meeting on the Middle East Address Before a Joint Session of the Congress', 18 September 1978, Papers of Jimmy Carter, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/print.php? pid=29799 (03.12.2014).
- Jimmy Carter to Hafiz al-Assad, 19 September 1978, JCL, NLC-128R-4-14-97-8; Sent to [censored] [unclear] on statement US positions, 19 September 1978, JCL, NLC-15-98-10-8-9.
- Jimmy Carter to Hafiz al-Assad, 19 September 1978, JCL, NLC-128R-4-14-97-8.
- 69. Ambassador Hermann Frederick Eilts, Interviewed by Ambassador William D. Brewer, 12 August 1988, The Association for Diplomatic Studies and Training Foreign Affairs Oral History Project, Library of Congress, http:// www.adst.org/OH%20TOCs/Eilts,%20Herman.toc.pdf (22.05.2014).
- Statement by the PLO Executive Committee on the Camp David Agreements, issued in Beirut, 18 September 1978, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 8(4),' 177.
- Final Communiqué of the third summit conference of the Arab Front for Steadfastness and Confrontation States, Issued in Damascus, 23 September 1978 [Excerpts], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 8(4),' 184.
- 72. Statement by the West Bank National Conference which met in Beit Hanina, Jerusalem, 1 October 1978; Resolutions passed at the Gaza National Conference which met at Gaza, 16 and 18 October 1978, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 8(4),' 194–95, 199–200.
- Analysis of Arab–Israeli Developments, 22 September 1978, JCL, NLC-SAFE17B-13-72-4-7.
- SecState WashDC to USdel Secretary, 24 September 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-4-1-4; SecState WashDC to USdel Secretary, 24 September 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-4-2-3.
- 75. Amembassy Jidda to SecState Wash DC, 12 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-46-1-11-1.

- 76. Deputy Assistant SecState for Near Eastern and South Asian Affairs (Crawford) to the Deputy Assistant SecState for Near Eastern and South Asian Affairs (Sterner), the Deputy Assistant SecState for Near Eastern and South Asian Affairs (Draper), and the Assistant SecState for Near Eastern and South Asian Affairs (Saunders), 6 October 1978, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. IX, 279–81.
- 77. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Amman, 15 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-5-49-1. In a 25 October note in his diary, Carter mentions that the PLO wanted to discuss West Bank/Gaza arrangements with the United States, but 'first they'll have to approve UN 242.' Carter, *White House Diary*, 254–55.
- 78. Yasir 'Arafat's Preference to deal directly with the United States Government rather than to discuss a Middle East Peace with Egyptian President Anwar al-Sadat, 14 October 1978, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords http://www.foia.cia.gov/collection/carter-camp-davidaccords (02.06.2014).
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 2 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-103-1-3-6; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 2 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-103-1-4-5.
- SecStateWashDC to USdel Secretary, 15 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-5-45-5; SecStateWashDC to USdel Secretary, 16 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-5-50-9.
- SecState WashDC to USdel Secretary, 16 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-5-50-9; Summary of President's Meeting with the Israeli Delegation, 17 October 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [9-78 – 12-78].
- SecState WashDC to USdel Secretary, 18 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-6-10-2.
- Alfred L. Atherton to The President, 19 October 1978, JCL, NLC-15-32-62-4-4.
- 84. SecState WashDC to USDel, 19 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-6-15-7.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 4 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-1-32-2; Telephone Conversation between President Carter and Prime Minister Begin, 12 November 1978, JCL, NLC-128-3-3-17-5.
- SecState WashDC to USdel Secretary, 19 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-6-14-8; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 5 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-1-47-6; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 5 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-1-45-8.
- SecState WashDC to USdel Secretary, 19 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-6-14-8; Embassy in Egypt to DepState, 18 October 1978, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. IX*, 315–17.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 4 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-1-31-3; Vance to The President, 9 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-123-4-8-7; Amembassy Cairo to SecState WashDC, 14 November 1978, JCL, NLC-128-1-24-12-9; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 14 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-2-21-3; Vance to The President, 15/16 November 1978,

JCL, NLC-15-11-1-30-9; Vance to The President, 29 November 1978, JCL, NLC-15-11-1-33-6; SecState WashDC to Amembassy London, 7 December 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-4-20-2.

- 89. Points to make to other Governments on Israeli Announcements on Settlements and East Jerusalem, 28 October 1978, RG59, Office of the Deputy Secretary Records of Warren Christopher, 1977-1980, Box 17, WC – Official Chron – August 1978, NARA, Maryland; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Amman, 29 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-7-18-3; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 29 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-7-19-2; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 4 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-1-36-8; Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 159–61.
- 90. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 29 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-7-19-2.
- 91. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 26 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-103-2-19-8.
- 92. Amembassy Tel Aviv to SecState WashDC, 30 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-103-2-27-9.
- 93. Carter, White House Diary, 256.
- 94. Carter, White House Diary, 258.
- Statement issued by the Ninth Arab Summit Conference, Baghdad,
 November 1978, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 8(4),' 202–04.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Amman, 17 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-2-44-8; David E. Mark to The Secretary, 11 November 1978, JCL, NLC-25-76-7-5-9.
- 97. Vance to the President, 9 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-123-4-8-7.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 18 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-3-6-9; Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 163.
- 99. Vance to the President, 9 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-123-4-8-7.
- 100. Treaty of Peace between the Arab Republic of Egypt and the State of Israel, Draft No. 9, 10 November 1978, JCL, NLC-128-3-18-6-1.
- 101. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 4 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-1-32-2; Telephone Conversation between President Carter and Prime Minister Begin, 12 November 1978, JCL, NLC-128-3-3-17-5; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 14 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-2-19-6; The White House to Amembassy Paris, 17 November 1978, JCL, NLC-7-7-4-52-6.
- 102. Transcript of a Telephone Conversation between President Carter and Egyptian President Sadat, 12 November 1978; MemCon 12 November 1978, *FRUS 1977–80, Vol. IX*, 435–42, 448–58. See also Amembassy Cairo to SecState WashDC, 14 November 1978, JCL, NLC-128-1-24-12-9; Vance to the President, 15/16 November 1978, JCL, NLC-15-11-1-30-9.
- 103. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 15 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-2-22-2. My emphasis.

- 104. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 21 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-3-21-2; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Te Aviv, 22 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-3-26-7; Telephone Conversation between President Carter and Prime Minister Begin, 21 November 1978, JCL, NLC-128-3-3-19-3; Amembassy Tel Aviv to SecState WashDC, 4 December 1978, JCL, NLC-128-3-3-22-9; Egyptian–Israeli Peace Negotiations: Where They Stand on December 17, JCL, NLC-15-123-4-7-8.
- 105. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 21 November 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-3-21-2.
- Telephone Conversation between President Carter and Prime Minister Begin,
 November 1978, JCL, NLC-128-3-3-19-3; Exchange of letters,
 November to 4 December 1978, Hurwitz and Medad, *Peace in the Making*,
 93–108.
- 107. Vance to the President, 29 November 1978, JCL, NLC-15-11-1-33-6.
- Telephone Conversation between President Carter and Prime Minister Begin, 21 November 1978, JCL, NLC-128-3-3-19-3.
- 109. Brzezinski to the President, 30 November 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 14, Middle East – Negotiations [9-7-78 – 12-78].
- 110. Brzezinski to The President, 6 December 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 14, Middle East – Negotiations [9-7-78 – 12-78].
- 111. Quandt to Brzezinski, 30 November 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [10-79 – 12-79].
- 112. Attachment to Our Strategy in Dealing with Impasse in Egypt-Israel Negotiations, 29 November 1978, JCL, NLC-15-11-1-33-6.
- 113. Embassy in Syria to the Embassy in Belgium, 6 January 1978; Brzezinski to President Carter, undated, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. VIII, 919-22, 963-64; Sayigh, Armed Struggle and the Search for State, 441.
- White House Memorandum, 28 November 1978, JCL, NLC-2-15-2-2-9; Washington to Priority, 4 December 1978, FCO 93/1563, National Archives; 'An Opening for US–PLO Talks?,' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 8, no. 2 (1979): 173–75.
- 115. Warren Christopher to the President, 20 December 1978, JCL, NLC-15-123-4-6-9.
- 116. 'An Opening for US-PLO Talks?'.
- 117. Washington to Priority FCO, 7 December 1978, FCO 93/1563, National Archives; RJSMuir to RWTomskys Esq, 7 December 1978, FCO 93/1563, National Archives.
- 118. John Gunther Dean to SecStateWashDC, 4 January 1979, JCL, NLC-131-1-2-2-1.
- 119. Brzezinski to the President, 30 November 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 14, Middle East – Negotiations [9-7-78 – 12-78].
- 120. Brzezinski to the President, 24 November 1978, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords, http://www.foia.cia.gov/collection/carter-camp-david-accords (02.06.2014).

- 121. Amembassy Tel Aviv to SecState WashDC, 4 December 1978, JCL, NLC-128-3-3-22-9.
- 122. Egyptian–Israeli Peace Negotiations: Where They Stand on December 17, JCL, NLC-15-123-4-7-8.
- 123. SecState WashDC to Amembassy London, 7 December 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-4-20-2.
- 124. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 7 December 1978, JCL, NLC-16-114-4-24-8.
- 125. Egyptian–Israeli Peace Negotiations: Where They Stand on 17 December, JCL, NLC-15-123-4-7-8.
- 126. Egyptian–Israeli Peace Negotiations: Where They Stand on 17 December, JCL, NLC-15-123-4-7-8; Carter, White House Diary, 265; Vance, Hard Choices, 241–42.
- 127. Zbigniew Brzezinski to the President, 29 December 1978, JCL, NLC-2-16-1-6-5.
- Egyptian–Israeli Peace Negotiations: Where They Stand on December 17, JCL, NLC-15-123-4-7-8; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 9 January 1979, JCL, NLC-16-114-6-30-9.
- 129. Strieff, Jimmy Carter and the Middle East, 144-46.
- 130. Sanders to President Carter, 3 January 1979, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. IX, 558-59.
- 131. Vance to the President, [no date], JCL, NLC-17-82-2-10-0.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 3 February 1979, JCL, NLC-16-115-3-14-9; Memorandum for the Record from William B. Quandt, 19 February 1979, JCL, Vertical File Box 79, Middle East (1979).
- 133. Brzezisnki to The President, 1 February 1979, JCL, NLC-17-82-2-10-0.
- 134. Damascus to FCO, 16 January 1979, FCO 93/2054; Damascus to FCO, 20 January 1979, FCO 93/2054; Damascus to FCO, 25 January 1979, FCO 93/2054; Boyce to Browne, 26 January 1979, FCO 93/2054, National Archives; Political and Organizational Programme Approved by the Palestine National Council at its Fourteenth Session, held in Damascus, 12–23 January 1979, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 8(3),' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 8, no. 3 (1979): 165–69.
- 135. Christian Emery, 'United States Iran Policy 1979–1980: The Anatomy and Legacy of American Diplomacy,' *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 24, no. 4 (2013): 621; Mattin Biglari, "Captive to the Demonology of the Iranian Mobs": U.S. Foreign Policy and Perceptions of Shi'a Islam During the Iranian Revolution, 1978-79,' *Diplomatic History* 40, no. 4 (2016): 579–605; Luca Trenta, 'The Champion of Human Rights Meets the King of Kings: Jimmy Carter, the Shah, and Iranian Illusions and Rage,' *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 24, no. 3 (2013): 476–98.
- 136. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 6 February 1979, JCL, NLC-16-115-3-19-4.

- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 6 February 1979, JCL, NLC-16-103-5-28-5; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 6 February 1979, JCL, NLC-16-115-3-25-7.
- 138. Memorandum for the Record from William B. Quandt, 19 February 1979, JCL, Vertical File Box 79, Middle East (1979).
- MemCon, 25 February 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [1-79 – 2-79]. See also Amembassy Tel Aviv to SecState WashDC, 27 February 1979, JCL, NLC-16-103-5-48-3.
- 140. Ambassador Samuel W. Lewis, Interviewed by Peter Jessup, 9 August 1998, The Association for Diplomatic Studies and Training Foreign Affairs Oral History Project, Library of Congress, http://www.adst.org/OH%20TOCs/ Lewis,%20Samuel%20W.toc.pdf (15.10.2015).
- MemCon, 25 February 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [1-79 – 2-79]; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 26 February 1979, JCL, NLC-16-103-5-47-4; Carter, White House Diary, 295.
- 142. Colin Shindler, The Rise of the Israeli Right, 316.
- 143. Jimmy Carter, 'Egyptian-Israeli Peace Negotiations Remarks Following a Meeting with Egyptian Prime Minister Mustafa Khalil and Israeli Foreign Minister Moshe Dayan', 25 February 1979, Papers of Jimmy Carter, *The American Presidency Project*, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/print.php?pid= 31953 (09.12.2014); Carter, *White House Diary*, 295.
- 144. Amembassy Tel Aviv to SecState WashDC, 27 February 1979, JCL, NLC-16-103-5-48-3; Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 172-73; Carter, White House Diary, 296.
- 145. Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 173.
- 146. Brzezinski to The President, 28 February 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [1-79 – 2-79].
- 147. MemCon, 2 March 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs [1-79 2-79].
- 148. MemCon, 2 March 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs [1-79 2-79].
- MemConn, 2 March 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [1-79 – 2-79].
- Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 70–71; Sachar, History of Israel, 849; Heller, 'Begin's False Autonomy'; 'Autonomy–Israeli Style'; David Newman and Ghazi Falah, 'Bridging the Gap: Palestinian and Israeli Discourses on Autonomy and Statehood,' *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers* 22, no. 1 (1997): 123–24; 'Israel's Autonomy Plan,' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 9, no. 3 (1980): 159–62; Peleg, *Begin's Foreign Policy*, 1977–83, 102.
- MemCon, 2 March 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [1-79 – 2-79].
- 152. Summary of the President's Meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 4 March 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [1-79 – 2-79].

- 153. Memorandum of Telephone Conversation, 5 March 1979, JCL, NLC-128-11-18-14-3.
- 154. Brzezinski to the White House, 6 March 1979, JCL, NLC-SAFE39C-14-41-2-7; James, 'Painful Peacekeeping,' 660; Carter, *Keeping Faith*, 417–18.
- 155. Brzezinski to The White House, 6 March 1979, JCL, NLC-SAFE39C-14-41-2-7.
- 156. Annotated copy for U.S. use only, 10 March 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 14, Middle East – President's and Brzezinski's Trips [2-27-79–3-15-79]; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 17 March 1979, JCL, NLC-16-115-7-7-3.
- 157. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 17 March 1979, JCL, NLC-16-115-7-7-3.
- 158. Meeting between President Carter and Prime Minister Begin, 11 March 1979, Israeli State Archives, 'With Heavy Heart, But Head Held High: Making Peace – The Story of the Peace Treaty between Israel and Egypt, July 1978– March 1979,' http://www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_eng/publications/ electronicpirsum/campdavid/campdaviddoclist1.htm (23.09.2015).
- 159. Meeting between President Carter and Prime Minister Begin, 12 March 1979, Israeli State Archives, 'With Heavy Heart, But Head Held High: Making Peace – The Story of the Peace Treaty between Israel and Egypt, July 1978– March 1979,' http://www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_eng/publications/ electronicpirsum/campdavid/campdaviddoclist1.htm (23.09.2015).
- 160. Meeting between Secretary of State C. Vance and Prime Minister Begin, 12 March 1979, Israeli State Archives, 'With Heavy Heart, But Head Held High: Making Peace – The Story of the Peace Treaty between Israel and Egypt, July 1978–March 1979,' http://www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_eng/publications/ electronicpirsum/campdavid/campdaviddoclist1.htm (23.09.2015).
- William B. Quandt, 'Menachem Begin: A Past Master at Negotiation,' *The Brookings Review* 2, no. 2 (1983): 15.
- 162. Brzezinski to the President, 15 March 1979, JCL, NLC-128-3-4-12-9.
- 163. Vance to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 13 March 1979, JCL, NLC-16-115-6-20-9; Brzezinski to the President, 15 March 1979, JCL, NLC-128-3-4-12-9. When Carter went to Egypt, Begin had not yet formally accepted the treaty text. Only early in the morning of 14 March did Begin inform Carter that he accepted the text. Notes from Telephone Conversation between President Jimmy Carter and Prime Minister Menachem Begin, 14 March 1979, JCL, NLC-128-3-4-10-1.
- 164. Brzezinski to the President, 15 March 1979, JCL, NLC-128-3-4-12-9.
- 165. The Situation Room to Camp David, 15 March 1979, JCL, NLC-16-122-2-29-6.
- 166. Handwritten note to Carter signed Zbig, 20 March 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East [10-78 -7-79].
- Harold Brown to General Kamal Hassan Ali, 23 March 1979, JCL, NLC-21-91-5-2-1; James T. McIntyre Jr. to the President, 26 March 1979, JCL, NLC-

126-16-40-1-9; Meeting with Members of Congress on Middle East Peace Package, 26 March 1979, JCL, NLC-126-16-39-2-0.

- 168. Quandt, *Camp David*, 305, 312; Haber, Schiff and Yaari, *The Year of the Dove*, 303-4; Dayan, *Breakthrough*, 357.
- 169. Tschirgi, The American Search for Mideast Peace, 135; Quandt, Camp David, 313-14.
- 170. FBIS to VDA WashDC, 7 March 1979, JCL, NLC-4-20-3-2-0.
- 171. Dennis Walters to David Owen, 31 January 1979, FCO 93/2060, National Archives; Statement by the West Bank Municipalities and Nationalist and Professional Institutions on the Egypt–Israel peace treaty, 26 March 1979 [Excerpts], 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 8(4),' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 8, no. 4 (1979): 162–63.
- 172. Meeting with President Sadat, 18 March 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs [4-79].
- 173. USDel to Amembassy Damascus, 13 March 1979, JCL, NLC-16-115-6-24-5.
- 174. Resolutions passed at the Conference of Arab Foreign, Economy and Finance Ministers, Baghdad, 31 March 1979, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 8(4),' 163–67. Special Analysis: Egypt: Arab Economic Sanctions, April 1979, JCL, NLC-25-14-3-11-4.
- 175. William G. Bowdler and Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 28 March 1979, JCL, NLC-SAFE17C-18-24-6-2.
- 176. Situation Room to Brzezinski, 6 April 1979, JCL, NSA Presidents Daily Report, File 4/1/79-4/1, Box 10.

Chapter 8 Where do we Go Now, but Nowhere?

- Remarks by Foreign Minister Dayan on the future of settlements in Judea, Samaria and the Gaza district, 24 April 1979, in Meron Medzini, ed., *Israel's Foreign Relations, Volume 6: 1979–80* (Jerusalem: Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 1984), 3–5.
- Vance to the President, 6 June 1979, JCL, NLC-128-14-8-4-2; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 6 June 1979, JCL, NLC-16-116-6-18-1; Ian Lustick, 'Israel and the West Bank after Elon Moreh: The Mechanics of De Facto Annexation,' *Middle East Journal* 35, no. 4 (1981): 560.
- US State Department statement on Israeli settlements, 4 June 1979 and Letter from Prime Minister Begin to Senator Charles H. Percy on Israeli settlements, 10 June 1979, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations Volume 6:* 1979-80, 48, 53.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 6 June 1979, JCL, NLC-16-116-6-18-1; MemCon, 17 September 1979, JCL, Zigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [5-79 – 9-79].
- Agenda for PRC Meeting on Saudi Arabia and Jordan, 26 April 1979, JCL, NLC-25-140-8-1-0; Brzezinski to President Carter, 3 May 1979, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. IX, 822-23.

- 6. Jimmy Carter, 'Personal Representative of the President to the Middle East Peace Negotiations Remarks Announcing Ambassador Robert S. Strauss' Role in the Negotiations', 24 April 1979, Papers of Jimmy Carter, The American Presidency Project, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php? pid=32226&st=&st1=(02.10.2015).
- 7. NSC Middle East specialist William Quandt resigned in the wake of Strauss's appointment, which to him meant that there would no longer be a serious attempt to solve the Israeli–Palestinian issue. He recalls that Strauss had very little knowledge about the issue, and that he had been appointed for domestic political reasons. Email correspondence with William Quandt, 05.11.2015 and 07.11.2015.
- Brzezinski, *Power and Principle*, 438; William B. Quandt, 'The Electoral Cycle and the Conduct of Foreign Policy,' *Political Science Quarterly* 101, no. 5 (1986): 828–30, 832–33, 835.
- Vance to the President, 2 May 1979, JCL, NLC-15-32-6-6-8; PRC Meeting Verbatim, 17 May 1979, JCL, NLC-15-32-6-4-0.
- 10. Vance to the President, 2 May 1979, JCL, NLC-15-32-6-6-8.
- 11. Carter, White House Diary, 312.
- 12. Vance to the President, 11 April 1979, JCL, NLC-128-14-6-10-7.
- 13. Beirut to SecState WashDC, 4 June 1979, JCL, NLC-131-2-9-27-6.
- 14. Beirut to SecState WashDC, 26 July 1979, JCL, NLC-131-2-10-4-9.
- 15. Dennis Walters to David Owen, 31 January 1979, FCO 93/2060, National Archives; Statement of the Conference om Palestinian Voluntary Social Services, held in Jerusalem, 20–22 July 1979, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 9(1),' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 9, no. 1 (1979): 194–96; Statement by a West Bank Popular Conference Held at Bethlehem University, 13 November 1979, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 9(2),' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 9, no. 2 (1980): 176–77; Statement by West Bank Mayors following the Deportation of Three West Bank Leaders, issued on 7 May 1980, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 9(4),' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 9, no. 4 (1980): 202–03.
- 16. Bernard Gwetzman, 'Young Resigns Post at U.N. in Furor over P.L.O. talks; Carter Expresses Regret', 16 August 1979, *The New York Times*, Carter, *White House Diary*, 351–52; Kaufman, *Plans Unraveled*, 150–51; Strieff, *Jimmy Carter and the Middle East*, 169; Letter from US Ambassador to the UN Young to US President Carter submitting his resignation, 14 August 1979, *International Documents on Palestine 1979* (Beirut: Institute for Palestine Studies, 1981), 294–95; Bartlett C. Jones, 'National and International Consequences of Ambassador Young's Meeting with PLO Observer Terzi', in Herbert D. Rosenbaum and Alexej Ugrinsky, *Jimmy Carter: Foreign Policy and Post-Presidential Years* (Westport: Greenwood Press, 1994), 123–26.
- Hedrick Smith, 'A Double Jolt for Carter', 15 August 1979, The New York Times; Hedrick Smith, 'High Officials Say Young Became Diplomatic and Political Liability', 16 August 1979, The New York Times; 'Outspoken

Interpreter of U.S. Policy at U.N.', 16 August 1979, *The New York Times*; Paul Delaney, 'Leaders try to Halt a Black-Jewish Rift', 19 August 1979, *The New York Times*; Kaufman, *Plans Unraveled*, 150-51; Spiegel, *The Other Arab-Israeli Conflict*, 1986, 375-76; Bartlett C. Jones, 'National and International Consequences of Ambassador Young's Meeting with PLO Observer Terzi', in Rosenbaum and Ugrinsky, *Jimmy Carter*, 126-29.

- 18. Carter, White House Diary, 352.
- 19. Christison, Perceptions of Palestine, 175-176, 190, 336.
- Peleg, Begin's Foreign Policy, 1977-83, 107; Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 196; David Landau, Arik: The Life of Ariel Sharon (New York: Knopf Publishing Group, 2013), 162-63; Seth Anziska, 'Autonomy as State Prevention: The Palestinian Question after Camp David, 1979-1982,' Humanity: An International Journal of Human Rights, Humanitarianism, and Development 8, no. 2 (2017): 295.
- 21. Bar-Siman-Tov, *Israel and the Peace Process*, 1977–1982, 191; Seth Anziska, 'Autonomy as State Prevention,' 294–97.
- 22. Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 200.
- 23. Secretary's Remarks Opening of West Bank/Gaza Negotiations, Beersheva, 25 May 1979, JCL, NLC-15-32-6-8-6.
- 24. Situation Room to Fran Voorde for the President, 26 May 1979, JCL, NLC-16-122-3-16-9.
- SecStateWashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 12 July 1979, JCL, NLC-16-117-2-36-4.
- Robert Hunter to Brzezinski, 31 July 1979, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords, http://www.foia.cia.gov/collection/ carter-camp-david-accords (02.06.2014).
- Nairobi to the White House, 3 August 1979, JCL, NLC-16-128-1-3-9; Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 9 August 1979, RG59, Office of the Deputy Secretary Records of Warren Christopher, 1977–1980, Box 20, Memos to/from Tarnoff/Wisner/Perry – 1979, NARA, Maryland; Fritz Ermarth to Zbigniew Brzezinski and David Aaron, 30 November 1979, JCL, NLC-25-68-5-8-7; New Realities in the Middle East, December 1979, JCL, NLC-6-51-7-7-5; David W. Lesch, 1979: The Year That Shaped the Modern Middle East (Boulder: Perseus, 2001), 83.
- MemCon, 17 September 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [5-79 – 9-79].
- 29. SecState to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 15 September 1979, JCL, NLC-16-118-1-34-6.
- 30. Situation Room to Robert Gates, 31 October 1979, JCL, NLC-4-40-2-5-6; Situation Room to Amembassy Algiers, 1 November 1979, JCL, NLC-4-40-2-21-8. Letter of resignation of Foreign Minister Dayan and interview with him, 21 October 1979, and a letter of 2 October 1979, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations Volume 6: 1979–80*, 147–49; Peleg, *Begin's Foreign Policy*,

1977-83, 109; Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 199, 206-7.

- 31. Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 209.
- Brzezinski to the President, 12 August 1980, JCL, NLC-1-16-6-1-3; Blake W. Jones, "How Does a Born-Again Christian Deal with a Born-Again Moslem?' The Religious Dimension of the Iranian Hostage Crisis,' *Diplomatic History* 39, no. 3 (2015): 449; Emery, 'United States Iran Policy 1979–1980,' 631; Betty Glad, 'Personality, Political and Group Process Variables in Foreign Policy Decision-Making: Jimmy Carter's Handling of the Iranian Hostage,' *International Political Science Review* 10, no. 1 (1989): 36–37; Trenta, 'The Champion of Human Rights Meets the King of Kings.'
- Jones, "How Does a Born-Again Christian Deal with a Born-Again Moslem?," 450.
- Glad, 'Personality, Political and Group Process Variables in Foreign Policy Decision-Making,' 42–43.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 28 November 1979, JCL, NLC-16-119-1-17-4; Summary of the President's Meeting with Israeli Defense Minister Ezer Weizman, 28 December 1979; JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [10-79 – 12-79]; Quandt, *Peace Process*, 238– 39; Sol M. Linowitz, *The Making of a Public Man* (Boston: Little Brown & Company, 1985), 214–16.
- 36. Sol M. Linowitz had been part of the Brookings Institution study group in 1975, but he had declined to be one of the report's signatories because he did not consider himself to be adequately competent with regard to the Middle East. Sol M. Linowitz to Roger Heyns, 1 October 1975, Brookings Archive; Sol M. Linowitz to Charles Yost, 5 November 1975, Brookings Archive.
- 37. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 28 November 1979, JCL, NLC-16-119-1-17-4.
- 38. Linowitz, The Making of a Public Man, 221.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Cairo, 14 December 1979, JCL, NLC-16-119-3-32-5.
- Begin to Carter, 12 December 1979, JCL, NLC-128-3-5-5-6; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 28 December 1979, JCL, NLC-16-119-5-12-5; Summary of the President's Meeting with Israeli Defense Minister Ezer Weizman, 28 December 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [10-79 – 12-79].
- Summary of the President's Meeting with Israeli Defense Minister Ezer Weizman, 28 December 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [10-79 – 12-79].
- Summary of the President's Meeting with Israeli Defense Minister Ezer Weizman, 28 December 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [10-79 – 12-79].
- Gilles Dorronsoro, Revolution Unending: Afghanistan 1979 to the Present (London: C Hurst & Co Publishers, 2005), 91–92; Toby Craig Jones,

'Rebellion on the Saudi Periphery: Modernity, Marginalization, and the Shia Uprising of 1979,' *International Journal of Middle East Studies* 38, no. 2 (2006): 213–33; Kaufman, *Plans Unraveled*, 200–01; Lesch, *1979*, 60.

- 44. Jimmy Carter, 'The State of the Union Address Delivered Before a Joint Session of the Congress', 23 January 1980, Papers of Jimmy Carter, *The American Presidency Project* http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php? pid=33079 (23.10.2015).
- Strong, Working in the World, 268; Kaufman, Plans Unraveled, 201; Yael S. Aronoff, 'In Like a Lamb, Out Like a Lion: The Political Conversion of Jimmy Carter.'
- 46. Impact on Israeli Policy of Events in Iran and Afghanistan, 14 January 1980, JCL, NLC-25-50-8-2-9; Statement in the Knesset by Prime Minister Begin on his talks with President Sadat, 16 January 1980, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations Volume 6: 1979-80*, 166–71; Bar-Siman-Tov, *Israel and the Peace Process*, 1977–1982, 200–201.
- Communique issued at the conclusion of the eighth round of the autonomy talks, Herzliya, 1 February 1980, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations Volume 6:* 1979-80, 176–77; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 5 March 1980, JCL, NLC-15-33-3-3; Denis Clift to the Vice President, 6 March 1980, JCL, NLC-133-1-2-14-5; Harold H. Saunders to The Secretary, 19 March 1980, JCL, NLC-5-4-1-16-4.
- SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 5 March 1980, JCL, NLC-15-33-3-3-3; Denis Clift to the Vice President, 6 March 1980, JCL, NLC-133-1-2-14-5; Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 19 March 1980, JCL, NLC-5-4-1-16-4.
- 49. SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 5 March 1980, JCL, NLC-15-33-3-3-3.
- 50. WRTomkys to Moberly, 21 March 1980, FCO 93/2580, National Archives.
- Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 19 March 1980, JCL, NLC-5-4-1-16-4. See also A Regional Approach to Bringing the Palestinians into the Autonomy Process, JCL, NLC-133-1-2-18-1.
- 52. Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 210.
- Amconsul Jerusalem to SecState WashDC, 24 March 1980, JCL, NLC-128-3-20-1-3.
- Summary of the President's second meeting with Egyptian President Anwar al-Sadat, 8 April 1980, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 37, Serial Xs - [2-1-80 - 4-15-80].
- 55. Ronald I. Spiers and Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 14 April 1980, JCL, NLC-SAFE17E-27-2-7-3; David K. Shipler, 'Begin Aide Foresees Big Increase in Settlers', 12 November 1980, *The New York Times*; Bar-Siman-Tov, *Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 209*; Tschirgi, *The American Search for Mideast Peace*, 120; Lustick, 'Israel and the West Bank after Elon Moreh,' 557.
- 56. SecStateWashDC to USdelSecretary, 19 October 1978, JCL, NLC-16-113-6-14-8.

- 57. Letter from Israeli Prime Minister Begin to President Carter, 16 July 1979, FRUS 1977–80, Vol. IX, 872–76; Summary of the President's Meeting with Israeli Defense Minister Ezer Weizman, 28 December 1979, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [10-79– 12-79]; Linowitz to SecState WashDC, 2 February 1980, JCL, NLC-16-123-3-20-3.
- Senior Level Meeting: Sadat and Begin Summits, 31 March 1980, JCL, NLC-15-33-3-1-5; David Aaron to the President, 3 April 1980, JCL, NLC-5-4-1-15-5.
- 59. Amconsul Alexandria to the White House, 26 March 1980, JCL, NLC-16-123-4-21-1.
- White House statement on invitation of Prime Minister Begin and President Sadat, 19 March 1980, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations Volume 6: 1979–80*, 199.
- USdel Amvip Linowitz to SecState WashDC, 28 March 1980, JCL, NLC-133-1-3-4-5; David Aaron to the President, 3 April 1980, JCL, NLC-5-4-1-15-5.
- Summary of the President's third meeting with Egyptian President Anwar al-Sadat, 9 April 1980, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 37, Serial Xs – [2-1-80–4-15-80].
- 63. Amembassy Tel Aviv to SecState WashDC, 11 April 1980, JCL, NLC-15-22-6-28-5.
- Checklist for meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 16 April 1980, JCL, NLC-128-3-20-3-1.
- 65. Carter, White House Diary, 418.
- Summary of the President's First Meeting with Israeli Prime Minister Menachem Begin, 15 April 1980, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 37, Serial Xs – [4-15-80 – 4-30-80]; Size of the SGA(AC), 22 April 1980, JCL, NLC-133-1-2-18-1.
- Summary of the President's Second Meeting with Israeli Prime Minister Menachem Begin, 15 April 1980, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 37, Serial Xs – [4-15-80 – 4-30-80].
- 68. East Jerusalem Voting Rights, 22 April 1980, JCL, NLC-133-1-2-18-1.
- 69. Jimmy Carter, 'Address to the Nation on the Rescue Attempt for American Hostages in Iran', 25 April 1980, Papers of Jimmy Carter, The American Presidency Project, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php? pid=33322&st = &st1 = (22.09.2015); Carter, White House Diary, 421-22; Kaufman, Plans Unraveled, 206-09.
- 70. Kaufman, Plans Unraveled, 206–08; Carter, White House Diary, 420–23; Vance, Hard Choices, 410–12; Emery, 'United States Iran Policy 1979–1980,' 633. In his memoir, Brzezinski frequently notes that Muskie lacked experience and expertise in international affairs, and that Christopher had to supply him with both. Brzezinski, Power and Principle.
- Peleg, Begin's Foreign Policy, 1977-83, 109; Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 200; Excerpts from statement in the Knesset by Prime

Minister Begin on Israel's foreign policy, 2 June 1980, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations Volume 6: 1979-80, 266-70.

- Summary of the President's Meeting with Ambassador Sol Linowitz, 26 April 1980, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 37, Serial Xs – [4-15-80 – 4-30-80].
- 73. See for example Excerpts from a press conference concluding the ninth round of the autonomy talks, Herzliya, 7 May 1980, Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations Volume 6: 1979-80.*
- 74. Carter, White House Diary, 424, 426.
- 75. Warren Christopher to the President, 15 May 1980, JCL, NLC-128-15-5-8-0; MENA: Egypt 'cannot negotiate in dark political atmosphere', 15 May 1980, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – [5-80 – 10-80]; Statement by Prime Minister Begin on the suspension of the autonomy talks, 12 May 1980 and Interview with Foreign Minister Shamir on Israel Radio, 16 May 1980, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations Volume 6: 1979-80, 263–* 64; Bar-Siman-Tov, *Israel and the Peace Process, 1977–1982, 201*; Letters ahead of the ninth round of autonomy talks, 18–20 May 1980, in Hurwitz and Medad, *Peace in the Making, 179–85.*
- 76. Ronald I. Spiers and Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 3 June 1980, JCL, NLC-7-23-4-1-4; Ambassador Dean to Assistant Secretary Saunders, 7 July 1980, JCL, NLC-131-3-7-29-5; Political Programme Approved by the Fourth General Conference of the Palestinian Liberation Movement Fateh, 22–31 May 1980, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab–Israeli Conflict 10(1),' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 10, no. 1 (1980): 189.
- 77. Edward S. Walker to Linowitz, 3 June 1980, FRUS 1977-80, Vol. IX, 1249.
- Ronald I. Spiers and Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 3 June 1980, JCL, NLC-7-23-4-1-4; Ambassador Dean to Saunders, 7 July 1980, JCL, NLC-131-3-7-29-5.
- 79. Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 201.
- 80. Edmund Muskie to The President, 1 July 1980, JCL, NLC-15-33-4-5-0; Summary of the President's Meeting with Egyptian Foreign Minister Kamal Hassan Ali and Israeli Interior Minister Joseph Burg, 2 July 1980, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 37, Serial Xs – [7-80 -9-80]; Amconsul Alexandria to SecState WashDC, 29 July 1980, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 37, Serial Xs – [7-80 – 9-80].
- Basic Law: Jerusalem, Knesset Resolution, 30 July 1980, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations Volume 6: 1979-80, 319; Bar-Siman-Tov, Israel and the Peace Process, 1977-1982, 211-12.
- Security Council Resolution 478 (1980) on Jerusalem, 20 August 1980 and Foreign Ministry reaction, 21 August 1980, and the Cabinet reaction, 24 August 1980, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations Volume 6: 1979–80*, 330–32.
- PLO Executive Committee Statement after Emergency Meeting to Discuss Israeli Annexation of Jerusalem, 1 August 1980, 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 10(1),' 1980, 201.

- 84. Carter, White House Diary, 452.
- Amembassy Cairo to SecState WashDC, 4 August 1980, JCL, NLC-128-3-20-5-9.
- Amembassy Cairo to SecState WashDC, 4 August 1980, JCL, NLC-128-3-20-5-9.
- Address by Foreign Minister Shamir at the Herut Central Committee, 24 August 1980, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations Volume 6: 1979-80*, 334.
- Summary of the President's Meeting with Israeli Prime Minister Menachem Begin, 13 November 1980, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 37, Serial Xs – [10-80 – 12-80]; Amembassy Tel Aviv, 23 December 1980, JCL, NLC-16-106-5-16-5; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 4 November 1980, JCL, NLC-16-121-15-3.
- Summary of the President's Meeting with Israeli Prime Minister Menachem Begin, 13 November 1980, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 37, Serial Xs – [10-80 – 12-80]; Amembassy Tel Aviv, 23 December 1980, JCL, NLC-16-106-5-16-5; SecState WashDC to Amembassy Tel Aviv, 4 November 1980, JCL, NLC-16-121-15-3.
- Summary of the President's Meeting with Israeli Prime Minister Menachem Begin, 13 November 1980, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 37, Serial Xs – [10-80 – 12-80]; Amembassy Tel Aviv, 23 December 1980, JCL, NLC-16-106-5-16-5.
- 91. Amembassy Tel Aviv to SecState WashDC, 20 November 1980, JCL, NLC-16-106-3-12-1.
- Amembassy Tel Aviv to SecState WashDC, 20 November 1980, JCL, NLC-16-106-3-12-1.
- 93. Christison, 'Bound by a Frame of Reference, Part II,' 29-30.
- 94. Lenczowski, American Presidents and the Middle East, 256; Seth Anziska, 'Autonomy as State Prevention,' 300.
- Lenczowski, American Presidents and the Middle East, 215-26, 263-67; Burton
 I. Kaufman, The Arab Middle East and the United States: Inter-Arab Rivalry and
 Superpower Diplomacy (New York: Twayne Publishing, 1996), 122-31.
- 96. Lenczowski, American Presidents and the Middle East, 270-76; Kaufman, The Arab Middle East and the United States, 146-48.
- 97. Hilde Henriksen Waage, Peacemaking Is a Risky Business: Norway's Role in the Peace Process in the Middle East, 1993–96 (Oslo: PRIO, 2004).
- 98. Seth Anziska, 'Autonomy as State Prevention,' 296, 301-02.

Chapter 9 A Failed Ambition

- 1. Carter, Keeping Faith, 377.
- 2. See, for example, Stein, Heroic Diplomacy.
- See, for example, Nemchenok, 'These People Have an Irrevocable Right to Self-Government.'

- Kandil, Soldiers, Spies and Statesmen, 151. This is a common misunderstanding of Carter. Pressman, 'Explaining the Carter Administration's Israeli– Palestinian Solution,' 1121–24.
- 5. Quandt, Camp David, 324-27.
- 6. Nathan Thrall, The Only Language They Understand, 5-26.
- 7. Sheehan, 'How Kissinger Did It: Step by Step in the Middle East', in Rubin, *Dynamics of Third Party Intervention*, 86.
- SecState WashDC to White House, 19 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-29-1; SecState WashDC to White House, 19 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-27-3.
- Pearlman, 'Spoiling Inside and Out,' 87–88; Gresh, *The PLO*, 138–46, 157– 63, 167–71, 179; Baumgarten, 'The Three Faces/Phases of Palestinian Nationalism, 1948–2005,' 35–36.
- Zernichow and Waage, 'The Palestine Option'; Buheiry, 'The Saunders Document'; Jensehaugen, 'Blueprint for Arab–Israeli Peace?'; Stocker, 'A Historical Inevitability?'
- Discussion Paper for the PRC Meeting on Middle East, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-132-61-6-2-9.
- 12. Gresh, The PLO, 205-7; Cobban, The Palestinian Liberation Organisation, 79.
- 13. Sachar, History of Israel, 832-33.
- 14. Pearlman, 'Spoiling Inside and Out.'
- 15. SecState WashDC to White House, 9 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-2-23-8.
- 16. Colin Shindler, The Rise of the Israeli Right, 279, 298-99, 312, 318.
- See, for example, Statement by Prime Minister Begin to the Zionist General Council, 23 June 1977, in Medzini, *Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents*, 1977-1982, 10–11.
- 18. Quandt, Camp David, 83.
- Discussion Paper for the PRC Meeting on Middle East, 10 June 1977, JCL, NLC-132-61-6-2-9; Discussion Paper for July 5 PRC Meeting, 1 July 1977, JCL, NLC-25-132-6-1-1; PRC Meeting on Middle East, 12 July, JCL, NLC-21-4-5-1-8; Brzezinski, *Power and Principle*, 99.
- SecState WashDC to USdel Secretary NIact, 6 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-22-3-51-1; Gary Sick to Brzezinski, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16A-13-18-1-2; SecState WashDC to White House, 9 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-22-3-54-8; SecState WashDC to White House, 18 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-22-8; SecState WashDC to White House, 19 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-29-1; SecState WashDC to White House, 19 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-27-3.
- SecStateWashDC to USdelSecretary NIact, 6 August 1977, JCL, NLC-16-22-3-51-1.
- 22. Gary Sick to Brzezinski, 12 August 1977, JCL, NLC-SAFE16A-13-18-1-2.
- 23. SecStateWashDC to White House, 19 September 1977, JCL, NLC-16-108-3-29-1.

- Telhami, Power and Leadership in International Bargaining, 9-14; Kirk J. Beattie, Egypt during the Sadat Years, 213-31.
- 25. Joint US-Soviet statement on the Middle East, 1 October 1977, in Medzini, Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977-1982, 132-33.
- 26. Brzezinski, Power and Principle, 108.
- President Sadat's reaction to President Carter's TV Comments on 28 December Regarding the West Bank, 1 January 1978, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords, http://www.foia.cia.gov/collection/ carter-camp-david-accords (02.06.2014).
- President's Meeting with Prime Minister Begin, 22 March 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 36, Serial Xs – [8-88 – 8-78].
- 29. Ian S. Lustick, 'Kill the Autonomy Talks,' Foreign Policy, no. 41 (1980): 21.
- The stalemate paper: Harold H. Saunders to the Secretary, 28 July 1978, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 13, Middle East – Negotiations [1-78-7-28-78]. Sadat's decision to pull out of talks: Amembassy Cairo to SecState WashDC, 31 July 1978, JCL, NLC-16-44-6-20-8.
- 31. Quandt, 'Menachem Begin,' 15.
- 32. Consultation, 12 September 1978, Israeli State Archives, 'With Heavy Heart, But Head Held High: Making Peace – The Story of the Peace Treaty between Israel and Egypt, July 1978–March 1979,' http://www.archives.gov.il/ archivegov_eng/publications/electronicpirsum/campdavid/campdaviddoclist1. htm (23.09.2015).
- Summary of the President's second meeting with Egyptian President Anwar al-Sadat, 8 April 1980, JCL, Zbigniew Brzezinski Collection Box 37, Serial Xs - [2-1-80 - 4-15-80].

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Archives

Brian Lapping Associates, interview transcripts, *Fifty Years War – Israel and the Arabs*, Television documentary archive, Liddle Hart Military Archives, King's College, London.

Brookings Institution archives, Director of Foreign Policy (Henry Owen). Project Files—1969–1977.

Jimmy Carter Presidential Library (JCL), Atlanta, Georgia.

The National Archives, College Park, Maryland (NARA).

The Public Records Office, National Archives, Kew, London (PRO).

William B. Quandt personal archive, Landrum Bolling papers.

Personal interview

Interview with William B. Quandt, Oslo, 12 June 2015, with follow-up questions via email.

Published interviews

The Association for Diplomatic Studies and Training Foreign Affairs Oral History Project, Library of Congress, http://adst.org/oral-history/oral-history-interviews/.

- Hermann Frederick Eilts
- Samuel W. Lewis

Published primary document collections

'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 6(3).' Journal of Palestine Studies 6, no. 3 (1977): 178-97.

- 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 7(1).' Journal of Palestine Studies 7, no. 1 (1977): 197-211.
- 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 7(2).' Journal of Palestine Studies 7, no. 2 (1978): 170-201.
- 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 7(3).' Journal of Palestine Studies 7, no. 3 (1978): 181-209.
- 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 7(4).' Journal of Palestine Studies 7, no. 4 (1978): 180-207.
- 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 8(1).' Journal of Palestine Studies 8, no. 1 (1978): 184-204.
- 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 8(2).' Journal of Palestine Studies 8, no. 2 (1979): 176-204.
- 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 8(3).' Journal of Palestine Studies 8, no. 3 (1979): 163-71.
- 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 8(4).' Journal of Palestine Studies 8, no. 4 (1979): 160-88.
- 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 9(1).' Journal of Palestine Studies 9, no. 1 (1979): 187-204.
- 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 9(2).' Journal of Palestine Studies 9, no. 2 (1980): 164-80.
- 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 9(4).' Journal of Palestine Studies 9, no. 4 (1980): 189-203.
- 'Arab Documents on Palestine and the Arab-Israeli Conflict 10(1).' Journal of Palestine Studies 10, no. 1 (1980): 188-206.
- FRUS: Foreign Relations of the United States, 1964–1968, Volume XIX, Arab–Israeli Crisis and War, 1967. Washington D.C.: Department of State, United States Printing Office, 2004.
- FRUS: Foreign Relations of the United States, 1969–1976 Volume XXV Arab–Israeli Crisis and War, 1973. Washington D.C.: United States Government Printing Office, 2011.
- FRUS: Foreign Relations of the United States, 1969–1976, Volume XXVI, Arab–Israeli Dispute, 1974–1976. Washington D.C.: United States Government Printing Office, 2012.
- FRUS: Foreign Relations of the United States 1977–1980 Volume VIII Arab–Israeli Dispute January 1977–August 1978. Washington D.C.: Department of State, United States Printing Office, 2013.
- FRUS: Foreign Relations of the United States, 1977–1980 Volume IX Arab-Israeli Dispute August 1978–December 1980. Washington D.C.: Department of State, United States Printing Office, 2014.
- Hurwitz, Harry, and Yisrael Medad, eds. Peace in the Making: The Menachem Begin-Anwar El-Sadat Personal Correspondence. Jerusalem: Gefen Publishing House, 2011.

International Documents on Palestine 1979. Beirut: Institute for Palestine Studies, 1981.

- Medzini, Meron. Israel's Foreign Relations: Selected Documents, 1977–1982. Jerusalem: Israeli Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 1981.
 - ——. Israel's Foreign Relations 1974–1977 Volume 3. Jerusalem: Ministry for Foreign Affairs, 1982.
- 'Palestine National Council 15-Point Program.' MERIP Reports, no. 57 (1977): 12-13.

United Nations Resolutions and documents

- 'Letter from the Chairman of the Committee on the Exercise for the Inalienable Rights of the Palestinian People Addressed to the President of the Security Council, S/12308,' 28 March 1977. https://unispal.un.org/DPA/DPR/unispal. nsf/0/22F62BA57C83ACC48525644800756A86 (22.11.2017).
- United Nations General Assembly Resolution 181, 29 November 1947, https://unispal.un.org/DPA/DPR/unispal.nsf/0/7F0AF2BD897689B785256C3300 61D253 (16.05.2017).
- United Nations General Assembly Resolution 194(III), 11 December 1948, http://domino.un.org/unispal.nsf/0/c758572b78d1cd0085256bcf0077e51a?Open Document (24.01.2014).
- United Nations General Assembly Report A/31/35,' 21 July 1976. https://unispal. un.org/DPA/DPR/unispal.nsf/0/A7D4580DA4B4F0238525611E00668F4E (22.11.2017).
- United Nations General Assembly Resolution 3236, 22 November 1974, http://domino.un.org/UNISPAL.NSF/0/025974039acfb171852560de00548bbe (21.01.2014).
- United Nations General Assembly Resolution 3237, 22 November 1974, http://unispal.un.org/UNISPAL.NSF/0/512BAA69B5A32794852560DE0054B9B2 (21.01.2014).
- United Nations Security Council Resolution 242, 22 November 1967, http://unispal.un.org/UNISPAL.NSF/0/7D35E1F729DF491C85256EE700686136 (23.01.2014).
- United Nations Security Council Resolution 338, 22 October 1973 http://www. mfa.gov.il/MFA/Peace+Process/Guide+to+the+Peace+Process/UN+ Security+Council+Resolution+338.htm (31.10.2012).
- United Nations Security Council Resolution 425, 19 March 1978, http://unispal. un.org/UNISPAL.NSF/0/E25DAE8E3CE54FB5852560E50079C708 (27.05.2014).

Newspaper collections

The New York Times, www.nytimes.com.

Online archive collections and documents

- Central Intelligence Agency digital collection, President Carter and the Role of Intelligence in the Camp David Accords http://www.foia.cia.gov/collection/carter-camp-david-accords.
- Central Intelligence Agency digital collection: A Life in Intelligence The Richard Helms Collection, http://www.foia.cia.gov/document/memo-contacts-fatah-leadership-18-july-1973.
- Central Intelligence Agency digital collection: http://www.foia.cia.gov/sites/default/files/1977-07-18b.pdf.
- Israeli State Archives, "No More War": The Peace Plan of the Israeli Government and President Sadat's Journey to Jerusalem, November 1977', Documents on the Background to Sadat's Visit and the Israeli Government's Reaction',

http://www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_eng/publications/electronicpirsum/ sadatvisit/sadatvisit.htm (these links have later been taken down).

- Israeli State Archives, 'With Heavy Heart, But Head Held High: Making Peace The Story of the Peace Treaty between Israel and Egypt, July 1978–March 1979,' http://www.archives.gov.il/archivegov_eng/publications/electronicpirsum/ campdavid/campdaviddoclist1.htm (these links have later been taken down).
- 'Jimmy Carter: Give Hamas a Chance', CNN, 2. February 2006, http://edition.cnn. com/2006/WORLD/meast/02/01/carter.hamas/ (12.10.2017).
- Papers of Jimmy Carter, The American Presidency Project, http://www.presidency. ucsb.edu/jimmy_carter.php.
- Seventh Arab League Summit Conference, Resolution on Palestine, Rabat, 28 October 1974, http://unispal.un.org/UNISPAL.NSF/0/63D9A930E2B428 DF852572C0006D06B8 (19.02.2014).

Books and journal articles

- Almog, Orna. 'Unlikely Relations: Israel, Romania and the Egyptian-Israeli Peace Accord.' Middle Eastern Studies 52, no. 6 (2016): 881-96.
- 'An Opening for US-PLO Talks?' Journal of Palestine Studies 8, no. 2 (1979): 173-75.
- Anziska, Seth. 'Autonomy as State Prevention: The Palestinian Question after Camp David, 1979–1982.' Humanity: An International Journal of Human Rights, Humanitarianism, and Development 8, no. 2 (2017): 287–310.
- Arafat, Yasser. 'The PLO Position.' Journal of Palestine Studies 7, no. 3 (1978): 171-74.
- Aronoff, Yael S. 'In Like a Lamb, Out Like a Lion: The Political Conversion of Jimmy Carter.' *Political Science Quarterly* 121, no. 3 (2006): 425–49.
- Ashton, Nigel J. 'Pulling the Strings: King Hussein's Role during the Crisis of 1970 in Jordan.' *The International History Review* 28, no. 1 (2006): 94–118.
 - ——. "A Local Terrorist Made Good": The Callaghan Government and the Arab–Israeli Peace Process, 1977–79, *Contemporary British History* 31, no. 1 (2017): 114–35.
- 'Autonomy Israeli Style.' Journal of Palestine Studies 9, no. 1 (1979): 142-45.
- Bakke, Lars Hasvoll. 'Facing Assad: American Diplomatic Relations with Syria, 1969-76.' Unpublished MA thesis. University of Oslo, 2013.
- Bakke, Lars Hasvoll and Hilde Henriksen Waage, 'Facing Assad. American Diplomacy Toward Syria, 1973–1977.' *The International History Review* 40, no. 3 (2018): 546–72.
- Bar-Joseph, Uri. 'Last Chance to Avoid War: Sadat's Peace Initiative of February 1973 and Its Failure.' *Journal of Contemporary History* 41, no. 3 (2006): 545–56.
- Bar-Siman-Tov, Yaacov. Israel and the Peace Process, 1977–1982: In Search of Legitimacy for Peace. Albany: State University of New York Press, 1994.
- ———. 'The United States and Israel since 1948: A "Special Relationship"?' Diplomatic History 22, no. 2 (1998): 231-62.
- Baumgarten, Helga. 'The Three Faces/Phases of Palestinian Nationalism, 1948-2005.' Journal of Palestine Studies 34, no. 4 (2005): 25-48.
- Beattie, Kirk J. Egypt during the Sadat Years. New York: Palgrave, 2000.
- Ben-Zvi, Abraham. 'Influence and Arms: John F. Kennedy, Lyndon B. Johnson and the Politics of Arms Sales to Israel, 1962–1966.' *Israel Affairs* 10, nos. 1–2 (2004): 29–59.

- Biglari, Mattin. "Captive to the Demonology of the Iranian Mobs": U.S. Foreign Policy and Perceptions of Shi'a Islam During the Iranian Revolution, 1978–79." *Diplomatic History* 40, no. 4 (2016): 579–605.
- Bird, Kai. The Good Spy: The Life and Death of Robert Ames. New York: Crown Publishers, 2014.
- Bishara, Ghassan. 'The Middle East Arms Package: A Survey of the Congressional Debates.' Journal of Palestine Studies 7, no. 4 (1978): 67-78.
- Blanga, Yehuda U. 'Nasser's Dilemma: Egypt's Relations with the United States and Israel, 1967–69.' *Middle Eastern Studies* 51, no. 2 (2015): 301–26.
- Boutros-Ghali, Boutros. Egypt's Road to Jerusalem: A Diplomat's Story of the Struggle for Peace in the Middle East. New York: Random House, 1997.
- Brand, Laurie. 'Nasir's Egypt and the Reemergence of the Palestinian National Movement.' Journal of Palestine Studies 17, no. 2 (1988): 29-45.
- Brinkley, Douglas. 'The Rising Stock of Jimmy Carter: The "Hands On" Legacy of Our Thirty-Ninth President,' *Diplomatic History* 20, no. 4 (1996): 505-30.
- Brookings Institution. 'Toward Peace in the Middle East.' Washington DC: The Brookings Institution, 1975.
- Brown Lee, Jason. 'Peace Before Freedom: Diplomacy and Repression in Sadat's Egypt.' *Political Science Quarterly* 126, no. 4 (2011): 641-68.
- Brzezinski, Zbigniew. Power and Principle: Memoirs of the National Security Adviser, 1977-1981. New York: Farrar Straus & Giroux, 1983.
- Buheiry, Marwan R. 'The Saunders Document.' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 8, no. 1 (1978): 28-40.
- Bunch, Clea Lutz. 'Strike at Samu: Jordan, Israel, the United States, and the Origins of the Six-Day War.' *Diplomatic History* 32, no. 1 (2008): 55–76.
- Bustami, Zaha. 'The Kennedy/Johnson Administrations and the Palestinians.' Arab Studies Quarterly 12, no. 1–2 (1990): 101–20.
- Campbell, John C. 'The Middle East: The Burdens of Empire.' Foreign Affairs 57, no. 3 (1978): 613–32.
- Carter, Jimmy. Keeping Faith: Memoirs of a President. London: Bantam Books, 1982.
 ———. 'Opposition to a Palestinian State.' Journal of Palestine Studies 7, no. 4 (1978): 168–71.
- Chamberlin, Paul Thomas. *The Global Offensive: The United States, the Palestine Liberation Organization, and the Making of the Post-Cold War Order.* Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012.

Choueiri, Youssef M. Arab Nationalism: A History. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers, 2004.

- Christison, Kathleen. 'Bound by a Frame of Reference, Part II: U.S. Policy and the Palestinians, 1948-88.' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 27, no. 3 (1998): 20-34.
- ———. Perceptions of Palestine: Their Influence on U.S. Middle East Policy. London: University of California Press, 2001.
- Cobban, Helena. The Making of Modern Lebanon. London: HarperCollins Publishers, 1985.
- ———. The Palestinian Liberation Organisation: People, Power and Politics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1984.
- Daalder, Ivo H., and I.M. Destler. In the Shadow of the Oval Office: Profiles of the National Security Advisers and the Presidents They Served – From JFK to George W. Bush. New York: Simon & Schuster, 2009.

- Daigle, Craig A. 'The Russians Are Going: Sadat, Nixon and the Soviet Presence in Egypt, 1970–1971,' Middle East Review of International Affairs 8, no. 1 (2004): 1–15.
- Dajani, Omar M. 'Forty Years without Resolve: Tracing the Influence of Security Council Resolution 242 on the Middle East Peace Process.' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 37, no. 1 (2007): 24–38.
- Dannreuther, Roland. The Soviet Union and the PLO. New York: St. Martin's Press, 1998.
- Dawisha, Adeed. Arab Nationalism in the Twentieth Century: From Triumph to Despair. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2005.
- Dayan, Moshe. Breakthrough: A Personal Account of the Egypt-Israel Peace Negotiations. New York: Random House, 1981.
- Dorronsoro, Gilles. Revolution Unending: Afghanistan 1979 to the Present. London: C Hurst & Co Publishers, 2005.
- Dowty, Alan. Israel / Palestine. Cambridge: Polity, 2012.
- Eisenberg, Laura Zittrain, and Neil Caplan. Negotiating Arab-Israeli Peace: Patterns, Problems, Possibilities. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 2010.
- Elman, Miriam Fendius, Oded Haklai and Hendrik Spruyt (eds). *Democracy and Conflict Resolution: the Dilemmas of Israel's Peacemaking.* Syracuse: Syracuse University Press, 2014.
- Emery, Christian. 'United States Iran Policy 1979–1980: The Anatomy and Legacy of American Diplomacy.' *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 24, no. 4 (2013): 619–39.
- Evans, Peter B., Harold K. Jacobson, and Robert D. Putnam, eds. Double-Edged Diplomacy: International Bargaining and Domestic Politics. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1993.
- Fahmy, Ismail. Negotiating for Peace in the Middle East: An Arab View. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press, 1983.
- Filc, Dani. Political Right in Israel: Different Faces of Jewish Populism. New York: Routledge, 2013.
- Fink, Gary M, and Hugh Davis Graham. The Carter Presidency: Policy Choices in the Post-New Deal Era. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1998.
- Fischer, Louise. 'Turning Point on the Road to Peace: The Government of Yitzhak Rabin and the Interim Agreement with Egypt (Sinai II).' *Israel Studies* 19, no. 3 (2014): 55–80.
- Forsythe, D.P. 'The Palestine Question: Dealing with a Long-Term Refugee Situation.' The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 467, no. 1 (1983): 89-101.
- Gat, Moshe. 'Military Power and Foreign Policy Inaction: Israel, 1967–1973.' Israel Affairs 22, no. 1 (2016): 69–95.

------. 'Yitzhak Rabin, the Ambassador to Washington, 1968-73: A Diplomat and Policy Maker.' *Middle Eastern Studies* 51, no. 3 (2015): 489-507.

- Giacaman, Faris. 'Political Representation and Armed Struggle.' Journal of Palestine Studies 43, no. 1 (2013): 24-40.
- Glad, Betty. An Outsider in the White House: Jimmy Carter, His Advisors, and the Making of American Foreign Policy. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 2009.

—. 'Personality, Political and Group Process Variables in Foreign Policy Decision-Making: Jimmy Carter's Handling of the Iranian Hostage.' *International Political Science Review* 10, no. 1 (1989): 35–61.

- Golan, Galia. Israeli Peacemaking since 1967: Factors Behind the Breakthroughs and Failures. New York: Routledge, 2015.
 - ——. Soviet Policies in the Middle East: From World War Two to Gorbachev. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1990.
- Gresh, Alain. The PLO: The Struggle Within: Towards an Independent Palestinian State. London: Zed Books, 1988.
- Gutfeld, Arnon, and Boaz Vanetik. "A Situation That Had to Be Manipulated": The American Airlift to Israel During the Yom Kippur War.' *Middle Eastern Studies* 52, no. 3 (2016): 419–47.
- Haber, Eitan, Zeev Schiff, and Ehud Yaari. *The Year of the Dove*. New York: Bantam Books, 1979.
- Hahn, Peter L. Caught in the Middle East: U.S. Policy Toward the Arab-Israeli Conflict, 1945-1961. Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina Press, 2004.
- Hart, Alan. Arafat: A Political Biography. London: Sidgwick & Jackson, 1994.
- Heian-Engdal, Marte. 'Twenty Years of Crocodile Tears: The International Treatment of the Palestinian Refugee Issue, 1948–1968.' Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Oslo, 2015.
- Heikal, Mohamed. Secret Channels: The Inside Story of Arab-Israeli Peace Negotiations. London: HarperCollins, 1996.
- Heller, Mark. 'Begin's False Autonomy.' Foreign Policy, no. 37 (1979): 111-32.
- Hurwitz, Harry Zvi. Begin: his life, words and deeds. Jerusalem: Gefen, 2004.
- Indyk, Martin. 'To the Ends of the Earth': Sadat's Jerusalem Initiative. Cambridge, MA: Center for Middle Eastern Studies, Harvard University, 1984.
- 'The Invasion of Lebanon.' Journal of Palestine Studies 7, no. 4 (1978): 129-43.
- 'Israel's Autonomy Plan.' Journal of Palestine Studies 9, no. 3 (1980): 159-62.
- Jackson, Galen. 'The Showdown That Wasn't: U.S.–Israeli Relations and American Domestic Politics, 1973–75.' *International Security* 39, no. 4 (2015): 130–69.
- James, Alan. 'Painful Peacekeeping: The United Nations in Lebanon 1978–1982.' International Journal 38, no. 4 (1983): 613–34.
- Jensehaugen, Jørgen. 'Blueprint for Arab-Israeli Peace? President Carter and the Brookings Report.' *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 25, no. 3 (2014): 492-508.

- Jensehaugen, Jørgen, Marte Heian-Engdal, and Hilde Henriksen Waage. 'Securing the State: From Zionist Ideology to Israeli Statehood.' *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 23, no. 2 (2012): 280–303.
- Jensehaugen, Jørgen, and Anja Sletteland. 'Betingelsesløs Fred: Forhandlinger i Forkledninger.' Babylon – Nordisk Tidsskrift for Midtøstenstudier 11, no. 1 (2013): 62–75.
- Jensehaugen, Jørgen, and Hilde Henriksen Waage. 'Coercive Diplomacy: Israel, Transjordan and the UN – A Triangular Drama Revisited.' British Journal of Middle Eastern Studies 39, no. 1 (2012): 79–100.
- Jiryis, Sabri. 'On Political Settlement in the Middle East: The Palestinian Dimension.' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 7, no. 1 (1977): 3–25.

—. 'The Arab World at the Crossroads: An Analysis of the Arab Opposition to the Sadat Initiative.' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 7, no. 2 (1978): 26–61.

- Jones, Blake W. "How Does a Born-Again Christian Deal with a Born-Again Moslem?' The Religious Dimension of the Iranian Hostage Crisis.' *Diplomatic History* 39, no. 3 (2015): 423-51.
- Jones, Toby Craig. 'Rebellion on the Saudi Periphery: Modernity, Marginalization, and the Shia Uprising of 1979.' *International Journal of Middle East Studies* 38, no. 2 (2006): 213-33.
- Judis, John B. Genesis: Truman, American Jews, and the Origins of the Arab/Israeli Conflict. New York: Farrar Straus & Giroux, 2014.
- Kamel, Mohamed Ibrahim. *The Camp David Accords*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1986.
- Kandil, Hazem. Soldiers, Spies and Statesmen: Egypt's Road to Revolt. London: Verso, 2012.
- Kaufman, Burton I. The Arab Middle East and the United States: inter-Arab rivalry and superpower diplomacy. New York: Twayne Publishing, 1996.
- Kaufman, Scott. Plans Unraveled: The Foreign Policy of the Carter Administration. DeKalb: Northern Illinois University Press, 2008.
- Khalidi, Ahmed S. 'The War of Attrition.' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 3, no. 1 (1973): 60–87.
- Khalidi, Rashid. Palestinian Identity: The Construction of Modern National Consciousness. New York: Columbia University Press, 1997.
- Khalidi, Walid. 'Plan Dalet: Master Plan for the Conquest of Palestine.' Journal of Palestine Studies 18, no. 1 (1988): 4–33.
- Khalil, Osamah. 'Pax Americana: The United States, the Palestinians, and the Peace Process, 1948–2008.' *The New Centennial Review* 8, no. 2 (2008): 1–41.
- Khalil, Osamah F. America's Dream Palace: Middle East Expertise and the Rise of the National Security State. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2016.
- Kimmerling, Baruch, and Joel S. Migdal. *The Palestinian People: A History*. London: Harvard University Press, 2003.
- Kochavi, Arieh J. 'The US, Britain and the Palestinian Refugee Question after the Six Day War.' *Middle Eastern Studies* 48, no. 4 (2012): 537–52.
- Kochavi, Noam. Nixon and Israel: Forging a Conservative Partnership. New York: State University of New York Press, 2009.
- Krukones, Michael G. 'The Campaign Promises of Jimmy Carter: Accomplishments and Failures.' Presidential Studies Quarterly 15, no. 1 (1985): 136–44.
- Kurtulus, Ersun N. 'The Notion of a 'pre-Emptive War:' the Six Day War Revisited.' *The Middle East Journal* 61, no. 2 (2007): 220-38.
- Landau, David. Arik: The Life of Ariel Sharon. New York: Knopf Publishing Group, 2013.
- Lau-Lavie, Naphtali. Balaam's Prophecy: Eyewitness to History, 1939–1989. New York: Cornwall Books, 1998.
- Lenczowski, George. American Presidents and the Middle East. Durham: Duke University Press, 1990.
- Lesch, Ann Mosely. Political Perceptions of the Palestinians on the West Bank and the Gaza Strip. Washington DC: Middle East Institute, 1980.
- Lesch, David W. 1979: The Year That Shaped the Modern Middle East. Boulder: Perseus, 2001.

- Lewis, Samuel W. 'The United States and Israel: Evolution of an Unwritten Alliance.' *Middle East Journal* 53, no. 3 (1999): 364-78.
- Licklider, Roy. 'The Power of Oil: The Arab Oil Weapon and the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, Canada, Japan, and the United States.' *International Studies Quarterly* 32, no. 2 (1988): 205–26.
- Linowitz, Sol M. The Making of a Public Man. Boston: Little Brown & Company, 1985.
- Little, Douglas. 'The Making of a Special Relationship: The United States and Israel, 1957-68.' International Journal of Middle East Studies 25, no. 4 (1993): 563-85.
- Logevall, Fredrik and Andrew Preston, eds, Nixon in the World: American Foreign Relations, 1969-1977. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2008.
- Lustick, Ian. 'Israel and the West Bank after Elon Moreh: The Mechanics of De Facto Annexation.' *Middle East Journal* 35, no. 4 (1981): 557–77.
- Madfai, Madiha Rashid al. Jordan, the United States and the Middle East Peace Process, 1974-1991. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007.
- Markussen, Joakim Aalmen, and Hilde Henriksen Waage. 'A Balancing Pretence: The Johnson Administration's Policy towards Jordan, 1964–1967.' British Journal of Middle Eastern Studies Online prepublication (2016): 1–16.
- McDonald, Darren J. 'Blessed Are the Policy Makers: Jimmy Carter's Faith-Based Approach to the Arab–Israeli Conflict.' *Diplomatic History* 39, no. 3 (2015): 452–76.
- Mearsheimer, John J., and Stephen M. Walt. *The Israel Lobby and U.S. Foreign Policy*. New York: Farrar Straus Giroux, 2007.
- Morris, Benny. Righteous Victims: A History of the Zionist-Arab Conflict, 1881–1999. London: J. Murray, 2000.

-----. The Birth of the Palestinian Refugee Problem Revisited. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004.

- Nakhleh, Emile A. The West Bank and Gaza Toward the Making of a Palestinian State. Washington DC: American Enterprise Institute, 1979.
- Naor, Arye. "A Simple Historical Truth": Judea, Samaria and the Gaza Strip in Menachem Begin's Ideology.' *Israel Affairs* 21, no. 3 (2015): 462–81.
- ———. 'Hawks' Beaks', Doves' Feathers: Likud Prime Ministers between Ideology and Reality.' Israel Studies 10, no. 3 (2005): 154–91.
- Nemchenok, Victor V. "These People Have an Irrevocable Right to Self-Government": United States Policy and the Palestinian Question, 1977–1979." Diplomacy & Statecraft 20, no. 4 (2009): 595–618.
- Nes, David G. 'Egypt Breaks the Deadlock.' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 7, no. 2 (1978): 62-70.
- Nevo, Joseph. 'September 1970 in Jordan: A Civil War?' *Civil Wars* 10, no. 3 (2008): 217-30.
- Newman, David, and Ghazi Falah. 'Bridging the Gap: Palestinian and Israeli Discourses on Autonomy and Statehood.' *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers* 22, no. 1 (1997): 111–29.
- Nichols, T.M. 'Carter and the Soviets: The Origins of the US Return to a Strategy of Confrontation,' *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 13, no. 2 (2002): 21–42.
- Noakes, John A., and Karin Gwinn Wilkins. 'Shifting Frames of the Palestinian Movement in US News.' *Media, Culture & Society* 24, no. 5 (2002): 649-71.
- Ott, David H. Palestine in Perspective: Politics, Human Rights and the West Bank. London: Quartet Books, 1980.
- Painter, David S. 'Oil and Geopolitics: The Oil Crises of the 1970s and the Cold War.' *Historical Social Research* 39, no. 4 (2014): 186–208.
- Pearlman, Wendy. 'Spoiling Inside and Out: Internal Political Contestation and the Middle East Peace Process.' *International Security* 33, no. 3 (2008): 79–109.
 - ———. Violence, Nonviolence, and the Palestinian National Movement. Cambridge University Press, 2014.
- Peleg, Ilan. Begin's Foreign Policy, 1977-83: Israel's Move to the Right. New York: Greenwood Press, 1987.
- Pennock, Pamela E. The Rise of the Arab American Left: Activists, Allies, and Their Fight against Imperialism and Racism, 1960s-1980s. Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina Press, 2017.
- Peterson, Christian Philip. 'The Carter Administration and the Promotion of Human Rights in the Soviet Union, 1977–1981.' *Diplomatic History* 38, no. 3 (2014): 628–56.
- Pierre, Andrew J. 'Beyond the "Plane Package": Arms and Politics in the Middle East.' International Security 3, no. 1 (1978): 148-61.
- Popp, Roland. 'Stumbling Decidedly into the Six-Day War.' Middle East Journal 60, no. 2 (2006): 281–309.
- Powell, Jody. The Other Side of the Story. New York: Morrow, 1984.
- Pressman, Jeremy. 'Explaining the Carter Administration's Israeli-Palestinian Solution.' *Diplomatic History* 37, no. 5 (2013): 1117-47.
- Princen, Tom. 'Camp David: Problem-Solving or Power Politics as Usual?' Journal of Peace Research 28, no. 1 (1991): 57-69.
- Quandt, William B. Camp David: Peacemaking and Politics. Washington D.C.: Brookings Institution Press, 1986.
 - —. Decade of Decisions: American Policy Toward the Arab-Israeli Conflict, 1967–1976. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1977.
 - _____. 'The Electoral Cycle and the Conduct of Foreign Policy.' *Political Science Quarterly* 101, no. 5 (1986): 825-37.

—. 'Lyndon Johnson and the June 1967 War: What Color Was the Light?' Middle East Journal 46, no. 2 (1992): 198–228.

——. Peace Process: American Diplomacy and the Arab–Israeli Conflict Since 1967. Washington D.C.: Brookings Institution Press and the University of California Press, 2005.

- Quandt, William B., Fuad Jabber, and Ann Mosely Lesch, eds. The Politics of Palestinian Nationalism. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1974.
- Rabin, Yitzhak, Yoram Peri, Dov Goldstein, and Maxine Kaufman-Nunn. *The Rabin Memoirs*. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1996.
- Raz, Avi. The Bride and the Dowry: Israel, Jordan and the Palestinians in the Aftermath of the June 1967 War. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2012.
- Robins, Philip. A History of Jordan. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- Rogan, Eugene. The Arabs: A History. New York: Basic Books, 2011.
- Rosati, Jerel A. 'Jimmy Carter, a Man before His Time? The Emergence and Collapse of the First Post-Cold War Presidency.' *Presidential Studies Quarterly* 23, no. 3 (1993): 459–76.
- Rosenbaum, Herbert D., and Alexej Ugrinsky. Jimmy Carter: Foreign Policy and Post-Presidential Years. Westport: Greenwood Press, 1994.

- Rubin, Jeffrey Z. Dynamics of Third Party Intervention. New York: Praeger Publishers, 1983.
- Rubinovitz, Ziv. 'Blue and White "Black September": Israel's Role in the Jordan Crisis of 1970.' *The International History Review* 32, no. 4 (2010): 687-706.
- Sachar, Howard M. History of Israel: From the Rise of Zionism to Our Time. New York: Alfred A. Knopf Publishing, 2001.
- Sadat, Anwar. Anwar El Sadat: In Search of Identity an Autobiography. New York: Harper & Row, 1978.
- Said, Edward W. Orientalism. London: Penguin, 2003.
- Salberg, Mari. "Conventional Wishdom": U.S. Policy Toward Iran 1969–1979.' Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Oslo, 2017.
- Sarsar, Saliba. 'The Question of Palestine and United States Behavior at the United Nations.' International Journal of Politics, Culture, and Society 17, no. 3 (2004): 457-70.
- Sayigh, Yezid. Armed Struggle and the Search for State. The Palestinian National Movement, 1949-1993. Washington DC: Oxford University Press, 1999.
- ———. 'Turning Defeat into Opportunity: The Palestinian Guerrillas after the June 1967 War.' *Middle East Journal* 46, no. 2 (1992): 244–65.
- Sayigh, Yezid, and Avi Shlaim, eds. The Cold War and the Middle East. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1997.
- Schmitz, David F., and Vanessa Walker. 'Jimmy Carter and the Foreign Policy of Human Rights.' *Diplomatic History* 28, no. 1 (2004): 113-43.
- Seale, Patrick. Abu Nidal: A Gun for Hire. New York: Random House, 1992.
- Segev, Tom. 'The June 1967 War and the Palestinian Refugee Problem.' *Journal of Palestine Studies* 36, no. 3 (2007): 6-22.
- Shaked. Haim and Itamar Rabinovich, eds. Middle East and the United States: Images, Perceptions and Policies. New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers, 1980.
- Sharnak, Debbie. 'Sovereignty and Human Rights: Re-Examining Carter's Foreign Policy Towards the Third World.' *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 25, no. 2 (2014): 303-30.
- Sharp, Jeremy M. 'U.S. Foreign Assistance to the Middle East: Historical Background, Recent Trends, and the FY2011 Request.' Congressional Research Service, 2010.
- Shelef, Nadav G. 'From "Both Banks of the Jordan" to the "Whole Land of Israel": Ideological Change in Revisionist Zionism.' *Israel Studies* 9, no. 1 (2004): 125-48.
- Shindler, Colin. The Rise of the Israeli Right: From Odessa to Hebron. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2015.
- Shlaim, Avi. Lion of Jordan: The Life of King Hussein in War and Peace. London: Penguin, 2008.
- Shlomo, Yinon. 'The Israeli-Syrian Disengagement Negotiations of 1973-74.' Middle Eastern Studies 51, no. 4 (2015): 636-48.
- Shoufani, Elias. 'The Reaction in Israel to the Sadat Initiative.' Journal of Palestine Studies 7, no. 2 (1978): 3-25.
- Siniver, Asaf. Nixon, Kissinger, and U.S. Foreign Policy Making: The Machinery of Crisis. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2011.

- Skidmore, David. 'Carter and the Failure of Foreign Policy Reform.' Political Science Quarterly 108, no. 4 (1993–94): 699–729.
- Spiegel, Steven L. The Other Arab-Israeli Conflict: Making America's Middle East Policy, from Truman to Reagan. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1986.
 - ------. The Other Arab-Israeli Conflict: Making America's Middle East Policy, from Truman to Reagan. University of Chicago Press, 1986.
- Stein, Janice Gross. 'Structures, Strategies, and Tactics of Mediations Kissinger and Carter in the Middle East.' *Negotiation Journal* 1, no. 4 (1985): 331–47.
- Stein, Kenneth W. Heroic Diplomacy: Sadat, Kissinger, Carter, Begin and the Quest for Arab-Israeli Peace. London: Routledge, 1999.
- Stocker, James. 'Diplomacy as Counter-Revolution? The "moderate States", the Fedayeen and State Department Initiatives towards the Arab–Israeli Conflict, 1969–1970.' Cold War History 12, no. 3 (2012): 407–28.
- Stocker, James R. 'A Historical Inevitability?: Kissinger and US Contacts with the Palestinians (1973–76).' *The International History Review* 39, no. 2 (2017): 316–37.
- Strieff, Daniel. 'Arms Wrestle: Capitol Hill Fight Over Carter's 1978 Middle East "Package" Airplane Sale.' *Diplomatic History* 40, no. 3 (2016): 475–99.
- ——. Jimmy Carter and the Middle East: The Politics of Presidential Diplomacy. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2015.
- Strong, Robert A. Working in the World: Jimmy Carter and the Making of American Foreign Policy. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 2000.
- Telhami, Shibley. Power and Leadership in International Bargaining: The Path to the Camp David Accords. New York: Columbia University Press, 1990.
- Tessler, Mark. A History of the Israeli-Palestinian Conflict. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 2009.
 - ------. 'The Political Right in Israel: Its Origins, Growth, and Prospects.' *Journal* of Palestine Studies 15, no. 2 (1986): 12–55.
- Thrall, Nathan, The Only Language They Understand: Forcing Compromise in Israel and Palestine. New York: Metropolitan Books, 2017.
- Tillman, Seth P. The United States in the Middle East: Interests and Obstacles. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1982.
- Tivnan, Edward. The Lobby: Jewish Political Power and American Foreign Policy. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1987.
- Touval, Saadia. *The Peace Brokers: Mediators in the Arab–Israeli Conflict, 1948–1979.* Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1982.
- Traboulsi, Fawwaz. A History of Modern Lebanon. London: Pluto Press, 2007.
- Trenta, Luca. 'The Champion of Human Rights Meets the King of Kings: Jimmy Carter, the Shah, and Iranian Illusions and Rage.' *Diplomacy & Statecraft* 24, no. 3 (2013): 476–98.
- Tschirgi, Robert Daniel. The American Search for Mideast Peace. New York: Praeger, 1989.
- Vance, Cyrus R. Hard Choices: Critical Years in America's Foreign Policy. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1983.
- Waage, Hilde Henriksen. 'The Winner Takes All: The 1949 Island of Rhodes Armistice Negotiations Revisited.' *The Middle East Journal* 65, no. 2 (2011): 279-304.
 - ——. Peacemaking Is a Risky Business: Norway's Role in the Peace Process in the Middle East, 1993–96. Oslo: PRIO, 2004.

- Waage, Hilde Henriksen, and Hulda Kjeang Mørk. 'Mission Impossible: UN Special Representative Gunnar Jarring and His Quest for Peace in the Middle East.' International History Review 38, no. 4 (2016): 830–53.
- Waage, Hilde Henriksen, and Petter Stenberg. 'Cementing a State of Belligerency: The 1949 Armistice Negotiations between Israel and Syria.' *The Middle East Journal* 70, no. 1 (2016): 69–89.
- Waterbury, John. The Egypt of Nasser and Sadat: The Political Economy of Two Regimes. New Jersey: Princeton University Press, 2014.
- Weitz, Yechiam. 'The Road to the "Upheaval": A Capsule History of the Herut Movement, 1948–1977.' Israel Studies 10, no. 3 (2005): 54–86.
- Weizman, Ezer. The Battle for Peace. New York: Bantam, 1981.
- Wright, Lawrence. Thirteen Days in September: Carter, Begin, and Sadat at Camp David. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 2014.
- Yaqub, Salim. Imperfect Strangers: Americans, Arabs, and U.S.-Middle East Relations in the 1970s. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 2016.
- Zelkovitz, Ido. 'Militancy and Religiosity in the Service of National Aspiration: Fatah's Formative Years.' *Israel Affairs* 21, no. 4 (2015): 668-90.
- Zernichow, Simen, and Hilde Henriksen Waage. 'The Palestine Option: Nixon, the National Security Council, and the Search for a New Policy, 1970.' *Diplomatic History* 38, no. 1 (2014): 182–209.
- Zertal, Idith, and Akiva Eldar. Lords of the Land: The War Over Israel's Settlements in the Occupied Territories, 1967–2007. New York: Nation Books, 2009.

INDEX

Abdullah, King of Jordan, 13 Abu Nidal group, 32, 107 Afghanistan, 169, 170, 193 al-Asad, President Hafez see Asad, President Hafez al-Baath, 77 al-Baz, Osama, 127, 137 al-Din, Ahmed Bahaa, 90 al-Gamasy, Mohamed Abdel Ghani, 95 al-Nakba (the Catastrophe) see Arab-Israeli war (1948-49) al-Sadat, Anwar see Sadat, President Anwar Allon, Yigal, 39 American Israeli Public Affairs Committee (AIPAC), 40, 71, 123 Ames, Robert, 25 Arab-American interest groups, 33 Arab Front for Steadfastness and Confrontation States, 100, 145 Arab-Israeli conflict, 2 Carter's positive reputation regarding, 7-8 comprehensive approach to, 5, 8 UNSC Resolution 242, 17, 25 Arab-Israeli war (1948-1949) ceasefires and armistices, 12 civil war, 11

Israeli declaration of independence, 12 Palestinians dispersion of, 12 exclusion of, 12-13 Johnson plan, 15 perceived as refugees, 13, 14, 20, 32, 58 refugee camps, 12 US non-political humanitarian aid for. 13 Plan D offensive, 11-12 Arab-Israeli war (1967) see six-day war (1967)Arab-Israeli war (1973), 3, 23-7 Egyptian ceasefire proposal, 24 global ramifications Arab oil embargo, 24-5 Soviet Union support for Syria, 24 US support for Israel, 24 Israeli victory, 24 Syrian-Egyptian attack, 24 UNSC Resolution 338, 25 Arab League, 15 Khartoum summit (1967), 18 'three no's of Khartoum', 18 PLO as sole legitimate representative of Palestinians, 31 Arab League summit (1978), 148

Arab Nationalist Movement (ANM), 16.19 Arab states anger at Camp David Accords, 145 corruption of leaders, 13 disunity on Palestinian representation, 45 division of, 5, 6 establishment of the PLO, 15 instability of, 13 optimism at US-Soviet joint communiqué, 77 working paper ('Israeli paper'), 81,82 pressure to accept, 83 see also pan-Arabism Arafat, Yasser, 15, 18, 40, 47 anti-moderate opposition to, 107 conflicting messages received, 60 elected chairman of PLO, 19 invitation to speak at UN General Assembly, 26 Knesset speech, reaction to, 90 meetings with the Soviet Union, 20.72 message to Findley, 151 offer of Palestinian conciliation, 56-7,61 PLO representation at conference, 72.75 political strategy, 173 proposal to the US, 107 rejection of working paper, 82-3 review of Resolution 242, 58 visit to Moscow, 114 see also Fatah Aronoff, Yael S., 8 Asad, President Hafez, 27, 28, 39, 67,72 meeting with President Carter, 44 reformulation of working paper, 84 Tripoli summit (1977), 100 Aswan statement, 106

Atherton, Alfred L., 37, 53, 74, 92, 113, 114, 116 autonomy see Palestinian autonomy Avnery, Uri, 94 back channel communications academic, 47 Begin/Sadat, 91 PLO's pre-positioning proposal, 50 Quaker channel, 47-8 Soviet Union, 48-9 US-Palestinian, 6, 47-50, 183-4 review of Resolution 242, 58-61, 63, 70 - 1Balfour, Lord, 5 Barak, Aharon, 142, 143 Beersheva, 166 Begin, Prime Minister Menachem, 6-7, 8, 47, 49, 68-9 anger at US-Soviet joint communiqué, 76 anti-PLO language, 81 approach to Carter, 195-6 back channel engagement with Sadat, 91 Eretz Israel Gaza, 51, 52 West Bank, 51, 52, 126 formation of Herut, 51 hardline approach with US, 53-4, 64 home rule/self-rule proposal, 102-6, 104, 105, 113, 114, 119, 124, 135, 176, 177, 190-1 invitation to Sadat, 91 Jews' right to Land of Israel, 51 legal skills, 143, 145, 156, 159 meeting with Carter, 119-23 domestic criticism, 121 gains, 121 public opposition, 121 membership of The Irgun, 51 negotiating technique, 196 Nobel Peace Prize, 148 Palestinian territories, 7

preparations to meet Sadat, 84 pressure from Carter and Sadat, 112-13, 115-19 refusal to attend Geneva conference, 75 rejects Palestinian state, 53 rejects proposal for Israeli withdrawal, 101 requests US economic aid, 150, 168 - 9Revisionist Zionism beliefs, 50-1 risking failure at Camp David, 133 settlements, 52, 64, 68-9 legalisation, 55-6 stonewalling, 112, 130 two-treaty package proposal, 110 visits to Washington, 54-7, 102 terms for Geneva conference, 55 weakness of Carter, 55-6 see also home rule for Palestinians: Revisionist Zionism; self-rule for Palestinians Ben-Gurion Airport, 22 Ben-Gurion, Prime Minister David, 10 bilateral peace, 102, 118, 119, 149, 150 agreement, 1 Begin commitment to, 91, 93-5, 98 proposal for, 110 Begin/Sadat meeting in Jerusalem, 91.93 - 5bilateral approach, 66-7, 97, 117.190 exclusions from, 117 bilateral delegations, 39 bilateral negotiations, 62, 73, 74 Carter's assistance, 1, 117 draft from Israel, 67 Geneva conference (1973), 27 Israeli push for, 96-7, 115 Quandt's analysis, 107, 118 Sadat commitment to, 91, 92, 93-5 contribution of, 130

Knesset speech, 89-90 willingness to go it alone, 62 Syrian fears of, 84 Vance's perception of Sadat's aims, 97 working paper, 84 see also Egyptian-Israeli peace treaty (1979)Black September Organisation (BSO), 22 Bolling, Landrum, 48, 64, 164 Brezhnev, Leonid, 41 Brookings Institution, 4, 29 report (1975), 182 Brown, Harold, 37 Brzezinski, Zbigniew, 3, 4, 37, 38, 41, 54, 78, 89, 107, 133, 146.182 disengagement from Palestinian issue, 153-4 list of threats against Begin, 133 reduction of US economic aid to Israel, 150-1 US leverage against Israel, 150 Burg, Yosef, 165 Bush, George H.W., 179 Byrd, Robert, 167-8 Cairo Agreement (1970), 21 Cairo conference (1977)

Arab opposition to, 98 Tripoli summit (1977), 100 Carter/Hussein meeting, 105–6 Carter's support for, 98–9 failure of, 102 bilateral approach, 102 flags, 102 name plates, 102 invitations, 97–8 Sadat leniency towards Israel, 100–1, 101, 106 rejects Begin's peace plan, 101 suggests full Israeli withdrawal, 100–1, 101

self-determination, 106 Vance's Middle East tour, 101 Camp David accomplishment, 8 Accords Arab states' anger at, 145 Begin's aims, 144, 147 Begin's gains, 192 Brzezinski's view on, 152 Dayan's position on, 147 Egyptian-Israeli peace, 143-4, 146-7, 192 Eilts's description of framework, 145 evaluation of framework, 143-6 exclusion of Palestinians, 144, 146 framework for peace in the Middle East, 143-4, 192 Israeli expansion of settlements, 148 negotiating committees, 144 PLO anger at, 145 Sadat's aims, 144, 147 Sadat's concessions, 147 US underestimation of Arab anger, 145 - 6advantages of format, 192 Carter's exaggerated success claims, 144 - 5head-of-states level, 132 invitations, 129 Phase I, 134-6 Begin's position, 134 clash of personalities and policies, 135 Sadat's concessions, 134-5, 135 - 6Sadat's position, 134 top-level trilateral meetings, 135 Phase II, 136-7 Begin's brinkmanship, 136-7 Begin's position, 136 Begin's threat to leave, 136-7, 139

US treaty draft, 136-7 Phase III, 137-41 amending the framework, 137-9, 140 - 1Begin's bargaining strength, 139 blaming Begin, 139-40 exclusion of Palestinians, 137, 138, 139 formula for fronts, 138-9 Israeli gains, 138, 141 Israeli withdrawal from settlements, 138, 140 linkages to Palestinian issues, 138, 193 Palestinian refugees, 138, 139, 141 Resolution 242, 140-1 Sadat's bargaining weakness, 139 Sadat's threat to leave, 139.140 settlement moratorium, 138, 139 Phase IV, 141-3 Begin's legal skills, 143, 145 Carter outmanoeuvred by Begin, 142 - 3final crisis, 143 Israeli gains, 143 Israeli moratorium on settlements, 141 - 3issue of Jerusalem, 143 side-letters, 142, 143 political risk, 132 sealed format, 132 study papers, 132-4 bargaining positions of parties, 133 carrots and sticks, 133 Israeli moratorium on settlement, 134 see also Egyptian-Israeli peace (post-Camp David) Carrigan, Prime Minister James, 50 Carter, President Jimmy, 183 anger at Begin, 148

Aswan statement, 106 background, 2 Christian faith, 3 comprehensive approach academic literature, 8 Arab scepticism, 186 beginning of the end, 62 change in US Middle East policy, 180 commitment to, 4-6, 35 comprehensive peace, 43 conditions present for, 181 domestic resistance to, 4, 5, 54 excluding Palestinians from talks, 125 failure of, 64-5 inclusion of the Soviet Union. 4.180 security arrangements, 43 territorial sovereignty, 43 comprehensive peace, 43, 64 commitment to, 35, 36 election defeat (1980), 175-6 exaggerates success claims at Camp David, 144-5 face-off with Israel lobby, 123-5 fireside chat, 108, 122, 179-80 foreign policy commitment to change, 2, 3 ideals of liberal internationalism, 3 lack of experience, 2, 3 prioritising the Middle East, 4 pronounced role in, 3 idealist to realist, 8 Iranian hostage crisis, 167-8, 172 legacy, 1-2, 178-80 accomplishments, 179 letter to Sadat confirming Resolution 242, 116 meeting with Begin, 119-23 appeals to Sadat, 122 displeasure with Begin, 120 misses opportunity to pressurise Begin, 121-2

realises failure of comprehensive approach, 120 Resolution 242, 119, 121 self-rule, 119 understanding of Israeli position, 120 - 1meeting with King Hussein, 105-6 meeting with Sadat, 111-12 Middle East policy ambitions for, 177 'Carter doctrine', 169-70, 193 Clinton speech (1977), 40, 47, 63 embedded in US domestic politics, 73 Palestinian homeland, 5, 40, 43, 44, 47, 63, 183 radical approach, 35 mixed signals, sending of, 116-17 offer to PLO, 59-60 outmanoeuvred by Begin, 64 personal message to Asad, 69 political capital, 64, 88, 123, 124, 130.176 as a political outsider, 2 presidency fresh ideas, 35 inheritance of previous administrations, 3-4 pledges on coming to power, 3 room for manoeuvre, 182 press conference (1977), 68 pressurising Begin failure to, 112-13, 115-19, 129 fear of, 128 missed opportunities, 129 seizure of US embassy, 172 threatens Rabin, 42 Ceaușescu, President Nicolae, 62, 91 Christison, Kathleen, 12-13 Christopher, Warren, 150 CIA autonomy talks, 166 support for comprehensive approach, 36

CIA-PLO talks, 25 Cold War, 14, 18 'Carter doctrine', 169-70, 193 comprehensive approach, 5, 8, 29, 35-65 Arab-Israeli conflict, 5, 8 beginning of the end, 62 contradictions in US policy, 114 contradictions within, 38, 97 development of, 37-9 divergent views, 62-3 border withdrawal, 63 normalisation of relations, 63 Palestinian representation, 63 failure of, 63-5, 97, 114 Palestinian back channels, 6, 47-50, 58-61, 63, 183-4 support for Carter, 35, 97, 98-9 State Department and the CIA, 36 US Administration, 99 undermining of, 62 Vance's Middle East tour, 101 visiting the Middle East, 38-40 see also Geneva conference comprehensive peace, 35, 36, 43, 64, 83, 97 draft peace treaties, 66, 87 Egyptian-Israeli, 67 Jordanian, 67-8 Syrian list of items, 67 illusionary US position on, 107 multi-bilateral approach, 66-7, 73-5,98 exclusion of Palestinians, 66-7 Palestinian representation, 68,72-3Sadat's options for, 99-100 US placation of Syria, 69 US-Soviet joint communiqué, 78-9, 80.87 see also Geneva conference Cronkite, Walter, 91

Davan, Moshe, 52, 72, 75, 84, 108 anger at US-Soviet joint communiqué, 76, 78, 87 Egyptian-Israeli peace talks, 147.155 Israeli settlements, 162-3 lacking decision-making authority, 155 at London talks, 126-7 meeting with King Hussein, 72-3 meetings with US officials, 73-5, 78 - 9misrepresents US view, 124 resignation of, 167 secret meeting with Tuhami, 84 suggests list of Palestinian delegates, 86 - 7talks channel with Tuhami, 95 trilateral meeting, 154 working paper, 79, 80 Dean, John Gunther, 164 Declaration of Principles (DoP), 113, 114 London talks (1978), 126 minimum level of comprehensive settlement, 114 Deir Yassin massacre (1948), 51 Democratic Front for the Liberation of Palestine (DFLP), 26 Dinitz, Simcha, 57, 81 Dobrynin, Anatoly, 72 East Jerusalem, 93, 143, 148, 166, 172 Egypt, 6, 12, 13 Arab-Israeli War (1973), 24 arms deal with the US, 123 coup by Free Officers, 13-14 delegation at Geneva conference, 39 excluding Palestinians from talks, 125

high-level talks with the Israelis via Romania, 62 ostracised by Arab states, 160

ostracised by the Arab states economic and political sanctions, 160 Palestinian issue loss of interest in, 163 receipt of Soviet weaponry, 18 support for working paper, 82 going it alone, 83-5, 86, 115 view of US-Soviet joint communiqué, 77 see also Nasser, Gamal Abdel; Sadat, President Anwar Egyptian-Israeli fighting ceasefire, 20 War of Attrition 20 see also Arab-Israeli wars Egyptian-Israeli Military Committee, 111 - 12Egyptian-Israeli peace Arab states' opposition to, 92-3, 109 assistance from Carter, 91-2 back channel engagement, 91 Begin's two-treaty package, 110 comprehensive approach, 29 consequences of, 98-102 deadlock, 129-30 disengagement negotiations (Kissinger) exclusion of PLO, 28, 29, 30, 31 secret agreements, 30 suspension of talks, 28, 29 treaty (1974), 28 treaty (Sinai II) (1975), 29-31 draft treaty, 67 indirect communications, 84 isolation of Sadat, 109, 189 Jerusalem meeting (1977), 93-5 disappointment at Sadat and Begin, 94 invitation from Begin, 91 isolation of the US, 94, 96 joint statement, 94-5 ramifications of, 96

Knesset speech (Sadat), 89-90 Arabic anti-Sadat demonstrations, 92 - 3Israeli gain, 94 omission of PLO, 93-4 London talks, 125-8 Quandt's prediction of PLO violence, 118 re-evaluation phase, 29 Sadat's consideration of, 83 Sadat's return from Jerusalem, 95-6 bilateral Egyptian-Israeli agreement, 95 Gaza and the Sinai, 95-6 grand Egyptian-Israeli agreement, 95 optimism of Sadat, 95 shuttle diplomacy, 27-8 step-by-step process (Kissinger), 27 - 9Geneva conference, 27 mediation umbrella, 27 talks through separate channels, 95 US embassies' study on, 99-100 see also bilateral peace; Cairo conference (1977); Camp David Egyptian-Israeli peace treaty (1979), 8 Arab anger at, 160 autonomy for Gaza, 158 Begin adherence to Camp David framework, 152 application of legal skills, 156, 159 final authority on decision-making, 155 negotiations over treaty, 158 nit-making, 157-8 rejects autonomy for Gaza, 158 rejects linkage, 149 requests US economic aid, 150 rigidity of, 147 visit to Washington, 155-6 willingness to risk failure, 156

Brzezinski, Zbigniew analysis of Begin's visit, 155-6 disengagement from Palestinian issue, 153-4 reduction of US economic aid to Israel, 150-1 regional security strategy, 153-4 US leverage against Israel, 150 Carter personal letters to Begin and Sadat, 154-5 condemnation by the Arab League, 148 economic sweeteners, 159-60 'Gaza first' scheme, 147, 153, 155, 171, 172 heads-of-state level talks, 155 Begin declines, 155 impact of Iranian revolution, 157 legal terminology, 158 linkage between Camp David treaties, 147, 149-50, 150, 190, 193 meetings between Carter and Begin, 155-7, 156-60 autonomy, 156-7, 158 legal commitments, 156 normalisation, 147 Palestinian representation, 151 PLO recognition of Israel, 151 rejection of Resolution 242, 151 rejectionist direction, 154 two-state solution, 151 Sadat acceptance of, 158-9 concessions to Carter, 147 determination, 149 flexibility of, 147 'Gaza first' scheme, 147, 153, 155, 171, 172 victory for, 160 settlements, 148 side-letters, 149, 151, 156, 159

signing of, 159 timetable, 150, 152, 157 Begin's rejection of, 150, 153 West Bank/Gaza negotiations, 152-3, 157 trilateral meeting, 154 lack of progress, 155 US political leverage against Israel, 150 - 1Carter's failure to use, 151 Vance accommodation of Israeli demands, 153 exasperation at Begin, 157 Israeli criticisms of, 153 Middle East tour, 152-3 public displeasure at Israel, 153 Washington talks, 146-7, 148 West Bank/Gaza negotiations, 149 widening gap, 149 see also bilateral peace Eilts, Hermann, 85-6, 89-90, 95 describing the Camp David framework, 145 Eisenhower, President Dwight D., 14 embargoes Arab oil, 11, 24-5 ending of, 28 US arms sales to Israel, 11

Fahd, Crown Prince, 44 Fahmy, Ismail, 61, 82 resignation, 90 Fahoum, Khaled, 117 Fatah, 15–16 arms from China, 19 ending of external operations, 23 escalation of armed struggle, 173 fight for self-determination, 20 political strengthening post-Karameh, 19 recruitment, 19 resists IDF attack, 19 rise to prominence, 19

see also Arafat, Yasser; PFLP (Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine): PLO (Palestinian Liberation Organization) Fedaveen attacks on Israel, 14, 19 controlled state within Jordan, 20 Findley, Paul, 107, 151 Ford, President Gerald, 3, 4, 29, 34 Free Officers, 13-14 Gadhafi, Muammar, 160 Gaza, 7, 13, 16, 18 Arafat's position on, 107 autonomy, 157, 158 Begin's position on, 144 Camp David talks, 133, 136, 137, 138, 139, 141, 144 Eretz Israel, 51, 52 exclusion of Palestinians from talks. 125 'Gaza first' scheme, 147, 153, 155, 171.172 and the Geneva conference, 79, 92 home rule proposal, 102-3, 104-5, 124 and Israel incursion into, 14 occupation of, 16, 18 political control of, 120-1 withdrawal from, 107-8 London talks (1978), 125-6, 127 negotiating committees, 144 Palestinian leadership, 95 and the PLO, 31 refugees, 12, 13 self-governing authority, 157 timetable for negotiations, 152-3transitional period, 122, 124, 157 Geneva conference, 37 Begin concessions to, 55 refusal to attend, 75 blockages to US-PLO dialogue

Arab disunity, 45 confusing non-state channels, 61.64 contradictory pressures on PLO, 60 - 1.63Israeli-PLO relations, 45, 64 PLO legitimacy claims, 46 PLO's rejection of Resolution 242, 45, 58-61, 63 Carter meetings with Arab states, 75 positive attitude, 55 cross-purposes of parties, 73-4 Davan's meeting with US officials, 73-5 difficulties, 35 fading prospect of, 96 format of Arab delegation, 39-40, 41 - 5inclusion of the Soviet Union, 37-8 Israeli formula for, 73 Israeli veto power, 59, 64 Jordanian-PLO agreement, 49 Knesset speech, 89-90, 93-4 Middle East tours, 38-9, 57-8 Palestinians back channels, 63 inclusion of, 37 peace treaty drafts, 62, 66, 87 plenary session, 82, 83, 84, 86 PLO's conciliatory offer, 56-7 preparations for, 35 Middle East tour, 38-9 psychological momentum, 55 review of Resolution 242, 58-61, 63 Sadat's visit to Israel, 92 Soviet-PLO relationship, 48-9, 72 state visits, 41-5 Crown Prince Fahd, 44 King Hussein, 43-4 President Asad, 44 President Sadat, 43 Prime Minister Begin, 54-7 Prime Minister Rabin, 42

US-PLO impasse, 48 Vance's five-point plan, 57-8 Israeli opposition to, 57 Israeli withdrawal, 57, 58 Palestinian entity, 57, 58 Saudi opposition to, 57 Syrian opposition to, 57 working paper, 79, 80, 87-8 see also comprehensive peace; Egyptian-Israeli peace Geneva conference (1973), 27 Golan Heights, 16, 24, 55 Goldman, Nahum, 91 Gush Emunim (Bloc of the Faithful), 111.165 Haaretz, 76 Habash, George, 16, 19, 23 Habib, Philip, 59, 74 Haganah, 11 Hamas, 7 Hammami, Said, 107 Hebron, 170-1 Herut, 51 home rule for Palestinians, 102-6 Begin's domestic support for, 105 Carter's stance on, 105 PLO anger, 105 free elections, 103 Israeli citizenship, 104 Israeli proposal for, 102-3 land question, 104 'Proposal for a peace treaty between Egypt and Israel' document, 103 - 4Sadat-Begin talks, 104-5 self-determination, 104 'Self-rule for Palestinian Arabs. residents of Judea, Samaria and the Gaza District' document, 104 sovereignty, 103 West Bank and Gaza, 103 see also self-rule for Palestinians

homelands for Jews, 5 for Palestinians, 5, 40, 41, 43, 44, 47, 63, 183 human rights, 3 Hussein, King of Jordan, 21, 72, 116, 160 acceptance of working paper, 82 anger at Sadat and Begin, 144 meeting with Carter, 105-6 meeting with Davan, 72-3 negotiating for the PLO, 33 rejection of Begin's home rule proposal, 105 visit to Washington, 43-4 see also Jordan IDF (Israeli Defense Forces), 11, 14 attack on Karameh, 19 invasion of South Lebanon, 117 Intifada, 176 Iran martial law, 154 rescue mission, 172 revolution, 154, 157, 167 seizure of US embassy, 167-8, 193 Iraq, 12 Tripoli summit (1977), 100 The Irgun, 51 Irgun Zvei Leumi (The Irgun), 51 Ismail, Hafiz, 24 Israel arms deals with the US, 11, 123 bilateral negotiations with Egypt, 98 cabinet statement on Resolution 242, 122 challenging Carter's perceived weakness, 185 domestic pressure on Carter, 5 draft Israeli-Egyptian peace treaty, 67 excluding Palestinians from talks, 125 high-level talks with Egyptians via Romania, 62

invasion of Lebanon, 117, 191 Jerusalem bill, 174 Labour Party, 181-2 Likud election victory, 6, 49, 50 strong mandate, 185 opposition to Carter's foreign policy, 5 opposition to Palestinian state, 5 refusal to negotiate with the PLO, 30, 32, 36, 39, 42, 71 scepticism of Carter, 185 as a Western bastion, 14 see also Begin, Prime Minister Menachem; Davan, Moshe; Likud Israel lobby, 33 face-off with Carter, 123-5 Israeli Defense Forces (IDF) see IDF (Israeli Defense Forces) Jabotinsky, Vladimir Zeev, 50, 51 Javits, Jacob, 113 Jerusalem, 11, 55, 164 discussion at Camp David, 143 East Jerusalem, 93, 143, 148, 166.172 resolution condemning Jerusalem bill, 174 sovereignty, 174 Johnson plan, 15 Johnson, President Lyndon B., 15 support for six-day war (1967), 16 - 17Jordan, 6, 12, 13 aircraft hijackings, 21 civil war with PLO, 21 Cairo Agreement (1970), 21 defeat of PLO, 21 mobilisation of US aid, 21 draft peace treaty, 67-8 as important US ally, 32 involuntarily implicated in West Bank/Gaza solution, 144 as legitimate negotiator for Palestinians, 32-3

multi-bilateral approach, 98 PLO delegation at Geneva conference, 49 PLO state within, 20-1 Israeli attacks on, 21 response to working paper, 80 support for the PLO, 98 see also Hussein, King of Jordan Jumblatt, Kamal, 28 Kamel, Mohamed Ibrahim, 108, 127 Kandil, Hazem, 178 Karameh, 19 Kennedy, President John F., 14-15, 16, 32 Kennedy, Robert F., 32 Kennedy, Ted, 168 Khaddam, Abdul Halim, 69, 70, 75, 82 Khalid, King of Saudi Arabia, 92 Khalidi, Walid, 47, 61, 64, 151 Khalil, Mustafa, 154, 155, 170 Khartoum summit (1967), 18 Khomeini, Ayatollah, 168, 193 King David Hotel bombing (1946), 51 Kissinger, Henry, 2, 4, 5, 20, 29 disengagement negotiations, 28-31 displeasure at Israel, 28 exclusion of the Soviet Union, 38 meetings with Ismail, 24 refusal to negotiate with the PLO, 26, 281, 29, 30-1, 33, 34, 59, 165 rejects PLO's moderation position, 26 shuttle diplomacy, 27-8 step-by-step formula for negotiations, 27-9 Knesset speech, 89-90, 93-4 omission of PLO, 94 Lau-Lavie, Naphtali, 76 Lebanon, 12, 79, 190-1 civil war, 28-9

invasion by the Israeli Defense Forces

(IDF), 117, 191

Arab-Israeli Diplomacy under Carter

death toll, 117 Lebanese refugees, 117 PLO base, 22 PLO killings of Israelis, 117 tensions with Israel, 117 Leeds conference see London talks (1978) Lewis, Samuel, 71, 155 liberal internationalism, 3 'In Like a Lamb. Out Like a Lion' article (Aronoff), 8 Likud declaration of West Bank policy, 52 election victory (1977), 6, 49, 50 Jews' right to Land of Israel, 51-2strong mandate, 185 Linowitz, Sol M., 168, 173 London talks (1978), 125-8 Egyptian counterproposal to West Bank/Gaza, 125-6 sovereignty of West Bank/Gaza, 126, 127 stalemate, 127-8 US drafts, 126 US-Egyptian coordination, 125 Vance's separate meetings with delegations, 126-7 Marx, Karl, 15 Mecca, 169 Meir, Golda, 24 military committee, 104, 115 Mondale, Walter, 37 multi-bilateral approach, 66-7, 73-5, 187 see also comprehensive peace Munich Olympics massacre (1972), 22

Muskie, Edmund, 173 Nablus, 163 Nasser, Gamal Abdel, 14 accepts ceasefire with Israel, 20 Czech arms deal, 14

Murphy, Richard, 70

death, 21

miscalculated gamble, 16 Suez War (1956), 14 supervision of the PLO, 15 support for Palestinian cause, 15 National Religious Party, 165 Nixon, President Richard, 3, 4, 32, 33 normalisation, 44, 63, 147

oil Arab oil embargoes, 3, 4 ending of, 28 crisis, 25 The Only Language They Understand: Forcing Compromise in Israel and Palestine (Thrall), 7-8 Oslo treaty, 176 Palestine British withdrawal from, 10-11 division of. 11 Palestine Central Council (PCC), 60, 69 Palestine Liberation Army (PLA), 15 Palestine Liberation Organization (PLO) see PLO (Palestinian Liberation Organization) Palestine Option, 33 Palestine: Peace Not Apartheid (Carter), 7 Palestinian Administrative Council, 103 Palestinian autonomy, 150, 158, 160, 161, 193 ambiguity of, 145 Begin's proposals, 105, 106, 152 complexity of, 157 vagueness of, 144 contact with Arafat, 164 Gaza first scheme, 158, 171, 172 Begin's rejection of, 171, 172 and the Jerusalem bill, 174 Kissinger's pledge, 165 limited form of, 103 Linowitz's trip, 173

low priority for Carter, 163-4, 167, 169, 170

290

for Sadat, 163, 167, 170 meeting between Young and the PLO, 165 model. 1 negotiations, 1, 158, 165-9, 166 Carter's individual meetings with Sadat and Begin, 171 Egyptian rejection of US non-paper, 175 indefinite, Begin's plan for, 172 Israeli team, 165 Linowitz, 168, 173 pessimism, 170 postponement of, 173 regular summits, 166, 170 resumption of, 173-4 self-determination, 166 self-governing body, 168 stalemate, 168, 170 Strauss, 164 US non-paper, 175 Vance's opening address, 166 Oslo treaty, 176 Palestinian representation gradualism, 164 PLO, 164-5, 173 Palestinian statehood, 165 personal autonomy, 157 and the settlements, 162-3 Shultz peace plan, 176 Palestinian homeland, 5, 40, 41, 43, 44, 47, 63, 183 Palestinian issue, 1 autonomy see Palestinian autonomy Carter's positive reputation regarding, 7 centrality of, 22 Egyptian loss of interest in, 163 Israeli-Palestinian clashes, 19 strategic necessity for the US, 3 and the US elections, 163 and the US State Department, 36 viewed as a nationalist struggle, 16, 18

viewed as an Arab-Israeli conflict, 18 - 19Palestinian National Council (PNC), 117 12th (1974), 26, 181 acceptance of two-state principle, 26.183 commitment to armed struggle, 26 Palestinian national rights, 26 rejection of UNSC Resolution 242.26 Ten-Point Programme, 26 13th (1977), 46 two-state solution, 46 14th (1979) anti-Camp David/self-rule, 154 Palestinian National Liberation Movement (later Fatah), 16 Palestinian state Begin's rejection of, 53 establishment of, 13 Israeli opposition to, 5 and Palestinian autonomy, 165 PLO leadership, 5 two-state principle, 25 UN partition plan (1947), 10, 11 Palestinians association with Soviet Union, 14 centrality in deliberations, 9 exclusion from Middle East policy, 4, 9.10 isolation of, 163 nationalism, 15, 32 perceived as refugees, 13, 14, 20, 32, 58 process of moderation, 130-1 rejection of peace treaty, 160 rejection of UNSC Resolution 242, 17, 25 rights recognised by UN General Assembly, 26 support for pan-Arabism, 15 terrorism, 22, 23

synonymous with, 32 treatment of, 1 US policy towards, 3 see also home rule for Palestinians: PFLP (Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine); PLO (Palestinian Liberation Organization); self-determination for Palestinians; self-rule for Palestinians Palestinians Administrative Council, 104 pan-Arabism, 13-16 defeat in Arab-Israeli war (1948 - 49), 13 establishment of the PLO, 15 humiliation of six-day war (1967), 17 - 18impact of Suez War (1956), 14 Palestinian revolution within, 16 support for Palestinians, 15 Peleg, Ilan, 51 Peres, Shimon, 46-7 PFLP (Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine), 19 abuse of power, 21 external operations, 22, 23 ending of, 23 hijackings of aircraft, 22, 23 incursions into Israel, 23 opposition to PLO moderation, 27 Pickering, Thomas, 73 PLO (Palestinian Liberation Organization), 5, 43 acceptance of two-state principle, 25 agreement with Soviet Union, 114 anger at Camp David Accords, 145 armed struggle, 19 attack on Israel, 117 attempt to overthrow Jordanian government, 21 back-channel communications with US, 6, 47-50, 58-61, 63, 70-1, 183 - 4

contradictory signals, 6 declines invitation to Cairo conference, 98 distrust of Nasser, 20 divisions within, 6, 27, 184 establishment of. 15 Lebanese civil war, 28-9 evacuation of US personnel, 29 Lebanon as base of leadership, 22 legitimacy of, 31, 46 moderate-radical split, 118 moderation signals, 6, 26 opposition to Sadat's solo initiative, 92 - 3policy of political compromise, 26 political isolation, 117-18, 130-1 praise for US-Soviet joint communiqué, 77 reassertion of relevance, 117 refusal to participate in peace conference, 25 rejection of peace treaty, 160 rejection of working paper, 80 reversion to violence, 131 sole representatives of Palestinians, 31, 125 state within Jordan, 20-1 supervised by Arab League and Egypt, 15 talks with the CIA, 25 terrorism, 29 ceased support of, 32 synonymous with, 32 Tripoli summit (1977), 100 UNSC Resolution 242, 17, 25, 26 alternative formulation of, 58-61, 70, 186-7 and the Geneva conference, 39, 42, 43, 44, 46, 48, 58-61 moderate and radical decisions, 184see also Arab Front for Steadfastness and Confrontation States; Palestinian National Conference

(PNC) (1974); PFLP (Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine) political committee, 104, 105, 108 Begin requests reopening of, 115 preparatory Begin/Vance talks, 108 reworked US draft, 109 Sadat refuses reopening of, 115 suspension of, 109 talks and drafts, 108 Vance proposal, 108-9 Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine (PFLP) see PFLP (Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine) 'postman model', 70, 75 Powell, Jody, 80 PRC (Policy Review Committee), 38, 48 aims of Begin's visit, 53 concealed discussions on Palestinian entity, 61 consideration of direct contact with PLO. 49 meetings, 37 Middle East diplomacy, 52 Quaker channel, 47-8 Quandt, William B., 4, 26, 37, 47, 50, 61, 140, 182

Begin's negotiating technique, 196 brief to Brzezinski, 118 Carter's legacy, 178 Egyptian-Israeli bilateral approach, 107 frustration of US administration, 123 Israeli withdrawal, 107–8 manufacturing a crisis, 108

Rabin, Prime Minister Yitzhak, 6, 28 resignation as Prime Minister, 46 visit to Washington, 42
Reagan, Ronald, 175, 176 involvement in Arab-Israeli conflict, 176

peace plan, 176 Shultz peace plan, 176 Resolution 242, (UNSC), 6, 25, 30, 36, 46.57.58-61 alternative formulation of, 58-61, 70-1, 186-7 applicable to the West Bank, 116 disagreement between Vance and Davan, 115 discussion at Camp David, 140-1 exclusion of Palestinians, 30, 31 Israeli abandonment of, 124 Israeli Cabinet statement, 122 and the Jerusalem bill, 174 'land for peace' formula, 17 meeting between Carter and Begin, 119 PLO rejection of, 17, 25, 26, 39, 42, 43, 44, 46, 48, 151 problematic issues, 17 Resolution 338 (UNSC), 25, 30, 36, 57 Revisionist Zionism, 50-1 Eretz Israel ideology, 51 Jordan as part of, 51 rejection of UN Partition Plan (1947), 51Ribicoff, Abraham, 113 Romania, 62 Rosenne, Meir, 196 Rusk, Dean, 15

Sadat, President Anwar acceptance of working paper, 85–6 anger at Jerusalem bill, 174 appointed president, 21 approach to Carter, 195–6 and Begin attacks, 127–8 disappointment with, 108 loses hope with, 122 preparations to meet, 84 pressurising, 112–13, 115–19 calls Israelis 'liars', 124 decision-making style, 7

declares war. 24 demands PLO-US talks, 56 desperation for peace, 130 diplomatic initiative, 62 draft peace treaty, 62, 66 foreign policy of, 7 meeting with Carter, 111-12 negotiating technique, 196 Nobel Peace Prize, 148 offers concessions to Israel, 124 offers peace treaty with Israel, 23-4 overtures to King Hussein, 114-15 Palestinian issue, 7 response to working paper, 82 solo initiative see Egyptian-Israeli peace treaty (1979) strategic aims, 190 alliance with the US, 7, 187, 188, 190, 193 peace with Israel, 187, 190, 193 return of the Sinai, 7, 187, 190, 193 success of the Egyptian-Israeli treaty, 160 view of US-Soviet joint communiqué, 77 visit to Washington, 43 withdrawal from political committee, 109 Said, Edward, 47 Salameh, Ali Hassan, 25 Saudi Arabia arms deal with the US, 123 capture of mosque, 169 offer to broker US-PLO deal, 146 protests of Shia population, 169, 170 Saunders, Harold, 33, 34, 37, 53, 92.170 Saunders document, 182 Seale, Patrick, 4, 77 self-determination for Palestinians, 20, 68, 95, 112 as a cover, 106 Israeli rejection of, 104

Jordanian support for, 116 political committee talks, 108-9 Soviet support for, 114 talks at Beersheva, 166 US National Security Council proposal, 107 self-rule for Palestinians, 104, 105, 108-9, 110, 112, 113, 176, 177, 190 - 1amendments to, 114 Carter's dislike of, 177 discussion at Camp David, 135 domestic support for Begin's proposal, 105 Egyptian rejection of, 127 Israeli abandonment of Resolution 242, 124 key to Israeli plans, 119 new Israeli proposal, 124 open-ended solution, 119-20 temporary solution, 113, 119 transitional period, 107, 113, 114 US accepts aspects of, 119 see also home rule for Palestinians settlements, 73 Begin's position on, 52, 64, 68-9 Carter's position on, 74 expansion of, 148, 162-3, 167, 171, 193 funding for, 113 Gush Emunim, 111 Hebron, 170-1 illegality of, 108, 112, 166 Israeli special ministerial committee, 167 Israeli withdrawal from, 57, 58, 100-1, 107-8, 116, 117, 138, 140 legalisation of, 55-6, 74 military camps, 74 moratorium on, 134, 138, 139, 141-3, 148, 171 disagreement over, 142, 148 Nablus, 163

regularity of talk summits, 166 Sinai, 101 West Bank, 52, 53, 55-6 Shamir, Yitzhak, 167, 174-5 Sharon, Ariel, 140, 143, 165 Sheehan, Edward, 30, 61 Shlaim, Avi, 18, 72 Shukavri, Ahmed, 15 Shultz peace plan, 176 Sinai, 7, 8, 16, 95-6 Begin's position on, 144 Israeli concession of, 118 Israeli withdrawal from, 159, 163, 166, 193 Sadat's plan for, 111-12, 193 Sadat's position on, 144 Sinai II (1975), 29-31, 36 PLO clause, 36, 180-1, 183, 184 secret agreements, 30 Sinai talks (1978), 128-9 pressurising Israel, 128 Sadat refuses to participate, 128-9 stalemate paper, 128, 129, 195 Sisco, Joseph, 22, 33 six-day war (1967), 16-18 defeat viewed as opportunity, 18 defensive war, 196 diplomatic activity, 17 flight of Palestinians, 18 Israel's surprise offensive, 16 an-naksa (the setback), 18 Nasser's gamble, 16 reshaping of political and geographic map, 17 Soviet Union, 4, 7, 24 agreement with Carter's Clinton speech, 41 back channel communications, 48 - 9détente with the US, 181 inclusion in comprehensive approach, 4, 180 meetings with Arafat, 20, 72 and the Palestinians, 14, 114

and the PLO agreement with, 114 relationship with, 48-9, 72 and Syria support for, 24 weaponry for, 18 see also US-Soviet joint communiqué Spiegel, Steven, 71 stalemate paper, 128, 129, 195 standstill diplomacy, 23 State Department (US), 81, 128, 129, 133, 145, 182 'Arab-Israeli Dispute' document, 36 draft plan, 128 Palestinian issue, 36 Palestinian representation, 45 Resolution 242, 52 settlements, 55-6, 163 Sinai talks, 128 stalemate paper, 128, 129, 195 Stein, Janice Gross, 31 Strauss, Robert, 164, 168 Suez War (1956), 14 Syria, 6, 12, 179 Arab-Israeli War (1973), 24 coups, 13 declines invitation to Cairo conference, 98 delegation at Geneva conference, 39 list of items for peace, 67 optimism at US-Soviet joint communiqué, 77 as 'postman', 70, 75 receipt of Soviet weaponry, 18 rejection of working paper, 82 representation of the PLO, 68-70 Resolution 242, 71 Tripoli summit (1977), 100 Syrian-Israeli disengagement treaty (1974), 28territorial sovereignty, 43

terrorism, 22, 23, 29, 32 Thrall, Nathan, 7–8, 178 Toward Peace in the Middle East report (Brookings Institution), 4 Truman, President Harry S., 10, 11 'Israel's midwife' nickname, 10 Tuhami, Hassan secret meeting with Davan, 84 talks channel with Dayan, 95 UN Charter, 20 UN General Assembly, 26 Palestinian claim to self-determination, 20 Resolution 181, 11 Resolution 194 (III), 12 Resolution 3236, 26 Resolution 3237, 26 UN Security Council, 46 Resolution 45, 117 Resolution 194, 138 Resolution 478, 174 see also Resolution 242 (UNSC); Resolution 338 (UNSC) UN Special Committee on Palestine (UNSCOP), 11 UN (United Nations), 10-11 United States of America (USA) armaments package, 123 Israeli displeasure, 123-4 détente with Soviet Union, 181 economic aid for Israel, 150, 168-9 manufactured crisis, 108, 112 Middle East policy, 4 'negotiations by questionnaire', 123 support for UNSC Resolution 425, 118 US Bureau of Intelligence and Research, 33 US-Israeli relations, 10 anger at US-Soviet joint communiqué, 76-7, 87, 188 arms long-term deal (1971), 22 sales of high-tech weaponry, 15, 16, 18

discontent, 81, 86 hardline approach towards Begin, 54 Israel as a strategic asset, 22 increased financial support for, 22 special relationship, 14-15, 32 Suez War (1956), 14 support for six-day war (1967), 16 - 17tension, 42 threat of Begin's hardline position, 53 - 4US-Israeli Memorandum (1973), 76 working paper, 79, 80, 87-8 acceptance of, 80-1 US National Security Council, 33 strategy for Carter, 107 US-Palestinian relations back channel communications, 6, 47-50, 183-4 review of Resolution 242, 58-61, 63, 70 - 1centrality of Palestinian issue, 22, 31 impasse, 48 Palestinians US refusal to engage with, 20, 21, 30, 31, 32 viewed as refugees, 13, 14, 20, 32, 58 viewed as terrorists, 23, 32 and the PLO, 15, 31 breakdown of, 105 Israel lobby, 33 Israeli opposition, 30, 32 Jordan as legitimate negotiator for Palestinians, 32-3 lack of state apparatus, 31 opposition at a political leadership level, 31 opposition at a public opinion level, 31 rejection of, 180-1 seen as an Egyptian puppet, 15 synonymous with terrorism, 32

Syria as intermediary, 68-71 US rejection of, 15, 31 US requests concessions from Arab states, 54 see also Palestinian issue US-Soviet joint communiqué, 76-7, 87, 188 Arab optimism, 77 discarding of, 80, 93 Israeli anger, 76-7, 87, 188 meeting between Dayan and US officials, 78-9 revised working paper, 79, 80-1, 87 - 8screening of Palestinians, 78-9 mixed views, 77 Vance, Cyrus, 3, 6, 35, 37, 55-6, 65, 75.78 appeal to Arab leaders, 86 at Camp David, 133, 134 exasperation at Begin, 157 implications of Sadat/Begin meeting, 96 importance of Palestinian representation, 45 meeting with Weizman, 116 meetings with Dayan, 115, 122 Middle East tours, 38-9, 56, 57-8, 101, 152-3, 183, 186 agreements and disagreements of states, 39 building trust and confidence, 40 five-point plan, 57 Israel and the PLO, 5 Sadat's diplomatic initiative, 62 opens talks at Beersheva, 166 PLO review of Resolution 242, 58 presentation of working paper to Arabs, 83 pressurising Arab states, 56 public displeasure with Israel, 153 resignation, 172 trilateral meeting, 154

understanding of meeting with Dayan, 81 Vietnam War, 2 War of Attrition, 20 War of Independence see Arab-Israeli war (1948-49) Watergate, 2 Weizman, Ezer, 93, 95, 116, 117, 143, 167, 169 resignation, 173 West Bank, 7, 13, 16, 18, 28, 74, 106 Arafat's position on, 107 autonomy, 157 Begin's position on, 144 Camp David talks, 133, 136, 137, 138, 139, 141, 144 Eretz Israel, 51, 52, 126 exclusion of Palestinians from talks, 125 and the Geneva conference, 79, 92 home rule proposal, 102-3, 104-5, 122Israeli political control, 120-1 Israeli withdrawal from, 107-8, 116 Israel's ideological commitment to, 126 London talks (1978), 125-6, 127 negotiating committees, 144 negotiations over future, 33 and the PLO, 31 and Resolution 242, 116 rights of Israelis, 122 self-governing authority, 157 settlements, 52 expansion of, 171 Gush Emunim, 111 legalised, 55-6 sovereignty, 126, 127 timetable for negotiations, 152-3 transitional period, 107, 113, 114, 124, 126-7, 157 US drafts, 126

West Bank National Conference, 145 working paper (US-Israeli), 79, 80, 87–8, 188 acceptance of, 80–1 claims of ownership, 81 discussions dragging on, 84 letter from Carter to Sadat, 85 Sadat's acceptance of, 85–6 list of acceptable Palestinian delegates, 86 Israeli input, 86–7 selling of, 82–3 unpopularity of, 82 US communication with the Soviet, 86

Yaqub, Salim, 27 Young, Andrew, 165

Zionist General Council, 53 Zionist movement, 10, 11 *see also* Revisionist Zionism